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We have a particularly appetizing buffet 
for our readers in this issue, and as I often say, 
they illustrate the rich variety of Supreme Court 
history. Although the traditional cases are at the 
heart of two of the articles, the stories told by the 
authors go far beyond the four comers of the 
opinions. This well reflects what one is finding 
in many recent books about the Court, the 
Justices, and their work, attention not only to 
the written opinion, but what Louis D. Brandeis 
used to call “all the facts that surround.”

Williamjames Hoffer’s article on the 
landmark case of Plessy v. Ferguson (1896) 
is not the first, nor will it be the last, historical 
word on that subject. But Plessy, decided more 
than a century ago, continues to fascinate 
scholars as we leam more about the people 
involved in the case. Hoffer takes a close look at 
the lawyering involved, and the strategy that 
brought the case to the high court. Since the 
Court does not issue advisory opinions, there 
must be a real case or controversy involved, and 
the people who objected to the Louisiana law 
segregating railroad cars chose carefully, not 
just Homer Plessy, but the lawyers and the 
tactics they would follow.

Thomas Healy, a colleague of Hoffer’s at 
Seton Hall University, also revisits another 
landmark decision, Abrams r. United States 
(1919). The article is adopted from Healy’s 
recent book, and focuses on why Oliver 
Wendell Holmes, Jr., changed his mind regard­
ing the meaning of the First Amendment Speech 
Clause from his decision only a few months 
earlier in Schenck v. United States. Again, much 
has been written on the Holmes dissent, but 
Healy unearths new information that led 
Holmes to write what has been considered 
one of the great defenses of free speech.

There is much debate over the process by 
which men and women are nominated to the 
federal judiciary. One school of thought takes a 
rather purist view that if the person is qualified 
(and what that means is the subject of another 
book), then the Senate ought to confirm. History, 
however, teaches us that as great—perhaps even 
a greater—a consideration is politics, not only 
the political debates over hot button issues, but 
also old-fashioned party politics. This was as 
true in the days of the early Republic as it is now.

Lest anyone think that some of the recent 
fights over nominations are something new,
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Albert Lawrence ofNew York’s Empire State 
College examines the politics involving an 
open seat on the high court, President Grover 
Cleveland, and two New York lawyers who 
happened to be brothers—Wheeler and Rufus 
Peckham. While the political goals may have 
changed since Tammany tried to manipulate 
the process, political reasons still play a large 
role in who gets on the Bench.

When writing about the Court, historians 
always note that, in times of stress, especially 
when national security issues seem to be 
involved, the Court has often backed away 
from its role as protector of individual liberties. 
This is not surprising. The men, and more 
recently women, who have sat on the bench are 
subject to the same emotions as their fellow 
citizens when there is a perceived threat to the 
country. Justice William J. Brennan, Jr., 
observed in 1987 that the Court and the 
country “has a long history of failing to 
preserve civil liberties when it perceived its 
national security threatened.”

One of the worst episodes of this failure 
occurred after the Second World War, in the 
nearly decade-long McCarthy era. Robert 
Lichtman, a San Francisco attorney and 
author, looks at the Court during these years, 
tracing how the Justices, like the countiy, 
engaged in the witch hunt, and eventually 
came out of its madness.

One of the continuing debates among 
scholars as well as politicians and judicial 
observers in general is that of “judicial 
activism” versus “judicial restraint.” There 
are some who consider this at best a fallacious 
argument, since what constitutes “activism” 
and “restraint” are relative values very much in 
the eye of the beholder. Without the activism 
of the Warren Court, for example, it is hard to 
believe that the southern states would have 
voluntarily dismantled segregation.

On the other hand, a too rigid adherence 
to the “idol of restraint,” as Zachary Baron 
Shemtob calls it, can lead not only to judicial 
paralysis, but the abdication of responsibility.

Shemtob, who holds a doctorate in criminal 
justice and is now a law student at George­
town University, looks at the one Court in 
recent history that took judicial restraint, if not 
to its limits, far enough to have earned it a 
reputation as one the least effective Courts in 
history—that headed by Fred Vinson.

One of the members of the Court, and 
the man who is often considered the great 
champion—as well as the worst-case example 
of taking the restraint doctrine too far—is Felix 
Frankfurter. A majority of scholars, including 
myself, do not consider Frankfurter a great 
jurist, and believe that he had little lasting 
influence on American jurisprudence. Yet this 
is the man whom Brandeis once characterized 
as “the most useful lawyer” in America.

That description came before Frankfurter 
went on the Bench, and involved his role as 
chief recruiting officer for Franklin D. 
Roosevelt’s New Deal. Frankfurter placed 
many of his former students from Harvard 
Law in key positions in New Deal agencies, 
and the press dubbed them Frankfurter’s 
“Happy Hot Dogs.” How much influence he 
and his proteges had on the New Deal is, as 
Sujit Raman, an appellate lawyer in the 
Maryland United States Attorney’s Office, 
notes, a highly contentious issue, and one that 
bears re-examination as new evidence and 
insights into the period become available.

What happens to Justices who retire from 
the Court? Warren Burger took on a high- 
profile role as chairman of the United States 
Constitutional Bicentennial Commission, but 
for the most part the general public hears 
relatively little about former Justices. Under 
the law, of course, they are still members of 
the federal judiciary and can sit on federal 
appeals courts. Many of them do just that— 
and often—and my old friend Stephen Wasby, 
now emeritus at the State University of New 
York in Albany, examines the activities of men 
and women who may have left the high court 
but who are still active judges. As always, a 
feast. Enjoy!
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On May 18, 1896, the United States 

Supreme Court issued opinions in the case of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
P lessy v. Ferguson) Justice Henry Billings 

Brown’s opinion for seven of the eight Justices 

participating in the case upheld Louisiana’s 
Separate Car Act.2 He rejected the argument of 

Homer A. Plessy’s attorneys that the law 

violated sections of the Thirteenth and Four­

teenth Amendments, most notably Plessy’s 

right to “equal protection of the laws” under 

the Fourteenth Amendment. Though the Loui­

siana law segregated passengers on railroads 

on the basis of whether they were white or 

colored—in other words, on the basis of race, 

Brown found that the law’s requirement that the 

accommodations be “equal, but separate”  met 

the constitutional standard/ In a dissent that has 

become a classic of  constitutional jurisprudence, 

Justice John Marshall Harlan declared that the 
Constitution was “color-blind.”  4 States could 

not make distinctions that were based on 

perceptions of race, no matter how race was 

categorized. The impact of the Plessy case was

clear to all: states and their agencies were free to 

use racial categorization to segregate public 

places, as they had been doing and would 

continue to do.

Though largely ignored at the time it was 

issued, P lessy would become the standard- 

bearer for a long line of “ separate, but equal”  

decisions upholding what was colloquially 

called the Jim Crow system of pervasive, 

invidious racial distinctions. The colored 

facilities were usually vastly inferior, despite 

the injunction of the P lessy case that they be 

equal. Jim Crow stereotypes of superior 

whites and inferior blacks were staples of 

film, radio, popular literature, and advertis­

ing.5 Although the long, hard-fought, and 

wrenching battle to dismantle the Jim Crow 

system in law may now be over, its 

consequences still echo in American educa­

tion, business, and politics. Not surprisingly, 

then, the story of the P lessy case, though 

neither simple nor easy to tell, is one we need 

never forget.
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The contribution of this article is as 

follows: to remind us that behind every case 

there are human stories. First, Plessy’s own 

story should not be neglected. Crucial aspects 

of it remain obscure. Homer A. Plessy was no 

random passenger in a whites-only railroad 

car that a conductor spotted. In fact, it is 

unlikely that the conductor would have 

confronted him, reported him, and had him 

arrested without considerable prompting. 

Homer A. Plessy appeared to be just as white 

as anybody else in the train car. His great­

grandfather was a recognizable African 

American, although the word used at the

time was Negro, a term that owed its origins to 

the Spanish word for “black,”  a reference to 

the hue of someone’s skin. However, even 

according to court documents, Plessy was not 
recognizably black.6 How could he have been 

arrested for sitting in the wrong car of the 

train?

The answer lies in a plan for a legal test of 

the statute among Plessy, a group of like­

minded, similarly situated individuals in New 

Orleans known as Afro-Creoles, and the train 
company itself.7 They arranged to have Plessy 

arrested for violating Louisiana’s Separate 

Car Act so he would be able to challenge that
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law in court. They wanted a test case, and they 

had to have a real case or controversy to bring 

that case to court. Test cases were nothing 

new because courts are averse to issuing 

declaratory judgments. Therefore, the defen­

dant and the occasion had to be carefully 

chosen to fulfill  the requirements of constitu­

tional litigation.

Second, the moving force behind this 

particular test of Jim Crow was Aristide Mary, 

then seventy years old and a veteran of many 

failed crusades, including his own nomination 

for governor in 1872. After announcing their 

intentions on September 5, 1891, he and R. L. 

Desdunes organized a committee whose name 

reflected the group’s exclusivity: the Comite 

des Citoyens. ft was French, and they saw 

themselves as a Creole body, not as an African 

one. In addition to Mary, Desdunes, and the 

newspaper editor Paul Trevigne, it included 

Arthur Esteves, president; C. Antoine, vice 

president; Firmin Christophe, secretary; G. G. 

Johnson, undersecretary; and L. A. Martinet, 

the founder of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD aily C rusader. Trevigne 

was a teacher, educated overseas at the 

Catholic School for Indigent Orphans, also 

known as the Couvent School. The Couvent 

was a center for the Creole community. 

Homer A. Plessy, among others, received 

his education there. A law graduate of 

Southern University, Desdunes was on the 

metropolitan police force when White Lea­

guers attacked it and killed eleven of their 
number in 1874.8

The committee announced its formation 

and call for aid in a document they entitled 

“An Appeal,”  the self-titled “Citizens’ Com­

mittee for the Annulment of Act No. Ill  

Commonly Known as the Separate Car Law’ ”  

seeking a national response. Their language 

suggests the urgency of the cause as well as 

their strident commitment to it: “No further 

time should be lost. We should make a definite 

effort to resist legally the operation of the 

Separate Car Act. This obnoxious measure is 

the concern of all our citizens who are 

opposed to caste legislation and its conse-ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
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C reo le  co m m ittee  ca lled  th e  C o m ite  d es  C ito yen s ,  w h ich  

w as  b eh in d  th e  Plessy tes t  case .  P rio r  to  P lessy ’s  a rres t,  

D esd u n es ’s  so n ,  D an ie l  (p ic tu red ),  a m u s ic ian ,  ro d e  an  

in te rs ta te  tra in  in o rd e r  to le ve l th e ch a rg e  th a t  

L o u is ian a ’s  S ep a ra te  C ar  A c t  ran  a fo u l  o f  th e  in te rs ta te  

co m m erce  p o w er.

quent injustices and crimes.” From the 

organization’s very start, they sought victory 

in the courts: “At all events, it is the 

imperative duty of oppressed citizens to 

seek redress before the judicial tribunals of 

the country. In our case, we find it is the only 

means left us. We must have recourse to it, or 
sink into a state of hopeless inferiority.” 9

The committee also depended on dona­

tions from the wider community. By late 

October, most of the $ 1,400 they would raise 

came from skilled labor organizations like the 

Societe des Artisans, the cigar makers’ NCR 

Club, the Bricklayers’ Union, and the Me­

chanics’ Social Club. Civic organizations in 

New Orleans also gave money to support the 

cause, including the Le Silence Benevolent 

Association and the Creole of Color chapter of 

the Masons. Women and their organizations, 

some from outside New Orleans, also gave to 

the cause.10
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P lessy  b o a rd ed  th e  E as te rn  L o u is ian a  R a ilro ad  a t  th e  P ress  D ep o t,  w h ich  w as  tw o  m iles  fro m  h is  h o m e  in  th e  T rem e  

sec tio n  o f  N ew  O rlean s .

Although many of these organizations 

existed before the Civil War, many more 

demonstrated the organizational trend in 

American life in the postwar period. This 

flowering of professional groups, accrediting 

bodies, and labor societies played a substan­

tial role in shaping America into the profes­

sionalized, bureaucratized society we know 

today. Many theorists call this conglomera­

tion of  private groups the civil  society—a vital 

part of the public sphere, but non-coercive 

because they are not instruments of 

government.

The leaders and many of the supporters of 

the cause were Afro-Creoles. Most of the 

Afro-Creoles, including those who resided in 

the Faubourg Treme section of New Orleans, 

were much like Homer A. Plessy, skilled or 

semiskilled laborers trying to prosper as best 

they could. Plessy in many ways was typical. 

He was variously listed as a clerk, a 

warehouse worker, and an insurance collector 

in addition to his occupation at the time of the 

litigation: shoe repair and shoemaker. By 

1902, he was counted merely as a laborer, 

evidence that he shared the fortune of many a

skilled worker in industrializing America: 

deskilling.11

Third, when they had raised the money, 

the committee needed to select attorneys to 

conduct their test case. The test case was a 

legal strategy that owed its origins to the 

intricacies of the common law. Oftentimes, 

the common law courts did not allow simple 

declaratory lawsuits. There had to be a contest 

over an issue for which there was redress in 

the courts. As a result, litigants often arranged 

a suit between themselves in order to have the 

court hear the case, but only so they could 

receive a ruling on the specific underlying 

issue that concerned them, like who owned 

what, whether there was legal title to an item, 

or even the status of one of the persons 

involved. Test cases had evolved from these 

fabricated suits into an accepted kind of 
lawsuit.12

The committee determined that local 

attorney James Campbell Walker would 

handle the litigation in Louisiana. Walker 

was bom on January 24, 1837, and fought in 

the Civil War on the Confederate side. After 

the war, he became a lawyer serving the
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Criminal District Coart for the Parish of Orleans.

LION  KJU ADAMS, District Attorney for the Purist uf Orleans, who, in the name 
and bv the authority of the said State, prosecutes in this belnilf, in proper person comes into the Criminal 
District Court for the Parish of Orleans, iu the Parish of Orleans, and gives the said Court here to under

stand and be iufonned, that one

z ^ -late of the Parish of Orleans, on the 

iu the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred ami aiglrtA gf w-vd ? with force and arms
in the Parish of Orleans aforesaid, and within the jurisdiction of the Criminal District Court for the Parish

of Orleans YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAa a~JO . a  r S7 /x.'V -ce.& z-tp
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B e fo re  th e  tra in  even  le ft  th e  s ta tio n ,  th e  o ff-d u ty  p o lice  d e tec tive  w h o  h ad  b een  h ired  b y  th e  C o m ite  a rres ted  P lessy  

an d  th en  esco rted  h im  to  th e  n ea rb y  p o lice  s ta tio n ,  w h ere  h e  w as  b o o ked  an d  th en  re leased  o n  b o n d .  A b o ve  is  

P lessy ’ s  a rres t  ca rd ;  b e lo w  th e  Daily Picayune rep o rted  o n  th e  a rres t  o n  Ju n e  7 , 1892 .
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Republicans, notably in the election dispute of 

1876, before a falling out returned him to 

private practice. Known to all as Judge 

Walker from a spell on the bench, by the 

time of Plessy’s trial, he was fifty-seven years 

old and married with seven children. He was 

the committee’s second choice for local 

counsel. Their first choice, T. J. Semmes, 

had wanted $2,500 to do the case. Walker 

only wanted $1,000. The committee went 
with Walker.13

The committee also wanted a co-counsel 

of national stature and decided to ask Albion 

W. Tourgee. Albion Winegar Tourgee was 

bom on May 2, 1838, in the New Englander- 

settled area of Ohio known as the Western 

Reserve—“ a hotbed of abolitionism,”  accord­

ing to Tourgee’s most recent biography. 

When the Civil War broke out, he quit his 

studies at the University of Rochester and 

joined the 27th New York Infantry. He was 

shot in the spine at the First Battle of Bull Run 

and suffered from a temporary paralysis as a 

result, but he managed to recuperate suffi­

ciently to rejoin the war as a first lieutenant in 

the 105th Ohio Volunteer Infantry. He ended 

his military service in December 1863 after 

participating in the battles of Chickamauga 

and Chattanooga. On his return to Ohio, he 

married Emma Doiska Kilbourne, a union that 

would produce their only child, a daughter.14

At the conclusion of the war, Tourgee 

sought out opportunity consistent with his 

abolitionist commitment to a new nation 

based on equal rights by settling in Greens­

boro, North Carolina. He also hoped its milder 

climate would be better suited to recuperation 

from his lingering battlefield ailments. Find­

ing himself in the midst of that war-tom state’s 

internal civil war over race, post-slavery 

adjustments, and the arrival of the Republican 

party, he began a law practice. Tourgee’s 

philosophy was one of radical individualism: 

a belief in the existence of races and racial 

differences, but a commitment to the idea that 

those differences did not matter. This 

stemmed from a deeply held Christian view

that all men were God’s creatures and entitled 

to pursue their lives free from prejudice or 

discrimination. He could not be dissuaded by 

compromise, political expediency, or hostile 
reactions.15

In Greensboro, Tourgee’s law practice 

income was supplemented by work for the 

congressional Reconstruction’s state govern­

ment. He participated prominently in North 

Carolina’s constitutional convention in 1868, 

served as a superior court judge from 1868 to 

1874, and was a member of the constitutional 

convention of 1875. After an unsuccessful run 

for Congress in 1878, he published the work 

that made his name, A  F o o l’ s E r r a n d ,  b y  

O n e o f  t h e F o o ls , a fictionalized account of 

his experiences in North Carolina, in 1879. 

His tale of struggle against Kian violence, 

bigotry, and human folly made it a national 

bestseller. When the Redemption govern­

ment’s toleration of hostility toward him and 

his family became apparent, and with his legal 

practice finished by bad investments, he 

moved back north to Mayville, New York, 
near the Chautauqua Institute.16

There he continued to write about and 

advocate for what he labeled a “color-blind”  

law and society. It was in this vein that he 

came to the attention of the committee. In his 

regular column on race and the law, “A  

Bystander’s Notes,” for the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD aily In ter- 

O cean, a Republican paper in Chicago, he 

called for opposition to the Louisiana law 

segregating railroad cars. If this and his 

novels, writings, and organizing were not 

enough, Tourgee had been instrumental in the 

campaign against lynching, a practice that had 

spread to his native Ohio. The law against 

lynching he helped author demonstrated the 

effectiveness of such legal tactics, at least in 

Republican-leaning Ohio. Considering that 

Ohio had taken the lead in segregating before 

the Civil  War and opposed the adoption of the 

Fourteenth Amendment, this was a consider­

able accomplishment.17

But when the committee approached him, 

Tourgee was no longer practicing law. He had
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T o u rg ee  p u b lish ed  a  b es tse llin g  b o o k  th a t  reco u n ted  h is  

f ic tio n a lized  exp e rien ces  in N o rth  C aro lin a  an d  h is  
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ken  ad vo ca te  o f  an ti-lyn ch in g  law s ,  T o u rg ee  w as  n o  

lo n g e r  p rac tic in g  law  w h en  h e  w as  ap p ro ach ed  b y  th e  
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no appreciable experience in appellate liti ­

gation. He was an advocate for a cause, but 

largely for his conscience and public opin­

ion’s sake. Nevertheless, the committee 

sought his advice, then his services, which 

the dedicated crusader took on without 

charge.18

It is plain from the correspondence 

between the committee and Tourgee that he 

was to be the senior member of the legal team. 

In a letter dated October 5, 1891, Martinet 

wrote to Tourgee at his home in New York, 

“You will  be the leading counsel &  select your 

own associate. We know we have a friend in 

you & we know your ability is beyond 

question.”  He added for good measure, “ Local 

counsel too will have to conform to your 

views.” In this same extensive communica­

tion, Martinet referred to the idea of having a 

person who could pass as white be the 

defendant as presenting a problem, because 

“ there are the strangest white people you ever 

saw here.”  Though Tourgee and the commit­

tee were thinking along similar lines, Tour­

gee’s experience in North Carolina could not 

have prepared him adequately for the situation 

in New Orleans, where making distinctions on 

the basis of color was as troublesome as 
maintaining the levees.19

Tourgee and Martinet agreed that Tour­

gee’s plan for a light-skinned man would be 

best. In language inherited from laws enacted 

before the Revolution, they determined an 

octoroon would be best—someone with a 

great-grandparent who was African American 

and likely could pass for white. They settled 

on Daniel Desdunes, the son of one of the 

committee members, whose ability to pass for 

white removed any doubt as to the arbitrari­
ness of the law’s iniquitous discrimination.20

Fourth, after a long search for a coopera­

tive railroad, the Louisville and Nashville 

agreed to work with the committee. Their 

reason was not public-spiritedness, much less 

a belief in the equality of the races, but rather 

profit motive. Running entirely separate cars 

for the very few first-class colored passengers 

who were likely to board at any given time 
was a burden they could do without.21

The committee decided to have Desdunes 

ride an interstate train. In this way, they could 

also level the charge that the law ran afoul of 

the interstate commerce power, as implicated 

in a Louisville Railroad case from Missis­

sippi. On February 24, 1892, Daniel bought 

his first-class ticket for passage on the 

Louisville and Nashville Railroad to Mobile, 

Alabama. He boarded at Canal Street and sat 

in the whites-only car. By prearrangement, the 

committee employed two private detectives to 

aid the conductor in arresting Desdunes. 

Again, according to the plan, Desdunes 

identified himself as colored, refused politely 

to leave his seat, and did not resist his removal 

to the police station two miles from where he 

had boarded. Paul Bonseigneur, treasurer for 
the committee, was there to post his bond.22

However, the Louisiana Supreme Court 

threw a wrench into the lawyers’ well-oiled 

machinery when it decided the case of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAState 
ex rel. Abbott v. H icks on May 25, 1892.23 

Relying at least in part on the Louisville 

Railroad case decision in the U.S. Supreme 

Court, Louisiana’s Supreme Court had 

thrown out the prosecution of a Texas and 

Pacific Railway conductor for allowing an
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African American passenger to sit in a whites- 

only car.24 One notes that the beneficiary of 

their decision was the white conductor. Their 

specific reasoning is difficult to discern from 

the case report, but its outcome was not: they 

preserved the Separate Car Act by declaring 

that it did not apply to interstate train travel. 

Fearing that this decision would render their 

chosen defendant’s suit moot, the committee 
sought out another line of attack.25

Thus, while Daniel Desdunes awaited his 

day in court, Homer Adolph Plessy made his 

contribution to the cause. His ride was on a 

railroad that ran wholly within the state, thus 

making it an entirely different challenge to the 

Separate Car Act. Once more, the committee 

set up the transaction carefully. On June 7, 

1892, Plessy headed for the number eight train 

scheduled for a 4:15 p.m. departure to 

Covington, Louisiana, the end of the line. 

He boarded at the Press Depot, headquarters 

for the Eastern Louisiana Railroad, some two 

miles from his home in Faubourg Treme. 

Before the train left the station, the commit­

tee’s off-duty police detective, Christopher C. 

Cain, complied with the request of the train’s 

conductor, J. J. Dowling, and arrested Plessy. 

He then escorted Plessy to the nearby police 

station, where, just as Desdunes had been, 

Plessy was booked and then released on bond 

the committee posted.26

There is some disagreement among 

historians of the case as to how the conductor 

came to know that Plessy—who, after all, had 

been chosen because he could pass for white 

—was a colored man violating the law. This 

question would return throughout the liti ­

gation. According to one account, Plessy 

stated upon giving his ticket the words he 

prepared beforehand: “ I have to tell you that, 

according to Louisiana law, I am a colored 
man.” 27 The majority opinion for the Court in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

P lessy noted that Plessy was “of mixed 

descent, in the proportion of seven eighths 

Caucasian and one eighth African blood; that 

the mixture of colored blood was not 

discernible in him,” but gave no details as

to how the conductor or the High Court knew 
Plessy was colored.28 In any case, Louisiana 

law probably considered some portion of 

African ancestry as the definition of colored 

when color itself did not tell under the so- 

called “one drop rule.”

Besides leading to the dead-end discus­

sion of how someone could be colored but did 

not appear to be, this confusion about Plessy’s 

race would be a hurdle for Plessy’s counsel to 

surmount. While the sheer arbitrariness of the 

law in determining race was of vital impor­

tance to their case, the committee and its 

lawyers could not adequately resolve the 

dilemma of how to get a person whose 

appearance would not arouse suspicion 

arrested on a charge of violating a law that 

was based almost entirely on appearance. 

Plessy’s self-identification would have been 

the best solution. However, their failure to 

have this critical information entered into the 

record damaged their prospects for challeng­

ing racial distinctions on the basis of their 

vagueness.

Nevertheless, the litigation moved for­

ward. As happens in most test cases, problems 

revealed themselves as the case unfolded. The 

committee’s attorneys had to navigate the 

uncharted waters of both criminal and consti­

tutional law in such a way as to maximize their 

chances for success. But Tourgee’s under­

standable refusal to sacrifice his other interests 

or his health by going to New Orleans to work 

on the case complicated matters. Walker had 

to conduct a complex conversation about legal 

strategy and substantive legal issues by mail. 

Given that Tourgee’s home in Mayville, New 

York, was far from the hub of any major 

metropolis, each piece of correspondence took 

up to a week or more. Despite this obstacle, 

Walker and Tourgee managed a collaboration 

that succeeded with the help, and sometimes 

the unwanted interference, of the committee 

that hired them. Like most test case subjects, 

Desdunes and Plessy, the actual defendants 

and supposed clients, had little say in the 

situation.
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Fifth, the judges and Justices in the 

litigation should not be regarded as Delphic 

oracles of the law. They were men whose 

backgrounds and opinions influenced its 

course. On July 9, 1892, Judge John H. 

Ferguson of section A of the New Orleans 

criminal court dismissed the charge against 

Daniel Desdunes. Without a written opinion, 

Ferguson ruled that the Louisiana Supreme 

Court’s decision in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAbbott v. H icks made the 

charge unsustainable, essentially granting the 

defendant’s lawyers’ plea for dismissal. 

Though they had failed to overturn the law 

in court, Martinet wrote Tourgee that the 

committee was pleased with the outcome. He 

echoed these sentiments in the July issue of 

the C rusader when he declared, “The Jim 

Crow car is ditched and will  remain in the 

ditch.”  A  court had ruled that the Separate Car 

Act could not apply to interstate trains. 

Actually, the Louisiana Supreme Court had 

ruled slightly differently: that the law did not 
apply to interstate trains.29 Therefore, in all 

the ways that mattered, this was a defeat. The 

law still stood.

On October 13, 1892, Assistant District 

Attorney Lionel Adams arranged for Plessy to 

be arraigned before the same district judge 

who had tried Desdunes, John H. Ferguson. 

Ferguson was a transplant from Massachu­

setts. Bom there in 1837, he studied for and 

practiced law far from slavery and voted 

Democratic. At the close of the war, Ferguson 

heard reports from returning Massachusetts 

soldiers of the opportunities Northern men 

could have in the South, in particular New 

Orleans. Soon after he arrived in his new 

home, the Yankee from Boston married into a 

staunchly Unionist family and resumed the 

practice of law. He aligned himself not with 

Republicans, however, but with Democrats. 

When Nicholls first became governor, he 

arranged for Ferguson to enter the legislature. 

After one term, Ferguson returned to his legal 

practice. He reentered public service in June 

1892, when Governor Murphy Foster, Nich­

olls’s handpicked successor, rewarded Fergu­

son with a district judgeship for his many 

public speeches against the Louisiana Lottery 

Company. The P lessy case was to be his one 
claim to fame.30

With the interstate aspects of the legal 

arguments now moot, Walker filed a slightly 

different fourteen-point argument in a plea 

against the charge against Plessy. Walker 

sought a writ of prohibition—an order to 

suspend the prosecution of Plessy on the 

grounds that the Separate Car Act was 

unconstitutional. Walker’s case centered on 

the violation of Plessy’s rights under the U.S. 

Constitution, specifically the Thirteenth and 

Fourteenth Amendments. He made sure to 

mention Plessy’s mixed background—a point 

Tourgee felt was critically important, particu­

larly because it made the conductor’s discre­

tionary enforcement powers subject to a 
charge of being arbitrary.31

The newspaper reports noted that Adams 

responded more briefly. He alleged that the 

state of race relations and the noxious smells 

from colored people made the law reasonable. 

It is important to note the substance of this 

contention about reasonability. Although the 

U.S. Supreme Court had yet to establish the 

rational basis test for equal protection clause 

review, it was widely understood that states 

had to meet a burden of reasonableness even 

when they claimed a health or police power 

basis for legislation that restricted a person’s 

liberty. For example, in 1897 in the case of 

G ulf, C olorado &  Santa Fe Railroad C o. v. 

E llis, the U.S. Supreme Court established that 

states had the right to exercise what the courts 

termed “ the police power”  as long as it bore a 

“ rational relationship” with the “ lawful ob­

jective”  sought, a standard of review we know 

today as the rational basis test. Thus, it was 

critically important for those challenging a 

law not only to show that it impinged on a 

constitutionally protected right, but that it did 
so unreasonably.32

On November 18, 1892, as the defense 

team anticipated, Judge Ferguson issued his 

opinion denying Walker’s motion on Plessy’s
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behalf. According to the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD aily P icayune's 

reprint of the judge’s order, Ferguson dis­

missed any concern over the classification of 

Plessy as a person of color with the statement 

of fact: “There is no averment as to the color 

of the defendant.”  As for the idea that he could 

dismiss charges against a defendant because 

the policy behind the law was improper, he 

fell back to the concept of judge as the servant 

of the people: “Judges have nothing to do with 

the policy of particular acts passed by the 

legislature. The will  of the law-giver being 

understood, nothing remains but to carry it 
into effect.” 33 Like a baseball umpire calling 

balls and strikes, Ferguson was denying 

responsibility for the law. He was also 

deferring to the legislature, a posture widely 

adopted by judges. Not only did it make sense 

for a political appointee like Ferguson to defer 

to the legislative majority, but also judges’ 

deference to legislatures was a foundational 

principle of the Democratic party.

Under Louisiana criminal procedure, 

when Plessy’s legal team appealed Fergu­

son’ s denial of Plessy’s motion, the case 

became known as Ex Parte H om er A. P lessy 

to the Louisiana Suprem e C ourt, then P lessy 

v. Ferguson to the U.S. Supreme Court. Ex 

parte means for or on behalf of a party to a 

dispute, and it refers to a controversy where 

only one disputant is presented before the 

court. But, there was an additional step: to 

exhaust their state-based appeals.

The case went next on appeal to the 

Louisiana Supreme Court. There, in Decem­

ber 1892, in an opinion by Justice Charles E. 

Fenner (published in January 1893), the 

Louisiana Supreme Court upheld Ferguson. 

Fenner was one of the justices of the 

Louisiana Supreme Court, like former gover­

nor Nicholls (who was now chief justice), 

who were Democrats. Bom in Tennessee, 

Fenner served the Confederate cause as a 

captain in a Louisiana artillery battery. 

Jefferson Davis was a family friend and spent 

many happy days visiting the Fenner family in 

their Garden District home. Davis died there

in 1889. An attendee of the University of 

Virginia law school, Fenner had been on the 

court since 1880 and had a successful law 

practice after the war. In 1884, he spoke 

glowingly of Robert E. Lee’s physical and 

moral attributes at the dedication of a statue to 

the Confederate commander of the Army of 

Northern Virginia in New Orleans in 1884. He 

would retire the year after rendering his 

opinion in P lessy, dying in 1911 a distin­

guished member of the bench and bar, and a 

member of the board of trustees of what would 
become Tulane University.34

As the legislature had planned when it 

passed the Separate Car Act, Fenner’s opinion 

turned on the law’s facially equal treatment 

of the races. Fenner dismissed counsel’s 

Thirteenth Amendment position as argumen­

tative—that is, without foundation in law. He 

cited the relevant passage in the C ivil Rights 

C ases, the U.S. Supreme Court’s voiding of 

much of the Civil Rights Act of 1875, which 

read in part: “The denial of equal accom­

modations in inns, public conveyances and 

other places of public amusements, imposes 

no badge of slavery or involuntary servitude 

upon the party, but, at most, infringes rights 

which are protected from State aggression by 

the XIVth Amendment.” In the process of 

dismissing the claim against the law’s vesting 

of authority in train conductors and exempting 

them from liability, Fenner patronizingly 

critiqued the righteous outrage of those 

challenging the law as stemming from 

“some misconception.” After all, if the 

legislature’s white majority had such bigotry 

in mind, would it not be better for the colored 

people to accept segregation for their own 

protection? “ ft is certain that such unreason­

able insistence upon thrusting the company of 

one race upon the other, with no adequate 

motive, is calculated, as suggested by Chief 

Justice Shaw, to foster and intensify repulsion 

between them rather than to extinguish it.”  

Turning the reasonable test on its head, he 

opined that to insist on no racial distinctions in 

the law was “unreasonable.” To desire that
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state law conform to the U.S. Constitution’s 
demands was “ no adequate motive.” 35

On January 3, 1893, Chief Justice 

Nicholls denied Walker’s petition for an 

additional hearing to go over factual issues 

Judge Ferguson had missed in the original 

trial. On January 5, Walker filed for a writ of 

error with the Louisiana Supreme Court to 

appeal its decision to the U.S. Supreme Court. 

Nicholls gave permission for the appeal the 
same day.36 The committee had achieved their 

objective: they now had an opportunity to 

challenge the law before the highest court in 

the land.

Practice before the U.S. Supreme Court is 

and was a rarefied art. It took great courage, 

mastery of the skills of appellate argument, 

and a familiarity with the Court’s procedures 

to give a good account of oneself, let alone 

gain a favorable outcome. One also had to be 

admitted to practice before the Court—a 

special privilege granted to a select few. 

Tourgee knew he would need assistance in 

this regard. He did not have to look far. He 

selected an old friend from his days as a judge 

in North Carolina: the former U.S. Solicitor 

General, now a Washington, D.C., attorney in 

private practice, Samuel F. Phillips.

Phillips was bom on February 18, 1829, 

to the English mathematician James Phillips 

and his wife, Judith Vermeule Phillips, in 

New York City. From the age of two, Samuel 

grew up in Chapel Hill,  North Carolina, where 

his father had become a professor at the newly 

established University of North Carolina. He 

graduated there in 1841 with highest honors, 

earning a master’s degree in law three years 

later. After a brief stint as a tutor in the law 

department, he gained election to the state 

legislature in 1852 and 1854 as a Whig. From 

1861 to 1862, he was on the court of claims, 

then served as state auditor from 1862 to 

1864. He had objected to secession and 

participated prominently in the antiwar move­

ment. In 1864 he regained a seat in the general 

assembly, where he became Speaker in 1866. 

His support for equal rights for African

Americans cut short his political career while 

bringing him into close contact with others of 

like mind such as Tourgee. Phillips greatly 

admired the judge and kept in correspondence 

with him as their career paths separated. After 

another term in the assembly from 1871 to 

1872, President Grant appointed Phillips to be 

the second Solicitor General.37

Phillips remained in that difficult  post for 

the next thirteen years. He had the unenviable 

task of attempting to defend the Enforcement 

Acts and the Civil  Rights Act of 1875 before 

an increasingly skeptical Court. Despite his 

general lack of success in these arguments, he 

did provide original lines of thought Justice 

John Marshall Harlan used in his dissents, as 

well as points his distant successors would use 

to great effect several decades later before 

more favorable Courts. With his law partner, 

District of Columbia attorney Frederick D. 

McKenney, Phillips provided his own brief on 

Plessy’s behalf to supplement Tourgee and 

Walker’s. Both he and Tourgee were also able 

to make oral arguments before the Court.

Indicating both his sense of the moment 

and his insouciant optimism, Tourgee later 

wrote Martinet on October 31, 1893, that it 

might be a good idea to delay the hearing 

before the Court. His reading of the Justices 

indicated that five out of the nine then on the 

Bench would vote against Plessy’s appeal. 

Though the membership of the Court was 

unlikely to change, they might be swayed by 

public opinion through his planned journal, 

the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ationa l C itizen. “Of course, we have 

nothing to hope for in any change that may be 

made in the court; but if  we can get the ear of 

the Country, and argue the matter fully  before 

the people first, we may incline the wavering 

to fall on our side when the matter comes 
up.” 38 Besides the inappropriateness of a 

lawyer suggesting that a litigant use public 

opinion to sway the supreme tribunal, it 

seemed presumptuous at best, and arrogant at 

worst, to think that his own publicity efforts 

might be worth more than a swift decision for 

his clients.
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When arrangements finally moved to­

ward a decision before the High Court in

1894, the committee had lost much of its 

fervor. Its advocates in state politics had either 

died or moved on. The successful passage of 

the miscegenation law prompted a protest but 

no legal challenge. One author has seen this 

lackluster response to these laws forbidding 

marriage among races, particularly against 

whites marrying those of other races, as the 

untold, critical pail of the segregation move­

ment. Besides the inherent problem in 

establishing who was a member of a race 

when there was no actual scientific evidence 

to substantiate the claim, especially the “one 

drop” standard of most laws, the state’s 

official classification of people into racial 

categories and forbidding marriages among 

unrelated, consenting adults flew in the face of 

the equal protection guarantees of the Four­

teenth Amendment. The laws’ justification— 

the protection of the races, in particular the 

white race, from contamination—was a red 

flag of adverse discrimination if  ever there 

was one. This was not just discrimination on 

the basis of race. It was the raising of white 

race to an elevated status and the viewing of 

another as a contaminant.

As they awaited the outcome of their 

litigation before the U.S. Supreme Court, 

personal blows fell on committee members. In

1895, Aristide Mary shot himself to death at 

his dining room table. He had become 

increasingly frustrated with the setbacks of 

the preceding years, and his once-vigorous 

mind had been showing signs of senile 

dementia. Besides the loss of their leader, 

the remaining committee members also had to 

confront the obvious signs that the national 

Republican party was abandoning them to 
their fate.39

In their part of the appellate brief to the U. 

S. Supreme Court, Phillips and McKenney 

undertook the key task of making the initial 

procedural arguments. They then asserted the 

first of Plessy’s constitutional arguments: in 

brief, that the Separate Car Act violated

T o  m o ve  h is  ad m iss io n  to  th e  S u p rem e  C o u rt  b a rT o u rg ee IHGFEDCBA 

se lec ted  an  o ld  fr ien d ,  S am u e l  F . P h illip s  (ab o ve ),  w h o m  

h e  kn ew  fro m  N o rth  C aro lin a ,  w h ere  P h illip s  h ad  b een  

a R ep u b lican  lead e r  d u rin g  R eco n s tru c tio n .  N o w  an  

a tto rn ey  in  p riva te  p rac tice  in  D .C . (an d  a fo rm er  U .S . 

S o lic ito r  G en era l),  P h illip s  m ad e  o ra l  a rg u m en ts  b e fo re  

th e  C o u rt  in  ad d itio n  to  T o u rg ee .  W ith  h is  law  p a rtn e r,  

F red e rick  D . M cK en n ey ,  P h illip s  h ad su p p lem en ted  

T o u rg ee ’s  b rie fs  as  w e ll.

Plessy’s rights under the privileges and 

immunities clause of the Fourteenth Amend­

ment. While much of the procedural argu­

ments were a walk-through—the state of 

Louisiana had conceded that Plessy had been 

arrested for violating the law and had faced 

trial, and that he had not been intoxicated, 

badly dressed, or disorderly—Phillips and 

McKenney did have to admit the record did 

not show whether Plessy was colored or 
white.40

They attempted to make a virtue of this 

key omission by asserting that this made their 

case stronger. After all, in judging the case of 

a white sitting in a colored car or a colored 

sitting in a white car, “ the constitutional 

liberty of the party so acted upon is as much 

offended in the first case as in the second.”  

What was more, the statute was making an 

unequal discrimination inasmuch as it was 

reinstituting the racial verities of the antebel­

lum period: “ In either such case it is submitted 

as quite certain that the discrimination in 

question is along the line of the late institution 

of slavery, and is a distinct disparagement of 

those persons who thereby are statutorily 

separated from others because of a Color
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which a few years before, with so small 

exception, had placed them within that line.”  

Phillips and McKenney, in other words, were 

alleging this was simply the Old South 

attempting to reassert itself, a “ taunt by 

law.” 41 They were relying on the largely 

Northern-bom Justices to vindicate the 

Union’s victory as well as the Reconstruction 

policies that followed.

In prose that frequently waxed eloquent 

and cited the novels of Sir Walter Scott, 

Phillips and McKenney posited that the law 
could not discriminate on the basis of color— 

though outside of the law, such discrimina­

tion, much of it defamatory, was widely 

accepted. They too seemed to accept a 

hierarchical ordering of the races. “Everybody 

must concede that this [sitting at the head of 

the table] is true socially of the White man in 

this country, as a class. Nor does anybody 

complain of that.”  The point was not to bring 

those social conventions into the law. “ It is 

only when social usage is confirmed by statute 

that exception ought or legally can be taken 

thereto.” Martinet and the rest of the 

committee would have been appalled at this 

casual acceptance of racism. More in keeping 

with the committee’ s sentiments was the point 

that discrimination against people of the 

“Celtic”  race would be obviously wrong.42

Phillips and McKenney did not stop 

there. They also took up valuable space in 

their brief arguing that train cars and common 

carriers were a different matter from schools 

and marriage in terms of state authority to 

regulate. By conceding these as precedent, 

they created an obstacle for themselves. Why 

was seating in a train car different from 

seating in a schoolroom? “Whether therefore 

two races shall intermarry, and thus destroy 

both, is a question of police, and, being such, 

the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAbona fide details thereof must be left to the 

legislature. In the meanwhile it cannot be 

thought that any race is interested on behalf its 

own destruction!” Having endorsed the 

repugnant notion that miscegenation was a 

genuine concern for both races, they decided

to endorse segregated schooling. “ In educat­

ing the young government steps ‘ in loco 

parentis,' and may therefore in many things 

well conform to the will  of natural parents. 

Separate cars, and separate schools, there­

fore, come under different orders of consider­
ation.” 43 Phillips and McKenney were 

certainly giving up a lot of ground to defend 

their client’s basic civil rights.

Finally, they argued that the Court could 

not save the Louisiana law from itself by a 

creative construction of its provisions. They 

cited a passage in Justice Miller ’s opinion in 

the Trade-m ark C ases in 1879 and to Reese v. 

U .S. in 1876 in support of this contention. It 

was a clever way around the problems Reese 

in particular caused their client. In Reese, the 

Court had voided the conviction of a poll 

worker in Kentucky, under the Enforcement 

Acts, who had denied an African American 

a ballot in the election of 1872 even though 

he had presented proof of being duly 

registered. While the Reese and the C ruik- 

shank cases decided on the same day had done 

great damage to equal rights, Phillips and 

McKenney now advanced the claim that these 

prior decisions aided Plessy’ s fight for his 

civil rights because, unlike in Reese and The 

C ivil  Rights C ases, the Separate Car Act was 
clearly state action.44 With that feat of legal 

legerdemain, they closed their portion of the 

brief.

Tourgee’s section of the brief was a 

lengthy, multiple-point assault on the Sepa­

rate Car Act. Because some of the points, 

questions asked, and refutations are duplica­

tive, a look at them under their general 

headings is more instructive. First, he posited 

that the very discrimination on the basis of 

color violated the Thirteenth Amendment’ s 

prohibition on slavery. Putting people into 

different classes using a characteristic associ­

ated with bondage a generation ago was the 

equivalent of imposing the old caste system 

by other means. Second, the law vested too 

much authority in the hands of the conductors 

on trains. These private persons were not
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entitled to make judgments of this kind, not 

the least of which was determining to which 

category people belonged. Third, the law 

violated the strictures governing common 

carriers, in particular their duties of care, by 

limiting the liability of train conductors in 

their enforcement of the law. Fourth, the 

legislature and state of Louisiana had no 

justifiable purpose in making such distinc­

tions among U.S. citizens. This went to the 

“ reasonableness” of the act. Fifth, the law’ s 

exception for nurses of children introduced 

irreparable contradictions into its motivations, 

enforcement, and discriminations. Sixth, the 

law’s categories were themselves unjustifi­

able divisions of people in an arbitrary 

manner. The law was overbroad and vague. 

In summary, Tourgee argued that the law 

violated the Thirteenth Amendment, as well 

as the privileges and immunities, the due 

process, and the equal protection clauses of 

the Fourteenth Amendment.4'

Tourgee also introduced some novel 

arguments. One was the idea that the law 

was depriving those it defined as colored of a 

piece of their property, namely their identity 

as just U.S. citizens. “ Indeed, is it not the most 

valuable sort of property, being the master- 

key that unlocks the golden door of opportu­
nity?” 46 Whiteness was thus something 

tangible, of value, and recognized by all. It 

was a dangerous contention for someone to 

make on behalf of a client who was deter­

mined to challenge the very existence of such 

a classification, but Tourgee felt the need to 

put in everything he could. Property rights, 

after all, found a high level of protection from 

this Court.

Tourgee next devoted some time to the 

proposition that “ race-intermixture” had oc­

curred to such a degree that state officials, 

much less train conductors, would not be able 

to determine the race without “careful scrutiny 

of the pedigree.” Further, how was one to 

define someone of mixed ancestry? After all, 

looks could be deceiving, as they were in 

Plessy’s case (by design, in order to raise this

very issue). This argument tied in to his 

contention that the intent behind the law was 

not benevolent but malevolent, that it did not 

ensure equality but reinstituted slavery by 

another name. “The law in question is an 

attempt to apply this rule [color as a 

presumption of bondage] to the establishment 

of legalized caste-distinction YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAam ong citizens.”  

This reasoning applied not only to the due 

process deprivation of property or liberty 

claim, but also to the privileges and immuni­

ties contention. “A law assorting the citizens 

of a State in the enjoyment of a public 

franchise on the basis of race, is obnoxious to 

the spirit of republican institutions, because it 

is a legalization of caste." '^

Tourgee did not originate this language 

or concept. The committee’s initial statement 

in the C rusader in August 1891 made this 

point: “This obnoxious measure is the concern 

of all our citizens who are opposed to caste 

legislation and its consequent injustices and 
crimes.” 48 However, it did dovetail nicely 

with what he truly believed. Whether it would 

convince a majority of the Justices presented a 

different matter entirely. Still, in this section 

of his brief, Tourgee reached high. He 

asserted that the privileges or immunities 

clause preempted the states’ legislation and 

created “ a new citizenship of the United States 

embracing new rights, privileges and immu­

nities, derivable in a new manner, controlled 

by new authority, having a new scope and 

extent, dependent on national authority for its 

existence and looking to national power for its 
preservation.” 49 This was ambitious advocacy 

before a Court that had proven reluctant to 

recognize a “new”  nation—quite the opposite.

Tourgee did not cite any precedent or 

authority for these propositions. He relied 

instead on the plain language itself, its context, 

and the general proposition he took from the 

case of Prigg v. Pennsylvan ia that federal 

constitutional law was superior to state law. It 

must have been with some irony that he quoted 

from that 1842 Justice Joseph Story opinion. 

After all, Story had invoked federal supremacy
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in order to reverse the conviction of a slave 

catcher who had kidnapped a Pennsylvania 

woman and her freeborn children so he could 

(and did) sell them in Maryland?0

Tourgee then contended that the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlaugh­

terhouse C ases and Strauder v. W est V irg in ia 

(1880) supported his client’s case. Although 

he dwelled on the minority opinions in 

Slaughterhouse, he made significant note of 

the fact that both majority and minority 

opinions agreed that, if  the slaughterhouse 

law had affected persons of color, the Court 

would have used a different, perhaps stricter 

standard. In Strauder, the Court, through an 

opinion by Justice William Strong, held that 

West Virginia’s command that no African 

Americans could serve on juries violated the 

equal protection clause of the Fourteenth 

Amendment. Justice Strong posited that the 

purpose of the clause was “ to assure to the 

colored race the enjoyment of all the civil  

rights that under the law are enjoyed by white 

persons, and to give to that race the protection 

of the general government, in that enjoyment, 

whenever it should be denied by the States.”  

Tourgee believed Strauder lent itself to this 

interpretation of Slaughterhouse.5 ' This was 

in spite of the fact the Slaughterhouse 

majority opinion had sharply limited the 

national privileges or immunities to such a 

degree they harmed Plessy’s case.

Regardless of these obstacles, he moved 

forward with his call for equality. He

analogized Louisiana’s assertion of its right 

to promulgate a “police regulation”  as upheld 

in Slaughterhouse to the Purim story in the 

Jewish book of Esther, when the evil Persian 

councilor Haman advised the Persian king to 

move against the Jews. Haman “did not set out 

the real cause of his zeal for the public 

welfare: neither does this statute,” Tourgee 

explained. “ He wanted to ‘down’ the Jew: this 

act is intended to ‘keep the negro in his 

place.’” The exemption for colored nurses 

was proof positive. He concluded this section 

of the brief with a powerful statement: 

“Justice is pictured blind and her daughter, 
the Law, ought at least to be color-blind.” 52

Perhaps reminded of the full  potential of 

the Fourteenth Amendment by his analogy to 

a religious minority, Tourgee reversed course 

and insisted that the amendment was not a 

specific protection for those of color, but for 

all. The Fourteenth Amendment, properly 

read, mandated that all were to be treated the 

same without reference to color, not equal 

treatment that discriminated. The state’s true 

motivation was, once again, adverse discrim­

ination buffeted with states’ rights reasoning. 

“ It was the nurse and secured defence of 

slavery and excuse and justification of 
rebellion.” 53 He drew a straight line from 

the disfavored rebellion to Louisiana’s dis­

crimination on the basis of race.

Abandoning the strategy of reconciling 

with adverse precedents, Tourgee argued 

against both Slaughterhouse and C ruikshank. 

He ridiculed the latter’s reading of the 

Fourteenth Amendment: “ Truly, if  this con­

struction be the correct one, this section of the 

amendment is the absurdist piece of legisla­

tion ever written in a statute book.” One 

Justice who ruled on the 1875 case was still 

sitting on the Bench, Stephen J. Field, no 

friend to black rights, and lambasting the 

Court was a dangerous course. Here Tourgee 

spoke not from the usual appellate stance of 

making legal points, but from his own 

wartime experience. The Fourteenth Amend­

ment, a product of the sacrifices and ideals of



PLESSY V. FERGUSONZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1 7zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

that war, should not be rewritten by the Court. 

Likewise, “equal protection of the laws is not 

a YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAcom parative equality—not merely equal as 

between one race and another, but a just and 

universal equality whereby the rights of life, 

liberty, and property are secured to all.”  

Further, these rights “belong to a citizen in 

every free countiy and every republican 
government.” 54

Besides the risk inherent in telling the 

Justices that they were wrong, he was 

incorrect about the history. The Fourteenth 

Amendment had sprung from Congress’ s 

experience with Reconstruction, not the Civil  

War. He could have had a much stronger 

argument if  he had brought forward the actual 

abuses of the freedmen and the complicity of 

presidentially reconstructed states before 

congressional Reconstruction. However, he 

had a larger problem: the C ivil  Rights C ases.

Ignoring the majority’s overturning of the 

public accommodations provisions of the 

Civil Rights Act of 1875, Tourgee saw in 

its demand for a “ state action” a supportive 

precedent for his client. Louisiana had 

certainly acted. “ It is an act of race discrimi­

nation pure and simple.” The C ivil Rights 

C ases limitation of the Fourteenth Amend­

ment to state action put that precedent on his 

side. The Court, therefore, was entitled to rule 

on the question in favor of his client. Then he 

returned to his contention that the Separate 

Car Act was not a reasonable exercise of 

police powers. “The experience of the civi­

lized world proves that it is not a matter of 

public health or morals, but simply a matter 

intended to re-reintroduce the caste-ideal on 

which slavery rested.”  Unfortunately, he was 

unable to escape the trap of racism himself 

when he posited, “ The court will  take notice 

of a fact inseparable from human nature, that, 

when the law distinguishes between the civil  

rights or privileges of two classes, it always is 

and always must be, to the detriment of the 
weaker class or race.” 55 Again, he admitted 

the existence of race in order to refute racist 

legislation.

Courts are reluctant to overturn their 

precedents outright. They prefer to distinguish 

a precedent they are departing from, leaving it 

to apply only to its specific facts as they go on 

to effectually overrule it. Asking the Court to 

renounce C ruikshank, a case that was not 

analogous to the present one, led to all manner 

of confusion. In that case, the Court over­

turned the Enforcement Acts on the same 

ground as the C ivil Rights C ases knocked 

down the public accommodations provisions 

of the Civil Rights Act of 1875: the 

amendment only authorized Congress to 

pass acts that penalized state action. By citing 

C ruikshank, Tourgee undercut the point he 

had made about the C ivil  Rights C ases'. “ It is 

freely admitted that Cruikshank’s case is 
squarely against us.” 56 Given that C ruikshank 

involved faulty indictments on a poorly 

worded section of the Enforcement Acts, it 

is hard to see how it related at all, much less 

went against Plessy’s suit against a state law 

mandating discrimination based on race.

After delineating the differences and 

implications of the words r ight, priv ilege, 

and im m unity, in his twenty-third and final 

point, he contended the Declaration of 

Independence was “not a fable as some of 

our modem theorists would have us believe, 

but the all-embracing formula of personal 

rights on which our government is based and 

toward which it is tending with a power that 

neither legislation nor judicial construction 

can prevent.” 57 The Declaration had been the 

guiding star of generations of abolitionists. 

They argued it was incorporated in the 

Constitution. Even if they were right (a 

position that the High Court had rejected), 

surely the goals of the Declaration had been 

achieved by the Reconstruction amendments.

Tourgee closed by excusing his some­

what informal legal writing style. “ Legal 

refinement is out of place when it seeks to find 

a way both to avoid the plain purport of the 

terms employed, the fundamental principle of 

our government and the controlling impulse 
and tendency of the American people.” 58 He
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was uncompromisingly moral to the last, just 

like the abolitionists who were his ideological 

progenitors.

James C. Walker’s section of the brief 

was much more circumscribed. He restricted 

himself to five main points, although each can 

be divided into distinct parts. In each, he 

always cited precedent. His first point was that 

the statute’s empowering of train conductors 

to assign passengers to racial categories 

violated the due process rights of those singled 

out for the separate car. He noted that both 

state and federal courts held this kind of task to 

be a judicial one. Assigning this discretion to 

the conductors was especially problematic 

because the state of Louisiana had not defined 

race, and there was no consensus on what 

made a person belong to one race or the other. 

He quoted from statutes both North and South 

defining YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAco lored as anything from a quadroon 

(a grandparent was colored), to an octoroon (a 
great-grandparent), to the “one drop” rule.59 

Unfortunately, this list also had the tendency 

to show the presence of belief in race as an 

objective legal category, if  not one on which 

agreement had been reached.

What was more, Walker continued, the 

statute was not a reasonable exercise of the 

police power. “All  police regulations are not 

necessarily constitutional; unconstitutional 

statutes are sometimes disguised in the 

habiliments of police regulations.” Further­

more, they were subject to review. “ Police 

regulations should be reasonable, and not 

involve the sacrifice of natural and inalienable 

rights, nor can they make a crime out of a 
natural right.” 60 Walker had hit upon the 

standard of review argument. He had found it 

wanting, inconsistent with the separation of 

powers that assigned judicial functions to 

courts. Unfortunately, he did not explain why 

the statute was unreasonable.

In his second point, Walker found fault 

with the “ equal, but separate”  justification for 

the statute because the conductor could assign 

a racial character to a passenger, then eject a 

passenger who was unwilling to move,

regardless of whether the cars for the two 

races were actually equal. Again, he noted the 

conductor’s exemption from liability under 

the statute. To the idea that white persons were 

subject to the same arbitrary authority, he 

scoffed. “Yes, when they are mistaken for 

colored persons.” He continued, “After all, 

however, discrimination in the matter is 

evident, and whether for or against the white 

race, or for or against the colored race, it is by 

state legislation on account of race or color, 

and such discrimination is forbidden.” 61

According to Walker’s lights, this set of 

circumstances was exacerbated by the state’s 

failure to designate Plessy as colored or white. 

For Walker, the factual classification was 

a constitutional matter—or rather, the Court 

should not take race into account. “Whether the 

petitioner, H. A. Plessy, is white or colored, or 

mostly white, or mostly colored, cuts no figure 

in the determination of  the question of a court’s 

jurisdiction or authority to hear and determine 
a case upon constitutional grounds.” 62 The law 

violated Plessy’s right to due process and equal 

protection of the laws.

Walker’s third point emphasized the 

vagueness of the law’s specification of color 

and its assignment of sole authority to 

conductors. “The race to which the octoroon 

belongs is just where the state Supreme Court 

left it, to be decided by the railroad 

conductors.” The state supreme court had 

ignored this important task, probably because 

they themselves could not define the racial 

categories. Walker stated, “ When neither 

jurists, lexicographers, nor scientists, nor 

statute laws nor adjudged precedents of the 

state of Louisiana, enable us to say what race 

the passengers belong to,”  how can there be 
duly executed laws on the subject?63

Walker’s fourth point centered on the 

legality of the indemnification provision. The 

Separate Car Act protected the railroads from 

suit for enforcing the statute. For Walker, this 

was an improper removal of liability  because 

only courts could make the determination of 

whether someone was liable for his or her
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actions. “The legislature might with equal 

reason,” Walker analogized, “undertake by 

anticipation to say that the courts shall not 

condemn a policeman for clubbing an 

unresisting prisoner in his custody.” 64 Al ­

though it sounded absurd on its face, it was 

actually common practice for states to exempt 

their officers from liability  for their actions. It 

was not the sovereign immunity—that is, “ the 

sovereign can do no wrong”—that protected 

the state itself from suit (reinforced by the 

Eleventh Amendment to the federal constitu­

tion), but rather official immunity, a more 

limited protection of a state employee or 

officer acting within the prescriptions of the 

law and his or her official duties.

In his fifth and final point, Walker 

assailed the state supreme court’s ruling that 

conductors had no final authority in the 

assignment of passenger cars based on race. 

It was as plain at the statutory language itself. 

It made conductors unappealable judicial 

officers. After quoting Fenner’s opinion’ s 
label of “necessary discretion” to describe 

conductors’ powers, Walker asked, “What 

idea do these words convey? Neither more nor 

less than what we say ourselves.” 65 With this, 

he concluded his section of the brief.

The story of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAP lessy's people reveals a 

lesson more important than the ultimate 

outcome of the case, more lasting, as history, 

than the words of Justices Brown and Harlan. 

That story is not one of heroism or tragedy, 

but of people seeking simple justice. It would 

come, but long after P lessy's people had left 

the scene. The law does not automatically 

work its way pure. But sometimes the 

historian of law can uncover its inner springs 

in the ideas and yearning of persons like these. 

The lawyers effectively humanized their 

clients and presented solid evidence for the 

problems with the state of Louisiana’s policy 

decision to discriminate on the basis of race.

However, though Tourgee and Walker’s 

reading of the meaning of the Civil War and 

Reconstruction’s contribution to American 

law was eminently supportable, it led them

into a trap. It is not hard to understand why 

they fell into it. Despite their commitment to 

equal treatment for all regardless of race and 

their opposition to racial segregation by law, 

they were still people of their time. Racism 

was so deeply ingrained in America’s history, 

society, culture, and law even a fervent 

antiracist like W. E. B. DuBois accepted its 

existence.

What Tourgee and Walker failed to do 

was to recognize what their clients truly 

wanted, represented, and constituted in their 

. very persons, which had important ramifica­

tions for the legal debate over race in America. 

Homer A. Plessy, like Desdunes, Mary, and 

the other members of the Comite des 

Citoyens, was a category breaker. His possi­

ble statement to the conductor about Louisi­

ana’ s definition of him as colored spoke 

volumes about the arbitrary nature of race. 

The gens de couleur lib res, as they were 

known under French sovereignty, had not 

fought racism for generations because they 

were seeking equal treatment between Ne­

groes, African Americans, coloreds, and 

whites. They were seeking equal treatment 

as individuals. Their pronounced defiance of 

racial categories was not just a political 

stance, but a reflection of their own unique 

identity. In short, they were seeking the 

abolition of race in America. Their lawyers’ 

inability to escape the racial concepts of the 

time was largely inevitable, but it was also 

another instance of how lawyers and their 

decisions, whether conscious or subcon­

scious, impact their clients and, in a larger 

way, the course of their country’s history.

Editor’s N ote-. This article is largely 

derived from the author’s Plessy v . Ferguson: 
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In 1894, President Grover Cleveland 

nominated Wheeler H. Peckham, a New 

York lawyer, for a seat on the Supreme Court 

of the United States. The Senate rejected the 

nomination. The defeat was orchestrated by 

New York Senator David B. Hill,  a Tamma­

ny-Hall Democrat who opposed Cleveland’s 

reform style of “Bourbon” Democratic 

politics. Strangely, Hill proclaimed that he 

would support as a substitute nominee 

Peckham’s brother, New York Court of 

Appeals Judge Rufus W. Peckham, whose 

politics were rooted in the same reform 

tradition as that of his brother. Why the 

brother but not the nominee? There are 

circumstances to suggest that Hill  wanted to 

move Rufus out of the way to make room on 

New York’ s high court for a political crony 

of Hill ’s, a lawyer who had been involved in 

a notorious “vote-stealing” scandal. Cleve­

land did not accede to Hill, and stubbornly 

put forward Wheeler’s nomination, which 

failed. He did nominate Rufus Peckham for 

another seat the following year, however, 

and won his confirmation.

Cleveland, Hill,  and the Peckhams were all 

New York Democrats. In fact, Hill  had been 

Cleveland’s lieutenant governor when he 

served as governor from 1883 until he moved 
to the White House in March 1885.' But in the 

1870s and 1880s the New York Democratic 

party was divided between what was known as 

the Tammany Hall machine in New York City 

and upstate reformers, led by one-time presi­

dential candidate Samuel J. Tilden and his chief 

lieutenant, Daniel Manning, an Albany banker 
and newspaper owner.2 The reformers became 

known as “Bourbon” Democrats.3 When the 

reformers allied with Republicans, they were 
collectively called “ Mugwumps.” 4 Cleveland 

had made his name as a reformer as mayor of 

Buffalo in 1882? Hill,  on the other hand, had 

been “ in league”  for years with Tammany Hall 

and its leader, William Marcy “ Boss”  Tweed,6 

but he supported Cleveland for governor 

because he wanted to become lieutenant 

governor.7 Once in Albany, Governor Cleve­

land angered Tammany by nominating some­

one from a rival Brooklyn machine as 

immigration commissioner. When Tammany
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objected, he submitted a long list of nominees 

to state jobs, none of whom were favorites for 
Tammany patronage.8 He also battled with 

Tammany over fares on New York City’s 

elevated railroad.9

As President, Cleveland refused to partici­

pate in New York politics, and he would not 

endorse Hill,  his successor as governor, when 
Hill  ran for re-election in 1888.1(1 This was the 

final straw between Cleveland and Tammany. 

Hill,  as governor, became the leader of the anti­

reformers and promptly declared war on 

Cleveland’s attempts to stem government 

patronage and reform the civil service. 

As President Cleveland’s biographer Alyn 

Brodsky described it: “A faction [of the New 

York party] dancing ominously to Hill ’s piping 

and committed to perpetuating the spoils 

system was tightening its grip on the party.” 11 

Likewise, the President’s failure to win a second 

consecutive term in 1888 was attributed to 

Tammany’s refusal to give him strong support.12

W h ee le r H azard  P eckh am  (le ft) an d  R u fu s P eckh am , Jr. (m id d le ) read  law  u n d er  th e ir  fa th er, R u fu s  P eckh am  S r., an dIHGFEDCBA 

b ecam e  su ccess fu l law yers  in  A lb an y . A  m id d le  b ro th er, Jo sep h  H en ry  (rig h t), d ied  a t ag e  seven teen . (T h e ir m o th er, 

Isab e lla , d ied  w h en  yo u n g  R u fu s  w as  n in e .) R u fu s  fo llo w ed  in  h is  fa th er ’s  fo o ts tep s  b y  serv in g  as  th e  d is tric t a tto rn ey  

fo r A lb an y , o n  th e N ew  Y o rk S u p rem e C o u rt, an d  o n  th e C o u rt o f A p p ea ls .
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The Pe ckham bro the rs we re lawy e rs fro m 

Albany who s e fathe r had be e n a Co u rt o f 

Ap p e als judge. All of the Peckhams were 

long-time acolytes of Tilden and their fellow 

Albanian, Manning. Tilden had run in 

opposition to Tammany corruption since his 

first campaign for New York Assembly in 

1845.L ’ Tweed then controlled the nomina­

tion and election of state, county, and city 

officials—particularly judges— in New York. 

“Judges were nominated partly with a view to 

the amount they could ‘put up,’ and partly 

with a view to their future decisions on 

political questions,” concludes Tammany 
Hall scholar Gustavas Myers14 As state 

Democratic chair in the 1860s and 1870s, 

Tilden sought to reform the state’s judiciary 

and successfully proposed a slate of what he 

called “pure”  candidates for the state’s highest 

court, the Court of Appeals, including the 

Peckhams’ father, who was also known as 

Rufus W. Peckham. The Tweed Ring would 

be powerless without its hand-picked judges 
on the state’s courts, Tilden felt.15

Wheeler Hazard Peckham played a larger 

role in the reform movement than either his 

brother or his father. He established a law 

practice in New York City in the 1860s and 
became a friend ofTilden.16 In 1873, Wheeler 

Peckham was appointed chief assistant to 

Charles O’Conor, who was then prosecuting 

“Boss”  Tweed and many of his associates on 

corruption charges. He devoted several years 

to destroying O’Conor and the infamous 

Tweed Ring. “The actual conviction of 

Tweed, for which Mr. Peckham was mainly 

responsible, broke the power of the Ring, and 

its fragments were scattered to the four 

comers of the earth,” notes Wheeler’s 

biographer” 17 In a contemporaneous role as 

a special deputy attorney general, Peckham 

also pursued $6 million in civil damages 
against Tweed and his cronies.18 One report 

asserted that the civil and criminal actions 

against Tweed “were practically conducted by 
[Peckham] alone.” 19 Even after he returned to 

private practice, he remained a reformer as 

president of the Association of the Bar of the

T h e P eckh am  b ro th ers an d th e ir fa th er w ere lo n g -tim e aco ly tes o f S am u e l T ild en an d o p p o sed T am m an y H allIHGFEDCBA 

co rru p tio n . T h e  T am m an y  S o c ie ty  w as  th e  D em o cra tic p arty  p o litica l m ach in e  th a t u sed  p a tro n ag e  an d  g ra ft to  co n tro l 

N ew  Y o rk  p o litics . P ic tu red is  T am m an y H all d eco ra ted  fo r th e 1868  e lec tio n , w h ere th e  T am m an y S o c ie ty  h e ld  its  

co n ven tio n .
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City o f Ne w York.20 In 1888, he supported 

Hill ’s Republican opponent for governor,21 

and sealed his division with Hill, first by 

commissioning a bar association probe into an 

election scandal involving a Hill  ally, then by 

leading opposition to Hill ’s nomination of the 

same man, Isaac H. Maynard, to the Court of 

Appeals, which Peckham saw as a reward for 

Maynard’s election shenanigans.22

The election scandal came in 1891, and 

control of the state senate was in the balance. 

Maynard was then serving as a deputy state 

attorney general. The senate election was 

especially important because the state was to 

be re-districted the following year, and the 

ability of Democrats in the senate to influence 

configuration of the districts might determine 

control of the state legislature for years to 

come. The 1891 senate election hinged upon 

the outcome of balloting in the Hudson 
Valley’s Dutchess County.23 Hill sent May­

nard to the county as a personal representative 

of the governor and as an adviser to the 
Democrats.24 Thirty-one Republican ballots 

were found to have ink marks on their edges. 

The Democrats claimed that they were thereby 
defective and should be rejected.25 The 

Dutchess County Board of Canvassers agreed 

and threw out the votes, giving the election to 

the Democratic candidate by fourteen votes. 

The Republican county clerk, as secretary to 

the board, refused to certify the results, 

however, and the board selected one of its 

own members, John J. Mylod, as secretary YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBApm 

tem , and he forwarded the pro-Democratic 

return to the three members of the state board 

of canvassers in Albany: the governor, the 
secretary of state, and the state comptroller.26

The Republicans went to court and 

demanded a corrected return from the county 

board and an order prohibiting the state board 

from certifying the Mylod return.27 The case 

eventually made its way to the Court of 

Appeals, which decided—ironically, in a 

decision by Judge Rufus W. Peckham—that 

a new return by the county should be filed 

with the state board.28 In the meantime, a new

return had been prepared by the county and 

sent to the three state officers.29 Maynard was 

later accused of intercepting one of the copies 

in an after-hours raid of the state comptroller’s 

office, and the other copies were taken by 
another man.30 When the state board met, it 

had only the Mylod return, and it certified the 
Democrat as the winner of the senate race.31

Early the following year, Maynard was 

appointed to a vacancy on the Court of 

Appeals by Governor Roswell P. Flower, 

whom David Hill had handpicked as his 

successor after Hill  was elected to the United 
States Senate.32 It was only then that 

Maynard’s role in the mysterious disappear­

ance of the ballots became widely known, 

prompting an indignant outcry. The city bar 

association, headed by the reform-minded 
Wheeler Peckham, began an investigation,3’ 

concluded that Maynard had committed a 

crime,34 and petitioned the state legislature to 

remove him from office because his actions 

had impaired public confidence in him as a 

judge and rendered him unfit for judicial 
office.35 Senator Hill  returned to Albany to aid 

his old friend, but no witnesses were 
subpoenaed to testify.36 For three hours, 

Wheeler Peckham testified against Maynard 

before a joint legislative committee. He called 

the investigation into the judge’s activities 

“ the most disagreeable duty I have ever 

performed in my life.” He asserted that his 

brother, Rufus, who was then sitting on the 

Court of Appeals bench with Maynard, once 

had a good opinion of Judge Maynard. “ But as 

to this act, he does not approve o f  it, for he has 

told me so.”  According to newspaper reports, 

this assertion “staggered” members of the 

committee.37 Out of respect for his high 

office, Maynard himself was never subpoe­

naed to testify.38

Maynard was exonerated by the legisla­
tive majority,39 but his temporary appoint­

ment soon expired. Despite the controversy, 

Governor Flower named Maynard to a new 

vacancy in 18 93.40 The bar association passed 

a resolution calling him “eminently unfit.”
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W h ee le r H azard  P eckh am  (ab o ve ) m o ved  fro m  A lb an y  to  N ew  Y o rk  C ity , w h ere  h e  b ecam e  a lead er  o f  th e  b ar. H e  w asIHGFEDCBA 

kn o w n  fo r h is an ti-co rru p tio n in itia tives an d b ecam e in s tru m en ta l in b reak in g u p B o ss T w eed ’s n o to rio u s “R in g ,”  

w h ich co n tro lled T am m an y H all in th e 1860s an d exp an d ed th e co rru p tio n an d k ickb acks in to p rac tica lly every  

asp ec t o f c ity an d s ta te g o vern an ce . In  th e carto o n ab o ve B o ss T w eed is  th e fa t m an  a t le ft.zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Pre s ide nt Whe e le r Pe ckham p ro te s te d by 

le tte r , “The simple question is whether law 

breaking for a party purpose constitutes a 

good reason for appointing the law breaker to 
fill  a vacancy in the Court of Appeals.” 41 This 

was, after all, the “pure” court on which his 

father had served from 1870 until he was lost 
at sea in 18 7 342 and upon which his brother, 

Rufus, was a member at the time.4’ ’

When Judge Maynard ran for a full term 

in the fall of 1893, the bar association 

sponsored mass meetings in protest and 

supported his Republican opponent, Edward 
T. Bartlett.44 In campaign speeches, Hill  

vigorously defended Maynard and bitterly 

attacked the bar association’s investigation as 

a “conspiracy”  and a “contemptible farce.”  At 

times, he criticized Wheeler Peckham and
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In 1894 , P res id en t G ro ver C leve lan d  n o m in a ted  W h ee le rIHGFEDCBA 

H . P eckh am  to  th e S u p rem e C o u rt, b u t th is n o m in a tio n  

w as cau g h t in th e m id d le o f a p o litica l tu g -o f-w ar 

b etw een C leve lan d an d N ew  Y o rk S en ato r D av id B . H ill 

(rig h t) b ecau se  W h ee le r h ad  ch a llen g ed H ill’s p o litica l 

m ach in e . H ill w as  p articu la rly an g ry  th a t P eckh am  h ad  

exp o sed co rru p tio n b y h is frien d Isaac M ayn ard (le ft), 

w h o m  h e b acked fo r a sea t o n th e N ew  Y o rk C o u rt o f 

A p p ea ls in 1891 .zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

o the rs by nam e . “ A  little coterie of Mugwump 

lawyers with aristocratic pretensions and 

exclusive tendencies, habitues of clubs, who 

desire to regulate and control politics in 

swallow-tailed coats around dining-room 

tables because ‘ it ’s English, you know,’ are 

the brainless set of  namby-pambys who are to­

day [sic] controlling the Bar Association, and 

dictating its suicidal policy in aid of the 
Republican state machine,”  Hill  ranted.45 For 

his part, Wheeler Peckham chaired what was 

called a Committee of 50 opposed to the 
nomination.46 He mobilized poll watchers to 

oversee the elections and guard against 
fraud.47 Still, corruption was pervasive. 

Some districts reported that Maynard had 

received every single vote for the Court of 

Appeals. One district tallied 5,000 more votes 
than there were registered voters.48 Neverthe­

less, Maynard was defeated state-wide by 

101,000 votes, and he brought down the rest

of the Democratic ticket, as well.49 The defeat 

was later judged a “death knell for the Hill  

machine”  in New York.50

But Hill  was still a power in the United 

States Senate, and he was soon to show his 

strength there. Since leaving Albany, Grover 

Cleveland had served a term in the White 

House, was defeated in 1888, but was 

returned to the presidency in 1892, the only 
President to date to serve two split terms.51 

Hill  actively campaigned against his nomina­

tion for a second term.52

Early in Cleveland’s second presidency, 

in the summer of 1893, Justice Samuel 

Blatchford died, leading to one of the Senate’s 

most vociferous confrontations with any 

President over a Supreme Court nomina­
tion.53 The fight came as a surprise, since 

there was a Democratic majority in the Senate 

and it was thought that the President would 

have no trouble getting his nominee con­
firmed.54 Cleveland initially  chose William  B. 

Homblower, a New York lawyer who had 

been appointed by Wheeler Peckham to the 

bar association's committee investigating 

Judge Isaac Maynard two years earlier. At 

the age of forty-two, Homblower was then the 

youngest person ever nominated for the high 
Court.55 Cleveland consulted no one—not 

even his Attorney General—about the
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no m inatio n. Initially , Hill vo ice d no co m­

plaint. But Homblower’s nomination coin­

cided with Judge Maynard’s (ultimately 

unsuccessful) re-election bid for the Court 

of Appeals.56 Hill  became concerned that the 

Senate’s confirmation of Homblower might 

be interpreted in New York as vindication of 

the bar association report that condemned 

Judge Maynard. He persuaded the Senate 

Judiciary Committee to delay consideration of 

the nomination until after the November 

elections. The Senate adjourned without 

considering it, and Cleveland had to renew 

the nomination when a new Congress con­

vened in January, even though Homblower 

himself objected to having his name put 
forward again.57 Senator Hill renewed his 

opposition, curiously suggesting Judge Rufus 
W. Peckham as an alternative.58 After five 

hours of speeches on the Senate floor, 

including an attack by Hill, the nomination 
was rejected, 24-30, on January 15, 1894.59 

The defeat was considered a direct challenge 
to the President.60

A few days later, through an intermedi­

ary, the White House queried Wheeler

S en ato r H ill a lso b lo cked th e ap p o in tm en ts o f W illiam IHGFEDCBA 

B . H o m b lo w er (ab o ve ) an d F red eric C o u d ert to th e  

S u p rem e C o u rt in 1893 . L ike W h ee le r P eckh am , 

H o m b lo w er h ad w o rked to d efea t M ayn ard . H o rn - 

b lo w er ’s n o m in a tio n w as re fe rred to co m m ittee an d  

re jec ted a fte r severa l m o n th s ’ d e lay b y a 24 -30  vo te .

Peckham, then sixty years old, asking whether 

he would accept the nomination. He would, he 

replied, but only if  the President was confident 

that he could secure confirmation. Half an 

hour after the intermediary cabled Peckham’s 

reply, the nomination was announced in 

Washington.61 The choice came as a shock 

on Capitol Hill.  Some were initially  confused, 

thinking that it was Rufus Peckham who had 
been nominated, as Hill had suggested.62 

Joseph Pulitzer’s paper, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAThe W orld , called it 
“ the sensation of the day.” 63 Peckham’s 

hometown newspaper was equally aston­

ished, headlining its story on the nomination, 

“Not Judge R.W. Peckham; But Wheeler H. 

Who Is Nominated By The President, Instead 

of Mr. Homblower.”  The story noted that the 

New York Senators found his selection 
“distasteful.” 64 The choice of Wheeler Peck­

ham, whose opposition to Maynard had been 

even more powerful than Homblower’s, was 

seen by some as defiant—even spiteful—on 
Cleveland’s part.65 “ Mr. Peckham stands for 

all that Mr. Homblower represented and 

more,”  one paper noted. “ He was prosecuting 

Tammany criminals before Mr. Homblower 
wore whiskers.” 66 Hill  was seen as a particu­

lar target of the President’s wrath.67 “Cleve­

land, from a bad motive, named a bad man,”  

one paper cried. “ His sole purpose was to 

insult and outrage the senators from New 

York and evidence his contempt for them ... 

The one, sole, overpowering purpose with 

Cleveland was to brew disaster for Hill. ” 68 

The President was known to want to bring 

Rufus Peckham to Washington in some 

capacity, but he could not capitulate to 
Hill. 69 The Senator immediately objected, 

calling Wheeler Peckham the worst possible 

choice and, with candor rare in politics, 

admitted to pure partisanship: “ In 1888, Mr. 

Peckham supported Warner Miller, who ran 

against me for Governor, and did everything 

in his power to defeat me, making many 

speeches in which I was bitterly attacked.”  

The Senator called Peckham “ a man of strong 

prejudices and [] lacking altogether in the
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judicial temperament.” He again suggested 

that Wheeler’s brother, Rufus, would make “ a 

magnificent member of the Supreme 
Court.” 70

Why would Hill favor Rufus over 

Wheeler? The brothers resembled one another 

in both political portfolio and in physical 
appearance.71 It ’s true that Wheeler’s opposi­

tion to Tammany had a longer and stronger 

history. But Rufus was also a Tilden follower 

and had been one of the most influential 

leaders of the reform faction of the Democrat­

ic party in the 1870s. He was a Tilden delegate 

to the presidential conventions in 1876 and 

1880. He had opposed Tammany in 1879 and 

supported a rival candidate for governor. In 

1882, he chaired the Democratic State 

Convention and supported Cleveland for the 
state’s chief executive.72 They became close 

friends—so close that Rufus (then a state 

supreme court justice) was one of the few 

confidants who sat with Cleveland in the 

Governor’s mansion in Albany the night that 

they waited for the results of the presidential 
election in 1884.73 And Hill  had not always 

had so high an opinion of Rufus Peckham. As 

governor, Hill  had opposed Peckham’s nomi­

nation to the Court of Appeals in 18 86,74 and, 

having failed to keep him off that court, 

successfully challenged his nomination for 

chief judge in 1892, supporting the Republi­
can candidate instead.75 Surely there must 

have been Tammany Hall regulars who were 

more likely favorites of Hill  for a seat on the 

Supreme Court. Could it be that he still 

coveted a seat for Maynard on the Court of 

Appeals and hoped to make way for him by 

elevating Rufus Peckham out of his roost 

there? One newspaper report suggested this 

might be the case: “ Senator Hill  said a few 

days ago that should the President nominate 

Rufus W. Peckham he undoubtedly would be 

confirmed. At the time this was looked upon 

as a move on Senator Hill ’s part to get Judge 

Peckham appointed in order that Gov. Flower 

might appoint Judge Maynard, who is now 
out of a job, to fill  the vacancy.” 76 But later

accounts of the confirmation battle have 

overlooked this possible motive.

Wheeler Peckham’s nomination was seen 

as a mark of Cleveland’s political stubborn­

ness. “ If  Cleveland thought he could shame 

Hill into backing down, he was carrying 

naivete to Himalayan heights,” one historian 

has written.77 Hill  immediately huddled with 

members of the Senate Judiciary Committee.78 

He attacked the nominee’s age and health, 

citing his resignation from the Office of 

District Attorney in New York, ostensibly 

for reasons of illness, only a few days after his 
appointment in 1883.79 Hill began trading 

votes with other senators to gain their support 
in the challenge to Peckham.80 He garnered 

the favor of Massachusetts Senators who had 

supported Homblower by promising to vote 

against the nomination of a foreign-service 

appointee to whom they objected. And Hill  

appealed to western Senators who were angry 

with Cleveland over other issues.81 Peckham’s 

supporters in the legal and political communi­

ty lobbied Senators by letter to establish his 

qualifications as a loyal Democrat and to note 

that a good number of prior Justices had 

ascended to the Supreme Court without 

judicial experience.82

Evaluating Peckham’s qualifications to 

be a Supreme Court Justice was not easy 

because he lacked judicial experience. Ac­

cording to political scientist Carl A. Pierce, 

“No one doubted for an instant that the 

charges brought against Peckham on account 

of his temperament, age and health would be 

seriously considered by the Senate. Because 

Peckham had no judicial experience, the 

Senators could not look at his record on an 

inferior tribunal to justify or repudiate the 

attacks on his fitness; all they could do was 

examine the various testimonials submitted to 
the committee for and against the nominee.” 83

There is no record of the debate on the 

nomination in the Judiciary Committee. It 

ultimately deadlocked, 5-5, and sent it to the 

Senate floor without a recommendation. This 
was only the second time this had occurred.84
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Cle ve land we nt to wo rk to gain Re p u bli­

can support for the nominee. One newspaper 

claimed that carriages carrying Cabinet 

members making calls to reluctant senators 

could be heard clomping about the streets of 

Washington the night before the final vote.83 

But Hill matched Cleveland’s efforts by 

urging business and railroad interests to lobby 

against Peckham. One account maintained 

that “Hill ’s labors never ceased until he had 

his foot on Peckham’s neck.” 86 After four 

weeks of “ intense political struggle,” the 

nomination went to the floor on February 15,

1894. His supporters argued that Peckham 

should be judged on his qualifications alone 

and tried to delay the vote, but others saw the 

nomination as a personal vendetta on the part 
of Cleveland.87 Democratic opponents saw 

Peckham as “not a good enough”  party man. 

In the end, the nomination failed, 32-41. “ It 

was reached after one of the longest struggles 

in executive session in the history of the 

Senate,” according to reports at the time.88 

Fifteen Democrats, twenty-four Republicans 
and two Populists voted “no.” 89 Peckham’s 

nomination was only the seventh, including 

Homblower’s, to fail in the history of the 

Supreme Court.90

Cleveland became the first President to 

have two successive nominees to the Court 
rejected by the Senate.91 But the President had 

brought defeat on himself. He insulted the 

Senate and embarrassed the Supreme Court, 

in a misguided effort to defeat Senator Hill  

and reassert his shaky leadership of the 

Democratic party. In making the Peckham 

vote a test of Democratic loyalty to his 
administration, he had overreached.92

Stubbornly, Cleveland resisted turning to 

the man that Hill  had recommended, Rufus 

Peckham. Could it be that the President 

suspected that Hill was supporting Rufus 

Peckham only to make way on the New York 

Court of Appeals for his old friend, Isaac 

Maynard? Roswell Flower was still governor, 

and presumably would be willing, as he had 

twice in the past, to appoint the disgraced

Maynard. Instead of Rufus Peckham, Cleve­

land next asked Frederic Coudert, another of 

the lawyers who had investigated Judge 

Maynard, to stand for the Supreme Court 

seat, but Coudert could foresee what Cleve­

land could not and declined the nomination. 

Three days later, the President chose one 

of the Senate’s own, Edward D. White of 

Louisiana, and he was unanimously 

confirmed.93

A  year-and-a-half later, Justice Howell E. 

Jackson died, and Cleveland had another 

chance to fill  a seat on the Court. He again 

wanted to nominate Hornblower, but the New 

York lawyer refused to go through another 

battle. Coudert again declined as well, even 

though he had been assured that Hill  would 

support him. Finally, the President called 
upon Rufus W. Peckham.94 He initially  

hesitated, asking the President for a few 

days to discuss the matter with his brother and 

other associates because the appointment 

would “necessarily entail great changes in 
[his] personal surroundings.” 95 He eventually 

accepted, noting that his friends had con­

vinced him that the important work of the 

Court trumped “my reluctance to sever 

partially old associations and leave temporar­

ily  the old city of my birth.” 96

Appearing to have learned a lesson from 

the year before, Cleveland made no end-runs 

around senatorial courtesy this time. On 

November 18, the President wrote the Senator 

in Albany a handwritten note that bore no hint 

of their former hostility. He proposed Peck­

ham for the Court and tactfully inquired: 

“ Have you any desire as to the time of sending 

the nomination? I think the court needs him 

and I would be glad to have him qualified very 

early if you could find it consistent and 

agreeable to pave the way for it in your 
absence.” 97 Hill responded in kind, stating 

that “ the nomination is a most excellent one 

and very satisfactory.”  He told the President to 

submit it “ at your convenience as I have no 

preference in the matter.”  Moreover, Hill  said 

that he had already asked the Senate
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le ade rs hip to co ns ide r the no m inatio n p ro m p t­

ly and confirm Rufus without delay.98 The 

nomination had come as a surprise to the 

Senate because Cleveland had ignored Hill ’s 

suggestion that Rufus be given the Blatchford 

seat the year before.99 The younger Peckham, 

then fifty-eight years old, was on the bench in 

Albany when he received word of his 

nomination. It was said that he merely nodded 
at the news.'00

The Judiciary Committee favorably re­

ported on the nomination on December 9,

1895, and Rufus Peckham was confirmed by 

voice vote that same day.101 Senator Hill  

made a short speech in support, and there was 

no opposition.102 Peckham immediately 

handwrote a short note on Court of Appeals 

stationery to Hill: “Allow me to thank you 

very heartily for your course in the matter of 

my nomination and confirmation. I know how 

much the ease of any passage through the 

Senate is owing to your attitude regarding the 

matter, and I want to say that I appreciate the 
same . . ,” 103 By this time, Governor Flower 

was out of office and had been replaced by a 
Republican, Levi P. Morton,104 so Hill  knew 

Maynard no longer had a chance of gaining 

appointment to the Court of Appeals seat 

vacated by Peckham. Justice Peckham was 
sworn in a month later105 and served more 

than thirteen years until his death at his 

summer home near Albany in 1909.106

Rufus Peckham became an intellectual 

leader of the Court. He and Justice David J. 

Brewer authored its most “powerful and 

eloquent” opinions.107 Upon his death, a 

hometown paper called him “one of the best 

and one of the brainest [sic] jurists to ever 

sit on the United States supreme court 

bench.” 108

David B. Hill  served in the Senate until 

1897, then returned to Albany, where he died 
in 1910.'09 Isaac H. Maynard faded into 

obscurity after his 1893 election defeat and 

died alone in an Albany hotel on June 12,

1896, '10 six months after Peckham left for the 

Supreme Court.

The Peckhams appear to be the only 
brothers ever nominated for the high Court.111 

After his failed nomination, Wheeler focused 

on his corporate law practice in New York, 

representing primarily railroads, and contin­

ued his good-government reform efforts until 

he died in his office on September 27, 
1905.'12 At seventy-three, he was still serving 

in the last year of his life on a state 

commission investigating delays and costs 
in the city courts.113 After his death, a legal 

journal declared that Wheeler Peckham was 

among the “men who protect the community 

or the Nation from those who would rob it, 

hurt it, or do dishonestly that which the people 
wish to have done well.” 114
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Mo re than any o the r s ingle p e rs o n, 

Olive r We nde ll Ho lm e s , Jr., is re s p o ns ible 

fo r the p o s itio n that fre e do m o f s p e e ch 

o ccu p ie s in Am e rican s o cie ty to day . His 

landm ark Firs t Am e ndm e nt o p inio ns have 

no t o nly s hap e d fre e s p e e ch do ctr ine and 

the o ry , the y have wo rke d the ir way into o u r 

co lle ctive co ns cio u s ne s s , be co m ing p art o f 

o u r langu age , o u r vie w o f the wo rld, and o u r 

ide ntity as a natio n. Yet, strangely, Holmes 

was not always a staunch defender of free 

speech. Prior to writing his 1919 dissent in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Abram s v. U nited States, he had done as 

much as any judge to render the First 

Amendment toothless. In one of the first 

Supreme Court cases to address the topic, he 

had embraced the cramped Blackstonian 

view that freedom of speech prohibits only 

prior restraints but places no limits on the 

government’s power to punish speakers 

after the fact.1 In another case, he had 

upheld the conviction of a small-time

anarchist for inciting nude sunbathing.2 

And just eight months before his famous 

dissent in Abram s, Holmes had written three 

opinions for the Court upholding convic­

tions of socialists and pacifists who had 

criticized American involvement in World 

War I.3

It wasn’ t that Holmes had a particular 

dislike of free speech. What irked him was the 

notion of individual rights in general, the idea 

that there are limits on what a democratic 

majority can do. “Every society rests on the 

death of men,” he liked to say.4 If  a nation 

needs soldiers, it seizes young men and 

marches them off to war at the point of a 

bayonet.5 If  an epidemic breaks out, it forces 

the public to get vaccinated. The same is true, 

Holmes thought, even when there is no 

emergency. If the majority wants to limit  

the workday of bakers to ten hours, it should 

be permitted to do so, regardless of whether 

that decision is misguided or conflicts with
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some ideal of freedom.6 And he, as a judge, 

had no business standing in the way. “ If  my 

fellow citizens want to go to Hell 1 will  help 

them,”  was another favorite saying. “ It ’s my 
job.” 7

In short, Holmes was in many ways the 

Justice least likely to stick his neck out for the 

right of free speech—and for the Court’s role 

in enforcing that right. So why did he do it? 

Why did a man who sneered at liberal 

sentimentality his whole life write one of 

the canonical statements of American liberal­

ism, an opinion that has been compared to the 

speeches of Lincoln and the essays of 
Milton?8 That question is one of the great 

legal and intellectual mysteries of the twenti­

eth century. And the answer is a fascinating 

story of chance encounters, intellectual ex­

ploration, and personal relationships. But in 

order to appreciate how remarkable that story 

is, we first need to understand just how 

radically Holmes’ position on free speech

shifted from his early years as a state court 

judge to his later years on the Supreme Court.9

Free Speech  Skeptic

The evidence of Holmes’ insensitivity to 

free speech begins during his tenure on the 

Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court from 

1882 to 1902. Although the First Amendment 

did not apply to the states at the time, Holmes 

decided a handful of cases raising issues of 

free speech. For the most part, these cases fell 

into two categories. The first consisted of libel 

suits in which the defendants asserted a 

common law privilege in an effort to avoid 

liability. In Cow/ey v. YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAPulsifer, a newspaper 

argued that its statements about the plaintiff 

were protected because they had been taken 

from a petition filed in court.10 And in Burt v. 

Advertiser N ew spaper C o., a newspaper 

claimed it could not be held liable for false
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statements it believed in good faith to be 
true.11 In both cases, Holmes rejected the 

argument of privilege in favor of a rule of 

strict liability: “A person publishes libelous 
matter at his peril,” he wrote in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBABurt.}2 

Moreover, he made clear that this rule applied 

regardless of whether the statements con­

cerned a matter of public interest. Indeed, to 

the extent that the statements were made 

public, Holmes indicated, that would only 

weaken the defendants’ claim of privilege, 

since in that situation “ the harm done by a 

falsehood is much greater than” when the 
statements are made in private.13

The second category of cases involved 

claims of free speech by public employees or 

on public property. In M cAuliffe v. C ity of 

N ew Bedford, a policeman was fired for 

violating a department rule banning member­

ship in a political committee or solicitation of 

money for political purposes. Rejecting the 

policeman’s claim that his dismissal violated 

the First Amendment, Holmes wrote that the

“petitioner may have a constitutional right to 

talk politics, but he has no constitutional right 
to be a policeman.” 14 Likewise, in D avis v. 

C om m onw ealth , Holmes rejected the plain­

tiffs claim that his right to free speech was 

violated by a city ordinance that prohibited 

public addresses on Boston Common. “ For 

the legislature absolutely or conditionally to 

forbid public speaking in a highway or public 

park is no more an infringement of the rights 

of a member of the public than for the owner 

of a private house to forbid it in his house,”  he 
wrote.15 Although both cases concerned the 

power of government to regulate speech when 

acting outside its capacity as sovereign, 

Holmes’ opinions nevertheless reflected a 

narrow view of free speech that has since been 
rejected by the Supreme Court.16

With his appointment to that Court in 

1902, Holmes had an opportunity to broaden 

the guarantee of free speech. Instead, he 

narrowed it. In Patterson v. C olorado, the 

Court heard an appeal from a Denver
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newspaper that had been fined for criticizing a 

decision of the Colorado Supreme Court. The 

newspaper claimed that the fine violated the 

First Amendment, but a majority of the Court 

disagreed. In an opinion written by Holmes, 

the Court held that, even if  the rights of free 

speech and free press applied against the 

states (a doubtful proposition at the time), “ the 

main purpose of such constitutional provi­

sions is ‘ to prevent all such YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAprevious restra in ts 

upon publications as had been practised by 

other governments,’ and they do not prevent 

the subsequent punishment of such as may be 
deemed contrary to the public welfare.” 17 

With that statement, Holmes embraced the 

Blackstonian view of free speech, which drew 

a sharp distinction between prior restraints 

and subsequent punishment.18 Blackstone’s 

view was actually a significant breakthrough 

for civil  liberties in England, since for much of 

the seventeenth century Parliament had 

operated a licensing system that banned any 

publication not approved by an official 

censor. But to early twentieth century 

progressives—as to most jurists now—the 

Blackstonian position seemed pinched and 

formalistic. What was the point of free speech 

if  you could still be punished for anything you 

said?

Eight years after Patterson, Holmes 

wrote another opinion for the Court rejecting 

a free speech claim. In Fox v. W ashington, a 

small-time anarchist challenged his convic­

tion for advocating unlawful conduct. The 

basis of the conviction was an article entitled 

“ The Nudes and the Prudes,”  which celebrat­

ed nude sunbathing and called for a boycott of 

the “prudes” in society who had begun to 

crack down on the practice. The anarchist 

maintained that his article was protected by 

the First Amendment, but Holmes disagreed. 

Even though there was no evidence that the 

article might lead to any danger—much less 

an imminent one—he concluded that it was 

not protected for the simple reason that it 

encouraged a breach of the state laws against 

indecent exposure.19

Such were Holmes’ views on free speech 

when the Court decided a series of cases at the 

end of World War I involving the 1917 

Espionage Act, which made it a crime to 

willfully  cause or attempt to cause insubordi­

nation in the military, willfully  obstruct the 

draft, or willfully  publish false reports with 
the intent to interfere with the war.20 The first 

of these decisions was Schenck v. U nited 

States, an appeal from Charles Schenck 

and Elizabeth Baer, officers of the Socialist 

party of Philadelphia who had overseen the 

publication of a leaflet attacking the constitu­

tionality of the draft. Entitled “Long Live the 

Constitution of the United States”  on one side 

and “Assert Your Rights” on the other, the 

leaflet quoted the Thirteenth Amendment’s 

ban on slavery, compared conscripts to 

convicts, and encouraged readers to write to 

their congressmen requesting repeal of the 

draft. It also advised those who were against 

the war to register as conscientious objectors, 

urging them not to be intimidated by flag- 

waving politicians or the capitalist press. “ If  

you do not assert and support your rights,”  

the document stated, “you are helping to deny 

or disparage rights which it is the solemn duty 

of all citizens and residents of the United 

States to retain.” 21 Some of the fliers were sent 

to draftees, and when the postal inspector 

spotted them in the mail he led a raid on the 

party’s downtown bookstore. There, he found 

several thousand copies of the leaflet, tied up 
with string and stacked on tables and chairs.22 

He also found a notebook implicating both 

Schenck and Baer in the mailings. They were 

each charged with conspiracy to cause 

insubordination and obstruct recruiting, con­

victed by a jury, and sentenced to six and three 

months in jail, respectively.

The second case, Frohw erk v. U nited 

States, was an appeal from Jacob Frohwerk, 

the editor of a German-language newspaper in 

Kansas City called the M issouri Staats- 

Zeitung. The Stacits-Zeitung was a small 

newspaper with a circulation of just a few 

thousand, but one of its subscribers was the
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Department of Justice, which was keeping 

tabs on German papers for evidence of 
espionage.23 Officials read the paper during 

the summer and fall of 1917 as the draft went 

into effect and the first casualty lists came 

back from Europe. But it was not until the 

following spring, when the department was 

under pressure to crack down on radicals, 

that officials brought an indictment against 

Frohwerk. The charges were based on a 

dozen articles published between June and 

December 1917, with each article serving as 

the basis for a separate count. Several of the 

articles criticized England, claiming it had 

instigated the conflict to shore up its empire 

and had manipulated the United States into 

joining the cause. A few repeated the stock 

socialist line that the country had gone to war 

to appease the bankers on Wall Street. One 

simply reported that Russia had signed a 

treaty with Germany, which would make it 

harder for the Allies to secure an honorable 

peace. The only article that came close to 

inciting insubordination was an editorial in 

August 1917 on the draft riots breaking out 

around the country. Although the paper 

agreed that the draft should be obeyed until 

struck down by the courts, it expressed 

sympathy for the young men who had been 

called upon to leave their homes. “We ask 

who then will  arise and pronounce a verdict of 

guilty over such a man if  he stops reasoning 

and follows the first impulse of nature: self 

preservation?” 24 The paper disclaimed any 

intent to encourage draft resisters, stating 

that it did “not endorse their action in any 

manner.”  But that stipulation had little effect. 

After three minutes of deliberation, a jury 

convicted Frohwerk of violating the Espio­

nage Act, and a judge sentenced him to ten 
years in prison.25

Finally, there was the case of Eugene 

Debs, leader of the national socialist party and 

a five-time candidate for president. His 

conviction was based on a speech he gave 

at the Socialist party annual picnic in Canton, 

Ohio, during the summer of 1918. The speech

lasted more than two hours and covered a 

variety of themes, but it was essentially a 

stump speech designed to fire up the base in 

advance of the fall elections.26 Debs traced the 

history and growth of socialism and predicted 

its ultimate triumph over capitalism. As for 

the war, he said nothing that explicitly urged 

interference with it, though he did praise party 

members who had been convicted of oppos­

ing the draft. He also denounced the capitalists 

who were responsible for the war but wanted 

the working class to fight it. “They have 

always taught you that it is your patriotic 

duty to go to war and to have yourselves 

slaughtered at a command,” Debs told his 

audience. “But in all of the history of the 

world you the people never had a voice in 
declaring war. You have never yet had!” 27

In spite of such comments, the Depart­

ment of Justice initially  concluded that Debs 

had not violated the Espionage Act. In a letter 

to the U.S. Attorney in Cleveland, the head of 

the department’s war unit explained that most 
of what Debs said was lawful.28 And though 

some of his statements may have come close 

to the line, the case was “by no means a clear 

one.” “All  in all,” the letter concluded, “ the 

Department does not feel strongly convinced 

that a prosecution is advisable.” The U.S. 

Attorney did feel strongly, however. He 

charged Debs with attempting to incite 

disloyalty in the military and obstruct the 

draft. A jury convicted Debs, and a judge 

sentenced him to ten years in prison.

The three cases were scheduled to be 

heard together the first week of January 1919, 

but because of complications in Frohwerk’ s 

case his appeal and YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ebs were moved to the 

end of the month. Nonetheless, it appears 

from the timeline of events that the Court 

discussed the cases as a group in early 

February, during a four-week recess. The 

Justices voted to uphold the convictions in all 

three cases, and Holmes was assigned to write 

the opinions.

Of the three, his opinion in Schenck 

contained the most complete discussion of
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free speech. It began, surprisingly enough, by 

retreating from his earlier embrace of Black- 

stone. “ It well may be that the prohibition of 

laws abridging the freedom of speech is not 

confined to previous restraints,” Holmes 

wrote, “although to prevent them may have 

been the main purpose, as intimated in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Patterson v. C olorado.” 29 This wasn’ t a 

complete admission of error. There was the 

use of that qualifying phrase, “ it well may be.”  

And the word “ intimated” implied that 

Patterson had not fully embraced the 

Blackstonian view. Still, it was enough to 

establish that the First Amendment applies to 

subsequent punishments as well as prior 

restraints.

Just because the First Amendment

protected against subsequent punishments,

however, did not mean its protections were 

absolute. Holmes made this clear a few

sentences later, writing that “ [t]he most

stringent protection of free speech would 

not protect a man in falsely shouting fire in a 
theatre and causing a panic.” 30 Because this 

example has become such a famous argument 

against an absolutist interpretation of the First 

Amendment, a number of scholars have 

speculated about its source. Some have 

suggested it came from Holmes’ younger 

years in Boston, when he and his wife, Fanny, 

would sometimes hurry to the scene of a fire 
upon hearing a siren.31 Others have noted that 

there were a number of prominent theatre fires 

in the decades prior to 1919, which would 

have been on the minds of many Americans.32 

As it turns out, Holmes almost certainly 

borrowed the example from the U.S. Attorney 

in Cleveland, who made a similar point in his 

closing argument to the jury in the D ebs case: 

“A man in a crowded auditorium, or any 

theatre, who yells ‘ fire’ and there is no fire, 

and a panic ensues and someone is trampled to 

death, may be rightfully indicted and charged 
with murder.” 33 That statement appeared in 

the transcript of record that was filed with the 

Court in the D ebs case, where Holmes would 

have almost surely seen it.34

Having explained why free speech was 

not absolute, Holmes next addressed its limits. 

As a number of scholars have demonstrated, 

this part of his analysis was heavily influenced 

by his thinking about the law of attempts.35 

The traditional view was that a person is guilty 

of attempt when he both intends to commit a 

crime and takes any step toward its comple­

tion. Holmes disliked that approach because it 

placed too much emphasis on the issue of 

moral guilt. Why should society care if  

someone has a bad heart unless his actions 

pose a danger to others? For that reason, 

Holmes thought courts should require more 

than a mere preparatory step before a person 

could be convicted of attempt. “ As the aim of 

the law is not to punish sins, but is to prevent 

certain external results,”  he wrote in an 1897 

case, “ the act done must come pretty near to 

accomplishing that result before the law will 
notice it.” 36 Thus, if  a person lights a match 

next to a haystack with the intent to start a fire, 

he should be punished for attempted arson. 

But if  he merely buys a box of matches with 

the same intent, the law should leave him be.37 

This wasn’ t a bright-line test, of course. There 

were many possibilities between these two 

examples, and it was unclear exactly how near 

to the result a person had to come before he 

was guilty of attempt. But Holmes didn’ t like 

bright-line tests anyway, since the answer in 

any given case would always depend on 

circumstances. As he wrote in another attempt 

case while on the Supreme Court, “ It is a 
question of proximity and degree.” 38

In Holmes’ view, the issue posed in 

Schenck and the other speech cases was 

analogous to the issue raised by the crime of 

attempt. As with attempts, a person should not 

be convicted for the thoughts in his head or the 

feelings in his heart. But once he expressed 

those thoughts or feelings in a way that posed 

a sufficient danger to society, the protections 

of free speech ended. And the formula he 

adopted for expressing this idea was strikingly 

similar to the formula he had adopted in the 

context of attempts. “The question in every
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case,” he wrote in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASchenck, “ is whether the 

words used are used in such circumstances 

and are of such a nature as to create a clear and 

present danger that they will  bring about the 

substantive evils that Congress has a right to 

prevent. It is a question of proximity and 
degree.” 39

On its face, this formula appeared quite 

sensitive to the value of free speech. Most 

judges had analyzed Espionage Act cases by 

asking whether the speech at issue had a “bad 

tendency”  —meaning there was som e chance 

it might lead to harm at som e point in the 

future.40 Holmes’ formula seemed to require 

more. The phrase “clear and present danger”  

suggested that a mere possibility of harm was 

not enough; that the likelihood of harm must 

be high. It also implied that the risk offu ture 

harm is insufficient; that the harm must be 

im m inent. And had this standard been applied 

to the facts of Schenck, the convictions should 

have been reversed, since there was little 

evidence that Schenck and Baer posed a clear 

risk of imminent harm. But Holmes did not 

apply this standard to the facts. Instead, he 

reverted to his old belief that individual rights 

are subordinate to the needs of the state. 

“ When a nation is at war,”  he wrote, “many 

things that might be said in time of peace are 

such a hindrance to its effort that their 

utterance will not be endured so long as 

men fight and that no court could regard them 
as protected by any constitutional right.” 41

Moreover, when Holmes turned to the 

other two cases, he didn’ t so much as mention 

the words “clear and present danger.” His 

opinion in Frohw erk conceded that the 

articles in the Staats-Zeitung were not 

inherently unlawful. He also acknowledged 

that, unlike Schenck and Baer, Frohwerk had 

not made “any special effort to reach men who 
were subject to the draft.” 42 And if the 

evidence showed that Frohwerk was a poor 

man turning out copy for a small newspaper 

(which he was), “ there would be a natural 

inclination to test every question of law to be 

found in the record very thoroughly before

upholding the very severe penalty im­
posed.” 43 The problem, according to Holmes, 

was that the parties had not agreed on a bill  of 

exceptions—the document that would explain 

exactly what evidence had been presented and 

what objections had been raised. And without 

that document, Holmes concluded, the Court 

had to “ take the case on the record as it is, and 

on that record it is impossible to say that it 

might not have been found that the circulation 

of the paper was in quarters where a little 

breath would be enough to kindle a flame 

and that the fact was known and relied upon 
by those who sent the paper out.” 44 This 

statement—with its speculation about un­

known evidence and its reference to “a little 

breath”  that might “kindle a flame”—was a far 

cry from the “clear and present danger”  

language of Schenck. And it suggested that 

Holmes had used that phrase casually, without 
intending to change the law.45

His opinion in D ebs only reinforced that 

impression. Holmes began by acknowledging 

that the main purpose of Debs’s speech was to 

promote socialism, which the Espionage Act 

did not prohibit. “ [Bjut if  a part or the manifest 

intent of the more general utterances was to 

encourage those present to obstruct the 

recruiting service and if in passages such 

encouragement was directly given, the immu­

nity of the general theme may not be enough 
to protect the speech.” 46 Holmes then noted 

that Debs had told his audience he could not 

say all he wanted to, thus “ intimating to his 

hearers that they might infer that he meant 
more.” 47 He also cited Debs’s support of the 

Socialist party’s anti-war proclamation as 

proof that he had intended to obstruct the 

draft. Finally, Holmes endorsed the trial 

judge’s statement of law to the jury. “We 

should add that the jury were most carefully 

instructed that they could not find the 

defendant guilty for advocacy of any of his 

opinions unless the words used had as their 

natural tendency and reasonably probable 

effect to obstruct the recruiting service, and 

unless the defendant had the specific intent to
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do so in his mind.” 48 This was the strongest 

indication that Holmes was not trying to 

transform the law. The jury instructions were 

similar to the bad tendency test. And if  they 

were acceptable, then “clear and present 

danger”  was little more than a clever turn of 
phrase.49

Even Holmes acknowledged that his 

opinions in these three cases were not fully  

thought out. In a letter responding to criticism 

of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ebs decision, he explained that 

“ [tjhere was a lot of jaw about free speech, 

which I dealt with somewhat summarily in an 

earlier case, Schenck v. U .S., also Frohw erk 
v. U .S.,” 50 Nonetheless, he defended the 

decisions, writing that “ the powers of the 

Constitution certainly never supposed that the 

provision for it gave a man immunity for 

counseling a murder or falsely crying fire in a 

theatre, and if  when a country is at war a man

chooses to try to obstruct it and says things 

that tend directly to that result he can’ t
complain if  he is laid by the heels.” 51

*  *  *

As of March 1919, then, Holmes had 

ruled against free speech claims in a wide 

range of contexts as both a state court judge 

and a Supreme Court Justice. In fact, there are 

only two instances in which he ruled in favor 

of a party raising free speech claims, and 

neither case undermines the general theme 

established above.

The first case is Toledo N ew spaper 

C o. v. U .S., an appeal from a newspaper 

that had been convicted of contempt by a 

federal judge for questioning his handling of a 

pending case. A majority of the Justices 

rejected the claim that this violated freedom of 

the press, and Holmes was initially  inclined to 

go along. But Justice Brandeis, his closest

T h e  Baltzer case  in vo lved  a g ro u p  o f  so c ia lis ts  fro m  a sm a ll  fa rm in g  co m m u n ity  in  S o u th  D ako ta  w h o  o p p o sed IHGFEDCBA 

A m erican  in vo lvem en t  in  th e  w ar,  v iew in g  it  as  a cap ita lis t  co n sp iracy  ag a in s t  th e  w o rk in g  c lass .  W h en  th ey  fo u n d  

th a t  th e  d ra ft  q u o ta fo r th e ir co u n ty  w as  h ig h er th an  fo r n e ig h b o rin g  co u n ties , th ey  to o k  th e ir case  to  th e S u p rem e  

C o u rt in 1919 .
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friend on the Bench, privately urged him to 

dissent,52 and, when the majority opinion was 

circulated, Holmes agreed to do just that. He 

did not rely on the First Amendment, 

however. Nor did he claim that the conviction 

was unjustified. Instead, he noted that the 

federal statute authorizing judges to rule on 

contempt charges themselves (i.e. without 

submitting the matter to a jury) was limited to 

situations in which a party engages in 

misbehavior “ in their presence or so near 

thereto as to obstruct the administration of 
justice.” 53 The phrase “ so near thereto as to 

obstruct,”  Holmes argued, required a showing 

of immediate danger. And because “ a judge of 

the United States is expected to be a man of 

ordinary firmness of character,”  there was no 

immediate danger that the newspaper’s criti­

cism would influence the judge’s decision or 

otherwise obstruct the administration of 
justice.54 Thus, although Holmes was willing  

to give the newspaper the benefit of a jury trial 

on the issue of contempt, his dissent was far 

from a ringing defense of free speech.

The other case is YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBABaltzer v. U nited States, 

which was actually the first of the Espionage 

Act appeals to reach the Court. Argued in 

November 1918, Baltzer involved a group of 

twenty-seven socialists from a small farming 
community in South Dakota.55 Like many 

socialists, the farmers opposed American 

involvement in the war, viewing it as a 

capitalist conspiracy against the working 

class. But they had a more specific complaint 

as well. When the draft quotas for each county 

were announced in the summer of 1917, the 

number for their county was higher than for 
neighboring counties.56 The reason for this 

was simple: more young men in those 

counties had voluntarily enlisted, which 

meant that fewer had to be forced into service. 

But the farmers thought they were being 

targeted for their political beliefs and German 

heritage. So they sent a petition to the 

governor, who was in charge of administering 

the draft. Brief and clumsily written, the 

petition demanded that the quota for each

county be fixed without regard to the number 

of volunteers. It also demanded that the 

governor call a referendum on the draft and 

that he oppose the use of bonds to fund the 

war. The farmers were arrested, convicted of 

obstructing the draft, and sentenced to one to 

five years in prison.

In their appeal to the Supreme Court, the 

fanners relied not only on the right to free 

speech, but also on the right to petition 
the government for a redress of grievances.57 

This made little difference to a majority of the 

Court, which upheld the convictions. But 

Brandeis was again troubled by the result and 

visited Holmes in his private study, where he 

“catspawned”  him “ to do another dissent on 
burning themes.” 58 Short and to the point, 

Holmes’ dissent argued that the defendants 

had done nothing more than sign a petition to 

the governor seeking a change in the law. 

“ [T]he changes advocated are changes by 

law, not in resistance to it, the only threat 

being that which every citizen may utter, that 

if  his wishes are not followed his vote will  be 

lost.” 59 As he wrote, his words became more 

impassioned, and he concluded with a grand, 

sweeping flourish:

Real obstructions of the law, giving 

real aid and comfort to the enemy, I 

should have been glad to see 

punished more summarily and se­

verely than they sometimes were.

But I think that our intention to put 

out all our powers in aid of success in 

war should not hurry us into intoler­

ance of opinions and speech that 

could not be imagined to do harm, 

although opposed to our own. It is 

better for those who have unques­

tioned and almost unlimited power 

in their hands to err on the side of 

freedom. We have enjoyed so much 

freedom for so long that perhaps we 

are in danger of forgetting that the 

bill of rights which cost so much 

blood to establish still is worth
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fighting for, and that no tittle of it 

should be abridged. 1 agree that 

freedom of speech is not abridged 

unconstitutionally in those cases of 

subsequent punishment with which 

this court has had to deal from time 

to time. But the emergency would 

have to be very great before I could 

be persuaded that an appeal for 

political action through legal chan­

nels, addressed to those supposed to 

have power to take such action was 

an act that the Constitution did not 

protect as well after as before.60

At first glance, it is tempting to read this 

paragraph as a full-throated endorsement of 

free speech, which is how one scholar has 

interpreted it.61 But a closer reading suggests 

that it is merely a preliminary step in Holmes’ 

transformation. For one thing, Holmes begins

by explaining that, in some instances, the 

government did not go far enough in punish­

ing those who obstructed the law or gave aid 

and comfort to the enemy. Second, although 

Holmes argues for tolerance of opinions that 

are “opposed to our own,” he limits that 

tolerance to “opinions and speech that could 

not be imagined to do harm.”  This is a far cry 

from the clear and present danger test and 

sounds more like the bad tendency test. 

Finally, it is not even clear from his YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBABaltzer 

dissent that Holmes is willing to protect 

entirely harmless speech. Just a few sentences 

later, he writes that “ freedom of speech is not 

abridged unconstitutionally in those cases of 

subsequent punishment with which this court 

has had to deal from time to time.” In other 

words, Holmes has not yet abandoned the 

Blackstonian view of free speech, which 

prohibits only prior restraints. Why, then, 

does Holmes object to the conviction of the

O live r  W en d e ll  H o lm es ,  J r. ’s  lan d m ark  F irs t  A m en d m en t  o p in io n s  h ave  n o t  o n ly  sh ap ed  free  sp eech  d o c tr in e  an d IHGFEDCBA 

th eo ry ,  th ey  h ave  w o rked  th e ir  w ay  in to  o u r  co llec tive  co n sc io u sn ess ,  b eco m in g  p a rt  o f  o u r  lan g u ag e .  B u t  it  w as  n o t  

u n til  h is  1919  d issen t  in  Abrams th a t  H o lm es ,  ap p o in ted  in  1902 , in s is ted  o n  free  sp eech  p ro tec tio n .
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not before, they sent their petition to the 

governor? Because they were relying not only 

on the right to free speech, but also on the right 

to petition the government for a redress of 

grievances. And like other jurists at the time, 

Holmes was apparently willing  to grant broader 
protection to the latter right than to the former.62

Holmes’ dissent in Baltzer was never 

published because, less than a week after he 

circulated it to his colleagues (and before the 

Court announced its decision), the govern­

ment unexpectedly confessed error in the case 

and asked that it be sent back to the lower 

court for a new trial. As a result, the Court 

issued a one-line order reversing the defend­

ants’ convictions, and the case disappeared as 
if  it had never happened.63 But, even if  his 

dissent had been published, it would not likely 

have changed the history of the First Amend­

ment or Holmes’ reputation because of the 

narrowness of its reasoning. At most, Baltzer 

and Toledo N ew spaper show an emerging 

willingness on Holmes’ part to rule in favor of 

free speech claimants, particularly when 

pressured to do so by Brandeis.

In addition to his judicial opinions, 

Holmes addressed the issue of free speech 

in a handful of letters to friends and 

acquaintances in the years prior to Abram s. 

First, according to a newly discovered entry in 

the diary of Chauncey Belknap, who served as 

Holmes’ secretary during the 1915-16 term, 

Holmes discussed the issue in a letter to “ an 
English lady’ ’ during the fall of 1915.64 The 

woman had apparently written to Holmes 

about the censorship of war news. In response, 

Belknap recorded in his diary, Holmes wrote a 

“dissertation on the logically indefensible 

right of free speech.” Governments concede 

the right for three reasons, Holmes explained: 

“either because they don’ t care, they are not 

cock-sure they are right, or they haven’ t the 

power to check speech.”

This is almost identical to what Holmes 

told Harold Laski three years later in the

summer of 1918. Responding to a letter in 

which Laski made the case for tolerance, 

Holmes wrote:

My thesis would be (1) if  you are 

cocksure, and (2) if  you want it very 

much, and (3) if  you have no doubt 

of your power—you will do what 

you believe efficient to bring about 

what you want—by legislation or 

otherwise. In most matters of belief 

we are not cocksure, we don’ t care 

very much, and we are not certain of 

our power. But in the opposite case 

we should deal with the act of speech 

as we deal with any other overt act 

that we don’ t like.65

He used similar language a few days later 

in a letter to the American diplomat Lewis 

Einstein, noting that “ the logical result of a 

fundamental difference is for one side to kill  

the other—and that persecution has much to 

be said for it.” 66 And he said the same thing to 

Learned Hand less than a month earlier after 

their chance encounter on a train from 

Washington D.C. to Boston. I discuss this 

encounter in more detail in Part V, but for now 

it is sufficient to note that, when Hand spoke 

in favor of toleration, Holmes responded, 

“ You strike at the sacred right to kill  the other 
fellow when he disagrees.” 67

None of these comments suggest that 

Holmes’ extra-judicial views on free speech 

were different from the views he expressed in 

his written opinions. And taken together, the 

two strands of evidence establish without 

much doubt that prior to the fall of 1919 

Holmes was not a strong believer in free 

speech. It is true that his views had begun to 

evolve. In Baltzer, he had written eloquently 

on the subject, even though his reasoning was 

quite narrow. And in Schenck, he not only 

abandoned the Blackstonian view, but also 

articulated a standard that, in theory, was quite 

speech protective. Unfortunately, Holmes did 

not actually apply that standard, and his 

statements in Frohw erk, and D ebs—along
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with his vote to affirm the convictions—show 

that he had still not taken the decisive step 

toward an expansive view of free speech.

First  Amendment  Hero

Holmes’ dissent in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAbram s represented 

just that step. In many ways, the government’s 

case in Abram s was stronger than in the earlier 

cases. The defendants were Russian immi­

grants active in the anarchist movement then 
flourishing in New York.68 Like most 

anarchists, they opposed the United States’ 

involvement in the war, believing it was 

motivated by capitalist greed.69 But unlike 

many of the German socialists who were 

prosecuted under the Espionage and Sedition 

Acts, the anarchists had no sympathy for the 

Central Powers. So it was not until President 

Wilson sent troops into Russia during the 

summer of 1918 that they printed two leaflets 

attacking the President’s actions.

The first, written in English, denounced 

Wilson as a liar who had deceived the country 

about the real purpose of the Russian 

expedition, which was “ to crush the Russian 

Revolution.’ ’ “What have you to say about it?”  

the flier asked. “The Russian Revolution 

cries: ‘Workers of the World! Awake! Rise! 
Put down your enemy and mine.’ ” 70 The 

second flier, written in Yiddish, sounded 

many of the same themes. But, whereas the 

first leaflet was addressed to the people of 

America, this one targeted a more specific 

audience: “Workers in the ammunition facto­

ries, you are producing bullets, bayonets, 

cannon, to murder not only the Germans, but 

also your dearest, best, who are in Russia and 

are fighting for freedom.”  And, in place of the 

first leaflet’s vague call to “put down your 

enemy and mine,”  this one proposed a more 

concrete plan of attack: a general strike in the 

munitions factories.

Working in a basement store on Madison 

Avenue, the anarchists printed 5,000 copies of 
each leaflet.71 Then, they began scattering

ro o fto p s  an d w in d o w s  in lo w e r  M an h a ttan ,  w h ere IHGFEDCBA 

m an y  W o rld  W ar  I m u n itio n s  w o rke rs  l ived .  O n e  lea fle t,  

s ig n ed  “ revo lu tio n is ts , ”  d en o u n ced  th e sen d in g  o f  

A m erican  tro o p s  to R u ss ia ,  an d an o th e r,  w ritten  in  

Y id d ish ,  o p p o sed  U .S . e ffo rts  to  h in d e r  th e  R u ss ian  

R evo lu tio n  an d  ca lled  fo r  a s tr ike  ag a in s t  w eap o n s  

p ro d u c tio n .  A b ram s  w as  co n v ic ted  u n d e r  th e  S ed itio n  

A c t o f 1918 an d th e S u p rem e  C o u rt u p h e ld  th e  

co n v ic tio n  o ve r  a d issen t  fro m  Ju s tices  H o lm es  an d  

B ran d e is .

them from rooftops and windows in lower 

Manhattan, where many munitions workers 
lived.72 When passersby complained to the 

police about the fliers, officials tracked down 

its authors and charged them with violating 

the 1918 Sedition Act, an amendment to the 

Espionage Act.73 In four counts, the defend­

ants were charged with conspiring to willfully  

publish scurrilous language about the form of 

the United States government, bring that form 

of government into disrepute, incite resistance 

to the war against Germany, and curtail the 

production of weapons and ammunition with 

intent to interfere with the war. They were
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convicted and sentenced to prison terms 

ranging from fifteen to twenty years.

When the case came before the Court in 

the fall of 1919, seven Justices voted to 
affirm.74 To them, the anarchists’ free speech 

claims were no stronger than the ones the 

Court had rejected earlier in the year. But 
Holmes, joined by Brandeis, dissented.75 His 

dissent rested on two separate and independent 

grounds. First, he disputed the jury’s conclu­

sion that the defendants had violated the 

Sedition Act. Nothing in the leaflets could be 

interpreted as assailing the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAfo rm of the United 

States government, he argued. Nor could they 

be construed as encouraging resistance to the 

war against Geimany. As to the claim that the 

defendants had incited the curtailment of 

military supplies, Holmes acknowledged that 

they had advocated a strike in the munitions 

factories. To violate the Sedition Act, howev­

er, they must have in tended to interfere with 

the war. And in Holmes’ view, the defendants 

never had that intent. They were not German 

sympathizers who hoped the Allies would lose 

the struggle in Europe. They were Russian 

immigrants who wanted Wilson to stay out of 
their homeland’s affairs.76

Even if  the anarchists had violated the 

Sedition Act, however, Holmes argued that 

their speech was protected by the First 

Amendment. In making this argument, 

Holmes disavowed the notion—suggested in 

Schenck—that free speech is inapplicable 

during times of war. The government’s power 

to restrict speech “undoubtedly is greater in 

time of war than in time of peace because war 

opens dangers that do not exist at other times,”  

he wrote. “But as against dangers peculiar to 

war, as against others, the principle of the 
right to free speech is always the same.” 77 

What was that principle? Was it the clear and 

present danger test he had articulated in 

Schenck and then seemingly abandoned? Or 

was it the bad tendency test he had appeared to 

fall back on in Frohw erk and D ebs? Holmes’ 

answer was clear: “ It is only the present 

danger of immediate evil or an intent to bring

it about that warrants Congress in setting a 

limit to the expression of opinion where 
private rights are not concerned,”  he wrote.78 

As evidence of his commitment to this new 

standard, he used the words “ immediate” or 

“ imminent”  seven times in the opinion—three 

times in one sentence alone.

Just as important as Holmes’ reaffirma­

tion of the new test was his application of it. In 

Schenck, he had made no attempt to assess 

whether the defendants posed a clear and 

present danger. Instead, he had simply 

concluded that the First Amendment did not 

protect their speech. In Abram s, by contrast, 

he focused on the actual circumstances of the 

“crime.” And although the circumstances 

were similar to those in Schenck, Holmes’ 

conclusion was quite different: “Now nobody 

can suppose that the surreptitious publishing 

of a silly leaflet by an unknown man, without 

more, would present any immediate danger 

that its opinions would hinder the success of 

the government arms or have any appreciable 

tendency to do so.” 79

Holmes ended his dissent by offering a 

theoretical justification for free speech. This 

justification began with a repetition of 

Holmes’ frequent observation that “persecu­

tion for the expression of opinions seems to 
me perfectly logical.” 80 But for the first time, 

he moved beyond the logic of persecution to 

the lesson of experience: “ But when men have 

realized that time has upset many fighting 

faiths, they may come to believe even more 

than they believe the very foundations of their 

own conduct that the ultimate good desired is 

better reached by free trade in ideas—that the 

best test of truth is the power of the thought to 

get itself accepted in the competition of the 

market, and that truth is the only ground upon 

which their wishes safely can be carried 

out.” 81 In a subsequent section, I will  discuss 

the inspiration behind Holmes’ market meta­

phor in this passage. For now, it is sufficient to 

note how different this language is from his 

opinions in Schenck, Frohw erk, and D ebs and 

from his earlier statements about free speech.
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1917 E sp io n ag e  A c t  w as  accep tab le  b ecau se  it  w as  c lo se ly  l in ked  to  m ilita ry  o p e ra tio n s  an d  ap p lied  o n ly  to  

sp eake rs  w h o  expressly ad vo ca ted  u n law fu l  co n d u c t.  B u t  h e a lso  a rg u ed  th a t  th e 1918 S ed itio n  A c t  w as  

u n co n s titu tio n a l  b ecau se  it  m ad e  it  a  c rim e  to  say  a lm o s t  an y th in g  ag a in s t  th e  w ar  o r  even  to  m ake  th e  case  fo r  p eace .
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And Abram s was just the start. During the 

same term, the Court heard two other appeals 

involving the Espionage Act. The first was 

Schaefer v. U nited States, an appeal from the 

editors and officers of a German-language

newspaper called the Philadelph ia Tage- 
bla tt. 82 Founded in 1877, the Tagebla tt was 

known as a “society” paper—not because it 

covered the well-heeled and glamorous, but 

because it reported on the activities of all the
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local societies (building associations, singing 

groups, and gymnastics clubs) that were at the 
center of German immigrant life.83 When war 

broke out in Europe, the editors decided to 

expand their coverage of national and 

international events. The problem was they 

had no way of getting this news. With a small 

staff and a limited budget, they could afford 

neither to send their own reporters overseas 

nor to subscribe to the wire services. Instead 

they copied articles from other papers and 

printed them as their own, usually rewriting 

the headline or changing a sentence or two to 

make the stories fit onto the page. In the 

fraternity of cash-strapped and harried news­

paper editors, this was a common practice. 

But eventually it led to the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBATagebla tfs 

prosecution. For, when government agents 

began reading the paper in the summer of 

1917, they concluded that many of the 

changes made to the reprinted articles were 
favorable to the German cause.84 They 

therefore charged the editors with making 

false reports with intent to hinder the war, as 

well as obstructing recruiting.

Although Schaeffer was argued the same 

week as Abram s, the Court’s opinion was not 

published until four months later. But the 

outcome was the same. The Court rejected the 

defendants’ claim that the government had 

failed to prove the falsity of their reports, 

insisting that the jury’s factual findings were 
binding.85 It also rejected their claim that the 

articles were harmless, explaining that under 

the Espionage Act the government was not 

required to prove harm. “The tendency of the 

articles”  was enough, the Court ruled, “and to 

have required more would have made the law 
useless.” 86

As in Abram s, Holmes dissented. But 

instead of writing an opinion, he joined a 

dissent by Brandeis, which picked up where 

Holmes had left off  in Abram s—with the clear 

and present danger test. Although the majority 

had ignored that standard, Brandeis declared 

that it, not bad tendency, was the correct test to 
apply.87 He also argued that the jury’ s

findings were not inviolable, and he scoffed 

at the notion that the editors had violated the 
ban on false reports.88

A week later, Holmes and Brandeis 

dissented in another Espionage Act case, 

P ierce v. U nited States. Argued in Novem­

ber 1919, after the Court decided Abram s, 

P ierce involved four socialists from Albany 

who had circulated copies of a pamphlet 

entitled “The Price We Pay.” 89 Written by an 

Episcopal clergyman and printed by the 

national Socialist party, the pamphlet repeated 

the standard leftist critiques of the war: that it 

was being waged to protect J.P. Morgan’s 

loans to England, that victory was impossible, 

and that the only way out of the mess was to 

embrace socialism. Initially  wary of distribut­

ing the pamphlet, the defendants changed 

their minds after a federal court in Baltimore 

ruled that it did not violate the Espionage 
Act.90 Unfortunately for them, that decision 

had no authority in New York, and prose­

cutors there charged them with making false 

statements and conspiring to cause insubordi­

nation in the military. A  jury convicted them, 

and they appealed to the Supreme Court, 

which repeated much of what it had said in 

Schaefer. Whether the defendants intended to 

interfere with the war and whether they posed 

any risk of doing so were issues of fact for the 

jury. As long as that decision was supported 

by evidence, the Court could not overturn it on 

appeal.91

Brandeis again wrote a dissenting opin­

ion, joined by Holmes. In typical Brandeis 

fashion, he marched methodically through the 

evidence, explaining that none of the state­

ments were false because they were either 
matters of opinion or hyperbole.92 He also 

disputed the claim that the pamphlet had 

posed a danger of causing insubordination in 

the military, pointing out that it had been 

circulated only among civilians and was 

primarily designed to recruit members for 
the Socialist party.93

P ierce was the last Espionage Act case 

decided by the Court, but it was not the last
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case in which Holmes voted in favor of free 

speech. In YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM ilw aukee Socia l D em ocrat 

Publish ing C om pany v. Burleson, he dis­

sented from a decision upholding the post­

master’s denial of second-class mailing 

privileges to a socialist newspaper during 

the war. Although Holmes acknowledged that 

the government is not obligated to operate a 

postal service at all, he argued that as long as it 

does so “ the use of the mails is almost as much 

a part of free speech as the right to use our 
tongues.” 94 This statement runs directly 

counter to his opinions in M cAuliffe and 

D avis, in which he held that the government 

can force speakers to choose between a 

governmental benefit (such as a job or the 

use of a park) and the right of free speech.96 

And it illustrates the extent to which his views 

on free speech had evolved in the intervening 

years.

Holmes went even further in support of 

free speech in G itlow v. N ew York, an appeal 

from a socialist editor who had advocated 

overthrow of the government through “ revo­
lutionary mass action.” 96 A majority of the 

Court upheld the editor’s conviction, lading 

that the government is not required to wait 

until a revolution is imminent but may 

“suppress the threatened danger at its incipi- 
ency.” 97 Holmes disagreed. Arguing that 

“clear and present danger”  was the applicable 

standard, he asserted that the defendant’s 

“ redundant discourse had no chance of 

starting a present conflagration.” He also 

expressed a willingness to accept the long­

term consequences of radical speech, no 

matter how unpleasant. “ If  in the long run 

the beliefs expressed in proletarian dictator­

ship are destined to be accepted by the 

dominant forces of the community the only 

meaning of free speech is that they should be 

given their chance and have their way.” 98

Finally, Holmes defended free speech in 

the 1929 case of Rosika Schwimmer, a 

pacifist who had been denied citizenship for 

refusing to swear that she would take up arms 

to defend the United States.99 Although the

case did not technically involve the First 

Amendment, Holmes saw it as one more 

example of the government’s effort to impose 

uniformity of belief—an effort he now 

categorically opposed. “ If  there is any princi­

ple of the Constitution that more imperatively 

calls for attachment than any other it is the 

principle of free thought—not free thought for 

those who agree with us but freedom for the 

thought that we hate.” 100

From Abram s to Schw im m er, then, 

Holmes was a staunch supporter of the First 

Amendment, voting to uphold free speech 

claims in a wide variety of contexts. There are 

only two cases after Abram s in which he 

rejected free speech claims. One was W hitney 

v. C aliforn ia , an appeal from a California 

communist who was convicted under the 

state’s criminal syndicalism law for belonging 

to a group that advocated violent overthrow of 

the government. But Holmes did not join the 

majority opinion upholding the conviction. 

Instead he joined Brandeis’ concurring opin­

ion, which eloquently defended the right of 

free speech before concluding that the defen­

dant had procedural ly defaulted on her First 
Amendment claim.101

The other is G ilbert v. M innesota, a 1920 

case involving a state law nearly identical to 

the Espionage Act. A majority of the Court 

upheld the defendant’s conviction, rejecting 

his claim that the law violated freedom of 

speech. Brandeis dissented, arguing that the 

state law interfered with the federal govern­

ment’s control over military affairs.'02 But 

Holmes did not join that dissent, believing it 
went “ too far.” 103 Instead he concurred 

separately in the judgment without explanation.

Because Holmes voted to uphold the 

conviction in G ilbert, at least one scholar has 

cited it as evidence that Holmes did not 

fundamentally change his views on free 

speech between Schenck and Abram s.'04 

But there are two alternative explanations 

for Holmes’ concurrence in G ilbert. First, 

according to a memo written by Dean
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Acheson, who was secretary to Brandeis at the 

time, it was unclear whether the defendant in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
G ilbert had properly raised the issue of free 
speech in the trial court.105 Second, there is 

reason to think that Holmes’ vote in G ilbert 

was based not on his views about free speech 

but on his aversion to using the due process 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to 

protect substantive rights. In a conversation 

with Frankfurter after G ilbert was decided, 

Brandeis indicated that as long as the 

conservatives on the Court were using due 

process to protect the right to property it 

should also be used to protect free speech. But 

Holmes, Brandeis added, “doesn’ t want to 

extend” the amendment’s reach.106 By the 

time of G itlow , four years later, Holmes was 

willing to accept the incorporation of free 

speech through the due process clause. But his 

opinion in that case suggests that he did so 

primarily because of the broad scope that the 

majority of the Court had given to the word 
“ liberty” in other cases.107 In other words, 

Holmes appears to have embraced precisely 

the position Brandeis laid out in his conver­

sation with Frankfurter.

Was Holmes  Consistent  All  Along?

In spite of the foregoing evidence, some 

scholars maintain that Holmes did not change 

his mind about free speech in the months 

leading up to Abram s.'03 In support of this 

claim, they offer a number of arguments, 

which, though ultimately unpersuasive, de­

serve to be addressed.

First, some scholars point out that 

Holmes himself never acknowledged that he 

changed his mind, nor admitted that his early 

Espionage Act opinions were incorrect. To 

the contrary, in Abram s he explicitly reaf­

firmed those decisions, stating that he had 

never seen “any reason to doubt that the 

questions of law alone that were before this 

Court in the cases of Schenck, Frohwerk, and 

Debs were rightly decided.” 109 Moreover, in a

letter to Nina Gray in 1921, he denied that he 

had been persuaded by Brandeis to adopt a 

more liberal view of free speech, stating that 

he had “ turned that way long before”  Brandeis 
joined the Court.110

With respect to Holmes’ statement in 

Abram s, I submit that one must take it with a 

grain of salt. It is the exceptional judge who is 

willing to publicly admit his mistakes, and 

Holmes was not exceptional in this sense. As 

nearly everyone who has studied his life has 

concluded, Holmes was defensive, sensitive 

to criticism, and reluctant to give credit for his 
ideas to others.111 Instead of conceding that a 

decision was wrong, he was more likely to 

qualify or distinguish it. Consider his treat­

ment of Patterson v. C olorado in Schenck. 

Holmes did not candidly acknowledge that he 

was overruling Patterson and renouncing 

Blackstone. He hedged, first by saying “ it 

well may be” that freedom of speech is not 

limited to prior restraints, then by suggesting 

that protecting against such restraints might 

nonetheless be its “main purpose,” and then 

again by implying that Patterson had only 

“ intimated”  as much. His statement in Abram s 

is similarly qualified. Holmes does not defend 

the convictions in Schenck and the other 

cases. He claims only that “ the questions of 

law that alone were before this Court” were 

rightly decided. In doing so, he distances 

himself from the prosecution of the defend­

ants without accepting any responsibility for 

their plight.

As for Holmes’ letter to Nina Gray, there 

is a major flaw with his claim that he 

embraced free speech “ long before”  Brandeis 

joined the Court. Brandeis was confirmed to 

the Court in June 1916. Yet only eight months 

earlier, in October 1915, Chauncey Belknap 

had quoted Holmes as referring to the 

“ logically indefensible right of free speech.”  

And only seven months before that, Holmes 

had written his opinion in Fox v. W ashington 

upholding the conviction of an anarchist 

editor for encouraging a violation of the 

laws against public indecency. Therefore,
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unless Holmes experienced a change of mind 

between October 1915 and June 1916—and 

unless the phrase “ long before” refers to a 

period of several months—his claim to Gray 

is simply not believable.

Next, some scholars argue that Holmes 

voted differently in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAbram s than in the earlier 

cases not because he changed his mind about 

free speech but simply because the issues 

raised were different. It was Holmes, after all, 

who argued that “general propositions do not 
decide concrete cases” 112 and that the 

outcome in any given case would depend 

on the circumstances. So perhaps there was 

something in the circumstances of Abram s 

that led him to view that case differently than 

the early ones.

What might that have been? A few 

scholars have emphasized that Schenck, 

Frohw erk, and D ebs all arose under provi­

sions of the 1917 Espionage Act while 

Abram s arose under the Sedition Act of 

1918, an amendment to the earlier law. It is 

true that many progressives at the time viewed 

the two acts in starkly different terms. The 

Espionage Act, which was closely tied to 

military concerns, was primarily designed to 

prohibit certain results, such as the obstruction 

of the draft. The Sedition Act went much 

further, targeting not only results— like the 

curtailment of munitions production—but 

criticism of the government. Even Harvard 

Law professor Zechariah Chafee argued that, 

whereas the Espionage Act might be upheld if  

narrowly construed, the Sedition Act was 

almost certainly unconstitutional.113 Holmes 

might have felt the same way and thus have 

been unwilling to give the government the 

same latitude in enforcing the latter as the 

former.

There are two problems with this hypoth­

esis. First, although the first two counts in 

Abram s charged the defendants with assailing 

the form of the United States government, the 

third count charged them with encouraging 

resistance to the war against Germany, and the 

fourth count charged them with inciting

curtailment of munitions production. These 

last two counts were directly tied to military 

concerns and, if substantiated, would have 

been no less troubling than the charges at issue 

in the earlier cases.

Second, although Abram s arose under the 

Sedition Act, Schaeffer and P ierce, decided 

the same term, involved the Espionage Act. In 

fact, the defendants in Schaeffer and P ierce 

were charged with violating the same provi­

sions as the defendants in Schenck, Frohw erk, 

and D ebs. And yet Holmes voted to reverse 

the convictions in both cases, suggesting that 

his Abram s dissent was not based simply on a 

belief that the Sedition Act had gone too far.

If  Holmes’ shifting votes were not based 

on the particular legal provisions of each case, 

were they based on the particular facts? In 

other words, was it easier to conclude that a 

clear and present danger was posed by the 

defendants in Schenck, Frohw erk and D ebs 

than by the defendants in Abram s’!  This seems 

doubtful. The fliers in Schenck were unsigned, 

and the only clue to their origin was a 

reference to the Socialist party bookstore. 

Moreover, the fliers urged only that readers 

should encourage their representatives to 

repeal the Selective Service Act and that 

men who opposed the war should register as 

conscientious objectors. Nowhere did they 

explicitly encourage unlawful resistance to 

the draft. Nor does it seem likely the fliers 

would have had that effect—at least not 

imminently. Although an unknown number of 

fliers were mailed to draftees, prosecutors 

presented no evidence that any of those 

draftees were influenced by what they read. 

To the contrary, the handful of recipients who 

testified said that the flier had no effect on 

their view of the war or the draft.114

The evidence against Frohwerk was even 

weaker. The twelve articles that formed the 

basis of the counts against him were striking 

primarily for their banality. It is hard to 

imagine that anyone reading them would have 

been roused to obstruct the draft or engage in 

insubordination in the military. Nor, as
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Holmes acknowledged, did the editors make 

any special effort to reach draftees or soldiers. 

He also acknowledged that “ if  the evidence 

should show that the defendant was a poor 

man, turning out copy for Gleeser, his 

employer, at less than a day laborer’s pay, 

for Gleeser to use or reject as he saw fit, in a 

newspaper of small circulation, there would 

be a natural inclination to test every question 

of law to be found in the record very 

thoroughly before upholding the very severe 
penalty imposed.” 115 In fact, that is exactly 

what the evidence showed. And, though the 

Court did not have before it a bill of 

exceptions, it did have the transcript of record, 

which made clear that the prosecution did 

not present any evidence that “ the circulation 

of the paper was in quarters where a little 

breath would be enough to kindle a flame and 

that the fact was known and relied upon by 

those who sent the paper out.”  Moreover, the 

government did not so much as allude to any 

such evidence in its brief. In any case, if  

Holmes was truly concerned about the 

absence of a bill of exceptions, there was a 

simple solution. The Court could have 

ordered the trial court to submit one. Indeed, 

that is what Frohwerk’s attorneys requested in 

a motion filed a month before oral argu­

ment. 116 Yet Holmes showed no inclination to 

give the defendant the benefit of the doubt or 

to take other steps that might resolve the 

uncertainties in the case.

As for Debs, he was at least a major 

political figure with widespread influence, 

and he did use language in his Canton speech 

that was sharply critical of the war and the 

draft. Still, not even the Justice Department 

thought he had violated the law. Moreover, 

his speech was so long and ranged over so 

many topics, only one of which was the war, 

that it seems a stretch to say it posed a clear 

and present danger of obstructing the draft. 

Nor did the government present any evidence 

to this effect. The only thing it proved was that 

draft-age men were in the crowd, which might 

be sufficient under a bad tendency test but

hardly seems adequate to establish a clear and 

present danger.

Now consider YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAbram s. Unlike in the 

first three cases, the defendants in Abram s 

explicitly advocated the very thing that the 

law guarded against: a strike in the munitions 

factories. There was no beating around the 

bush or vague, inferential language. They also 

directed their message to the very people best 

positioned to curtail the production of 

weapons: the workers in the munitions 

factories. And they directed that message to 

them while they were on their way to and from 

those factories. The message itself was a 

powerful one. The defendants did not appeal 

primarily to the intellect of their audience, as 

had Frohwerk. They appealed to the emotions 

of the Russian workers, arguing that they were 

“producing bullets, bayonets, cannon, to 

murder not only the Germans, but also your 

dearest, best, who are in Russia and are 

fighting for freedom.”  If  any of the four cases 

presented a clear and present danger, it would 

seem to be Abram s. And yet Abram s is the 

only case of the group in which Holmes voted 

to reverse the convictions. It is therefore 

difficult to conclude that his shifting votes 

were based on an evaluation of the danger 

posed in each case.

There is one final way one might distin­

guish Abram s from the earlier cases. Perhaps 

the difference has less to do with the danger 

posed by the defendants in each case than with 

their intent. This is the argument made by 

Sheldon Novick, one of Holmes’ biographers. 

Novick argues that Holmes was “stubbornly 

consistent”  in his free speech opinions and that 

the key to understanding his votes lies in his 
1894 article “Privilege, Malice, and Intent.” 117 

In that brief article, Holmes repeated his 

general theory that individuals should be held 

liable for harms that are foreseeable, regardless 

of intent.118 However, he also argued that, for 

some types of privileged activities, courts 

should require more than just foreseeability; 

they should require specific intent. The reason 

is because these activities are socially valuable,
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and courts should not deter people from 

engaging in them.

According to Novick, this article explains 

why Holmes voted the way he did in the 

Espionage and Sedition Act cases. Novick 

argues that Holmes always viewed speech as a 

privileged activity that could not be punished 

unless specific intent was shown. That intent 

was present in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASchenck, Frohw erk, and D ebs, 

Novick claims, but not in Abram s. Therefore, 

Holmes was consistently applying his theory 

when he voted to affirm in the former cases 

but to reverse in the latter.

There are several problems with this 

argument. First, although Holmes did claim 

that certain activities are privileged and can 

only be punished upon a showing of specific 

intent, he did not make this claim about 

speech in general. To the contrary, Holmes 

recognized a privilege only for expressions of 

opinion and for certain kinds of factual 

statements, such as a reference provided by 

a former employer. But he denied that there 

was a privilege for false statements about 

matters of public concern. As noted above, he 

argued that such statements were subject to a 

rule of strict liability.119 Therefore, it is 

unclear whether he would have viewed the 

statements at issue in the Espionage and 

Sedition Act as privileged under his theory.

Even if he did, the distinction Novick 

draws between the Schenck trilogy and 

Abram s is not persuasive. This is because 

the evidence of specific intent in the first three 

cases was no stronger than in Abram s. In 

Schenck, the only evidence of intent was the 

fact that the defendants had mailed the fliers to 

draftees. But as pointed out above, the fliers 

themselves did not advocate unlawful resis­

tance to the draff, so the inference that this is 

what the defendants intended is not obvious. 

Frohwerk specifically disclaimed any intent to 

encourage draff resisters in the only article he 

wrote that could plausibly have been inter­

preted as inciting such resistance. One might 

argue that this disclaimer was disingenuous, 

but even so there was no other evidence that

he intended to obstruct the draff. As for Debs, 

the only evidence of his intent was the fact that 

he opposed the war and told his audience he 

could not say all he wanted to. In spite of this 

paucity of evidence, Holmes deferred to the 

jury’s finding of intent in each case and 

explained on several occasions that the Court 

was powerless to second-guess those find­
ings.120 And yet when it came to Abram s, 

Holmes had no problem doing just that.

The tone of Holmes’ writing about free 

speech also undermines Novick’s thesis. Up 

until the middle of 1919, Holmes almost 

always spoke about free speech with a casual, 

dismissive air. When Learned Hand advocat­

ed tolerance in the summer of 1918, 

Holmes replied, “You strike at the sacred 

right to kill  the other fellow when he disagrees.”  

When an English friend complained about the 

censorship of war news in 1915, Holmes 

responded with “ a dissertation on the logically 

indefensible right of free speech.” In Schenck 

too, Holmes responded to the defendants’ free 

speech claim somewhat glibly, comparing 

criticism of the government and the war to a 

shout of fire in a crowded theatre.

By Abram s, his tone had changed 

considerably. Instead of trivializing the 

defendants’ speech, Holmes argued that 

they had as much right to publish their two 

leaflets “as the Government has to publish the 

Constitution of the United States now vainly 
invoked by them.” 121 He also criticized the 

judge’s handling of the case and the sentences 

imposed. And he wrote a passionate defense 

of free speech, arguing that “we should be 

eternally vigilant against attempts to check the 

expression of opinions that we loathe and 
believe to be fraught with death.” 122 This was 

a far cry from his comments the previous 

summer about killing  those who disagree with 

us or treating speech like any other act we 

dislike. And it suggests that Holmes had 

fundamentally changed his attitude toward 

free speech.

Moreover, that is how it looked to 

observers at the time. Contrary to Novick’s
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claim, Holmes’ decision in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASchenck was not 

hailed as a victory for free speech. Most 

people did not pay much attention to it 

because the defendants were not well known 

outside Philadelphia. But D ebs, decided just a 

week later, was widely condemned by 

progressives. Gilbert Roe, who wrote an 

amicus brief on behalf of D ebs, said the 

opinion in that case set back the First 

Amendment two centuries, while the San 

Francisco Exam iner called it “ a perversion of 

the Constitution and a most dangerous and 

vicious invasion of our native and guaranteed 
liberties.” 123 Abram s, on the other hand, was 

immediately celebrated by prominent liberals 

such as Herbert Croly, Walter Lippmann, and 

Roscoe Pound. At the same time, conserva­

tives were horrified by it, as illustrated by 

John Wigmore’s article in the March, 1920, 

issue of the I llino is Law Review . Wigmore 

blasted Holmes’ dissent, arguing that it was 

“shocking in its obtuse indifference to the 

vital issues at stake in 1918, and . .. ominous 

in its portent of like indifference to pending 

and coming issues.” 124 This was not the 

response of someone who viewed Holmes as 

merely applying a theory of intent. It was the 

response of someone who believed that 

Holmes was proposing a radical new ap­

proach to free speech.

Finally, Novick’s theory cannot account 

for Holmes’ dissent in G itlow , which went 

further than any of his other opinions in terms 

of defining the scope of free speech. One 

might acknowledge that G itlow is inconsistent 

with Schenck, Frohw erk, and D ebs, but 

suggest that this inconsistency is irrelevant 

to the question of whether Holmes changed 

his mind during 1919. It is relevant, though. 

For if  Holmes’ G itlow dissent is inconsistent 

with his earlier opinions, then he did change 

his mind at some point. Yet there is no reason 

to think that this change occurred between 

Abram s and G itlow , since nothing happened 

in Holmes’ life during that period to make him 

rethink his position. Instead, the events that 

influenced his views on free speech occurred

in the period during which Baltzer, Schenck, 

Frohw erk, D ebs, and Abram s came to the 

Court.

A Lobbying  Campaign

The years 1918 and 1919 were eventful 

ones for Holmes. In addition to his usual 

heavy caseload, he wrote his essay on natural 

law for the H arvard Law Review and put 

together a collection of pieces for his 

Collected Legal Papers. These were busy 

years on a personal level as well. Holmes was 

the target of an assassination attempt in the 

spring of 1919 and his wife, Fanny, fell ill  that 
summer and spent most days in bed.125

With respect to Holmes’ personal life, 

nothing was more important to him at this 

time than his friendship with a group of young 

progressives that included Harold Laski, Felix 

Frankfurter, and the editors of the N ew 

Republic. Frankfurter had first met Holmes 

when he moved to Washington in 1911 to 

work for the Taft Administration. Carrying a 

letter of introduction from his former profes­

sor John Gray, he called on the Justice shortly 

after arriving and soon became a regular for 
Monday afternoon tea.126 He also introduced 

the Justice to a group of young admirers who 

gathered at the house in Dupont Circle where 

Frankfurter lived with other bachelors. Nick­

named The House of Truth, it was the center 

of social and intellectual life for lawyers, 

journalists, and diplomats in the capital.127 

Holmes often stopped in to join the men for 

dinner or a game of cards on his way home 
from court.128 He delighted in their enthusi­

asm and their earnest intellectual pursuits, 

which helped him recapture the excitement of 

his own youth, when he had “ twisted the tail 

of the cosmos” with William James and the 
other members of the Metaphysical Club.129

In addition to helping him recapture his 

youth, these men also gave Holmes something 

he desperately desired: recognition. Because 

he looms so large now in legal history, it is
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difficult  to realize that, for much of his time on 

the Court, Holmes was not particularly well- 

regarded. Critics described him as a “ literary 

feller” who relied too heavily on clever 

aphorisms, glossed over counterarguments, 

and provided insufficient guidance to lower 

courts. These criticisms wounded Holmes, 

and for a long time he feared he would never 

receive the recognition he desired. But during 

the second decade of the twentieth century, 

his star had grown brighter, primarily because 

of the young progressives at the House of 

Truth. Attracted by his willingness to uphold 

social reforms, they praised him as a paragon 

of judicial virtue, publishing tributes to him, 

feting him with parties and dinners, and 

passing around his opinions like sacred texts. 

And, though Holmes was not yet the national 

icon he would later become, his young friends 

made him feel as though his life ’s work had 

been worthwhile.

Holmes was thus surprisingly susceptible 

to their influence, which helps to explain his 

transformation on the issue of free speech. 

For, during the years 1918 and 1919, these 

men engaged in an intense, behind-the-scenes 

lobbying effort to change Holmes’ views on 

free speech. Although some aspects of this 

lobbying effort have been documented, others 

have not. In addition, none of the existing 

accounts have arranged the events in their 

proper order, so as to demonstrate their 

cumulative impact and chronological rela­

tionship to each other. In this section, 

therefore, I will present a timeline of the 

key events, along with an analysis of the effect 

they had on Holmes’ views.

Ju n e  16 , 1918

The first significant event occurred 

during the summer of 1918 while Holmes 

was on his way to his vacation home in 

Beverly Farms, Massachusetts. Traveling 

north on the train between New York and 

Boston, he ran into Learned Hand, then a 

federal judge for the Southern District of New 

York. Hand was close to Herbert Croly and 

the other editors at the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew Republic, and he

and Holmes had crossed paths from time to 

time. So it was natural that they would strike 

up a conversation and also natural that talk 

would turn to the issue of free speech. A year 

earlier, Hand had become the first judge in the 

country to rale on the constitutionality of the 

Espionage Act when he heard a challenge to 

the postmaster’ s decision to block the circu­

lation of a leftist magazine called the 

M asses.1Hand ruled in favor of the 

magazine, interpreting the Espionage Act 

narrowly to prohibit only explicit incitements 

to violate the law. That decision was reversed 

several months later by the Second Circuit, 

but Hand was convinced he had been right, 

not only about his interpretation of the 

Espionage Act but also about the larger issue 

of tolerance. And, based on a letter he wrote to 

Holmes several days later, he raised that issue 

when the two men met on the train. Holmes 

was not receptive, arguing that Hand struck “ at 

the sacred right to kill  the other fellow when he 

disagrees,” and Hand was momentarily 

“silenced.” But feeling that he had given up 

too easily, he resumed the debate by letter:131

I gave up rather more easily than I 

now feel disposed about Tolerance 

on Wednesday. Here I take my 

stand. Opinions are at best provi­

sional hypotheses, incompletely 

tested. The more they are tested, 

after the tests are well scrutinized, 

the more assurance we may assume, 

but they are never absolutes. So we 

must be tolerant of opposite opinions 

or varying opinions by the very fact 

of our incredulity of our own.

Holmes received Hand’s letter in Beverly 

Farms and responded the next day:132

Rarely does a letter hit me so exactly 

where 1 live as yours, and unless you 

are spoiling for a fight I agree with it 

throughout. My only qualification, if  

any, would be that free speech stands 

no differently than freedom from
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vaccination. The occasions would be 

rarer when you cared enough to stop 

it but if  for any reason you did care 

enough you wouldn’ t care a damn 

for the suggestion that you were 

acting on a provisional hypothesis 

and might be wrong. That is the 

condition of every act.

You tempt me to repeat an apologue 

that I got off  to my wife in front of 

the statue of Garrison on Common­

wealth Avenue, Boston, many years 

ago. I said—if I were an official 

person I should say nothing shall 

induce me to do honor to a man who 

broke the fundamental condition of 

social life by bidding the very 

structure of society perish rather 

than he not have his way—expressed 

in terms of morals, to be sure, but 

still, his way. If I were a son of 

Garrison I should reply—Fool, not 

to see that every great reform has 

seemed to threaten the structure of 

society, but that society has not 

perished, because man is a social 

animal, and with every turn falls into 

a new pattern like the Kaleidoscope.

If I were a philosopher I should 

say—Fools both, not to see that you 

are the two blades (conservative and 

radical) of the shears that cut out the 

future. But if  1 were the ironical man 

in the back of the philosopher’s head 

I should conclude—Greatest fool of 

all, Thou—not to see that man’ s 

destiny is to fight. Therefore take thy 

place on the one side or the other, if  

with the added grace of knowing that 

the Enemy is as good a man as thou, 

so much the better, but kill him if  

thou Canst. All  of which seems in 

accord with you.

Although Holmes indicated in his letter 

that he agreed with Hand, a closer reading

casts doubt on that claim. Hand had argued 

that, because opinions are nothing more than 

provisional hypotheses, we must be tolerant 

of conflicting views. Holmes did not deny the 

provisional nature of opinions: he was as 

skeptical of the notion of objective truth as 

anyone. To Holmes, however, that lack of 

certainty did not necessitate tolerance. “ If  for 

any reason you did care enough [to stop 

freedom of speech],” he had written, “you 

wouldn’ t care a damn for the suggestion that 

you were acting on a provisional hypothesis 

and might be wrong. That is the condition of 

every act.” We are always acting upon a 

provisional hypothesis, was Holmes’ point. 

We can never be sure we’ re right. But that 

shouldn’ t stop us from acting.

His apologue in front of Garrison’s statue 

drove this point home. William Lloyd Garri­

son was a fervent abolitionist who had 

opposed all compromise over the issue of 

slavery in the years leading up the Civil War. 

Holmes had been an abolitionist himself 

before the war; he even served as a bodyguard 
at an anti-slavery rally in Boston.133 After the 

war, however, he grew to detest the aboli­

tionists, as well as all other ideologues, on the 

left and the right. Yet strangely, he didn’ t lose 

his taste for battle. He didn’ t become the 

philosopher who thinks both sides are foolish 

for fighting because neither can know the 

truth. Instead, he became the ironical man in 

the back of the philosopher’s head, the man 

who thinks there’s no choice but to pick a side 

and fight, even if  one might be wrong, even if  

one might be killed as a result. So Hand’s 

doubts and insecurities—his incredulity— 

meant little to Holmes when it came to 

tolerance. If  we feel strongly enough about 

our beliefs, Holmes thought, we should not 

hesitate to act upon them, whether that means 

marching to war, passing laws to stamp out 

child labor, or suppressing the speech of those 

who stand in our way.

Ju n e  25 , 1918

Although Holmes was not persuaded by 

Hand, he was intrigued enough by their
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conversation to mention it in a letter to Harold 

Laski, who was spending the summer just up 

the coast in Rockport. “ I had a good talk with 

Judge Hand (Learned) corning on which led to 

a characteristic and mighty good letter 

carrying on the talk.”  he wrote after arriving 
in Beverly Farms.134 Then, when Laski 

visited a few days later, Holmes showed 

him the letter. Like Hand, Laski was a strong 

believer in free speech, having written about 

the benefits of disagreement and discussion in 

his 1917 book S tu d ie s in  t h e P r o b le m  o f  

S o v e r e ig n t y . He responded that Hand had 

reached the correct conclusion, though for the 

wrong reasons and without considering all the 

difficulties involved. His own belief in 

toleration, he explained, was based on the 

writing of John Stuart Mill  in “ On Liberty.”  “ I 

mean that there are all kinds of theories, e.g. 

Christian Science, which seem to me stupid 

and wrongheaded, but looking at the natural 

history of such theories 1 don’ t think either 

their stupidity or wrongheadedness has a 

sufficient chance of survival to penalise the 

ideas themselves.” 135 The one exception, he 

added, is when a tyrant comes along who 

thinks toleration is nonsense and wants to slay 

all who think differently. If  such a tyrant and 

Hand were the last two people on earth, “how 

could Hand secure the survival of toleration 

except by killing him? All  of which surely 

means that there YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAis something in Carlyle’ s 

ultimate question, Can I kill thee or can’st 
thou kill  me?” 1’ 6

This was typical of Laski, who rarely 

disagreed with Holmes explicitly, instead 

couching any difference in their views as 

trivial and incidental to their agreement on 

some larger issue. His quotation of the 

Scottish satirist Thomas Carlyle (“ can I kill  

thee or can’st thou kill me?” ) even echoed 

Holmes’ letter to Hand (“but kill  him if  thou 

Canst.” ). But Holmes saw through Laski’s 

disingenuousness and pointed it out to him in 

a letter the following day: “Just a line to say 

that I don’ t see where your quarrel with Hand 

is. It rather should be with me if  either—but I

don’ t see any quarrel.”  He then repeated what 

he said to Hand, arguing that, when we 

believe in something strongly enough, we 

fight for it, free speech and tolerance be 

damned.137

Ju ly  12 , 1918

That initial exchange about free speech 

seems to have spurred Laski to action. For 

when he returned for another visit ten days 

later, he brought Holmes a book entitled A  

T h e o r y  o f  T o le r a t io n . Written by a Cam­

bridge fellow named A.A. Seaton, the book 

was not directly about freedom of speech. It 

was about the struggle for religious freedom 

in late seventeenth-century England. Still, the 

two subjects were closely connected, and 

most of Seaton’s conclusions applied to both. 

He argued that forced conformity of religious 

beliefs had largely failed, producing resent­

ment and hypocrisy instead of genuine unity. 

He also argued that the natural appeal of 

persecution had diminished over time, as the 

Enlightenment ushered in an attitude of 

inquiry and skepticism. But, unlike Hand, 

Seaton believed that skepticism alone was an 

insufficient basis for toleration. Even if  we 

cast doubt on long-accepted beliefs, those 
who seek to impose them on us may feel 

strongly enough to take the chance of being 

wrong. The case for toleration must therefore 

have a positive aspect, appealing to the 

dignity of man and the quest for truth. For 

when “ it is grasped that we have not the total 

sum of truth as a treasure to be guarded with 

fire and sword, but an infinitesimal portion of 

it to be increased, if  possible, by zealous and 

humble search, the question assumes a 

different aspect,”  he wrote. “There can hardly 

be a nobler motive to toleration than the 

conception of the multitudinous religions of 

mankind contributing each its quota—infini ­

tesimal it may be, but precious ... to some vast 

synthesis of religious thought, aspiration, and 

experience at present beyond the limits of our 

narrow intellectual range.” 1’ 8

Holmes read the book within a week and 

was favorably impressed. “ I have read it with
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profit and pleasure,”  he wrote to Laski. “The 

writer is rather of the literary school of John 

Austin in his effort to secure precision at every 

step—but the gossip of inadequate thought 

having practical significance always is 
amusing.” 139

N o vem b er  8 , 1918

Although Laski continued to feed 

Holmes a diet of progressive literature that 

summer, none of the books dealt with the 

issue of free speech. But Laski returned to the 

subject that fall after Holmes was back in 

Washington. Noticing that the Court had 

several Espionage Act cases on its docket, he 

mentioned them in a letter to Holmes on 

November 8. “ I see that there are some ‘ free 

speech’ cases to listen to so that the next few 

weeks won’ t be without excitement,” he 
wrote.140

More intriguing than that statement was 

Laski’s reference a few paragraphs later to 

Clement Vallandingham, an Ohio politician 

who had been arrested during the Civil War 

for a speech critical of the Union cause. In 

many ways, Vallandingham was a precursor 

to Eugene Debs: a well-known political figure 

who was jailed for speaking out against the 

government during a controversial war. And, 

as with Debs, his case had become a cause 

celebre, with prominent Democrats petition­

ing Lincoln for a pardon. Lincoln declined 

their request and ordered Vallandingham 

deported to the Confederacy, a decision that 

generated another round of controversy. Laski 

knew all of this because he had read a 

biography of Lincoln by the British politician 

Lord Chamwood, which Holmes had men­

tioned in a recent letter. Chamwood de­

nounced Vallandingham as a dangerous 

agitator and praised Lincoln’s decision not 

to pardon him—an assessment Laski strongly 

disagreed with. “ I think Lincoln was dead 

wrong about Vallandingham despite Cham- 

wood’s denunciations,” he wrote to 
Holmes.141 It was a small comment, but, 

combined with Laski’s reference to the 

Court’s upcoming cases, it indicates that the

subject of free speech was on his mind and 

that he was willing to engage Holmes in 

further discussion about it.

N o vem b er  16 , 1918

Around the same time Laski wrote that 

letter to Holmes, he was also involved in 

another effort to advance the cause of free 

speech. The editors of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew Republic, 

troubled by the government’s persecution of 

dissenters, had decided to solicit an analysis of 

the situation from an expert on free speech. 

And Laski, who was a frequent contributor to 

the magazine, had an idea about who they 

should ask. That summer, while helping to 

edit the H arvard Law Review , he had learned 

that Zechariah Chafee, a young professor at 

the law school, was working on an article 

about the Espionage and Sedition Acts. He 

therefore suggested that Croly ask Chafee to 

write a shorter version of that article for 
the N ew Republic)42 Croly agreed, and 

Chafee’s article was published on Novem­

ber 16, 1918.
Chafee’s article had two main goals. 

First, he wanted to show that the First 

Amendment did not adopt Blackstone’s 

understanding of free speech, but instead 

limited government’s power to punish dis­

sent both before and after the fact. This was 

no easy task. In addition to Holmes’ decision 

in Patterson v. C olorado, many state courts 

had embraced Blackstone in interpreting 
their own guarantees of free speech.143 But 

Chafee ignored these precedents, arguing 

that the framers never meant to codify 
Blackstone’s views.144 They had the seen 

the way the British crown silenced its critics, 

he claimed, and intended to make such 

suppression impossible in this country. 

And when the Federalist party disregarded 

that intent, passing the Sedition Act of 1798, 

two of the most influential founding fathers, 

Jefferson and Madison, were quick to cry 

foul.

In addition to challenging Blackstone, 

Chafee also wanted to elucidate the purpose of 

free speech. His argument on this point relied
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heavily on the writing of Milton and Mill.  

The purpose of free speech, he wrote, is the 

discovery and spread of truth, which “ is 

possible only through absolutely unlimited 

discussion, for . . . once force is thrown into 

the argument, it becomes a matter of chance 

whether it is thrown on the false side or the 

true, and truth loses all its natural advan­
tages.” 145 This did not mean that speech could 

never be punished. Chafee was a pragmatist 

who acknowledged that “ there are other 

purposes of government, such as order, the 

training of the young, protection against 

external aggression.” Freedom of speech 

sometimes conflicts with these interests, he 

noted, and when it does the competing 

interests must be balanced against each other. 

But “ freedom of speech ought to weigh very 

heavily in the scale.” 146

Did the Espionage and Sedition Acts get 

the balance right? Chafee argued that the 1917 

Espionage Act reached an acceptable balance 

because it was closely linked to military 

operations. As long as the law was applied 

only to speakers who YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAexpressly advocated 

unlawful conduct, as Hand had argued in 

M asses, it was within constitutional bounds. 

But the 1918 Sedition Act did not get the 

balance right. That act made it a crime to say 

almost anything against the war or even to 

make the case for peace. This was a grievous 

mistake, Chafee argued. “The pacifists and 

Socialists are wrong now, but they may be 

right the next time,”  he wrote. “The only way 

to find out whether a war is unjust is to let 

people say so.” 147

Chafee did not mention Holmes in his 

article. But, because Holmes had written 

Patterson v. C olorado, the article was in large 

part an attack on his views. And it appeared in 

one of the few publications Holmes actually 

read. In fact, Holmes was an enthusiastic 

supporter of The N ew Republic and the men 

who edited it. He had read Croly’s second 

book, T h e P r o g r e s s iv e D e m o c r a c y , when it 

was published in 1913 and wrote him a long 
letter filled with praise.148 He regarded Walter

Lippmann, another editor, as “ a monstrous 
clever lad,” 149 and Frances Hackett, the 

magazine’s literary editor, as a genius.150 So 

what did he think when these same men 

published an article assailing his views on free 

speech?

No one knows. There is no mention of the 

article in any of Holmes’ surviving letters, 

which might suggest he never saw it. 

However, that seems unlikely. Based on his 

correspondence during this time, Holmes read 

the N ew Republic faithfully. And, even if  he 

skipped an issue, it seems likely that Laski, 

Frankfurter, or one of his other N ew Republic 

friends would have called it to his attention. 

Moreover, although Holmes did not comment 

on the article, he did embrace its argument 

about Blackstone three months later in 

Schenck.

D ecem b er  3 , 1918

Two weeks after Chafee’s article was 

published, Holmes came under pressure 

again. In early December, Justice McKenna 

circulated his majority opinion in Baltzer, the 

first of the Espionage Act cases to come 
before the Court.151 It is not clear how Holmes 

voted at the conference. But Brandeis appar­

ently had concerns about the outcome, for on 

December 3 he visited Holmes at home and 

urged him to write a dissent. As Holmes put it 

in a letter to Laski, “ A whirlwind struck me in 

the middle of the last sentence. It has taken the 

wind out of me, esp. as when I can get calm I 

am catspawned by Brandeis to do another 

dissent on burning themes—and half an hour 

ago I was at peace!” 152

As discussed earlier, Holmes gave in to 

Brandeis’ request and wrote a dissent in 

Baltzer. It was the second time in less than 

eight months Brandeis had persuaded Holmes 

to rule in favor of a party raising free speech 

claims—the first was Toledo N ew spaper the 

previous spring. And although Holmes’ 

opinions in both cases were narrow and not 

based directly on free speech, they show his 

willingness to take seriously the arguments of 

his friends.
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In early February, as Holmes prepared 

to write the opinions in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASchenck, Frohw erk 

and D ebs, Laski suggested that he reread 

“ On Liberty” by John Stuart Mill. It is 

unclear exactly how this recommendation 

came about—whether as part of a discussion 

about the Espionage Act or in some other 

context. But it is clear that Holmes took 

Laski up on his suggestion because he 

mentioned it in a letter on February 28. 

Describing the books he had read earlier in 

the month, he wrote, “and led by what you 

have said, I reread Mill  on Liberty—fine old 
sportsman—Mill. ” 153

Like Hand, Mill ’s defense of free speech 

was grounded in the pursuit of truth and the 

fallibility of human judgment. Only by 

assuming we are infallible, he argued, can 

we justify the suppression of opinions we 

think false.154 Unlike Hand, however, Mill  

anticipated Holmes’ objection, which was 

that, even though we are fallible, even though 

we can never be certain of the truth, we must 

still act. That was undeniable, Mill  conceded. 

We must act, and we must assume, for the 

purpose of acting, that what we believe is true. 

But that does not mean we can assume our 

opinions are true for the purpose of suppress­

ing speech. Just the opposite, in fact. For it is 

only because our opinions are open to 

challenge that we are justified in assuming 

their truth for purposes of action. “ If  even the 

Newtonian philosophy were not permitted to 

be questioned, mankind could not feel as 

complete assurance of its truth as they now 

do,”  Mill  wrote. “The beliefs which we have 

most warrant for have no safeguard to rest on 

but a standing invitation to the whole world to 

prove them unfounded.” '55

This was a powerful argument—and one 

that Holmes would adopt almost verbatim 

nine months later in his Abram s dissent. For 

now, however, it appeared to have little 

influence on him. Despite articulating the 

clear and present danger test in Schenck, he 

did not actually apply that test to the facts of

the case. Moreover, as discussed earlier, he 

seemed to abandon that standard in both 

Frohw erk and D ebs and revert back to the bad 

tendency test.

M arch  18 , 1919

Although it is not clear whether Holmes 

and Laski discussed the Espionage Act cases 

while they were pending, it seems likely that 

they at least mentioned them. For, after the 

decisions in Schenck, Frohw erk, and D ebs 

were issued, Holmes sent copies of them 

unsolicited to Laski. There is more than a hint 

of defensiveness in the accompanying letter, 

in which Holmes stated that “he greatly 

regretted having to write [the decisions]— 

and (between ourselves) that the Government 
pressed them to a hearing.” 156 He also 

explained that he knew “donkeys and knaves 

would represent us as concurring in the 

condemnation of Debs because he was a 

dangerous agitator.” But on the question of 

law that was before the Court, he added, “ I 

could not doubt.”

Laski responded two days later in 

typically diplomatic fashion. “ I read your 

three opinions with great care and though I say 

it with deep regret they are very convincing,”  

he wrote. “The point, I take it, is that to act 

otherwise would be simply to substitute 

judicial discretion for executive indiscretion 

with the presumption of knowledge against 

you.” 157 But, although Laski did not dispute 

the results Holmes had reached, he did 

express his opposition to the prosecution of 

the defendants. “ I think you would agree that 

none of the accused ought to have been 

prosecuted; but since they have been and the 

statute is there the only remedy lies in the field 

of pardon.” He also expressed uneasiness 

about Holmes’ willingness to defer to the 

executive in times of war. “Your analogy of a 

cry of fire in a theatre is, I think, excellent, 

though in the remarks you make in the 

Schenck case I am not sure that I should not 

have liked the line to be drawn a little tighter 

about executive discretion. The Espionage 

Act tends to mean the prosecution of all one’s
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opponents who are unimportant enough not to 

arise [sic] public opinion.”

M arch  31 , 1918

Holmes does not appear to have replied to 

Laski’s criticism, but two weeks later he 

received another letter about his decisions. It 

was from Hand, who used the Court’ s 

decisions as an opportunity to renew his 

debate with Holmes from the previous 

summer. Like Laski, Hand chose not to 

dispute the outcomes reached by the Court. 

Whether this was because he agreed with 

those outcomes or was simply being respect­

ful is unclear. But he did encourage Holmes to 

think harder about the legal rule that lay 

behind the decisions, suggesting that it was 

not supported by history. He also questioned 

Holmes’ reliance upon the jury’s finding of 

intent in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ebs, arguing that such a focus on 

motive would chill valuable speech.158

Holmes was busy when Hand’s letter 

arrived and could not give it the attention it 

required. The result showed. When he wrote 

back a few days later, it was clear that he did 

not understand the substance of Hand’s test or 

how it differed from his own. “ Since your 

letter came 1 have been so busy propagating 

new sophistries that I haven’ t had time to 

defend the old ones. And now I am afraid that 
I don’ t quite get your point.” 159 Holmes then 

explained that he had said nothing about 

intent “except to note that under the instruc­

tions the jury must be taken to have found that 

Debs’s speech was intended to obstruct and 

tended to obstruct—and except further that 

evidence was held admissible as bearing on 

intent.” He also argued that “ words may 

constitute an obstruction within the statute, 

even without proof that the obstruction was 

successful to the point of preventing recruit­

ing. That I at least think plain.”

Hand was discouraged after receiving 

this letter and did not engage Holmes in 

further discussion about free speech. As he 

explained to Chafee later, “ I kept up my hopes 

until the Debs case and when the whole court 

affirmed that without laying down anything

like what I thought was the rule, I confess I 

began to wonder whether I had not got some 
kind of wrong squint on the subject.” 160

M ay  3 , 1919

Like Laski and Hand, the editors of the 

N ew Republic initially  chose not to challenge 
the outcome in D ebs or the other cases.161 But 

one month later, they published a scathing 

critique of the decision by Ernst Freund, a 

professor at the University of Chicago Law 

School.162 Freund faulted Holmes for relying 

upon the jury’s finding that Debs had intended 

to obstruct the draft. Like Hand, Freund 

thought this set a dangerous precedent. Not 

only would it empower juries to punish 

speakers they disagreed with; it would make 

it impossible for speakers to know ahead of 

time whether they could be punished for their 

words. And that, Freund argued, would chill 

all but the blandest political discussion. “To 

know what you may do and what you may not 

do, and how far you may go in criticism, is the 

first condition of political liberty,” he wrote. 

“To be permitted to agitate at your own peril, 

subject to a jury’s guessing at motive, 

tendency and possible effect, makes the right 
of free speech a precarious gift.” 163

Freund also disputed the jury’s finding 

that Debs’s speech had in fact been likely to 

cause harm. After all, Debs had not directly 

urged his audience to obstruct the draft; at 

most, he had indirectly encouraged them to do 

so by criticizing the war. And the likelihood 

that this encouragement would cause actual 

obstiuction was “practically nil.”  “Yet Justice 

Holmes would make us believe that the 

relation of the speech to obstruction is like 

that of the shout of Fire! in a crowded theatre 

to the resulting panic! Surely implied provo­

cation in connection with political offenses 

is an unsafe doctrine if  it has to be made 

plausible by a parallel so manifestly 
inappropriate.” '64

Holmes was stung by the article and 

responded by writing a letter to Croly, the 
magazine’s editor.165 Like his earlier letter to 

Laski, it was both defensive and defiant. He
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hated having to write the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ebs opinion, he 

insisted. Had he been on the jury, he likely 

would have voted for acquittal, and he didn’ t 

understand why the government had pressed 

the case to a hearing. But as long as there 

was at least some evidence to support the 

jury’s verdict, he could not overturn that 

verdict simply because he personally might 

have viewed that evidence differently. As for 

the constitutionality of the Espionage Act, 

he explained, that question had already been 

put to rest in Schenck. Of course, he neglected 

to add that he was the one who had put it to 

rest; he cited his Schenck opinion as if  it were 

the decree of some superior tribunal he had 

nothing to do with. At the same time, he took 

pains to downplay the implications of both 

D ebs and Schenck, stating that he had only 

ruled on the “clauses under consideration.”  

He also signaled a new appreciation for free 

speech, declaring that, regardless of what the 

law dictated, he personally favored the 

“aeration of all effervescing convictions”— 

not because it promoted the search for truth or 

self-government, as Hand and Chafee had 

argued, but because “ there is no way so quick 

for letting them get flat.”

After writing this letter, Holmes had 

second thoughts about sending it. The Court 

had recently received the petition for review in 

Abram s, and he was apparently worried about 

expressing his views so candidly on an issue 

that was likely  to come before the Court again. 

While debating what to do, he received a letter 

from Laski asking if  he had read Freund’s 

piece and was “at all influenced by his 

analysis.” 166 This apparently gave Holmes 

an idea. Instead of sending his letter to Croly, 

he sent it to Laski. “Yesterday I wrote the 

within and decided not to send it as some 

themes may become burning,” he wrote. 

“ Instead I trust it confidentially to you and 

it will  answer your inquiry about Freund. I 

thought it poor stuff—for reasons indicated 
within.” 167

Laski did not respond to Holmes’ letter, 

and the two friends do not appear to have

mentioned Freund’s article in writing again. 

But Learned Hand did. Reading the piece in 

New York, he saw Freund’s analysis as a 

vindication of his own views and wrote to 

thank its author. “Your article in last week’s 

‘New Republic’ was a great comfort to me,”  

he wrote Freund on May 7. “You express my 

own opinion much better than I could myself 

and in your distinguished company I shall 

take heart of grace to believe I am right, even 

with the whole Supreme Court the other 
way.” 168 Hand also made clear that he had 

been trying to persuade Holmes to adopt a 

more expansive view of free speech. “ I own I 

was chagrined that Justice Holmes did not line 

up on our side; indeed, I have so far been 

unable to make him see that he and we have 

any real differences, and that puzzles me a 

little.”

Summer  1919
The summer of 1919 was difficult for 

Holmes. In early May, police discovered a 

bomb plot against him and thirty-five other 

prominent government officials and business 
leaders.169 Then, in June, just before he left 

Washington for Beverly Farms, a bomb 

exploded in front of the house of Attorney 

General A. Mitchell Palmer, leading police to 
station an officer near Holmes’ front door.170 

And finally, on the train ride north, his wife 

had fallen ill from the heat and fatigue and 

spent most of the summer confined to her 

bed.171

In light of these circumstances, Holmes 

spent much of his summer with Laski, who 

was once again staying just up the coast in 

Rockport. And Laski used the opportunity to 

continue feeding Holmes a steady diet of 

progressive literature, much of it with at least 

a tangential connection to free speech. In 

May, he gave Holmes a biography of Francis 

Place, the nineteenth-century British social 

reformer who had fought against the stamp tax 
on newspapers.172 In July, he passed along 

T h e H is to r y  o f  E n g l is h  R a t io n a l is m  in  t h e  

N in e te e n th C e n tu r y , an account of the 

triumph of science and logic over religious
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dogma.173 And, in August, he presented him 

with T h e H is to r y  o f E n g l is h D e m o c r a t ic 

I d e a s in t h e S e v e n te e n th C e n tu r y , a

chronicle of the emergence of political 

liberalism during and after the English Civil  

Wars.174

More important than these books was 

Chafee’s article in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH arvard Law Review , 

which Laski also forwarded to Holmes.175 

Entitled “Freedom of Speech in War Time,”  

the article repeated many of the arguments 

Chafee had made in The N ew Republic the 

previous fall, including his claim that the 

framers had rejected the Blackstonian view of 
free speech.176 But Chafee was no longer 

content merely to discredit Blackstone. As he 

pointed out, Holmes had already done that in 

Schenck, though not before his earlier 

endorsement “had had considerable influ­

ence.” 177 What Chafee cared about now was 

filling  the void left in Blackstone’s wake. 

Many judges, he noted, had interpreted the 

First Amendment to protect the “use” of 

speech but not its “abuse,” “ liberty” of the 
press but not “ license.” 178 Those formulas, 

however, gave little guidance to judges and 

speakers about what speech was protected. 

“Justice Holmes in his Espionage Act cases 

had a magnificent opportunity”  to clarify the 

uncertainty, Chafee wrote. “He, we hoped, 

would concentrate his great abilities on fixing 

the line.” 179 Instead, like other judges, 

Holmes had taken aim at easy targets, such 

as the man who falsely shouts fire in a 

crowded theatre and causes a panic. “How 

about the man who gets up in a theatre 

between the acts and informs the audience 

honestly but perhaps mistakenly that the fire 

exits are too few or locked?” Chafee asked. 

“He is a much closer parallel to Schenck or 

Debs. How about James Russell Lowell when 

he counseled not murder, but the cessation of 

murder, his name for war? The question 

whether such perplexing cases are within the 

First Amendment or not cannot be solved by 

the multiplication of obvious examples, but 

only by the development of a rational

principle to mark the limits of constitutional 
protection.” 180

In private conversations, Chafee made 

clear that the principle he favored was the one 

proposed by Hand in M asses, which protected 

all speech except explicit incitement to break 

the law.181 But Hand’s test had been rejected 

by the appeals court and ignored by the 

Supreme Court. So instead Chafee embraced 

the clear and present danger test of Schenck, 

arguing that it was now the standard that 

governed all Espionage Act cases. There was 

only one problem. Holmes had not clearly 

indicated that the phrase “clear and present 

danger”  was intended as a substitute for “bad 

tendency.” Indeed, as discussed above, there 

was reason to think he was not introducing a 

new test at all, but was simply using a different 

formula to describe the old test. But Chafee 

ignored that possibility and portrayed “clear 

and present danger” as a new standard 

designed to protect more speech than the 

old “bad tendency”  test.

Chafee also criticized the Court’s judg­

ment in D ebs. If the Supreme Court had 

applied the clear and present danger test to 

Debs’s speech, he argued, “ it is hard to see 
how he could have been held guilty.” 182 It was 

true that a jury had convicted him, and equally 

true that the Supreme Court ordinarily does 

not second-guess ajury’s factual conclusions. 

But the judge had not instructed the jury that a 

“clear and present danger”  was necessary. In 

addition, the judge had allowed the jury to 

infer that Debs intended to obstruct the draft 

from the mere fact that he gave the speech. 

These were serious mistakes that had to be 

avoided in the future, Chafee argued. “ If  the 

Supreme Court test is to mean anything more 

than a passing observation, it must be used to 

upset convictions for words when the trial 

judge did not insist that they must create ‘a 
clear and present danger’ of overt acts.” 183

As David Rabban has shown, Chafee’s 

argument was inspired, if  somewhat disin­
genuous.184 He had seized upon an isolated 

phrase in Schenck—a phrase used casually,
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almost carelessly, by Holmes—and held it out 

as announcing a new standard in First 

Amendment law. Then, he had used that 

new standard to undercut one of the very 

opinions from which it ostensibly derived. 

Where most progressives had looked at YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Schenck, Frohw erk, and D ebs and seen only 

disaster, Chafee had seen opportunity. As 

Hand put it to him in a letter two years later, 

“ You have, 1 dare say, done well to take what 

has fallen from Heaven and insist that it is 

manna rather than to set up any independent 
solution.” 185

In addition to turning Holmes’ words 

against him, Chafee also faulted the Justice for 

not paying adequate attention to the values 

underlying the First Amendment. “ It is 

regrettable,” he wrote, “ that Justice Holmes 

did nothing to emphasize the social interest 

behind free speech, and show the need of 
balancing even in wartime.” 186 Indeed, Chafee 

noted, Holmes’ opinion in Schenck—with its 

assertion that “ many things that might be said in 

time of peace ... will  not be endured so long as 

men fight”—suggested that he would “sanction 

any restriction of speech that has military force 

behind it, and reminds us that the Justice used to 

say when he was young ‘ that truth was the 

majority vote of that nation that could lick all 

others.’ His liberalism seems held in abeyance 
by his belief in the relativity of values.” 187

When Laski read Chafee’s article that 

summer, he sent a copy to Holmes and then had 

an idea that was almost as inspired as Chafee’s 

article. Chafee was scheduled to spend a 

weekend with him in Rockport at the end of 

July. Why not invite Holmes to tea that 

same weekend so that Chafee might make 

his argument in person? He broached the 

possibility with Holmes, who seemed open to 

the idea. Then, three days before Chafee was 

scheduled to arrive, Laski wrote to inform him 

of the plan:

You won’ t forget that you are 

coming down on Saturday for the 

week-end. Holmes is coming to tea,

and I want you to arrive in good time.

Fori have given him your article and 

we must fight on it. I ’ve read it twice, 

and I ’ ll go to the stake for every 

word. Bless you for it.188

The meeting took place as planned. 

According to a letter Chafee wrote to Charles 

Amidon, a federal judge in North Dakota, 

Holmes again indicated that he regretted 

having to write the decision in D ebs and 

likely would have voted for acquittal if  he 

were on the jury.189 Chafee also noted that 

Holmes seemed “ inclined to allow a very wide 

latitude” to the government when it came to 

speech in time of war. Finally, he noted that 

Holmes did not think it possible to draw a 

clear line between protected and unprotected 

speech “but simply to indicate cases on the 

one side or the other of the line.”  “While I do 

not anticipate myself that any hard and fast 

line could be drawn, his failure, it seems to 

me, is the omission to state the principles by 

which decisions are to be placed on one side 

or the other.”

S ep tem b er  1919

Before the summer ended, Laski sent 

Holmes three additional books that influenced 

the Justice’s thinking on free speech.

The first was E s s a y s o n F r e e th in k in g  

a n d P la in s p e a k in g by Leslie Stephen. A  

former clergyman turned agnostic, Stephen 

chastised those liberal but diffident clerics 

who tried to reconcile their hard-earned 

skepticism with the lazy fictions of faith. 

Instead of openly challenging antiquated 

Church doctrines, they “waste their power 

in an attempt to square circles.” 190 There is 

enough deceit and hypocrisy in the world 

without such misguided attempts at harmony, 

he argued. “Let us think freely and speak 

plainly, and we shall have the highest 

satisfaction that man can enjoy—the con­

sciousness that we have done what little lies in 

ourselves to do for the maintenance of the 

truths on which the moral improvement and 
the happiness of our race depend.” 191
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Those familiar with Holmes’ Abrams 

dissent will  notice a familiar phrase in this 

paragraph. Leslie’s reference to the squaring 

of circles would reappear less than two 

months later in the following line: “To allow 

opposition by speech seems to indicate that 

you think the speech impotent, as when a man 
says that he has squared the circle.” 192

The second book was a biography of 

Adam Smith, the Scottish economist and 

founder of free market capitalism. Holmes 

was well acquainted with Smith, having read 

T h e  W e a l th  o f  N a t io n s years earlier. But the 

biography, written by the British journalist 
Francis Hirst,193 influenced him in two 

respects. First, it emphasized the extent to 

which Smith believed not just in economic 

liberty, but in political liberty, including free 

speech. Second, Hirst disputed the revision­

ists who had tried to invoke Smith’s name in 

support of governmental regulation of the 

economy. Although Smith accepted the need 

for some regulation, Hirst argued, he believed 

strongly that a policy of “ free trade” would 

produce the greatest good for the greatest 

number. YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA‘ "The W ealth of N ations is a forest of 

full-grown arguments for free trade,” Hirst 
wrote.194 “Smith’s name can no more be 

dissociated from free trade than Homer’s from 

the siege of Troy.”  In all, Hirst used the phrase 

“ free trade” more than twenty times in his 

book, including as a chapter title. So it is not 

surprising that Holmes, when casting about 

for a metaphor to explain the value of open 

debate, should seize upon the idea of free 

trade, or as he put it, “ free trade in ideas.”

Finally, there was T h e D e c l in e o f  

L ib e r t y  in  E n g la n d , written by E.S.P. Hay­

nes, a British lawyer and author. Published in 

1916, Haynes’s book argued that individual 

freedom in England was being chipped away 

by growing state interference and an infatua­

tion with German efficiency. Haynes focused 

most of his attention on social and moral 

issues, but he also despaired over the future of 

free speech. Libel suits were on the rise, 

censorship was spreading, and a mob mental­

ity was overtaking the country. Worse, judges 

had abdicated their responsibility and were 

deferring “ to the wishes of the Executive 

without much attention to other consider­
ations.” 195 Liberty of speech in England was 

still greater than anywhere else, including the 

United States, Haynes argued. But if  judges 

failed to rein in the “unchecked power of the 

Executive”  and if  the public did not jealously 

guard this vital privilege, it would be 

swallowed up by the movement toward 

national militarism “and even more by an 

increasingly tyrannical collectivism which 

would destroy the freedom of the individual 

to discuss any problems except from the 
collectivist point of view.” 196

Haynes’s book was not a work of serious 

political theory like Mill ’s O n  L ib e r t y .  It was 

a polemic that Holmes found both verbose 

and obscure. Still, it made a strong impression 

on him. “The whole collectivist tendency 

seems to be toward underrating or forgetting 

the safeguards in bills of rights that had to be 

fought for in their day and that still are worth 

fighting for,”  he wrote to Pollock shortly after 

reading the book. Then, foreshadowing the 

dissent he would write just a month later, he 

added, “We have been so comfortable so long 

that we are apt to take it for granted that 

everything will  be all right without our taking 

any trouble. All  of which is but a paraphrase of 
eternal vigilance is the price of freedom.” 197

Defending  His Friends

The lobbying effort targeted at Holmes 

lasted nearly a year and a half and involved 

many of his closest friends. Although it does 

not appear to have been consciously orches­

trated, there is some evidence of coordination 

between various participants, such as Laski 

and Chafee. There is also evidence that the 

effort had an effect, as Holmes gradually 

began to distance himself from his earlier 

views and opinions and expressed a new 

appreciation for free speech. But the effort
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might never have succeeded were it not for 

another development that made the issue of 

free speech more personal to Holmes than it 

had previously been.

The year after World War I was bleak and 

divisive in the United States. After the initial 

wave of relief and euphoria, the country 

plunged into a state of suspicion and anxiety. 

Congress allocated $500,000 for an investi­

gation of seditious activities,198 the Attorney 

General called for the enactment of a peace­
time Espionage Act,199 and a congressional 

committee released a list of sixty-two radicals 

who were said to be enemies of the state.200 

The list included such respected figures as 

Jane Addams, the social reformer from 

Chicago; Charles Beard, the Columbia Uni­

versity historian; and Frederic Howe, Com­

missioner of Immigration at Ellis Island. But 

the people on the list weren’ t the only ones 

under suspicion. Laski and Frankfurter also 

found themselves under attack for their views 

and the actions they took on behalf of the 

progressive cause.

For Laski, the trouble began in the spring 

of 1918 when a complaint was filed against 

him at Radcliffe College, where he was 

teaching a course on economics. According 

to the mother of one of his students, Laski was 

a Bolshevist sympathizer who was indoctri­
nating the girls in socialist theory.201 Officials 

at Radcliffe forwarded the complaint to 

Harvard President A. Lawrence Lowell, 

who opened a file on the young instructor 

that would eventually include nearly 100 

letters from angry parents and alumni. Around 

the same time, a Harvard professor named 

Edwin H. Hall began telling anyone who 

would listen that Laski was a “poisonous 

influence” who was spreading leftist propa­

ganda on campus.202 Hall’s whispering 

campaign was successful enough that in 

January 1919 Laski offered to resign his 

position on the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH arvard Law Review as a way 
to deflect criticism from the law school.203 

But the situation only worsened that spring 

when he took part in a strike at the Lawrence

textile mills and published A u th o r i t y  in  t h e  

M o d e r n  S ta te , which argued that workers 

should be given control over all major 

manufacturing questions, from the length of 

the workday to the hourly wage to the method 
and rate of production.204

Frankfurter’s troubles began in 1917 

when he got tangled up in two controversies 

as a result of his work on the President’s 

Mediation Commission, which was charged 

with resolving labor disputes during the war. 

The first was an incident known as the Bisbee 
Deportation.205 During the copper strikes in 

Arizona, the town of Bisbee had emerged as a 

hot spot for labor strife, with widespread 

strikes and conflicts among various union 

factions. Amid rumors of violence, local 

officials asked the federal government to 

send in troops to keep the peace. When the 

government denied this request, officials took 

matters into their own hands. Leading a 

massive vigilante force, they rounded up 

nearly 1,200 strikers, loaded them onto cattle 

cars, and hauled them into the middle of the 

New Mexico desert, where they were stranded 

for two days without food or water. The Army 

eventually rescued the strikers and moved 

them to a nearby town for safety, but the 

incident became a rallying cry for progres­

sives. And, although it was technically outside 

the Commission’s mandate, Frankfurter per­

suaded the group to visit Bisbee and conduct a 

full investigation. He then drafted a report 

declaring the actions of local officials “wholly 

illegal” and recommending a process for 
resolving similar disputes in the future.206

The second controversy stemmed from 

the case of Tom Mooney, a California labor 

leader who had been sentenced to death for 

allegedly planting a bomb that killed ten 

people during a 1916 Preparedness Day 

march.207 After the trial, defense attorneys 

uncovered evidence suggesting that the 

primary witness against Mooney had perjured 

himself. But, because they had already 

appealed to the California Supreme Court, 

the trial judge ruled that he lacked jurisdiction



6 8ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJO U R N A L  O F S U P R E M E C O U R T H IS T O R Y

In  Ju ly  1917 , 2 ,000  v ig ilan tes  i l leg a lly  d ep o rted  ab o u t  1 ,200  s tr ik in g  co p p e r  m in e  w o rke rs  fro m  th e  to w n  o f  B isb ee , IHGFEDCBA 

A rizo n a .  T h ey  fo rced  th em  in to  ca ttle  ca rs  an d  tran sp o rted  th em  w ith o u t  fo o d  o r  w ate r  to  a d ese rt  in  N ew  M ex ico ,  

w h ere  th ey  w ere  to ld  n o t  to  co m e  b ack . zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

to reopen the matter. At the same time, the 

state supreme court indicated that it would 

only consider evidence that had been intro­

duced at trial. This put Mooney in an 

impossible situation, with evidence under­

mining his conviction yet no court willing  to 

hear it. The situation also proved embarrass­

ing for the Wilson Administration, which had 

gone to war to “make the world safe for 

democracy” yet now appeared unable to 

secure justice at home. Thus, as part of his 

work for the Commission, Frankfurter inves­

tigated the case and wrote a report on his 

findings. Although he stopped short of saying 

that Mooney was innocent, he did conclude 

that the case was a miscarriage of justice that 

had weakened the country’s credibility with 

its allies. To remedy the injustice, he proposed 

that Wilson urge the governor of California to 

grant Mooney a retrial—advice that Wilson 

followed, with mixed results. Instead of a new 

trial, the governor commuted Mooney’s 
sentence to life in prison.208

Made public within a few months of each 

other, the Bisbee and Mooney reports thrust

Frankfurter into the national spotlight. And, 

although progressives cheered his efforts, 

conservatives questioned his integrity, his 

motives, and his patriotism. The most damn­

ing criticism came from Theodore Roosevelt, 

whose close friend, the copper magnate Jack 

Greenway, had spearheaded the Bisbee de­

portation. In a letter published in the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBABoston 

H era ld , Roosevelt called the Bisbee report “as 

thoroughly misleading a document as could be 

written on the subject.” He also accused 

Frankfurter of “excusing men precisely like 

the Bolsheviki in Russia, who are murderers 

and encouragers of murder, who are traitors to 

their allies, to democracy and to civilization, as 
well as to the United States.” 209

The attacks on Frankfurter continued 

when he accepted a job as chairman of the 

War Labor Policies Board, a position that 

required him to impose progressive labor 

standards, such as the eight-hour workday, on 

some of the most recalcitrant industries in the 
country.210 Frankfurter supported these stand­

ards, believing they would ultimately boost 

productivity, but the captains of industry
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viewed them as the first step to communism. 

When the chairman of U.S. Steel, Elbert H. 

Gary, met with Frankfurter in Washington, he 

complained that a shortened workday would 

destroy his company. He then spread a rumor 

that Frankfurter had threatened a federal 
takeover of the steel mills.211

By the end of the war, then, Frankfurter 

was a controversial figure, closely identified 

with some of the most radical causes in the 

country. And the conservatives at Harvard 

were not pleased. In the spring of 1919, a 

group of influential alumni demanded that 

Dean Roscoe Pound remove Frankfurter from 

the faculty.212 When Pound refused, they 

demanded that YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAhe be removed. Distraught 

over the situation, Pound warned Frankfurter 
that their future at the school looked grim.213 

But Frankfurter was in Paris attending the 

peace conference and could not defend 

himself in person. So Pound explained the 

situation to Brandeis, who apparently shared 

the news with Holmes.214

“ Every once in a while, faintly and 

vaguely as to you, a little more distinctly as 

to Frankfurter, I hear that you are dangerous 

men,”  Holmes wrote to Laski in April 1919. 

“What does it mean? ... Have your writings as 

to sovereignty led people who don’ t read them 

to believe that you were opposed to law and 
order or what?”215

Laski downplayed the attacks on himself, 

responding that, although he had enemies, 

they had not yet made his life difficult. But 

there was a movement afoot to run Frankfurter 

and Pound out of Harvard, he explained. 

Exactly who was behind the effort Laski 

didn’ t know, though he suspected it was the 

work of Richard Hale and Thomas Perkins, 

two prominent Boston lawyers with close ties 

to the school. “ Hale is abominable,” he told 

Holmes. “ He actually sent for the editor of the 

Law Review early in the year and warned him 
against Felix.” 216 Laski was also unsure about 

the motive behind the campaign, though he 

suspected it was anti-Semitism. In any case, 

he said, Pound and his allies were taking a

beating and could use some help. “ If  you ever 

get a chance to drop a hint to Hale or Perkins, 

you would do us all a great service.”

Though Holmes expressed concern about 

the situation, he did not initially  take steps to 

help. So Laski wrote again: “The real truth is 

that there’s a great fight on as to the future of 

the School and the older Tories are eager to 

make the place unbearable for Pound. He is a 

very great Dean and the students worship him 

and sooner or later the Law School Alumni 

Association has to step in and tell the world 

what Pound is counting for in scholarship and 

prevent this idle insistence on a status quo 

which has already lost its status.” 217

Holmes, as Laski knew, was president of 

the Law School Alumni Association. So 

Laski’s insistence that the association would 

have to step in was essentially a plea for 

H olm es to step in. And this time, Holmes got 

the message. He had just received notice of 

the Association’s next meeting, he informed 

Laski two days later. “They ask for sugges­

tions. Could I say anything to them? Answer 

quick. The letter comes from F.W. Grinnell, 
partner of Richard Hale.” 218

Laski wasted no time taking advantage of 

this response. “Only one word in very partial 

reply to a letter worth its weight in gold,”  he 

wrote back the next day. “ If  the Association 

would, te m ovente, record its appreciation of 

the way Pound kept the School going during 

the war it would help marvelously. That, bien 

entendu, if  you felt so inclined. My love and 

great gratitude for that letter.” 219

So that’s what Holmes did. He sent a note 

to Grinnell repeating exactly what Laski said. 

“Your letter invites suggestion and I venture 

one,” he wrote. “ I have a very strong 

conviction of the value and importance of 

Pound who I think has done much to maintain 

the superlative reputation of the School. If  it 

were possible to pass a resolution expressing 

our appreciation of the way in which he has 

kept the School going during the war, or 

giving him encouragement in such form as is 

deemed best I should be much gratified.
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Perhaps you will  call this to the attention of 
the meeting.” 220

When Laski received a copy of this note 

from Holmes, he was elated. “ That is a most 

generous letter of yours about Pound and on 

his account, as well as my own, I am very 
grateful,” he wrote.221 Pound was also 

pleased. Grinnell had shown him the letter, 

he wrote to Holmes, and it was “worth reams 

of resolutions.”  But he was still anxious about 

Frankfurter. “Unhappily most people here­

about seem to be chiefly concerned to push 

Frankfurter out of the school. If  such a thing 

were to happen, it would be nothing short of a 

calamity. What I fear is that he will  be made 
uncomfortable and will  go.” 222

After discussing the matter with Bran- 

deis, Holmes wrote another letter—this time 

to President Lowell: “ I have a very strong 

feeling that Pound and in his place Frankfurter 

have and impart the ferment which is more 

valuable than an endowment and makes a 
Law School a focus of life.” 223 He also 

suggested that Pound be given an honorary 

degree from Harvard, “ as I believe he has 

from various other universities. He is one of 

the very few men whose work on legal 

subjects is referred to by Continental writers.”

That seemed to do the trick. Lowell sent 

back an encouraging response, which Holmes 

forwarded to Laski with permission to show to 

Pound. “ I have the notion that Pound thought 

Lowell’s attitude to be different from this, and 

it may cheer him up,”  he wrote.224

For the next several months, the situation 

at Harvard remained stable. But that fall, 

matters heated up again when Laski came out 

in support of a strike by the Boston police 

force. In an interview with the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH arvard 

C rim son, he argued that every worker had 

the right to affiliate with a union, no matter 
who his employer or what his vocation.225 

Then, in a speech to the families of the striking 

police on October 15, he blamed Boston 

Police Commissioner Edwin Curtis for the 

situation and declared that labor would “never 
surrender.” 226

The reaction to these comments was swift 

and severe. In a letter to the Boston H era ld , 

Professor Hall accused Laski of glorifying 

Bolshevism and attempting to intimidate 

those who disagreed with his radical doc­
trines.227 The Boston Evening Transcrip t also 

denounced the speech. “ It is not too much to 

ask,” the newspaper wrote, “whether the 

Harold J. Laski who addressed last night’ s 

meeting at Fay Hall is an instructor in or 

lecturer upon American Government or 

Soviet Government. The parents of the sons 

entrusted to his tutelage are entitled to know. 

The followers from Maine to California of 

straight Americanism will, we think, insist 
upon knowing.” 228

As it turns out, they did want to know. 

The university was in the midst of a fifteen- 

million-dollar fundraising campaign, and 

Lowell received dozens of letters from alumni 

who threatened to withhold their contribu­

tions unless Laski was fired.229 Lowell 

refused to give in to the pressure, even though 

he estimated it cost the school three hundred 

thousand dollars. But the Board of Overseers 

took matters into its own hands, scheduling a 

meeting for October 27 to consider whether 

Laski should be fired.2 ’0

In the meantime, the Court heard argu­

ments in Abram s on October 21 and 22. On 

the second day of arguments, something 

happened that has never before been revealed 

and that sheds new light on Holmes’ actions 

that fall. Furious not only with the attacks on 

Laski but with the general atmosphere of 

intolerance in the country, Frankfurter paid a 

visit to Ellery Sedgwick, editorof The Atlantic 

M onth ly and member of the Harvard Board of 

Trustees. As Frankfurter described it in a 

newly discovered letter to his fiancee, “ I 

bearded the great editorial lion in his den 

yesterday—Ellery Sedgwick to shake him to 

some plain speaking. ... He w ants to be a 
liberal and is considerably one.” 231 In fact, 

Sedgwick had agreed to “print a blast on 

tolerance” if Frankfurter could solicit one 

from “somebody like Holmes or [Charles



H O L M E S  A N D  F R E E S P E E C H ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA7 1zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Norton] Eliot”— in other words, Sedgwick 
had said, “somebody who counts.” 232 Frank­

furter responded that “everybody counts who 

has courage & speaks sense,” but he was 

apparently intrigued by Sedgwick’s proposal 

because over the next week both he and Laski 

wrote Holmes asking if  he could write such an 

article. Their letters to Holmes have not 

survived, but his responses have, and they 

make clear not only that the young men asked 

Holmes to write, but that their request made an 
impression on him.233 Here is Holmes’ 

response to Laski:

I didn’ t till this moment read your 

letter correctly and realize that it 

asked if  I would write. I thought it 

expressed a regret but assumed that I 

couldn’ t—I can’ t—I am too much 

beleaguered with duties. I infer that 

you have had trouble, I hope not 

serious, because of your criticism of 

Curtis. I gather from what I have 

seen that you didn’ t uphold the strike 

(which 1 think impossible) but 

pitched into Curtis’s behavior, of 

which I know little but which I 

should think was at least open to 

discussion. I fear that we have less 

freedom of speech here than they 

have in England. Little as I believe in 

it as a theory I hope I would die for it 

and I go as far as anyone whom I 

regard as competent to form an 

opinion, in favor of it. Of course 

when I say I don’ t believe in it as a 

theory I don’ t mean that I do believe 

in the opposite as a theory. But on 

their premises it seems to me logical 

in the Catholic Church to kill  

heretics and the Puritans to whip 

Quakers—and I see nothing more 

wrong in it from our ultimate stand­

ards than 1 do in killing Germans 

when we are at war. When you are 

thoroughly convinced that you are 

right—wholeheartedly desire an

end—and have no doubt of your 

power to accomplish it—I see noth­

ing but municipal regulations to 

interfere with your using your power 

to accomplish it. The sacredness of 

human life is a formula that is good 

only inside a system of law—and so 

of the rest—all of which apart from 

its YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAbanalite I fear seems cold talk if  

you have been made to feel popular 

displeasure. I should not be cold 

about that—nor do I in any way 

shrink from saying what I think—but 

I can’ t spare the energy necessary to 
deal with extra legal themes.234

Of all the letters Holmes wrote during this 

period, none captures so clearly the extent to 

which he was wrestling with the issue of free 

speech. Indeed, with its internal contradic­

tions and sudden swerves of direction, his 

letter to Laski suggests a man on the verge of a 

momentous decision, vacillating between the 

dictates of reason and the pull of emotion. On 

the one hand was the logic of persecution, 

which still had a powerful hold on him. 

From a moral standpoint, he could see no 

difference between the punishing of dissent­

ers and the killing  of Germans during the war. 

Both rested on the same “ justifiable self­

preference” he had identified as long ago as 
The C om m on Law .” 235 On the other hand, 

Holmes himself had taught that logic wasn’ t 

the only aspect of the law. There was also 

“experience,” “ the felt necessities of the 

time,” “even the prejudices which judges 
share with their fellow-men.” 236 And it was 

those aspects of the law that seemed most 

relevant to him now. For what had been 

merely an abstract question for Holmes over 

the past year was, suddenly, concrete and 

personal. The face of free speech was no 

longer Eugene Debs, the dangerous socialist 

agitator. It was his good friend Harold Laski, 

and Holmes’ views shifted accordingly. He 

now declared himself willing to die for it. 

Moreover, he seemed to realize how his
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blustery comments about the logic of perse­

cution might seem “ cold talk if  you have been 

made to feel popular displeasure,”  as of course 

Laski had been. “ I should not be cold about 

that,” Holmes insisted. Nor was he afraid to 

speak his mind. Nonetheless, he claimed, he 

was too busy at work to write outside the job.

Holmes’ letter to Laski was written on 

Sunday, October 26. Less than a week later, 

on Saturday November 1, he sent the 

following response to Frankfurter:

Your letter gave me great pleasure to 

know that all is going well. But the 

same causes that have delayed my 

answer make it impossible for me to 

write outside the job. I am too busy.

Just now I am full of a tentative 

statement that may see light later on 

kindred themes to your subject but I 

don’ t yet know whether what I have 

written YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAquasi in  fu rore, as Saunders 

says, is good enough. And ahead of 

me is a string of cases to be 

remediated and that drives me mad.

1 already had told Laski that the

notion of my writing an article was
217no go.

The “ tentative statement”  Holmes refers 

to in this letter is almost certainly his dissent in 

Abram s, which Holmes prepared ahead of 

time and circulated to his colleagues on 

November 6 when he received a copy of the 
majority opinion.238 Thus, after receiving a 

request to write an article on tolerance from 

both Frankfurter and Laski, Holmes wrote his 

dissent in Abram s “quasi in furore”—as if  

possessed. That dissent, of course, was 

precisely the kind of “blast on tolerance”  

that Laski and Frankfurter had wanted 

Holmes to write. And, when it was handed 

down the following week, they and the other 

young men who had been lobbying Holmes 

made their gratitude known to him in a series 

of gushing letters.

Laski called Holmes’ dissent “ a fine and 

moving document for which I am deeply and

happily grateful.” 239 Frankfurter wrote of “ the 

gratitude and, may I say it, the pride I have in 
your dissent.” 240 Lippmann wanted Holmes 

“ to know that there exists profound gratitude 

to you, coupled with a pretty clear sense not to 

abuse in any way what you have vindicat­
ed.” 241 Croly was “ so deeply moved by it 

that I cannot forbear to write you and tell 

you what a profound piece of legal and 
political reasoning it seemed to me to be.” 242 

And Hand confessed that he could not “help 

feeling like thanking you, even though I recall 

the annoyance it gives me when anyone 

undertakes to thank me for what I may say in 
an opinion.” 243

Based on the effusiveness of these letters, 

it seems clear that Holmes’ young friends 

viewed his dissent as, at least in part, a defense 

of them and a response to their arguments for 

tolerance. Did Holmes view it the same way? 

That question is impossible to answer. There 

is nothing in his letters to indicate that he did, 

although that should not be surprising. A  

judge as concerned about his reputation as 

Holmes was not likely to admit that he had 

written an opinion out of consideration for his 

friends. Besides, Holmes may not have been 

aware himself of the role that personal 

sympathy played in his decision. Less than 

a year before writing his Abram s dissent, 

Holmes had bought a print by the Dutch 

painter Adriaen van Ostade that depicted a 

peasant family saying grace over a bowl of 

porridge. His description of the print to a 

friend could well be used to describe his 

dissent in Abram s. “ It has the line of piety that 

Millet got in his Angelus,” Holmes wrote, 

“but so simple, so unconscious, so immedi­

ately sympathetic. I mean you don’ t feel that 
Ostade was seeing himself sympathize.” 244

CONCLUSI ON

To say that Holmes changed his mind 

about the value of free speech is not to suggest 

that his Abram s dissent came completely out
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of the blue. To the contrary, it built on many of 

the themes and ideas he had been expressing 

for years—his skepticism of objective truth, 

his commitment to Darwinism, his faith in 

free markets, and his taste for competition and 

battle. In addition, the process Holmes went 

through on the way to writing his YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAAbram s 

dissent serves as an illustration of his most 

famous dictum—that “ the life of the law has 

not been logic; it has been experience.”  It was 

the experience of debating the issue of free 

speech and watching his young friends 

attacked for their views that helped pushed 

him past the logic of persecution.

But although Holmes’ Abram s dissent 

did not come out of the blue, it did mark a 

critical point in his thinking. Prior to that 

point, he had been willing to accept govern­

mental suppression of speech as simply 

another instance of the majority’s right to 

sacrifice the interests of the individual. From 

Abram s onward, however, he viewed speech 

differently—as a privileged activity that was 

protected from governmental regulation be­

cause of the benefits it offered to society.

Holmes’ dissent also marked a turning 

point in the country’s view of free speech. 

And in that sense, his transformation is 

representative of the experience of society 

as a whole during World War I and the first 

Red Scare. For much of the nineteenth 

century, free speech had been viewed as a 

fringe issue that affected only extremists— 

advocates of free love, for example, or radical 
unions like the Wobblies.245 During the war, 

however, many mainstream thinkers saw 

individuals they knew and respected come 

under suspicion and persecution for their 

views. That experience awakened in them a 

new appreciation for the value of free speech, 

just as Holmes was made more sensitive 
through the experience of his friends.246 And, 

once those in the mainstream began to think of 

free speech as a personal issue—not simply an 

abstract ideal— it was inevitable that the 

country would move toward a more expansive 

view of the First Amendment.

For advocates of free speech today, the 

lesson of this story is clear. The strength of 

First Amendment rights is largely dependent 

upon the extent to which the majority views 

those rights as relevant to itself. In an era in 

which corporations and other powerful in­

stitutions frequently assert free speech claims 

in support of their own interests,247 it should 

therefore be no surprise that First Amendment 

rights are as strong as they are. Whether the 

courts should recognize those claims is 

certainly open to debate. But what seems 

beyond debate is the proposition that free 

speech thrives when everyone—judges in­

cluded—has a stake in its survival.
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S U J I T  R A M A N zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Fe lix Frankfu rte r le ft an inde lible im p r int 

o n Am e rican his to ry . No te d Pro gre s s ive , 

p as s io nate civil libe r tar ian, p ro lific jurist— 

the immigrant from Vienna wore many hats 

and rose to towering heights in his nearly sixty 

years of public service. Frankfurter was so 

prominent in politics and the judiciary that, at 

least in the public’s imagination, his academic 

career as professor of law at Harvard between 
1914and 1939 has often been overlooked.1 A  

British intellectual’s characterization of how 

Frankfurter was perceived in England in the 

mid-1930s—“ less as an academic figure than 

as a man of influence in Washington” 2—aptly 

summarizes how that aspect of his career has 

largely been remembered. It is an assessment, 

however, that misses the mark, for Frankfurter 

arguably exerted more lasting influence from 

his classroom in Cambridge than he ever did 

in government or from his seat on the nation’s 

highest tribunal.3

Indeed, Felix Frankfurter’s greatest lega­

cy may well have been the legions of students 

he trained and nurtured at the Harvard Law 

School, men (like James Landis, Dean

Acheson, and Henry Friendly, among numer­

ous others) who, in their own right, shaped the 

age in which they lived. As one biographer put 

it, Frankfurter disciples “went into small law 

offices in small towns, into high-powered 

Wall Street firms, into town halls, state 

legislatures, and Congress; into teaching, 

journalism, industry, trade unions, business, 
government, social work, and the judiciary.” 4 

Frankfurter men immersed themselves in 

public life; and no era in American history 

is more closely identified with Frankfurter’s 

proteges than the New Deal.

The question of the depth of Frankfurter’s 

influence over the politics and policies of 

the New Deal is deeply contested. He was 

an acknowledged confidant of President 

Roosevelt, and it was no great secret that the 

Harvard professor placed his students through­

out the government. Upon Frankfurter’ s 

nomination to the Supreme Court in early 

1939, for example, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im e magazine counted 

“ 125 ‘happy hot dogs’ ... in Washington 

today”  who owed their jobs to recommenda­
tions from their academic mentor.5 Frankfurter
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adm itte d to p lay ing s u ch a ro le in the Ne w De al, 

s tating s im p ly in his memoirs: “ I was the 

recruiting officer.” 6 For Frankfurter, this was 

nothing remarkable; he believed his primary 

responsibil ity  as a teacher was to train the future 

public servants of the republic. Frankfurter’s 

critics, however, believed he was more than a 

mere recruiter. To them, he was a shifty 

operator, a shady, secretive manipulator who 

preserved himself in Cambridge while his 

pupils satisfied his thirst for an empire of 

personal power in Washington. The depth of 

his alleged influence took on legendary, even 

sinister, proportions: the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew York Am erican 

called him “ the Iago of [Roosevelt’s] Adminis­
tration.” 7 Another contemporary labeled 

Frankfurter “ the most influential single indi­

vidual in the United States.” 8 One federal 

judge, in an opinion construing the Anti- 

Injunction Act (a landmark 1932 labor statute), 

even singled out the Harvard professor as a

“ figure” lurking in the “background” of the 

Act’s passage, “sinister or saintly (the reader 

may take his choice), . . . [who] from Mount 

Olympus, more than once,. . . has moved the 

pawns upon the nation’s chess board and, it is 

whispered, on occasion has even sought to 
check the King.” 9 As the journalist John T. 

Flynn, a passionate critic of the New Deal, 

observed in his 1948 book, The Roosevelt 

M yth '. “From the beginning of the New Deal, 

Felix Frankfurter had been pictured as the 

mysterious being who sat off in the shadows 

and pulled the strings that operated all the 

puppets who had cooked up the NRA and 

invented the AAA,  who was the arch Red and 

was in fact the unseen and unheard culprit 

behind most of Mr. Roosevelt’s dangerous 
enterprises.” 10 Especially in an age when 

conspiracy theories targeting immigrants and 

Jews—“ two groups that were synonymous to 

many Americans of  the time with communism,



F E L IX  F R A N K F U R T E R  A N D  H IS P R O T E G E S ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA8 1zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

radicalis m , and anti-Americanism” 11—had 

vocal and visible proponents, the specter of 

Frankfurter as his proteges’  puppeteer took on a 

life of its own.

The true extent of Frankfurter’s influence 

over the workings of the New Deal is a 

contentious subject, at once amply studied 

and under-studied. Countless scholars have 

written about his contributions, both philo­

sophical and practical, to that innovation in 

welfare state-ism. Fewer have explored his 

relationship with his former students, the foot 
soldiers of the New Deal.12 None has focused 

on the question of YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAhow Frankfurter impressed 

upon his proteges his ideas, w hen they w ere 

actua lly his students. By examining the 

professor’s social and political philosophies, 

and the mechanisms he used to transmit these 

ideas to his students at Harvard, one gains new 

insight into Frankfurter’s contributions to the 

New Deal. One also learns about the man. 

Felix Frankfurter had an infectious persona­

lity and incredible powers of influence, both 

of which he used within and without the 

classroom to cultivate disciples who, in later 
years, “multiplied him.” 13 Especially when it 

becomes clear that Frankfurter’s “control”  

over his former students during the New Deal 

years was less extensive—or at least of a 

different character—than is popularly imag­

ined, the importance of examining the ideas 

and the techniques of Frankfurter the teacher, 

the molder of minds, is underscored.

THE SOCI AL AND POLI TI CAL  
PHI LOSOPHI ES OF FELI X FRANKFURTER

Felix Frankfurter was bom to Jewish 

parents in Vienna in 1882, the third of six 

children. He came from a long line of 

distinguished rabbis and academics, though 

his father failed as a businessman, prompting 

the family to move to the United States in 

1894. Young Felix is reputed to have learned 

English in six weeks, and he excelled 

scholastically, first in the New York public

schools, then at City College. On the day he 

was to enroll at Columbia Law School, he ran 

into a friend, who convinced him to take the 

day off so they could enjoy the weather at 

Coney Island. As Frankfurter recalled in his 

memoirs, “The whole course of my life was 
changed by that decision.” 14 The men went to 

Coney Island, and young Felix came down 

with a mysterious illness. His doctor told him 

he needed to rest and “ to go somewhere where 

there was a law school in the country” 15 to 

regain his health. To a youth bom in Vienna 

and reared in New York, Cambridge, Massa­

chusetts was as rustic a place as any. So Felix 

Frankfurter enrolled at the Harvard Law 

School in the fall of 1903—and thus, 

apparently on a whim, began a passionate 

association that lasted over sixty years.

To begin to understand Frankfurter’s 

relationship with his students, one first must 

appreciate the reverence he felt for the 

institution they represented. To the Jewish 

immigrant Frankfurter, the Harvard Law 

School served as a symbol of America’s 

meritocratic greatness. Late in life, he would 

refer to it as “ the most democratic institution I 
know anything about.” 16 At the Law School, 

in Frankfurter’s view, neither lineage nor 

personal fortune mattered; the true mark of 

distinction and achievement was academic 

performance. “There was a dominating atmo­

sphere [there], first, of professionalism, and 

[second], what I think is an indispensable 

quality of the true professionalism, the 

democratic spirit,” he recalled. “What mat­

tered was excellence in your profession to 

which your father or your face were equally 

irrelevant . . . The thing that mattered was 
what you did professionally.” 17 On this highly 

idealized view, the classrooms of the Law 

School were sacred catacombs of learning, its 

professors the high priests of knowledge. And, 

constituting its student body, the novitiates 

were the future leaders of the American 

republic. Frankfurter did not exaggerate when 

he claimed his feelings for the Law School 
bordered on the “quasi-religious” 18; to him
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Harvard “was an institution all by itself,” 19 a 

magical place “whose function was to 

produce men whose only interests were public 

service, professional excellence, and a zeal for 

being very good at the business which is the 
law.” 20 Even if  those statements smack today 

of excessive romanticism,2 one can appre­

ciate the confident spirit in which they were 

offered. For, as one scholar has recently 

observed, by the end of the nineteenth 

century, Harvard Law School was “ a preemi­

nent and nationally renowned [legal] institu­
tion” that “stood alone in that category.” 22 

Indeed, at the turn of the century, Harvard 

Law School had, in the estimation of 

Harvard’s own president, Charles W. Eliot, 

“ reached the climax of success in professional 
education.” 23

Frankfurter’s love for the Law School 

derived in great part from the fact that he 

excelled there. It was as a student at Harvard 

that Frankfurter became enamored of the law 

and cognizant of the contributions he could 

make to it. As H.N. Hirsch writes in his 

critical psychobiography of Frankfurter, “The 

vague image of himself as an intellectual that 

Frankfurter had absorbed from his surround­

ings in New York was concretized at Harvard 

through his worship of the law. The law—as 

taught at Harvard—would become the object 

of his energies, the root of his pride, an 

immensely important source of his self- 
esteem.” 24 By dint of his sheer academic 

accomplishment, Frankfurter exacted a mea­

sure of respect and social acceptance from the 

cream of gentile, Brahmin society. He also 

found important mentors from that world who 

were willing to look past his Jewish, immi­

grant background and to encourage him.25 

When Frankfurter recalled in his memoirs that 

“ the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH arvard Law Review in particular and 

the Harvard Law School in general are to me 

the most complete practices in democracy that 
I have ever known about,” 26 Frankfurter was 

praising both a journal that accepted him as an 

editor regardless of his Jewish faith and an 

institution that he topped academically all

three years he was there. Perceived in this 

light, Frankfurter’s love and gratitude for the 

Harvard Law School—the institution that 

“gave him a chance”— is more easily under­

stood, as is the fierce manner in which he 

upheld its vaunted standards when he himself 

joined its faculty.

Frankfurter learned soon enough after his 

graduation in 1906 that the real world is not 

always a meritocracy. Despite his superior 

academic standing, he did not receive any job 

offers from the distinguished New York law 

firms. Shuttling from office to office after each 

interview, he “was made to feel as though [he] 

were some worm begging for a job.” 27 Anti- 

Semitism had reared its ugly head. Frankfurter 

finally landed a job at a firm that had never 

hired a Jew before—where it was gently 

suggested that he should consider changing 

his name. Within a few weeks, Frankfurter 

had tired of being beholden to his clients, and, 

when an offer arrived from the United States 

Attorney’s Office in Manhattan, he accepted. 

In the fall of 1906, Felix Frankfurter entered 

public service. He would never really leave.

Frankfurter joined the office of Henry L. 

Stimson as an Assistant United States Attor­

ney. These were momentous days in Ameri­

can history, a time when the role of the 

national government was controversially 

being redefined. Taking its lead from Repub­

lican President Theodore Roosevelt’s Pro­

gressive, “ trust-busting” agenda, the U.S. 

Attorney’s Office prosecuted the “moneyed 

interests” of big business for antitrust viola­

tions, as well as for corruption and bribery.28 

These years, particularly under Stimson’s 

leadership, left a tremendous impression on 

Frankfurter and instilled in his mind the 

important role that responsible public servants 

played in the functioning of government, a 

philosophy Frankfurter later tried to pass on to 

his students. The example of his mentor 

Stimson—an austere, high-minded adminis­

trator, himself a graduate of the Harvard Law 

School, who would contribute to public life 

well into the 1940s—was particularly
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instructive; as Frankfurter would recall, “This 

was an incredibly effective and wholly 

scrupulous man . . . I ’m sure he must have 

had a good deal of influence on the exactions I 

make of my young men, what my standards 
are.” 29

When Stimson joined President Taft’s 

cabinet in 1910 as Secretary of War, Frank­

furter followed him to Washington as Law 

Officer of the Bureau of Insular Affairs. The 

next few years were crucial to Frankfurter’s life 

because he formed extensive contacts in the 

nation’s capital that served him for the rest of 

his career. He mingled with high-ranking 

officials in the military. He renewed his 

friendship with Justice Oliver Wendell 

Holmes, Jr., and with Louis D. Brandeis, 

who joined Holmes on the Supreme Court in 

1916. Frankfurter also met a young Assistant 

Secretary of the Navy by the name of Franklin 

Delano Roosevelt. As he revealed in his diary

(an exercise he began in 1911 only because he 

was “ fortunate enough to meet men of rare 

spirit” and felt his experiences “ in such 
encounters deserve[d] to be embalmed” 30), 

Frankfurter was beginning to realize how 

important it was to have a mentor and a wide 

circle of acquaintances in government to have 

any effect on its workings:

Edwards (the head of the Bureau of 

Insular Affairs) . . . regards me as a 

“Stimson man”  and treats me as if  I 

had status. This has more or less 

filtered through and I enjoy the plea­

santest feelings and relations with the 

War Department officials...It makes 

me smile and at times sad, for it  shows 

the necessity of having a status down 

here to have full opportunities for 

effective work and full  utilization of 

the great opportunities of  Washington
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life in the way o f rare m e n wo rth while 

and co ntact with “ the inside.” -’ 1

There would come a time when “Frank­

furter men” capitalized on their status to 

maximize their possibilities in Washington 

and to have contact with “ the inside.”

Notwithstanding the excitement and 

responsibility that government service of­

fered, Frankfurter faced a dilemma in 1912 

when Democrat Woodrow Wilson won 

election to the White House. Though he 

was invited to stay in his position at the 

Bureau of Insular Affairs, Frankfurter was put 

off by the new President—“Wilson didn’ t 

appeal to me man to man ... He believed in 

democracy in the abstract, but didn’ t care for 

people” 32—and found his career at a cross­

road. Louis D. Brandeis, himself a celebrated 

graduate of Harvard Law School, secured for 

his young friend an invitation to join the 

school’s faculty as a full professor in the 

emerging field of administrative law. Tom 

between dissatisfying service in government 

and the cloistered walls of academe, Frank­

furter agonized over the decision and turned to 

his mentors for help. Henry Stimson, who had 

since returned to private practice, strongly 

encouraged his protege to remain in govern­

ment. “You have the greatest facility of 

acquaintance—for keeping in touch with the 

center of things,—for knowing sympatheti­

cally men who are doing and thinking,”  

Stimson wrote in accurate, almost prophetic 

fashion. “ I query whether that most valuable 

faculty would not be to a great extent lost at 
the Law School.” 33 Justice Holmes—who on 

one occasion similarly marveled at Frank­

furter’s uncanny ability to involve himself in 

public affairs by exclaiming that he had “ an 

unimaginable gift of wiggling in wherever he 

wants to!” 34—echoed Stimson’s sentiments. 

He warned Frankfurter that “ [ajcademic life is 

but halflife— it is a withdrawal from the fight 

in order to utter smart things that cost you 

nothing except the thinking of them from a 
cloister . . . ” 35

The decisive factor in Frankfurter’s 

thinking was not the cautious words of his 

mentors, however, but developments under­

way at the Law School itself. Guided by Dean 

Roscoe Pound, Harvard Law School was at 

the epicenter of a new trend in legal education 

emphasizing the application of the law to real- 

life conditions. These thinkers believed that 

the law should be more than a sterile, 

formalistic code of mechanistic rules and 

regulations. Rather, they argued, it should be 

used as a tool for social betterment. In order 

for the law to have a broader social utility  and 

applicability, they contended, it had to 

transcend narrow academic divisions and 

embrace the whole of the social sciences, 

including economics, sociology, and political 

science. In this way, the gulf between 

academy and society could be forded, and 

the law could have practical, real-world effect. 

Pound was the father of a strand of progres­

sive thinking called “sociological jurispru­

dence,” a philosophy he described in a 

seminal 1909 article:

The sociological movement in juris­

prudence, the movement for prag­

matism as a philosophy of law, the 

movement for the adjustment of 

principles and doctrines to the 

human conditions they are to govern 

rather than to assume first principles, 

the movement for putting the human 

factor in the central place and 

relegating logic to its true position 

as an instrument, has scarcely shown 

itself as yet in America.36

Pound recruited faculty to Harvard who 

shared his belief that the law was vital to 

promoting good governance and furthering 

the betterment of the human condition in an 

increasingly complex, industrial society. He 

found an able intellectual kinsman in Felix 

Frankfurter. Indeed, Frankfurter himself 

would declare the need for applying the law 

to evolving social conditions in a 1915 

address before the American Bar Association:
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“We must show the young men the law as an 

instrument, and not an end of organized 

humanity,”  he said. “We make of them clever 

pleaders, but not lawyers, if  they fail to catch 

the glorious vision of the law as a vital agency 

for human betterment.” 37

Accepting Harvard’s offer meant Frank­

furter could combine his talents and aspira­

tions; he could remain active in public affairs 

while still imparting his vision of the law to 

future generations of lawyers. As he wrote 

Stimson in reply, “ I am not a scholar, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAqua 

scholar. On the other hand, I do feel very 

deeply the need...of a definitely conceived 

jurisprudence coordinating sociology and 

economics, [and] I am struck with the big 

public aspect of what should be done by our 

law schools.” 38 Leaning toward taking on the 

professorship, the thirty-year-old Frankfurter 

recorded in his diary the relative merits of the 

“ call to Harvard.”

These ruminations, dated July 5, 1913, 

lend considerable insight into what Frankfurter 

perceived the nation’s needs at this snapshot 

point in time were, and what his function as a 

teacher would be:

[W]e have turned a comer. . . [and] 

there is a noticeable different de­

mand in our national, in our com­

munity life . . . The social passions 

are alive and alert; they now need 

direction ... To be stable, to meet 

our realization of the need and 

capacity for conscious readjust­

ments, requires adequate data, and 

correlated, persistent, prophetic 

thinking. Largely that cannot be 

done by those in office. It must be 

done from the outside . . . There 

should a constant source of thought 

for the guidance of public men and 

the education of public opinion, as 

well as a source of trained men for 

the public life . . . This organized 

thinking must be assumed by our law 

schools, and the most hopeful center,

the rightful leader, is the Harvard law

School . . . The student body would 

carry the day ... I would go in for 

about five years of thinking, not 

cloistered, but in the very current of 

the problems that are the national 

problems of greatest appeal to me ...

[and after five years] I will  still be 

young enough to decide . . . whether 

Boston does impose unnecessary 

limitations to [my] usefulness in 
[public affairs].39

We see in these words several individual 

threads of Frankfurter’s thought weaving 

together to form a loose tapestry, a philosophy 

of government linking the intellectual to the 

needs of society. Frankfurter believed that the 

nation needed “organized thinking”  based on 

“adequate data.” This thinking had to occur 

“outside of office,”  in the nation’s law schools; 

and the “ rightful leader”  in this movement was 

the Harvard Law School. The products of the 

Law School would “carry the day”—they 

were the future administrators of the republic, 

the highly informed experts who would bring 

to life his vision of good, responsible govern­

ment. Indeed, to Frankfurter, the public 

servant, particularly the young lawyer, was 

the very engine of democracy.

It is crucial to understand the role of 

youthful lawyers in Frankfurter’s philosophy 

of government, for it is upon this basis that we 

shall examine his treatment of his students at 

the Law School and during the years of the 

New Deal. In an article he wrote for Fortune 

magazine, Frankfurter cited the political 

philosopher Graham Wallas: “Governments 

have come to be engaged ... in bringing it 

about that right things shall be done... [and] a 

positive government requires a constant 
supply of invention and suggestions.” 40 The 

best way to introduce fresh ideas to govern­

ment, argued Frankfurter, was to direct the 

nation’s finest minds into public service. 

“Administration of a statute . . . depends on 

the quality of its administrator,”  he wrote. “ By
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the ir dis inte re s te d co ntr ibu tio n o f e ne rgy , 

ability , training, and im aginatio n to the p u blic 

s e rvice , hu ndre ds o f y o u ng m e n and wo m e n 

have de m o ns trate d be y o nd do u bt that the  

indis p e ns able s te p fo r im p ro ving the p u blic 

s e rvice lie s in s o m e m e tho d o f ke e p ing a 

co ns tant flo w o f qualified young people 
attracted to it.” 41 Only young, trained experts 

were qualified to unravel the complexities of 

modem government, he believed; these ex­

perts should remain disinterested, apart from 

politics, and wholly devoted to advising 

elected officials, while faithfully, yet inde­

pendently, administering these representa­
tives’ enactments.42 Frankfurter saw that the 

government as an employer was at a 

disadvantage to private industry in attracting 

the finest young minds: “Government cannot 

compete with private employers for the most 

desirable recruits through the ordinary in­

ducements. The best of the annual crop of the 

good law schools ... will  normally be offered 

places in the greatest private law offices of 

New York . . . with promises of immediate 

professional opportunity that are exceedingly 

alluring.” 43 Thus it was the duty of law 

schools—and the law professors—to capture 

the imagination of these brilliant minds, 

recruit them for government service, and 

guide them toward furthering the public good. 

“ From [this] might come, ten or fifteen years 

later, the mature leaders of public affairs in 
their generation.” 44

Frankfurter’s resolute belief, inspired by 

the British system, that a disinterested, 

professionalized civil service was critical to 

the functioning of American democracy led 

him to accept the Harvard professorship, and 

motivated him to stay at the Law School to 

continue this task even when the status and 

power associated with a high position in 

government beckoned. When in 1919, after 

having spent two years on academic leave to 

serve as Chairman of the War Labor Policies 

Board, Frankfurter was offered a position at 

the newly established New School for Social 

Research (which would have permitted him

the flexibility  to become further involved in 

government), he declined. As he wrote his 

close friend Herbert Croly, “The opportunity 

of influencing year by year the dominant 

minds in the legal profession” was a “very 

strong affirmative” reason to return to Cam­

bridge.45 In 1932, Frankfurter was recom­

mended for a seat on the Massachusetts 

Supreme Judicial Court, but he turned that 

down, too, writing the governor that “against 

the opportunities for immediate achievement 

on the bench, the long-term effects of legal 

education make their claim.” He continued, 

“The Future direction of bar and bench will  

be determined by the quality of our law 

schools . . . This work must go forward, and I 

cannot bring myself to believe that I should 

prematurely abandon my share in it, however 

great and honorable the opportunity you offer 
me.. .” 46 The next year, Frankfurter declined a 

similar offer from President Roosevelt to 

become Solicitor General, citing again, 

among other reasons, his commitment to his 

students.47

Felix Frankfurter believed his role as a 

teacher was to initiate the brightest minds to 

the wonders of the law and to the satisfaction 

of public service. This was an attitude tied 

intimately to his philosophy of responsive 

democratic government that, nonetheless, 

would be staffed and manned by unelected 

elites; it was an attitude that also permitted 

him to combine his twin passions of academ­

ics and policy. Frankfurter’s years with Henry 

Stimson acquainted him to the power politics 

of Washington, D.C., and led him to believe 

that government had an obligation to serve as 

a positive force for human betterment. His 

intellectual sympathies with Roscoe Pound 

led him to believe that scientific study and its 

application to law (and society) were what 

were needed in the nation’s law schools, 

particularly its shimmering jewel, the Harvard 
Law School.48 Frankfurter’s philosophy that 

an educated civil  service was indispensable to 

national life defined his academic career. He 

wrote Franklin Roosevelt in 1937, near the
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e nd o f his twenty-five-year tenure at Harvard, 

that his “predominant interest” at the Law 

School had been “ the promotion of public 

service as a permanent career for the nation’s 

best abilities.” 49 Frankfurter’s aspirations to 

train an enlightened public elite were genuine 

enough. But his techniques for molding 

these men—and his treatment of them once 

trained—presents a different issue altogether.

FELI X FRANKFURTER THE TEACHER

Felix Frankfurter began teaching classes 

at his alma mater in the fall of 1914. His 

avowed intent as a professor was to instill in 

his students an interest in public service, and, 

from his earliest days, he began collecting 

recruits for his crusade. Frankfurter attracted 

disciples through a variety of means: a

stimulating, unorthodox teaching style; an 

ability to make his most brilliant students 

perform even better, often by treating them 

differently than their peers; a reputation for 

having powerful friends in high places; 

magnanimity; and, perhaps most importantly, 

personality.

Frankfurter’s teaching techniques re­

flected his progressive outlook on legal 

education. He assigned unconventional read­

ings—newspaper articles and journal articles 

ranging across all fields— in addition to the 

usual casebooks, illustrating his belief that the 

law had to have practical utility  and be studied 
in social context.50 Frankfurter de-empha- 

sized the formal aspects of pedagogy, focus­

ing instead on imparting to his students a 

passion for the subject matter at hand. His 

lectures were often disorganized, and he had a 

terrible time sticking to a syllabus; one student

F ran k fu rte r ’s  teach in g  tech n iq u es  a t  H arvard  L aw  S ch o o l (ab o ve ) re flec ted  h is  p ro g ress ive  o u tlo o k  o n  leg a l ed u ca tio nIHGFEDCBA 

b u t h is lec tu res w ere o ften d iso rg an ized . H e ass ig n ed u n co n ven tio n a l read in g s— n ew sp ap er artic les an d  jo u rn a l 

artic les ran g in g  acro ss  a ll fie ld s— in  ad d itio n to  th e  u su a l caseb o o ks , illu s tra tin g  h is  b e lie f  th a t th e  law  h ad  to  h ave  

p rac tica l u tility  an d b e s tu d ied in so c ia l co n tex t.
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re calle d that Frankfu rte r’s p u blic u tilitie s 

co u rs e was nicknam e d the “Case-of-the- 

Month Club” because it proceeded at about 
that pace.51 Frankfurter’s classes may have 

seemed disorganized, but he was capturing his 

students’ imagination—and their adulation. 

He peppered his remarks with entertaining 

personal tidbits about the great men of the 

day; and he employed the Socratic method, 

which compelled students to match wits with 

their brilliant professor and ensured that each 

class would be exciting. As Erwin Griswold 

recalled, “Frankfurter conducted one course at 

the Harvard Law School called Public Utili ­

ties, and two novel seminars, one in Federal 

Jurisdiction and the other in Administrative 

Law. All  of these, however, were essentially 

courses in Frankfurter—or perhaps more accu­
rately, in being stimulated by Frankfurter.” 52 

Professor Frankfurter regularly sat in the back 

of the classroom and heckled his students, 

forcing them to defend their arguments and, 

often, their very core principles.53 Eventually, 

his students realized that this was more 

important a legal education than any other. 

What Frankfurter’s classes lacked in formal 

instruction, they more than made up in passion 

and excitement. As Ernest J. Brown, a 

Frankfurter student, recalled years later, 

“ [S]lowly—innocents that we were—came 

some measure of awareness ... of what was 

happening to us and of the excitement that 

awareness brought with it. We were gaining 

some measure of  understanding of  law that both 

reflected and shaped a nation’s growth . . . 

Above all, we gained a sense of function 

and responsibility in the profession we had 
chosen.” 54 Students at Harvard had never 

experienced anything quite like the teaching 

methods of Felix Frankfurter, and many of 

them, consequently, became fascinated with 

and devoted to him.

Frankfurter attracted disciples also by 

picking the very best to attend his classes. He 

was often a dynamic teacher, but he was 

choosy upon whom he bestowed his favors. 

Frankfurter certainly played favorites, embar­

rassing those who asked pedestrian questions 

in his lecture courses, sometimes scornfully 
ignoring them altogether?5 As one of his 

students later recalled, “There were no 

neutrals about Felix. You either thought the 

sun rose and set down his neck; or you 
despised him.” 56 Even a future Supreme 

Court Justice found himself excluded from 

among the professor’s circle of favorites: As 

Harry Blackmun once said, “Felix would get 

five or six students whom he liked, put them in 

the front row, and carry on a Socratic dialogue 

with them. Those of us in the outer circle 

thought he was pretty arrogant.” 57 Frankfurter 

saw nothing wrong with his intellectual 

snobbery. To the contrary, he almost certainly 

saw himself as simply carrying on the 

traditions of one of his own mentors, James 

Barr Ames, a legendary Harvard instructor 

and dean who conducted classes “chiefly by 

means of Socratic dialogues between himself 

and fifteen or twenty of the best students who 

formed, so to speak, a Greek chorus.” 58 

Indeed, Frankfurter believed his duty at 

Harvard was to produce the nation’s future 

leaders, and he had no time to suffer those he 

regarded as fools. He was wont to cite John 

Stuart Mill ’s dictum that “mediocrity ought 

not to be engaged in the affairs of the state.” 59 

As Frankfurter himself once memorably 

wrote, “Law schools must limit the range of 

what we do so that everything we do will  be 

of first-rate quality.” To Frankfurter, of 

course, Harvard symbolized first-rate, merit­

ocratic quality, and the best Harvard men 

were especially suited to become public 

elites.

While Frankfurter taught introductory 

lecture course in public utilities and criminal 

law during his early years at Harvard, by 1922 

he was teaching only third year and graduate 
students.60 During his senior years on the 

faculty, Frankfurter perfected the seminar 

format; he was the only professor to announce 

in the course catalog that his advanced courses 

were “open only to students of high standing 

with the consent of the instructor.” 61 To be
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p icke d to atte nd a Frankfu rte r s e m inar be cam e 

a m ark o f dis tinctio n am o ng Harvard m e n. In 

the wo rds o f Ro s co e Po u nd, in the s e y e ars 

Frankfu rte r “developed fully his power of 

teaching the individual student.”  His seminars 

“ took on something of the character of 
Socrates’s ‘ thinking shop.’” 62 While Frank­

furter undoubtedly limited enrollment in his 

classes in order to create a sense of 

exclusivity, this exclusivity, in Frankfurter’s 

mind, served a larger purpose: embodying his 

long-held concerns about the “curse of 

bigness,”  these restricted-enrollment seminars 

focusing on cutting edge topics in public law 

represented a protest against what one 

historian has described as the “alienating 
forces of mass education during the 1920s,” 63 

as professional schools like Harvard Law 

School grew larger and larger to accommo­

date the needs of a rapidly expanding private 

economy. Even so, if  Frankfurter conceived 

of himself as standing apart from the Law

School’s increasingly corporate focus, his 

teaching methods reinforced certain emerging 

trends in legal education that in the long run 

proved quite damaging to HLS’s reputation. 

The single-minded focus on grades (and the 

cosmic significance accorded to even the 
finest distinctions between them);64 the 

intense competition to be elected to the 

editorial board of the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH arvard Law Review 

(and the deification of the select few who 

made it); and the other moving parts of the 

“machinery of academic meritocracy” that 

Frankfurter had found so liberating as a 

student, were, by the time he became a 

teacher, already giving rise to the “humilia­

tion, anxiety, [and] rancorous competition 

among students” that marred the Law 

School’s image for much of the latter half 
of the 20th century.65 In any event, the hand- 

selected few who were privileged to partake in 

Frankfurter’s intellectual jousting sessions 

felt forever grateful to their mentor.



9 0ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJO U R N A L  O F S U P R E M E C O U R T H IS T O R Y zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

The re we re als o co ncre te re as o ns why 

Frankfu rte r’s favo r ite s be cam e be ho lde n to 

him . A m an with e xte ns ive co ntacts in the 

p r ivate s e cto r as we ll as in go ve rnm e nt, 

Frankfu rte r was a one-man employment 

agency, recommending his best students to 

friends in New York and Washington. The 

highest prize was a judicial clerkship with 

Justice Holmes or Justice Brandeis, both of 

whom relied exclusively on Frankfurter to 

supply them with assistants. (Justice Cardozo, 

too, relied upon Frankfurter to select some of 

his clerks). While Frankfurter has been 

remembered for packing his students in the 

New Deal, in fact he began recommending 

bright young men as early as 1910, during his 

days with Stimson. Frankfurter’s ability to 

stay “near the center of things” kept him 

apprised of the demand and supply of various 

job opportunities, and in time he developed 

a reputation as, in the words of a 1936 edito­

rial in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAFortune magazine, “ the most famous 

legal employment service in America.” 66 

Naturally, Frankfurter’s legendary influence 

attracted the ambitious: as David Lilienthal, 

later a prominent New Dealer, wrote his father 

upon arriving at Harvard, “ [Frankfurter] is a 

man . . . [whom] I consider very important. .. 

I plan to take his course in Public Utilities . . . 

and thus come to know him better.” 67

Frankfurter was equally magnanimous in 

academic matters, which further endeared him 

to his favorites. He personally contacted friends 

in the corporate world to arrange for research 

scholarships for his pet students. While 

Frankfurter stated that the explicit purpose of 

the research fellowships was to “attract men to 

law teaching, to further legal scholarship, and to 

afford men with scholarly tastes, but drawn to 

practice, an opportunity for postgraduate legal 

training,” 68 in fact the funds paid for a 

Frankfurter favorite to remain an extra year 

with his mentor on the premise that the student 

would derive “ a great deal from [his] freer and 
more intimate association” 69 with Frankfurter. 

The professor, for his part, proved more than 

generous in rewarding his students for their

exertions. In his annual letter to the research 

fellowship’s benefactors, Frankfurter proudly 

listed the publications “directly traceable” to 

the possibilities opened up by the fund, and 

invariably, nearly all of the articles featured as 

the authors, “ Frankfurter and” a fellowship 

recipient.70 Frankfurter claimed that offering a 

young student co-authorship of a law review 

article when “ the canons of literary ethics 

would have been satisfied with a prefatory 
acknowledgement” 71 encouraged the young 

scholarto turn his attention to legal research and 

public affairs, and away from private practice. 

Left unsaid was the fact that it also elicited the 

student’s gratitude, and identified him forever 

as a “Frankfurter man.”  “ Felix was the world’s 

most generous person in giving credit lines,”  

Adrian Fisher told Frankfurter’s biographer. 

“ [I]t ’s probably true that... I spent probably 

about four times as much [time on the article] 

as he did. On the other hand, when the article 

got through, I was after all one year out of 

law school, and he was quite an experienced 
professor.” 72 Though Frankfurter always 

stoutly insisted that he tolerated only those 

students who thought independently, his 

academic magnanimity did amount to much 

more than mere intellectual midwifery. His 

students’ work bore the mark of his mentor­

ship, even when his name was not attached as 
co-author.73 For example, the graduate 

thesis of James Landis—the first recipient of 

Frankfurter’s research fellowship and the man 

whom Frankfurter, late in life, referred to as his 

dearest student at Harvard74—closely resem­

bled an opinion piece the professor had written 

for The N ew Republic. One friend even 

commended Landis on the “ felixity ” of his 
style!75

Throughout the 1920s and early 1930s, 

the student members of Frankfurter’s select 

seminars found their work published, often in 

the pages of the H arvard Law Review , often 

under their own names.76 These articles were 

in many ways the fruit of Frankfurter’s labor. 

Indeed, Frankfurter nearly always suggested 
topics for his students to work on.77 And,
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while this was hardly u nu s u al in the way o f 

ty p ical te ache r/s tu de nt re latio ns hip s , what 

was u nu s u al was the p u blic atte ntio n and 

wide circu latio n that the s e ar ticle s re ce ive d in 

re p u table journals. Moreover, the articles 

themselves often were path-breaking works 

in the emerging fields of federal jurisdiction 

and administrative law. “This distinguished 

scholarship in collaboration with younger 

men suggested] what may well [have been] 

[Frankfurter’s] greatest long-run contribution 

to law reform.” 78 And with good reason: for, 

as Bruce Allen Murphy has documented, 

throughout these years Justice Brandeis kept 

up an active correspondence with Frankfurter 

in which he suggested research topics for his 

friend’ s able students. “ [A] number of 

Brandeis’s letters to Frankfurter during this 

period offered suggestions for . . . articles in 

legal periodicals and included the necessary 

evidence drawn from the behind-the-scenes 

negotiations of the justices on the Supreme 

Court,” 79 writes Murphy. In this way, 

Frankfurter’s students became converts to, 

and unwitting foot soldiers of, his and 

Brandeis’ crusade to bring their philosophy 

of law to life.

And, despite all of Frankfurter’s talk 

about “disinterested” and “objective” aca­

demic work, his intellectual agenda was 

keenly political. As Edward A. Purcell, Jr., 

has observed, The Business of the Supreme 

C o u r t — the classic book on the role of the 

federal courts that Frankfurter and James 

Landis published in 1928, marking the 

culmination of years of work on these 

issues—“was not simply an academic mono­

graph. It was also a carefully designed 

political instrument” that “used history in 

the same way that a long line of progressive 

social critics... had used it—to denigrate the 

authority of tradition and replace it with the 
promise of science.” 80 Indeed, basically all of 

the scholarship that Frankfurter and his young 

research associates produced in these years 

embraced “a reformist jurisprudential positiv­

ism that assumed the benevolent regulatory

power of government, . . . undermined the 

jurisdictional status quo, stressed the need for 

innovative problem solving, and provided 

ostensibly ‘neutral’ and ‘professional’ support 

for a series of progressive judicial reforms 
that Frankfurter hoped to see adopted.” 81 

Throughout the 1920s, in other words, 

Frankfurter’s students—under the guise of 

dry, technical legal scholarship—helped their 

mentor promote an indisputably political 

agenda aimed at “constraining the reach of 

the conservative Supreme Court, limiting the 

ability of corporate litigants to exploit federal 

jurisdiction, . . . expanding substantially the 

issues on which the lower federal courts 

would defer to state courts,” and advancing 
other core Progressive goals.82 While their 

priorities and policy prescriptions eventually 

changed as the political and economic 

climate shifted around them, Frankfurter 

and his disciples used these years to lay the 

groundwork for the intellectual and policy- 

oriented partnerships that would bear full  

fruit during the New Deal. In doing so, these 

young men earned considerable reputations 

for themselves, thanks not only to their 

individual abilities, but also to the intellectual 

influence and academic magnanimity of their 

mentor.

Perhaps the greatest single factor that 

attracted disciples to Frankfurter, however, 

was his sparkling, indefatigable personality. 

To the childless Frankfurter, these young men 

were more than students; they became family. 

On Sunday afternoons he hosted teas at his 

home on Brattle Street in Cambridge to which 

he invited his favorites, welcoming them to 

his household as equals to the other Harvard 

faculty luminaries and statesmen who regu­

larly attended. Frankfurter was at his best 

around youngsters. “ I ’m having a happy time 

of it here,”  he wrote Henry Stimson in 1914. 
“ [My students] are an inspirational lot.” 83 

Recalled Isaiah Berlin of the year Frankfurter 

spent as a visiting professor at Oxford: “He 

talked copiously with an overflowing gaiety 

and spontaneity which conveyed the
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im p re s s io n o f gre at natu ral sweetness;... the 

young men were charmed and exhilarated, 

and stayed up talking with him until the early 

hours of the morning.” 84 Edward F. Prichard, 

Jr., a “happy hot dog”  who was only a college 

student the first time he encountered Professor 

Frankfurter, observed: “ We immediately got 

into a relationship where virtually all the 

barriers were down at once ... He was 

bouncy, very ebullient and would stride up 

and down with his short legs, talking and 

effervescing all the time ... We screamed and 

shouted at one another, not in controversy but

in agreement and delight.” 85 Perhaps James 

Landis stated it best when, after living with 

Frankfurter through the summer of 1925 

researching, writing, philosophizing, eating, 

drinking, and playing tennis with his mentor, 

he wrote a friend: “ I suppose I ’m nearing 

more and more each day the brink of pure 
idolatry.” 86

Frankfurter was fully aware of his 

abilities to attract the young. As he declared 

in his memoirs, “ I happen to have a penchant 

for relations, good relations, warm relations 

with young men who were [my] students.” 87
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He was de e p ly and p e rs o nally invo lve d in his 

fo rm e r s tu de nts’ live s , u nu s u ally s o , p e rhap s , 

fo r m o s t facu lty m e m be rs . As he wro te to 

Jam e s Landis u p o n the latte r’s ap p o intm e nt as 

de an o f the Harvard Law Scho o l (a position 

Frankfurter did not feel his former student 

should accept), “ I have to tell you that I was 

not one of those who urged your appointment 

as Dean . . . But you also know what the 

School means to me, and how deeply I care for 
your welfare . . ,” 88 When Charles Wyzanski, 

later a distinguished federal judge, lost his first 

case, Professor Frankfurter sent an encourag­

ing note: “You may have heard me express a 

favorite foolish notion of mine that it is good 

for a lawyer to lose his first case ... I know 

you assimilate experience, and I know how 
wisely you will assimilate this.” 89 Over 

twenty-five years later, when Henry Friendly, 

a newly minted judge on the Second Circuit, 

was forced to vacate the opinion he had 

written in the very first case he had heard, due 

to an oversight in considering his court’s 

jurisdiction, Justice Frankfurter sent his 

former student a comforting letter. “ I thought 

it was invigorating for a lawyer to lose his first 

case,” wrote the Justice. “ [And] [ajfter 

coming down here I decided that it was a 

healthy experience for a judge very early in 

his career to stub his toe by reasonably enough 

relying on a solid assumption without sub­
jecting it to critical examination.” 90 An 

embarrassed Friendly sent his mentor a 

grateful response, thanking him for his 
“ note of consolation.” 91

Frankfurter’s deep personal interest in his 

proteges often led him to meddle in their lives. 

He wielded the power to secure them jobs and 

determine their life course; and on occasion he 

overstepped his bounds. One example was 

Mark DeWolfe Howe. Frankfurter compelled 

Howe, a talented researcher, to spend years 

writing the definitive biography of Oliver 

Wendell Holmes, Jr., against Howe’s wishes. 

Frankfurter then pushed Howe to move to the 

University of Buffalo to serve as dean of its 

law school—again against the younger man’s

wishes. “ [Frankfurter] loved his proteges, but 

he also owned them,”  observed Howe’s wife. 

“ It was very bad for Mark . . . There was a 

sweet side to Felix’s paternalism, but he 

didn’ t care whether what he wanted was good 
for [his students].” 92 Stella Landis, too, 

sensed Frankfurter’s control over her hus­

band, telling him, “ I don’ t think [Frankfurter] 

likes you to do anything he hasn’ t a hand 
in.” 93 Indeed, Frankfurter was not pleased 

when his favorites went off on their own, 

against his wishes. Thomas Corcoran—who 

Frankfurter once told Holmes was “ one of the 

most delightful and sweetest lads I ’ve ever 
had” 94—was, for a time, Franklin Roosevelt’s 

right-hand man, and Frankfurter’s most 

famous and influential protege. He was 

also directly responsible for helping secure 

Frankfurter’s appointment to the Supreme 

Court.95 As the New Deal years progressed, 

however, the two men became increasingly 

estranged as Corcoran outgrew “ his student- 

professor relationship with Frankfurter,”  and 

as they clashed over growing personal and 

philosophical differences, including over the 

role that America should play in the looming 
European crisis.96 By 1941, when Corcoran 

asked Justice Frankfurter to recommend him 

to Roosevelt to fill the vacant Solicitor 

Generalship, their break was complete; 

Frankfurter not only refused to endorse 

Corcoran, but in fact wrote Roosevelt a 

letter stating that “Tom lacks mental health 

just now . . . [and could inflict] serious 
damage to the present national effort.” 97 

Tommy Corcoran, needless to say, did not 

become Solicitor General, and the two 
men never spoke again.98 The student who 

crossed Felix Frankfurter, however beloved, 

could expect to feel the repercussions of his 

actions.

The Corcoran episode is illustrative of 

two aspects of Frankfurter the teacher’ s 

personality. First, Frankfurter attracted the 

brightest students through a variety of means, 

and he clearly loved his best students in 

return, seeing himself as a dominating, father­
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like p re s e nce in the ir lives." He hesitated to 

permit his proteges to escape from his orbit. 

He took such a proprietary interest in them 

that he had difficulty regarding them as 

anything other than his students. This led 

some to chafe under his excessive interfering. 

As a close friend of Corcoran’s and another 

now middle-aged Frankfurter favorite, Ben­

jamin Cohen, once reputedly exclaimed, 

“Felix is incapable of having adult relation­
ships!” 100 Frankfurter’s relationship with 

these younger men was that of a “sponsor,” 101 

and this was a role that—for better or for 

worse—he could never fully escape. Frank­

furter’s inability to do so no doubt inflicted, at 

times, a psychological and emotional price; 

but as John D. French, one of Frankfurter’s 

last law clerks (whose relationship with the 

Justice accordingly differed from those 

proteges who were closer to him in age) 

once reflected, these ruptures could be seen 

more in terms of love and attachment, rather 

than through the lens of betrayal and 

vindictiveness:

[Frankfurter] felt strongly about 

ideas and about people. If ideas 

were his life, people were his joy. He 

gave love abundantly and reveled in 

the success and happiness of those 

he loved. Sometimes his fond wishes 

for them gave rise to unjustified 

expectations as to their prospects for 

achievement, and their failure to 

attain anticipated heights was a bitter 

disappointment to him. Because of 

the intensity of feelings, such dis­

appointments sometimes led to criti­
cal overreaction.102

Second, Frankfurter’s treatment of Cor­

coran also suggests how deep-seated was his 

belief that his students should shun partisan 

excess and try to fulfill  his ideal of an 

enlightened, apolitical administrative elite— 

for, personal differences aside, one of the 

principal reasons that Frankfurter had so

vigorously opposed his former protege’s 

appointment as Solicitor General was that 

“Corcoran was seen as simply too political for 
the job.” 103 While Frankfurter taught that 

government service and policymaking were 

inseparable, he did not approve of his 

students’ deviating from his austere vision 

of what the public servant’s function was in 

the liberal administrative state. That Frank­

furter himself strayed from this ideal was a 

fact that the professor, rather conveniently, 

overlooked.

The liberal administrative state, long the 

object of Frankfurter’s philosophical affec­

tions, became a reality in 1933, upon the 

inauguration of Franklin Roosevelt as Presi­

dent. Roosevelt’s rise to power heralded, 

Frankfurter recalled in his memoirs, an era of 

“great expansion of governmental activity 

[and] the need for lawyers.” 104 The New Deal, 

in other words, promised to combine the two 

themes that had long animated Frankfurter’s 

life: the idea of positive, responsive govern­

ment and the need for a highly trained civil  

service. An activist all his life, there was little 

doubt that Felix Frankfurter would involve 

himself in the workings of the New Deal in 

any way he could.

FELI X FRANKFURTER AND THE 
NEW DEAL

Felix Frankfurter’s contributions to the 

New Deal are wide ranging—and well- 
documented.105 They were, at once, manifest 

and intangible. Frankfurter was one of the 

New Deal’s intellectual architects as well as 

one of its most accomplished draftsmen of 

policy—yet he had no legislative portfolio or 

any official position in the Roosevelt Admin­

istration. Aspects of the movement’s philo­

sophical aims and many of its concrete 

enactments bear the stamp of his direct 

influence. In addition, Frankfurter was the 

New Deal’s principal recruiting agent. He 

placed his proteges in all levels of
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go ve rnm e nt, and consequently his vision was 

carried forth, albeit indirectly, by his able 

lieutenants. “We have got to cross-fertilize 

between the laboratory of thinking and its 

application to life,” he once told Roscoe 

Pound. “ I resent more and more [the] shallow 
dichotomy between ‘ theory and practice.’” 106 

Frankfurter had dedicated his teaching career 

to linking the academic study of the law to the 

practical aspects of government. The New 

Deal was in many ways the embodiment and 

culmination of Frankfurter’s life work.

“ [I]t is the conventional wisdom in 

Washington,” Joseph Lash has written, “ that 
to be out of sight is to be out of mind.” 107 The 

question of how a professor based at Harvard 

could exert any influence over affairs in the 

nation’s capital is, however, in Frankfurter’s 

case, relatively simple to answer. Frankfurter 

directed a life ’ s worth of energy and experi­

ence into his involvements with the New 

Deal. He was the nation’ s leading expert on 

administrative law, and the New Deal was 

nothing but Frankfurter’s law lectures brought 

to life. Furthermore, Frankfurter was a man 

who accumulated friendships over the course 

of a long career in public service. “ Felix 
collects people,” 108 Harold Laski once mem­

orably said, and Frankfurter counted among 

his closest friends in Washington the Presi­

dent of the United States. In fact, Frankfurter 

was President Roosevelt’s confidant and 

tireless correspondent/advisor; the editor of 

their correspondence has written that “ there 

was nothing in American history that quite 

resembled this [relationship] between a 
President and a law professor . . ,” 10

Frankfurter had Roosevelt’s ear, but then 

so did many others: Roosevelt’s style of 

leadership was to solicit counsel from many 

people simultaneously, then to synthesize the 
advice into a single course of action.110 

Frankfurter’s correspondence with Roosevelt 

is littered with proposed legislation, drafts of 

speeches, and recommendations for action. 

Some of these the President used; others he 

did not. Thus while Frankfurter’s direct

influence on the New Deal is evident and 

extensive, the precise degree of power he 

wielded at the highest levels of administration 

is difficult to distinguish. It was in the lower 

levels of government that the professor truly 

left his mark.

Frankfurter spent his life training an elite 

pool of public servants, and, now that the 

opportunity presented itself, he made sure his 

disciples went to work. The early days of the 

New Deal, the time of greatest government 

expansion and recruitment, were critical, and 

Frankfurter did not stand idly by. He 

communicated with his friends in power, 

the same men who had been asking him for 

advice on personnel matters for years. “ [They] 

were contemporaries of mine,” recalled 

Frankfurter, “men I ’d known who had been 

my friends, or were out and had been formerly 

students, and now themselves were heads of 

agencies and what not. [Soliciting my advice] 

was the most natural thing in the world, and it 

so happened that there came to be a 

considerable percentage of Harvard Law 

School men on the legal staffs, among 
government lawyers.” 111

Frankfurter’s characterization of his own 

role is too modest. He was more than a mere 

consultant. In fact, he actively sought jobs for 

his former students (and others), and once 

they had been employed, badgered them to 

hire even more of his proteges. The example 

of Charles Wyzanski, as described by histori­

an Nelson Dawson, is typical:

In the middle of April [1933]

Frankfurter began his effort to get

Charles Wyzanski appointed solici­

tor of the Labor Department . . . 

Frankfurter, however, not only had 

to sell [Secretary of Labor] Perkins 

to Wyzanski, he also had to sell 

Wyzanski on the job, assuring 

him that he was “ just the man for 

the job.”  ... In the summer of 1933 

[after Wyzanski had been confirmed], 

Frankfurter suggested some possible
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labo r m e diato rs , co nclu ding, “ if  the 

foregoing names are of the kind that 

interest the Secretary... I shall be glad 

from time to time, if  others occur to 

me, to send them on.” . . . [T]hree 

days later, Frankfurter sent him a list 
of 147 names!112

In this way, Frankfurter placed his 

students throughout the executive agencies 

and the administration. On his way to England 

in September 1933 for an academic year at 

Oxford, he hurriedly cabled President Roo­

sevelt from his ship: “LANDIS HAS 

UNIQUE EQUIPMENT FOR FAIR EFFEC­

TIVE ADMINISTRATION DURING CRU­
CIAL MONTHS.” 113 James Landis was 

indeed appointed to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC), and later 

chaired it. Frankfurter similarly prevailed on 

Roosevelt to entrust Tommy Corcoran with 

various responsibilities in the administration 

(this, of course, before their break), and 

Corcoran—a man of legendary influence 

himself, who earned the nickname of “The 

Fixer”—kept his mentor abreast of the gossip 

and job vacancies circulating around the 

capital. Despite his absence from the scene, 

Frankfurter was able to keep his finger on the 

pulse of goings-on in Washington through his 

extensive network of former students.114

Representative of this mutually benefi­

cial relationship is a fascinating set of 

letters, unearthed by John Q. Barrett, 

between Professor Frankfurter and David 

Ginsburg, a young graduate of the Harvard 

Law School whom Frankfurter, in 1935, 

placed in the SEC’s General Counsel’ s 

Office. There, Ginsburg worked alongside 

Ben Cohen, Tommy Corcoran, and others, 

to defend the constitutionality of the Public 

Utility  Holding Company Act (PUHCA), a 

centerpiece of New Deal reform legislation 

that facilitated the regulation of electric 

utilities. Challenges to the legislation 

reached the Supreme Court in 1938. In a 

lengthy, gossipy letter dated February 12 of

that year, Ginsburg provided his mentor 

with a blow-by-blow account of the oral 

argument in the case, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAE lectr ic Bond &  Share 
C orp., Inc. v. SEC ,'15 along with a detailed, 

behind-the-scenes description of the per­

sonalities involved. At the end of the 

letter—and of particular relevance here— 

Ginsburg inserted the following:

[. ..] I ’m glad [the litigation over the 

PUHCA] [is] over. During the past 

12 weeks I ’ve lost as many pounds, 

and almost all of my friends. I ’m 

eager to get back to the untroubled 

comfort of a nice, warm rut.

I ’ve said nothing about the results of 

our protracted conversation last 

week [about new job possibilities], 

for I assume that one of the others 

has written to you or spoken with 

you. Suffice it to say that you were 

right, and that your caution pre­

vented a good deal of heartbreak.

If  [Robert H.] Jackson [who led the 

government’s defense of the 

PUHCA] is confirmed [as Solicitor 

General], and I believe that he will  

be, there may be an opening in the 

SG’s office. If  you have time, and at 

your convenience, I should be 

grateful for your opinion.

[/s/Dave]116

Nearly two weeks later, Professor Frank­

furter responded:

Dear Dave Ginsburg:

Though it is still very early in 1938,1 

have no doubt whatever that your 

historic account of Ben [Cohen]’s 

argument. . . will  turn out to be the 

best letter I have had during the year.

I am very grateful to you for the 

generosity which led you to give me 

such a detailed literary masterpiece 

and for the imagination which
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re alize d ho w gre atly e age r I was fo r  

all the nu ance s and the u nde rcu r­

rents. But not only am I grateful, 

others are too with whom I discreetly 

ventured to share it.

That Ben’s argument was a triumph 

not only of masterful preparation 

and masterly execution, but also 

triumph of his temperament and his 

generalship in leading a whole 

company of intellects into action,

I have no doubt, not only from your 

own authoritative conveyance but 

from the impressions of disinter­

ested judges. I can only say I 

envy you the excitement of the 

experience, its intellectual and 

whimsical satisfactions.

[• ••]

An experience like that has its great 

disadvantage in that one cannot 

always live in high altitudes. But 

rhythm is the law of life, and wise 

men absorb the let-downs as well as 

the exhaltations. Moreover, the work 

you are doing, though not immersed 

in the sauce of great drama from day 

to day, has its own significance to 

your seeing eye.

As for the S.G’s office, I will  talk 

with Paul [Freund] about you and it 

when he comes up here.

With all good wishes,

Very sincerely yours,

[/s/ Felix Frankfurter]117

This exchange of letters, in many ways, 

exemplified the complex, multivalent relation­

ship between Frankfurter and his “happy hot 

dogs.” The younger man—who owed his 

position in government to his mentor—provid­

ed the older man, who was outside of the scene,

with a detailed account of what had taken place 

during a period of high drama in the evolution of 

the New Deal state. The older man, in turn, 

thanked his protege for his “detailed literary 

masterpiece,” complete with “ all the nuances 

and the undercurrents.”  And, by suggesting that 

he had “discreetly” shared Ginsburg’s letter 

with other (presumably important) people, 

Frankfurter subtly puffed up the young man’s 

self-confidence, encouraging him to send more 

letters. But there also was, in Frankfurter’s 

words, an equally subtle quality of condescen­

sion: the professor conveyed the clear message, 

for instance, that he already had heard about the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
E lectr ic Bond oral argument from others—and 

not just any others, but “disinterested judges,”  

that is, the very decision-makers in whose hands 

the fate of the litigation ultimately rested. (Note, 

too, Frankfurter’s conscious use of the word 

“disinterested,”  which preserved his self-image 

as someone above the partisan fray—even as he 

admitted, in so many words, to an astonishing 

breach of ethics, namely, discussing a pending 

case with a judge, most likely Justice Brandeis 

or Justice Stone). Less subtle was the observa­

tion that Ginsburg’s work, “ though not im­

mersed in the sauce of great drama from day to 

day,”  was nonetheless “significan[t]” ; and that 

Ginsburg himself was simply one among a 

“whole company of intellects” under Ben 

Cohen’s able generalship.

Ginsburg, for his part, clearly had an 

additional, if  not an ulterior motive in sending 

Frankfurter this letter: trying to climb up the 

next rung in his career by securing a coveted 

job as an assistant to the Solicitor General. 

Frankfurter responded openly and candidly 

to this request, stating that he would bring 

the matter up with another protege he 

already had placed in the S.G.’s Office, 

Paul Freund.118

It is important to identify the forces and 

motivations at work here; and yet, to evaluate 

the Ginsburg-Frankfurter correspondence 

solely in cynically instrumental terms is also 

to miss the point. For, in reading Ginsburg’s 

letter, one cannot help but appreciate the
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e xcite m e nt this y o u ng m an, s o e ar ly in his 

care e r, fe lt in p articip ating p e rs o nally in s u ch 

m o m e nto u s e ve nts , and in de s cr ibing the s e 

e ve nts to the m an who had m ade it all 

p o s s ible . Frankfu rte r , in tu rn, p lainly to o k 

gre at p r ide in his p ro te ge’s acco m p lis hm e nts , 

taking tim e o u t o f his bu s y s che du le to write a 

p e rs o nal no te o f e nco u rage m e nt to a m an 

thir ty y e ars y o u nge r than he , and fo ndly 

e xp re s s ing his vicar io u s “excitement of the 

experience.” Each man may have been 

subtly manipulating the other in one degree 

or another, but the fundamental sincerity of 

the underlying personal bond cannot be 

denied.

Frankfurter’s ability to place his students 

in the Roosevelt administration and New Deal 

agencies naturally led some to speculate about 

the depth of his influence over his proteges, 

branding him as a ‘“ patriarchal sorcerer’ who 

cast dark spells of magic over the admin­
istration’s young lawyers.” 119 Those critical 

of Frankfurter—conservatives, anti-Semites, 

and opponents within Roosevelt’s circle, 

among others—circulated rumors that he 

was a remote, sinister Iago. While there was 

a similarity in spirit and a sense of unity 
among the “happy hot dogs,” 120 claims of 

Machiavellian intrigue and lockstep unanimi­

ty seem off-base. First, Frankfurter’s former 

students were, after all, highly accomplished 

and highly intelligent men in their own right. 

They shared his vision of the law and 

philosophy of government, but they certainly 

could think for themselves.121 Indeed, his 

pupils did not always agree among them­

selves, personally or philosophically. Second, 

Frankfurter himself insisted that he trained 

thinkers, not blind followers, and bristled 

whenever critics intimated otherwise. He 

wrote to Jerome Frank, a fellow New Dealer, 

in 1936:

As to your vague hints about some of 

my friends, I will  say only that you 

quite misconceive the relation of 

close friends to me. A teacher who

has disciples is a teacher who fails in 

the essential task of his office. 

Whatever action any of my former 

students in Washington may have 

pursued, follows, I hope, from 

convictions of inner propulsion and 

not in response to any wishes or 

orders. This is too ridiculous a 
conception for you to entertain.122

He expressed similar sentiments to Charles 

Wyznaski:

For a teacher to inculcate in a student 

his own views is, on the whole, apt to 

be a disservice, for it usually means 

that he is a persuasive dogmatist. . . 

What I care about profoundly is that 

men should know what they think 

and why they think it; . . . nothing is 

more disheartening than the uncriti­

cal, parrot-like repetition of familiar 

formulas by so-called leaders of the 

bar ... I do covet ... the habit of 

critical inquiry and detached judg­
ment . . ,123

Whatever his protests to the contrary, howev­

er, Frankfurter YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAdid distance himself from 

proteges who strayed ideologically—much as 

he did in his classrooms at Harvard. He 

derided his former student, John Dickinson, 

the Assistant Secretary of Commerce, for the 
latter’s pro-business attitudes.124 He lobbied 

heavily for the appointment of Donald 

Richberg, a contemporary of his at Harvard 

Law School, to a post in the administration, 

but when Richberg evinced similar pro­

business attitudes, Frankfurter wrote Brandeis 

that Richberg “ really is irreclaimable” and 

that Brandeis had better “cross [Richberg] 
off ’ the list of reliable allies.125 Frankfurter 

liked to boast that he mentored individuals 

regardless of their partisan affiliation, but 

there is no question that they had to be 

intellectually compatible. Charles Wyzanski 

and Henry Friendly, for example, though 

registered Republicans, were “happy hot
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do gs” through and through.126 Moreover, 

Frankfurter shunned certain men at Harvard 

because, their brilliance aside, they refused to 

come under his wing. One of these students 

was Adolf  Berle, the author of T h e M o d e r n  

C o r p o r a t io n  a n d  P r iv a te  P r o p e r t y , a Bible 

of Roosevelt’s economic planners. As Jordan 

Schwartz writes, Frankfurter’ s antipathy for 

Berle continued long after the latter’ s student 

days, even though the two were forced to 

work closely together throughout the 1930s: 

“Among New Dealers it was well known that 
they were lifelong enemies.” 127 The professor 

encouraged individual thinking, but within 

strict limits.

Frankfurter expected his former students 

to conform to his intellectual agenda, and was 

insulted when he felt they deviated from the 

vision of  disinterested public service that he had 

introduced to them. This was somewhat hypo­

critical, for Frankfurter did push his own poli­

tical projects once given access to power, and 

he often employed his proteges as his foot 

soldiers, much as he had done when they 

attended Harvard. Frankfurter, for instance, 

was an early convert to Keynesian economics. 

Intent on giving life in America to the British 

economist’s ideas, Frankfurter wrote to 

Corcoran:

Keynes is to be in Washington in 

two or three weeks ... I want you to 

give him a small dinner, including 

Jim [Landis] and Ben [Cohen], 

perhaps [Sam] Rayburn ... so as 

to secure a thorough discussion of 

Securities Act and Stock Exchange 

control. Keynes will  come to Wash­

ington after a week or so of New 

York, during which I ’m sure a lot of 

his Wall Street friends will pump 

him full of poison which they 

will  call facts ... He has hardly an 

idea ... of the piracies and greed of 

American finance or the hugger- 

muggery and abuse of the Stock 
Exchange.128

While these words reflect Frankfurter’ s 

lifelong hostility to “moneyed interests,”  

they also show him at his scheming best, 

using his former students for clearly political 

purposes. The high priest of ‘disinterested 

public service,’ once given access to power, 

often stooped to involve himself in petty 

politics, even if  he would not tolerate such 

actions in others. One can perhaps understand 

why in later years Tommy Corcoran accused 

Frankfurter of discarding his ideals and 

“playing with whatever forces were on 
top.” 129 Even the beloved James Landis 

said of his mentor years later, “ [H]e shouldn’ t 

have allowed his, shall I say, political and 

social ideas to be changed by something of 

that nature (access to power). It ’s so easy, in 

this life, to associate with people who have 

prestige . . . and you become a little loose in 

your thinking ... I have a great admiration for 

[Frankfurter]. And yet, when . . . you have 

responsibilities with regard to the destiny of 

the United States [like he did]... and you start 
playing a game like that . . .” 130

Frankfurter likely viewed his involve­

ment (or interference?) in political matters as 

a simple manifestation of linking “ theory”  to 

“practice.” He was unapologetically in­

volved in drafting numerous pieces of key 

New Deal legislation, including “bills to 

limit federal jurisdiction, the Securities Act 

of 1933, the Securities Exchange Act of 

1934, the Public Utility  Holding Company 

Act of 193 5, and the Norris-LaGuardia [Anti-  
Injunction] Act.” 131 During a critical period 

in the summer of 1935, Frankfurter actually YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
lived at the White House as President 

Roosevelt’s houseguest, taking charge of 

the administration’s flagging legislative 

agenda in an ultimately successful effort to 
promote FDR’s chances for re-election.132 

His proteges assisted him on each of these 

projects. These overtly partisan involve­

ments—and the role that Frankfurter encour­

aged his former students, who now were 

public servants, to play in them—pose 

serious difficulties to anyone seeking to
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re co ncile Frankfu rte r’s p ro no u nce m e nts 

with his actio ns . Co ntradictio ns did abound; 

and yet, one still must acknowledge that the 

Securities Exchange Act, for instance— 

which Frankfurter recruited Landis, Cor­

coran, and Ben Cohen to write; convinced 

Sam Rayburn to shepherd through Congress; 

and pushed President Roosevelt to sign— 

did reform the securities industry and 

establish the SEC, an agency charged with 

protecting the investments of everyday 

Americans, as part of a broader legislative 

agenda designed to preserve market capital­

ism and to promote economic growth. (The 

SEC’s efficacy on this score is, of course, a 

question that has divided scholars ever 

since.) Thus, Frankfurter’s political involve­

ments can, in some ways, be regarded as 

consistent with his social philosophies of 

government.

Frankfurter’s meddling in his students’ 

affairs can be perceived in a similar vein. 

He often convinced his students to take jobs 

they were at first reluctant to accept, but 

only because he felt they would bring his 

philosophy to life. He reveled in his role as 

recruiting agent, but emphasized that he 

never offered unsolicited advice. “As you 

know, I have consistently refrained from 

pestering the President about appointments, 
except on inquiries from him,” 133 he 

pointedly wrote Roosevelt’s secretary. He 

told John Bums, the chairman of the SEC: 

“You will have noticed that I have been 

very careful not to initiate suggestions of 
personnel . . ,” 134

Frankfurter took further liberties with 

his former students, but seems to have 

recommended policy and personnel only 

when asked. As Paul Freund, one of the 

most prominent of the happy hot dogs, 

recalled years later, “ [H]e was certainly 

outgiving YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAw hen he w as so lic ited fo r ad­

vice.” '35 It seems Frankfurter’s greatest 

contribution to the New Deal, when evaluat­

ed through the lens of his students, was to 

place his favorites in important posts (and to

attempt blackballing those with whom he 

disagreed), rather than directly to affect 

policy in a sustained way. As Nelson Dawson 

has observed, Frankfurter was “able to place 

a number of men in various posts, but [his] 
ability to shape policy was limited.” 136 While 

this, perhaps, was not Frankfurter’s desired 

outcome, it was an outcome that nonetheless 

was largely consistent with both his philoso­

phy of government and his philosophy of 

teaching.

CONCLUSI ON

Scholars have debated the extent of Felix 

Frankfurter’s influence over his former 

students during the New Deal years without 

exploring adequately the latter’s intellectual 

debts to their mentor. Frankfurter was able to 

shape his students’ worldview through his 

optimistic vision of government and through 

his remarkable powers of personality. He had 

the singular ability to attract and to cultivate 

young men of potential, and to inculcate in 

them his ideal of responsive government 

manned by responsible civil servants. Frank­

furter continued to influence many of his 

students directly (and indirectly) in the years 

after they left Harvard, but the most important 

seeds had been planted in Cambridge. The 

New Deal was, indeed, the culmination of 

Frankfurter’s life work, the synthesis of his 

philosophy of government and of his meth­

odology of instruction. Many of the ideas he 

espoused about the role of experts in public 

life have long since become old-fashioned, or 

been tried and rejected; and much of his 

judicial legacy, perhaps unfairly, is either 

tarnished, or forgotten. But one should not 

overlook the contributions Felix Frankfurter 

made in the classrooms of the Harvard Law 

School—because, in the end, his greatest 

legacy may have been that which Pericles 

says in his funeral oration is the most 

important thing of all: his deposit in the 
minds of men.137
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FF/FDR Frankfurter/ Roosevelt Correspondence”

FF/OWH Frankfurter/ Holmes Correspondence"

NYT  YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew York T im es Oral History Project

[James Landis]
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AFrom the Diaries of Felix Frankfurter (1975) (ed., 

Joseph P. Lash).
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ix (1st ed. 1953) (dedicating their pioneering treatise to 

“Felix Frankfurter, who first opened our minds to these 

problems” ). To the extent this article focuses on 

Frankfurter’s broad legacy in the public imagination, 

especially with respect to the New Deal, it does not touch 

very deeply upon his influence over technical aspects of 
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Note 1, the impact of Frankfurter the judge on certain 

important jurisprudential areas is subject to re-evaluation, 
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article.

4 L iv a  Ba k e r , Fe l ix  Fr a n k f u r t e r 106 (1969).

5 A P lace fo r Poppa, Tim e, Vol. 33 at 17 (16 January 
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1937) (Otis, J., dissenting).

10 Jo h n Th o m a s Fl y n n , Th e Ro o s e v e l t M y t h 144 (1956 

edition).

"Lori Ringhand, A liens on the Bench: Lessons in  
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M cC arth y ism  an d  th e C o u rt:
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R O B E R T  M .  L I C H T M A N zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Am e rican his to ry is p u nctu ate d by 

p e r io ds o f p o litical re p re s s io n, invar iably 

the p ro du ct o f wars o r natio nal cr is e s . 

Am o ng the s e are the p e r io d o f the Se ditio n 

Act o f 1798 (when President John Adams’ 

administration, on the verge of war with 

France, prosecuted and imprisoned Jeffer­

sonian critics); the Civil War period (when 

President Abraham Lincoln suspended ha­

beas corpus and the government tried 

persons deemed disloyal by court-martial); 

the World War I period (when individuals 

who spoke against the war were j  ailed under 

espionage and sedition statutes); World War 

II  (when over 100,000 Japanese on the West 

Coast, the vast majority American citizens, 

were interned without charges or hearing); 

and the McCarthy era (by far the longest of 

the episodes, when a wide range of repres­

sive measures was directed at Communists 
and “subversives” ).1

This country. Justice William J. Brennan, 

Jr. observed in a 1987 address, “has a long

history of failing to preserve civil liberties 

when it perceived its national security 

threatened.” “After each perceived security 

crisis ended,”  he added, “ the United States has 

remorsefully realized that the abrogation of 
civil liberties was unnecessary.” 2

Political repression in America is majori- 

tarian, administered by elected officials and 

supported by public opinion. As a conse­

quence, if  the Supreme Court in a time of 

repression frustrates the government’s goals 

by deciding cases in favor of targeted groups 

or individuals, it risks attack by the Congress, 

the press, and the public at large. This risk was 

foreseen by the Founders when they provided 

lifetime tenure for federal judges. Alexander 

Hamilton, in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAThe Federa list Papers, N o. 78, 

found it “easy to see that it would require an 

uncommon portion of fortitude in the judges 

to do their duty as faithful guardians of the 

Constitution, where legislative invasions of it 

had been instigated by the major voice of the 
community.” 3
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The Co u rt, ho we ve r, is no t ne ce s s ar ily 

u nde r attack in a tim e o f p o litical re p re s s io n, 

fo r it m ay acquiesce in repressive measures. 

An accommodating Court does not invite 

attack. The clearest example is the World War 

I period. In 1919 and 1920, the Court issued a 

string of decisions in criminal prosecutions 

against individuals whose only crime was 

disseminating anti-war views in speeches or 

written materials—every decision in the 

government’s favor. The World War I 

decisions, Harry Kalven wrote, are “dismal 

evidence of the degree to which the mood of 

society penetrates judicial chambers.” Con­

comitantly, public criticism of the Court was 

at a low ebb.4

The Court’s McCarthy era, which (in this 

reading) spanned the October 1949 through 

October 1961 Terms—during which it issued 

roughly one hundred decisions in “Commu­

nist”  cases—began with a period in which it 

largely acquiesced in repressive measures. In 

the 1955 and 1956 Terms, however, it issued a 

number of decisions in favor of accused 

Communists that triggered harsh attacks upon 

the Court. Critics accused it of aiding 

Communist “ subversion”  and questioned the 

Justices’ patriotism and competence. Scores 

of anti-Court bills were introduced in 
Congress.5

Aware of public opinion, the Court 

employed an assortment of defensive strate­

gies. When ruling against the government, it 

evaded constitutional issues, deciding on 

narrow, this-case-only grounds. It repeatedly 

postponed decision in major cases. It upheld 

the constitutionality of a key sedition statute 

but interpreted it as imposing a formidable 

burden of proof upon the government. And, 

when enactment of anti-Court legislation was 

close at hand, it retreated, deciding new cases 

in the government’s favor and distinguishing, 

substantially nullifying, earlier contrary 

decisions.

This article traces the course of the 

Court’s decisions in McCarthy-era “Commu­

nist” cases, the attacks upon it and the anti-

Court legislation in the Congress, and the 

Court’s response.

In October 1949, when a heavy flow of 

“Communist” cases first began to reach the 

Court, Fred M. Vinson was Chief Justice. He, 

along with three other Truman appointees, 

Harold H. Burton, Tom C. Clark, and Sherman 

Minton, and a Roosevelt appointee, Stanley F. 

Reed, comprised a five-justice conservative 

majority that would regularly vote to sustain 

government action in “Communist” cases. 

Two other Roosevelt appointees, Hugo L. 

Black and William O. Douglas, liberals and 

zealous defenders of First Amendment rights, 

were often in dissent. The votes of the two 

remaining Justices, Felix Frankfurter and 

Robert H. Jackson, also Roosevelt appointees, 
were more difficult to categorize.6

During the 1949 Term, the Court issued 

five signed decisions in “Communist”  cases, 

all in the government’s favor. Three were in 

contempt-of-Congress prosecutions stem­

ming from proceedings before the House 

Committee on Dn-American Activities 

(HUAC). A fourth sustained the exclusion 

from the United States of a discharged 

American soldier’s German-bom “war bride,”  

without charges or hearing, as a threat to 

national security. The Term’s most important 

decision rejected a First Amendment chal­

lenge to a provision in the 1947 Taft-Hartley 

Act that in effect required every union official 

to file annually with the NLRB a written 

oath denying Communist Party (CPUSA) 

membership.7

In the 1950 Term, the Court sided 

largely—six out of nine signed decisions— 

with the government. YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ennis v. U nited States, 

easily the term’s most significant decision, 

upheld the constitutionality of the Smith Act, a 

federal sedition statute, affirming the convic­

tions of eleven top CPUSA officials under the 

Act for conspiring to teach and advocate 

forcible overthrow of the government. The 

convictions could not have been sustained 

under the prevailing First Amendment
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s tandard, the Holmes-Brandeis clear-and- 

present danger test, for there was no proof 

of a clear or present danger that the Party’s 

advocacy of revolution would succeed. The 

Court, however, changed the standard. As 

Brennan later explained, it “ reinterpret[ed] the 

clear and present danger test in a way that 

emasculated it and effectively upheld a 

limitation on speech where the danger was 

neither clear nor present.” Only Black and 

Douglas dissented.8

Two other decisions left in place—albeit 

by very close votes—the loyalty program 

applicable to millions of federal employees 

and the Attorney General’s compilation of an 

official list of “subversive” organizations, 
used to implement the program.9

During the 1951 and 1952 Terms, the 

Court handed down thirteen signed decisions

in “Communist” cases, nine in the govern­

ment’s favor. Several were deportation cases. 

In one, the Court held that the government, 

acting under a 1940 statute, could constitu­

tionally deport three longtime resident aliens 

because of CPUSA membership that ended 
prior to the statute’s enactment.11’

Two decisions involved state loyalty 

programs. One upheld a New York law 

authorizing the firing of  public school teachers 

for membership in organizations listed as 

“subversive” by the state Board of Regents. 

However, the Court, without dissent, struck 

down an Oklahoma statute that required public 

employees to sign an oath denying affiliation 

with “subversive” organizations, because it 

made no exception for “ innocent members”  

(z'.e., persons who joined a proscribed organi­
zation unaware of its “ subversive”  goals).11
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Afte r the 1952 Term ended, the Court 

considered, in a special Term, Douglas’s stay 

of execution for convicted spies Julius and 

Ethel Rosenberg. It had narrowly denied 

review of the case during the 1952 Term (on 

two occasions three Justices voted to grant 

certiorari). But with the Court in recess and 

execution imminent, Douglas, presented with 

a petition posing an issue not previously 

raised or considered, one that placed in 

question the legality of the death sentences, 
granted a stay.12

His stay order was released at noon on 

June 17, and within hours, following an YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAex 

parte meeting between Vinson and Attorney

General Herbert Brownell, the government 

moved the Court to convene a special Term to 

review Douglas’s action. Vinson immediately 

announced the special Term; the Court heard 

oral argument the next day; and the following 

day, June 19, by 6-3 vote (Black, Douglas, 

and Frankfurter dissented), it vacated Dou­

glas’s stay. The Rosenbergs were executed 

before sundown. Vinson’s opinion of the 
Court was issued four weeks later.13

Frankfurter termed the “manner in which 

the Court disposed of’ the case, “ [t]he merits 

... aside,”  “one of the least edifying episodes 

in its modem history.”  Douglas’s assessment 

was that the Justices
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ce rtainly we re aware o f the hy s te r ia 

that be s e t o u r p e o p le , and that 

hy s te r ia to u che d o ff the Ju s tice s 

als o . I have no o the r way o f e xp lain­

ing why they ran pell-mell with the 

mob in the Rosenberg case and felt it 

was important that this couple die 

that very week—before the point of 

law on the legality of their sentence 

could be calmly considered and 

decided by the lower courts.14

But “ imposition of the death sentence and 

the Government’s determination to see it 

carried out, “ the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAN ew York T im es'? , Arthur 

Krock wrote,” were powerfully and broadly 

supported in all parts of the United States.”  

When the Court vacated Douglas’s stay, Rep. 

Frank L. Chelf, a Kentucky Democrat, rushed 

to the House floor, interrupting debate, to 

announce what he “ just read on the ticker 

tape.”  “Praise God, from whom all blessings 

flow,” he said, “We thank the Supreme 
Court.” 15

Within hours after Douglas ruled, Rep. 

W. M. Wheeler, a Georgia Democrat, intro­

duced a resolution calling for his impeach­

ment—one specification charged treason. 

Wheeler termed him “a knave unworthy of 

the high position he holds.” A special five- 

member House subcommittee held hearings 

on June 30. But with Douglas’s stay by then 

vacated, the Rosenbergs dead, and the issue of 

judicial independence starkly presented, the 

resolution died. Still, Douglas, as he later 

wrote, had been “denounced”  in the press by 

many members of Congress and “ temporarily 

became a leper whom people avoided ...”  “ It 

hurts,” he said, “ when old friends cut one 

down.” 16

Vinson’s Rosenberg opinion was his last. 

On September 8, 1953, he died in his home of 

a massive heart attack. His successor, 

appointed by Eisenhower, was three-term 

California governor Earl Warren. A  year later, 

at the start of the 1954 Term, Jackson also 

died suddenly of a heart attack; his replace­

ment was John Marshall Harlan, a prominent 

New York lawyer whom Eisenhower had 

appointed to a federal court of appeals ten 
months earlier.17

The Warren Court’s first two Terms 

were dominated by the school-desegregation 

cases—Brow n / in May 1954 holding racial 

segregation in public schools violative of the 

Equal Protection Clause and, a year later, 

Brow n II  ordering that desegregation proceed 

with “ all deliberate speed”—and marked by a 

diminution, temporary only, in the number of 

decisions in “Communist”  cases.18

In the 1953 Term, the Court issued only 

two signed decisions in “Communist”  cases, 

both in the government’s favor. It upheld, 

under a section of the Internal Security Act of 

1950, the deportation of a Mexican-born alien 

who was a CPUS A member from 1944 to 

1946 or 1947, rejecting his “ innocent mem­

ber” defense, and sustained New York’s 

suspension of a doctor’ s medical license 

because of his contempt-of-Congress convic­

tion. The new Chief Justice joined the Court’s 
opinion in both cases.19

In the 1954 Term, however, Warren 

began his shift toward the Black-Douglas 

wing of the Court. He wrote all four of the 

Court’s signed opinions in “Communist”  

cases—all adverse to the government. In a 

trio of contempt-of-Congress cases, the Court 

sustained the defendants’ self-incrimination 

pleas, reversing their convictions. The deci­

sions were not earth-shaking: the procedural 

requirements the Court announced for con­

gressional committees when a witness refused 

to answer on Fifth Amendment grounds were 
ones easily complied with.20

In the fourth decision, a federal-employee 

loyalty case that bristled with constitutional 

issues, the Court set aside the firing of John 

P. Peters, a Yale professor who served as a 

consultant to the U.S. Public Health Service, 

on a narrow procedural ground not argued by 

the parties. It held that a loyalty review board, 

created during the Truman Administration but 

since abolished, was not authorized to review
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de cis io ns by de p artm e ntal lo y alty bo ards in 
the e m p lo y e e’s favo r, as in Pe te rs’ cas e .21

The Co u rt was accu s e d o f Co m m u nis t 

s y m p athie s in 1954; but the attack stemmed 

not from its “Communist”  decisions but from YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Brow n. Mississippi’s James 0. Eastland, in a 

Senate speech ten days after Brow n I, stated

Everyone knows that the Negroes 

did not themselves instigate the 

agitation against segregation. They 

were put up to it by radical busy- 

bodies who are intent upon over­

throwing American institutions.

The Court, he continued, “ has been indoctri­

nated and brainwashed by left-wing pressure 

groups.”  Eastland cited an award given Black 

in 1945 by “a notorious Communist-front 

organization.” Douglas, he said, had urged 

recognition of Communist China, a “ spectacle 

... for a man who sits on the highest tribunal of 

our country . .. openly to espouse the cause of 
our greatest enemy . . ,” 22

The flow of decisions in “Communist”  

cases became heavier in the 1955 Term, with 

the Court issuing nine signed decisions. The 

government won three, including a decision 

upholding the Immunity Act of 1954 (which 

allowed prosecutors to override witnesses’ 

self-incrimination pleas in national-security 

cases by making immunity grants).2’ ’

In the most important “Communist”  case 

on its docket, C om m unist Party v. Subversive 

Activ ities C ontro l Board, reviewing the 

SACB’s order under the Internal Security 

Act that the CPUSA register with the 

government and provide a list of its members, 

the Court, in a 6-3 decision, dodged the 

constitutional issues presented, remanding the 

case to the SACB because three of the twenty- 

two government witnesses had perjured 

themselves in other proceedings. “Justice 

Department lawyers said they were ‘as­

tounded’ by the majority opinion,” the 

W ashington Post reported, and “ [s]ome 

declared it may prove to be the most important 
Communist victory in the past decade.” 24

Three other decisions generated far more 

intense criticism. One involved the discharge 

on loyalty grounds of Kendrick Cole, an 

inspector in the Food and Drug Administra­

tion’s New York district. Cole was fired under 

a 1950 statute that authorized an agency head 

summarily to terminate an employee “when­

ever he shall determine such termination 

necessary or advisable in the interest of the 

national security . . .” The statute as enacted 

applied only to eleven “sensitive” agencies 

(e.g ., the Atomic Energy Commission), but 

one of its provisions authorized the President to 

extend it to other departments as he “deem[s] 

necessary in the best interests of national 

security.” Eisenhower, in a 1953 executive 

order, extended the statute to every job in the 

federal government. The Court held, however, 

by a 6-3 vote, in an opinion by Harlan, that the 

President was not authorized by the statute to 

extend it to employees in non-sensitive 

positions, such as Cole. The 1950 statute, it 

found, applied only to government activities 

“directly concerned with the Nation’s safety”  

and to employees in “ ‘sensitive’ position[s].” 25

Although, the T im es reported, government 

officials saw “no difficulty in using regular 

personnel procedures to get rid of unreliable 

employees in non-sensitive areas,” C ole 

immediately gave rise to legislation to overturn 

it. Senator Karl Mundt, a South Dakota 

Republican, termed it a “ travesty”  when

six men in black robes can nullify  our 

every effort and expose the internal 

workings of our Government to the 

stealthy espionage and sabotage of 

Communist agents whose services 

the government cannot now termi­

nate unless the agency in which they 

work be designated “sensitive” or 

unless their individual positions are 

classified as “ sensitive.”

His bill made the 1950 statute expressly 

applicable to employees in non-sensitive jobs. 

Joseph R. McCarthy, the Wisconsin Republi­

can who lent his name to the era, introduced
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s im ilar le gis latio n, as did Eas tland, chairm an 

o f the Se nate Ju diciary Co m m itte e and its 

Inte rnal Se cu r ity s u bco m m itte e (SISS), and 

Rep. Francis E. Walter, a Pennsylvania 
Democrat and HUAC’s chairman.26

In the second decision, the Court, by 5-4 

vote, set aside New York City’s firing of Hairy 

Slochower, a professor in German literature at 

Brooklyn College, for pleading the Fifth 

Amendment at a SISS hearing in response to 

questions about Communist affiliations. The 

Court, in an opinion by Clark, “condemned] 

the practice of imputing a sinister meaning to 

the exercise of a person’s constitutional right 

under the Fifth Amendment.”  YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlochow er, Mc­

Carthy said in a Senate speech, “handed another 

solid victory to the Communist Party.”

The third, and most controversial, deci­

sion reviewed the conviction (and twenty- 

year prison sentence) of Steve Nelson, the 

CPU SA chief in Western Pennsylvania, under 

the state’s little-used sedition statute, one of 

an assortment of statutes in forty-two states 

that criminalized sedition, anarchism, or 

syndicalism. Nelson’s prosecution was direct­

ed exclusively to sedition against the federal 

government, and on appeal the Supreme 

Court of Pennsylvania held that the state’s 

sedition law had been preempted by the Smith 
Act.28

The Court, by 6-3 vote, agreed that 

Pennsylvania’s law was preempted. In an 

opinion by Warren, it found the federal 

scheme “ so pervasive”—citing the Smith 

Act, the Internal Security Act of 1950, and 

the Communist Control Act of 1954—that 

“ [l]ooking to all of them in the aggregate, the 

conclusion is inescapable that Congress has 
intended to occupy the field of sedition.” 29

N elson caused widespread denunciation 

of the Court and the introduction of dozens of 

anti-Court bills in Congress. The T im es’ s 

Arthur Krock saw “ [t]he most determined 

effort since 1938 . . .to check and reverse the 

trend of Supreme Court decisions.”  The T im es 

reported that “ [a]bout seventy” anti-Court 
bills had been introduced.30

On April 11, a week after N elson was 

decided, McCarthy, terming the decision a 

ruling “ that aid[s] the Communist Party,”  

introduced a bill providing in substance that 

“no Federal antisubversion statute shall be 

construed to deprive the States of jurisdiction 

to enforce their own antisubversion or anti­

sedition statutes.”  A group of twelve Republi­

can Senators and three southern Democrats 

sponsored similar legislation. Howard W. 

Smith of Virginia, chairman of the House 

Rules Committee and author of the Smith Act, 

had earlier introduced, at the behest of private 

employers unhappy with Supreme Court 

preemption rulings favorable to labor unions, 

a universal anti-preemption bill, H.R. 3, 

providing that no state law was to be deemed 

preempted by federal law unless Congress had 

expressly stated such an intent—a mischievous 

bill, whose consequences were largely uncer­

tain. After N elson, H.R. 3 gained a widened 

group of supporters. As Walter F. Murphy 

explained, “ the segregationists could curb the 

Court,” “ [tjhe ultra-security-conscious could 

revitalize state sedition laws,” and employers 

“could get the specter of federal supremacy 
removed from their legal closets.” 31

McCarthy, appearing before Eastland’ s 

SISS in May and June, attacked the Court on a 

variety of grounds, including the Justices’ 

lack of prior judicial experience. Warren, 

McCarthy said, “had no judicial experience” ; 

his “entire experience was as a politician.”  

The two Senators agreed that “ there is just one 

pro-Communist decision after another from 

this court,”  with Eastland asking:

EASTLAND: What other explana­

tion could there be except that a 

majority of that court is being 

influenced by some secret, but very 

powerful Communist or pro-com­

munist influence?

MCCARTHY: It is impossible to 

explain it. Either incompetence be­

yond words, Mr. Chairman, or the
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ty p e o f influ e nce which y o u 

m e ntio ne d.32

The judicial-experience issue was debat­

ed on the Senate floor in connection with a bill  

introduced by George A. Smathers, a Florida 

Democrat, to require that all future Supreme 

Court appointees have at least five years’ 

judicial experience. “ [Mjost members of the 

Senate,” Smathers said, “and certainly many 

of the American people would prefer that we 

begin to get better trained legal minds to serve 

us on the Supreme Court of the United 
States.” 33

The Conference of State Governors, by 

an “almost unanimous vote,” adopted a 

resolution stating that the governors are 

“gravely concerned”  by the Court’s preemp­

tion decisions. They “ recommended to the 

Congress that Federal laws should be so 

framed that they will  not be construed to pre­

empt any field against state action unless this 

intent is stated.” 34

Added criticism came from a former 

member of the Court, James F. Byrnes, more 

recently the governor of South Carolina. 

Byrnes’s May 18 article in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU .S. N ew s &  

W orld Report (its cover story), titled “The 

Supreme Court Must Be Curbed,”  appealed to 

“ the court of public opinion” to “urge the 

Congress to act before it is too late.” “The 

present trend,” he wrote, “brings joy to 

Communists and their fellow travelers . . .” 3’

Lawyer groups joined the chorus. The 

National Association of Attorneys General, 

appearing before the Senate Judiciary Com­

mittee, urged passage of H.R. 3. Smith’s bill  

was also approved by the American Bar 

Association’ s House of Delegates at its 

August meeting.36

In June, H.R. 3 was favorably reported by 

both the Senate and House Judiciary commit­

tees. But the House committee, chaired by 

Emanuel Celler, a liberal Brooklyn Democrat, 

limited its application to sedition laws. When 

the House Democratic leadership refused to 

bring the limited bill to the floor under a rule

permitting it to be amended, Howard Smith, 

forced to choose between a sedition-only bill  

or waiting until next year (after the 1956 

elections), chose to wait. The bills to overrule 

C ole had been reported by Eastland’s SISS 

but not the full committee when Congress 
adjourned, on July 27.37

The Court’s level of resistance to repres­

sive McCarthy-era government action 

reached its zenith in the 1956 Term. It issued 

eleven signed decisions in “Communist”  

cases, and the government lost them all. 

Four were issued the same day, June 17,1957, 

a day critics called “Red Monday.”  Two other 

significant cases were decided in per curiam 

opinions, again adversely to the government. 

The Court’s performance, Lucas A. Powe 

wrote, was “nothing short of astounding.” 38

The decisions seemed almost to suggest 

diminished concern for adverse reaction. In a 

Smith Act case, Yates v. U nited States, the 

Court not only reversed the convictions of 

fourteen CPUSA officials but also made it 

more difficult (nearly impossible as it turned 

out) for the government to secure future Smith 

Act conspiracy convictions. A contempt-of- 

Congress decision, W atkins v. U nited States, 

sharply criticized the procedures employed by 

HUAC and indeed the entire House. And the 

Court twice overturned a state’s refusal to 

admit former Communists to the practice of 
law, angering bar groups.39

The decision that most outraged public 

opinion was Jencks v. U nited States, which 

reversed the conviction of a union official for 

filing a false Taft-Hartley non-Communist 

affidavit. Jencks's holding that the defense 

was entitled to examine reports to the FBI by 

two prosecution witnesses raised the specter 

of Communists rummaging through the FBI’s 

confidential files—a view fostered by Clark’s 

inflammatory dissent. Congress enacted leg­

islation sharply curtailing the decision before 

the Justices returned from their 1957 summer
40vacation.

The Court’s opinion in Jencks was 

written by a new member, William J.
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Bre nnan, Jr., fo rm e r ly a justice of the New 

Jersey Supreme Court, chosen by Eisenhower 

to replace Minton, who retired for medical 

reasons. Brennan, a Democrat, joined the 

Court under a recess appointment two weeks 

after the Term began and quickly aligned 

himself with the Black-Douglas wing. Eisen­

hower gained another appointment when 

Reed retired in February 1957 and this time 

chose a Justice more attuned to his own views, 

Charles E. Whittaker, a federal judge from 

Missouri. But Whittaker did not join the Court 

until late March and had almost no impact on 

its direction during the Term.41YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Yates was a prosecution of West Coast 

CPUSA officials. The fourteen defendants 

were convicted, as in D ennis, of “conspiring 

(1) to advocate and teach the duty and 

necessity of overthrowing the Government 

... by force and violence and (2) to organize, 

as the [CPUSA], a society of persons who so 

advocate and teach”  in violation of the Smith 

Act. A seven-justice Court, in an opinion by 

Harlan (Clark alone voted to affirm), found 

the “organizing”  charge hatred by a three-year 

statute of limitations—the CPUSA, it said, 

was not “organized” continuously (as the 

government argued) but in 1945, when it 

changed its format, six years before the 

indictment was returned42

More importantly, the Court held that the 

trial judge improperly withheld an essential 

issue from the jury’s consideration. Both sides 

had requested, but the judge refused, a jury 

instruction that the defendants’ advocacy 

must be “ not of a mere abstract doctrine of 

forcible overthrow, but of action to that end, 

by the use of language .. . calculated to incite 

persons to such action.”  An instruction of this 

kind was essential, the Court found, because 

the Smith Act did not prohibit “advocacy and 

teaching of forcible overthrow as an abstract 

principle, divorced from any effort to instigate 
action to that end . . ,” 43

Measuring the evidence in the 14,000- 

page record against this standard, the Court 

found that

Instances of speech that could be 

considered to amount to “advocacy 

of action”  are so few and far between 

as to be almost completely over­

shadowed by the hundreds of in­

stances in the record in which 

overthrow, if mentioned at all, 

occurs in the course of doctrinal 

disputation so remote from action as 

to be almost wholly lacking in 

probative value.

The Court ordered the acquittal of five 

defendants and as to the remaining nine 

allowed them to be retried under “proper legal 
standards.” 44

The Justice Department, faced with 

Yates's insistence upon proof of advocacy 

to “ do something, now or in the future, rather 

than merely to believe in something,” soon 

admitted that “ we cannot satisfy the eviden­

tiary requirements laid down by the Supreme 

Court”  and dismissed the charges against the 

remaining Yates defendants. It also dismissed 

other Smith Act conspiracy prosecutions 

pending in eight cities.45

W atkins, like earlier reversals of con- 

tempt-of-Congress convictions, was directed 

to a procedural flaw easily remedied by the 

committees. The witness, John T. Watkins, a 

former union official, refused to give HUAC 

the names of associates who he believed had 

“ long since removed themselves from the 

Communist movement.” He did not invoke 

the Fifth Amendment but challenged the 

relevance of the questions “ to the work of 

this committee” and its “ right to undertake

public exposure of persons because of their
• • • „46past activities.

The Court, by a 6-l vote (only Clark 

dissented), in an opinion by Warren, admon­

ished Congress that its investigations “must be 

related to, and in furtherance of, a legitimate 

task of the Congress” and not “ conducted 

solely for the personal aggrandizement of 

the investigators, or to ‘punish’ those investi­

gated . . .” It said that investigations being
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“part of lawmaking” were “subject to the 

command” of the First Amendment. But its 

holding was narrow. Because “ [n]o witness 

can be compelled to make disclosures on 

matters outside” a committee’s “ legislative 

sphere,”  it held, a person forced “ to make this 

choice is entitled to have knowledge of the 

subject to which the interrogation is deemed 

pertinent.” Since HUAC failed to explain the 

pertinency of its questions to Watkins, he was 

“ not accorded a fair opportunity to determine

whether he was within his rights in refusing to
„47answer . . .

In the first of the bar-admission cases, 

Rudolph Schware, admittedly a CPUSA 

member between 1932 and 1940, was denied 

admission by New Mexico’s bar examiners on 

the ground he lacked “ the requisite moral 

character for admission to the Bar ...” The 

Court, however, without dissent, in an opinion 

by Black, found “no evidence in the record 

which rationally justifies a finding that 

Schware was morally unfit to practice law.”  

Schware joined the CPUSA, it said, at a time 

“when millions were unemployed and our 

economic system was paralyzed [and] many 

turned to the Communist Party out of 

desperation or hope.” His “ past membership 

in the Communist Party,” the Court found, 

“does not justify an inference that he presently 
has bad moral character.” 48

The second bar admission case was 

more difficult for the Court because Raphael 

Konigsberg, unlike Schware, refused to 

answer whether he had been a CPUSA 

member. The California bar examiners denied 

him admission on the ground he failed to 

prove either “good moral character”  or that he 

did not advocate forcible overthrow of the 

government. The Court, however, dividing 

5-3. again in an opinion by Black, held that 

“ the evidence does not rationally support the 

only two grounds upon which the [bar 

examiners] relied ...” A witness did testify 

that Konigsberg attended meetings of a 

CPUSA unit in 1941. But “ [e]ven if it be 

assumed”  he was a CPUSA member in 1941,

the Court said, “ the mere fact of membership”  

would neither “support an inference that he 

did not have good moral character” nor 

“provide a reasonable basis for a belief that 

he presently advocates overthrowing the 
Government by force.” 49

In YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAJencks, prosecutors charged Clinton 

Jencks, president of a Mine, Mill  & Smelter 

Workers local, with filing a false non- 

Communist affidavit. They relied on the 

testimony of two paid undercover FBI in­

formers, both ex-Communists—Harvey Ma- 

tusow and J.W. Ford. (A year after Jencks’s 

trial, Matusow made a highly publicized 

recantation, which included disavowal of his 

testimony against Jencks.) During the periods 

covered by their trial testimony, both Matu­

sow and Ford had given reports to the FBI. 

But the trial judge denied Jencks’s motion to 

compel the government to produce the
. SO

reports.

The Court, with only one dissent, ruled 

that the defense was entitled to obtain the 

witnesses’ reports to the FBI to impeach their 

trial testimony. Brennan’s opinion, joined by 

four other Justices, held the defense was not 

required, in order to obtain the reports, to 

show they were in conflict with the witness’s 

trial testimony (as the government contended) 

and need only show they related to “ the events 

and activities as to which [the witnesses] 

testified at trial.”  Nor, the Court said, must the 

reports be produced to the trial judge in  

cam era “ for his determination of relevancy 

and materiality”  because “only the defense is 

adequately equipped to determine the effec­

tive use for purpose of discrediting the 

Government’s witness . . .” >i

Clark’s lone dissent condemned the 

Court’s decision in extravagant terms and 

invited congressional action:

Unless the Congress changes the 

rule announced by the Court today, 

those intelligence agencies of our 

Government engaged in law en­

forcement may as well close up
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s ho p , fo r the Co u rt has o p e ne d the ir 

file s to the cr im inal and thu s affo rde d 

him a Ro m an ho liday fo r ru m m ag­

ing through confidential information 

as well as vital national secrets.52

“ [T]he decisions of the 1956 Term,”  

Walter Murphy wrote, “ transformed congres­

sional criticism into militant opposition . . .”  

The press condemned the decisions. The YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
C leveland P la in D ealer said about Yates'. 

“ Well, Comrades, you finally got what you 

wanted. The Supreme Court has handed it to 

you on a platter.” W atkins, the W ashington 

Evening Star said, will likely “cripple the 

investigative function of Congress.” By its 

decision in Jencks, the N ew York H era ld- 

Tribune wrote, the “ Supreme Court is in effect 

destroying the essence of the FBI.”  The N ew 

York D aily N ew s suggested that “ if a 

movement should start in Congress to 

impeach one or more of the learned justices, 
it might have much popular support.” 53

The legal profession intensified its criti­

cism. At a session in London of the American 

Bar Association’s annual meeting, with 

Warren, Harlan, and Clark in attendance, 

Herbert R. O’Conor, a former U.S. Senator, 

presenting the report of the ABA ’s committee 

on Communist tactics, strategy and objec­

tives, told its House of Delegates (which 

approved the report without dissent) that 

national security may be endangered if  courts 

“ lean too far backward in the maintenance of 

theoretical individual rights.”  Not only Jencks 

legislation was needed, he said, but also 

legislation to overturn C ole, Yates, W atkins, 

and Slochow er. Warren, angered by the 

report, which he later termed “a diatribe 

against”  the Court “charging it with aiding the 

Communist cause,”  resigned his membership 

in the ABA. The ABA told the press that 

Warren had been dropped from membership 
for “non-payment of dues.” 54

The National Association of Attorneys 

General, convened in Sun Valley, Idaho, 

heard its president, New Hampshire’s Louis

C. Wyman, charge that the Court’s decisions 

“have set the United States back twenty-five 

years in its attempt to make certain that those 

loyal to a foreign power cannot create another 

Trojan horse here.” It called for immediate 

legislation “ to reaffirm and reactivate Federal 

and state internal security controls.” 55

Criticism of Jencks had the most imme­

diate results. The FBI threatened—J. Edgar 

Hoover “ is understood to have passed the 

word,”  the T im es said—to “ drop out of some 

espionage and other criminal cases if . . . 

necessary to protect its confidential inform­

ants.” Attorney General Brownell stated the 

decision created “ a grave emergency in law 

enforcement.”  The White House announced it 

“would ‘urge’ Congressional adoption of 
legislation”  directed at Jencks56

The Administration’s bill curtailed the 

decision by mandating in cam era inspection 

by the trial judge and limiting disclosure to 

statements “signed... or otherwise adopted or 

approved” by the witness. On July 1 and 2, 

less than a month after the decision, the 

Judiciary committees in both houses approved 

the bill. The Senate passed a less stringent bill, 

but the House in substance passed the 

Administration bill, by a 351-17 margin. A  

conference version easily cleared both Houses 

prior to adjournment and became law on 

September 2.57

The enactment of Jencks legislation by 

no means ended the calls for anti-Court action 

by the Congress. H.R. 3, Howard Smith’s 

anti-preemption bill, had been reintroduced in 

early 1957; the House would approve it in 

1958. Legislation to overturn C ole was 

reported favorably by the House Post Office 

and Civil Service Committee.58

In July 1957, William E. Jenner, an 

Indiana Republican and SISS’s former chair­

man, introduced the most far-reaching of the 

anti-Court bills. His bill  would strip the Court 

of jurisdiction in five categories of cases, 

denying it authority to review cases involving 

contempt of Congress, the federal loyalty- 

security program, state anti-subversive
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s tatu te s , m e as u re s ado p te d by bo ards o f 

e du catio n to de al with s u bve rs io n am o ng 

te ache rs , and adm is s io n to the p ractice o f law 

in any s tate . Je nne r acco m p anie d the intro­

duction of his bill  with an extended, decision- 

by-decision attack on the Court. The Court, he 

said, “has dealt a succession of blows at key 

points of the legislative structure erected by 

Congress for the protection of the internal 

security of the United States against the world 
Communist conspiracy.” 5

Within days, Jenner’s bill  was accorded a 

hurried hearing before Eastland’s S1SS and

reported favorably. The following week, 

Eastland sought approval of the bill by the 

full Judiciary committee. But Thomas C. 

Elennings, Jr., a liberal Missouri Democrat, 

citing the absence of opposition witnesses at 

SISS’s hearing, proposed that the bill  be kept 

until the next session so that full hearings 

could be held. Jenner’s motion to table 

Hennings’ proposal failed by one vote, and 

further hearings on the bill  were postponed to 
1958.60

“The anti-Court bills,” Lucas Powe 

wrote, “caused Frankfurter to get religion

O le ta  O ’C o n n o r  Y a tes ,  a C o m m u n is t  P arty  o ffic ia l  in  C a lifo rn ia  an d  th e  lead  d e fen d an t  in  th e  C o u rt ’ s 1957 YatesIHGFEDCBA 

d ec is io n ,  is  sh o w n  h e re  in  1954  ad d ress in g d o ck  w o rkers in S an F ran c isco .
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again.”  The Justice believed, Powe explained, 

that Congress was questioning “whether an 

independent judiciary might be too high a 

price to pay when the cost was the eradication 

of the loyalty-security program ... Frankfurter 

was ready to save the Court; prudence 

dictated the Court yield in this area.” This 

view, almost incontrovertible in succeeding 

Terms, was only partially confirmed in the 

1957 Term.61

The continued heavy flow of “Commu­

nist” cases produced fourteen signed deci­

sions. The outcomes were mixed, but they 

revealed a shift in the Court’s direction. The 

government prevailed in two state public- 

employee loyalty cases (decisions that re­

duced YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBASlochow er to insignificance) and three 

criminal contempt cases (in one, the Justices 

had decided for the defendant the preceding 

Term but Frankfurter switched sides after 

reargument). However, it lost two important 

decisions finding the State Department with­

out authority to deny passports on political 

grounds, five deportation decisions, and two 

narrow rulings invalidating state laws that 

conditioned the receipt of government bene­

fits on signing a non-Communist oath.62

Frankfurter was on the winning side in all 

but one of the decisions, including all five— 

four by 5-4 vote— in the government’ s favor. 

In those decisions, he led a five-Justice bloc 

that included Harlan, Burton, Clark, and 

Whittaker. However, he was also the swing 

vote against the government in the passport 

cases, joining Black, Douglas, Warren, and 
Brennan.63

The clearest sign of the Court’s shift was 

in the state loyalty decisions. In the two cases, 

a Philadelphia public school teacher, Herman 

A. Beilan, was fired for “ incompetency”  and a 

New York City subway conductor, Max 

Lerner, for being of “doubtful trust and 

reliability” and thus a security risk, after 

each invoked the Fifth Amendment in 

response to his employer’ s questions about 

Communist activities. In Slochow er, two 

years earlier, the Court ruled that New York

City could not lawfully discharge a public 

employee for invoking the Fifth Amendment 

before a Senate committee. In Beilan and 

Lerner, however, the Court sustained the 

discharges, providing states and cities with a 

how-to guide: when firing employees who 

plead the Fifth Amendment, use words such 

as “ fitness,” “candor,” “ reliability,” “ trust,”  

and “competence” and never mention the 

Fifth Amendment.64

The contempt prosecution in which 

Frankfurter switched sides stemmed from a 
denaturalization proceeding in which the 

government sought to strip Stefena Brown, 

a Polish immigrant, of her citizenship for 

lying about membership in Communist orga­

nizations when she was naturalized. In the 

previous Term, Frankfurter drafted an opinion 

of the Court, in which Black, Douglas, 

Warren, and Brennan were to join, holding 

that a 1919 decision mandated reversal of 

Brown’s contempt conviction. After reargu­

ment, he found the 1919 precedent inapposite 

and wrote the Court’s opinion affirming her 

conviction, this time joined by Harlan, 

Burton, Clark, and Whittaker.65

In the passport cases, however, Frank­

furter did not desert the four liberals. The 

decisions reviewed the government’s policy 

—a corollary to deporting aliens for CPUSA 

membership—of barring citizens with left- 

wing associations from leaving the country by 

denying them passports. Those denied pass­

ports were often renowned artists, such as 

singer-actor Paul Robeson, blacklisted at 

home but employable in Europe, and play­

wright Arthur Miller, invited to attend a 

Brussels premiere of The C rucib le, and 

scientists, such as Linus Pauling, asked to 
lecture abroad.66

In K ent v. D ulles, the Court overturned 

the State Department’s denial of a passport to 

Rockwell Kent, “one of America’s foremost 

artists”  and a self-styled socialist. The Court, 

in a 5^f decision written by Douglas, stated 

that “ [t]he right to travel is a part of the 

‘ liberty’ of which the citizen cannot [be]
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de p r ive d witho u t the du e p ro ce s s o f law u nde r 

the Fifth Am e ndm e nt..Bu t its ho lding was 

no t bas e d o n the Constitution: Congress, it 

held, had not authorized the State Department 

to withhold passports from citizens on the 

basis of their political affiliations.67

The Court’s limited rationale did not 

mitigate the criticism generated by YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAK ent. The 

T im es's Arthur Krock repeated with approval 

Rep. Kenneth Keating’s comment that “ [w]e 

cannot allow individual citizens [to travel 

abroad] without let or hindrance, spewing out 

their anti-American vitriol everywhere.”  

David Lawrence wrote in U .S. N ew s &  W orld 

Report, “ If  the Supreme Court had ruled that 

treason now is lawful, it could not have dealt a 

more devastating blow to the safety of the 

people of America . . .” The day after the 

decisions were issued, Francis Walter intro­

duced legislation to overturn them; so, a day 

later, did Eastland, characterizing the Court’s 

action “as again lavishly deferring to commu­

nism . . .” Eisenhower urged corrective 

legislation, stating that “ [e]ach day and 

week that passes without it exposes us to 
great danger.” 68

An assortment of Court-curbing bills 

moved through the congressional maze 

during the spring and summer of 1958. 

Jenner’s jurisdiction-stripping bill was “ the 

most fundamental challenge to judicial 

power,” Walter Murphy said, since the days 

of FDR’s Court-packing proposal. To en­

hance his bill ’s chances, Jenner endorsed a 

substitute bill offered by John Marshall 

Butler, a Maryland Republican. Under the 

substitute, the Court would be stripped of 

jurisdiction in only one subject area, state bar 

admission cases; but other provisions over­

turned Yates (both its interpretation of the 

Smith Act term “organize”  and its holding that 

the Act did not bar abstract advocacy), 

N elson, and W atkins. The Jenner-Butler 

substitute was reported favorably by the 
Senate Judiciary Committee in May.69

Other anti-Court bills progressed more 

rapidly. Smith’s H.R. 3, passed the House by a

241-155 margin on July 17. N elson-on ly bills 

(;.e., directed to sedition laws only), supported 

by the Eisenhower administration, were 

reported favorably by the House and Senate 

Judiciary Committees. A bill  to reverse C ole, 

a substitute for a quite different bill  the Senate 

had approved, passed the House on July 10 by 

a 298-46 vote and proceeded to a House- 

Senate conference. A yhZes-“organize” bill  

passed the House without a roll-call vote. The 

House Foreign Affairs Committee held hear­

ings in July and August on legislation to 

overturn the passport decisions; a bill was 

passed by the House, without a roll-call vote, 
on August 23.70

Lyndon B. Johnson, the Senate majority 

leader, kept the anti-Court bills from reaching 

the Senate floor until late in the session. Then, 

under pressure from the bills’ supporters, and 
assured by his floor managers, Hubert Hum­

phrey and Thomas Hennings, that they had the 

votes to defeat the measures deemed most 

objectionable—the Jenner-Butler bill and H. 

R. 3—he allowed several of the bills to reach 
the floor.71

On August 20, the Senate considered the 

Jenner-Butler bill. Jenner, explaining why he 

introduced the bill, referred to “ a long line of 

cases, involving Communists and subversive 

activity, in which the Court had accepted, 

point after point, the legal propositions 

advanced by the Communists . . .” Hennings 

responded that the bill presaged “ future 

attempts to strip the Court of its jurisdiction 

whenever there is disagreement with its 

decisions.” His motion to table the bill  

prevailed, and the bill  died, by a 49 41 vote.72

In the early evening, the Senate turned to 

a N elson-on ly bill and a motion by John L. 

McClellan, an Arkansas Democrat, to amend 

the bill  by adding the text of H.R. 3 to it. The 

vote on McClellan’s amendment—a vote on 

H.R. 3—was not simply a reprise of the 

Jenner-Butler vote. Because H.R. 3 over­

turned not only N elson but also federal- 

preemption decisions adverse to employers, 

it drew support from the Chamber of
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Co m m e rce , Natio nal As s o ciatio n o f Manu­
facturers, and American Farm Bureau, all of 

whom had lobbied for it intensively. When 

Hennings moved to table McClellan’s amend­

ment, his motion was defeated, by a 46-39 

vote. An immediate motion to reconsider 

failed by a 47—4-0 margin. Passage of the bill, 
including H.R. 3, was now imminent.73

Johnson, surprised by the turn of events, 

noted that “ [i]t  is 11:30 in the evening”  and 

moved to adjourn the Senate until noon the 

next day. McClellan and Jenner, with victory 

at hand, opposed adjournment, demanding a 

roll-call vote on Johnson’s motion; but it 

passed easily.74

When proceedings resumed the next day, 

the Senate debated a motion to send the bill  

back to committee while Johnson “ talked to 

senators from both parties, arguing, cajoling, 

pleading even threatening.” In the roll-call 

vote that followed, three conservatives, one of 

them Everett Dirksen, the GOP whip, sup­

porters of the bill  only hours earlier, switched 

sides. Another supporter stayed outside the 

Senate chamber. But two moderates, previ­

ously opposed to the bill, defected. When 

Johnson’s count showed he needed one more 

switch, he turned to Wallace Bennett, a 

conservative Utah Republican and a supporter 

of Vice President Richard Nixon’s 1960 

presidential bid. Johnson told Bennett that 

as matters stood the vote would be a tie and, in 

Robert Caro’s words,

a tie vote would have to be broken by

Nixon, and no matter how Nixon 

voted . . . the vote would hurt 

Nixon’s chances to become Presi­

dent: he would have to antagonize 

either liberals or conservatives.

With Bennett voting in favor of the motion, 

the bill  was sent back to committee by a 41-40 

vote, killing it. “The final result of the court 

debate,” the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im es's Anthony Lewis wrote 

the next morning, “was one of the great 

triumphs of Mr. Johnson’s career as a Senate 
strategist.” 75

Nor did any of the other anti-Court bills, 

caught in the end-of-session stampede, be­

come law. The N elson-on ly bill, which would
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e as ily have p as s e d the Se nate , was y o ke d to 

H.R. 3 and s e nt back to co m m itte e . The bill  

o ve rru ling YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAC ole was agre e d o n by House- 

Senate conferees and approved by the House 

on August 22. But, after a conversation on the 

Senate floor between Johnson and the Senate 

and House committee chairmen, the confer­

ence bill  was not called up in the Senate. And 

the Kufes'-“organize”  and passport bills, both 

passed by the House, were not reported out of 
committee in the Senate.76

The Justices, however, had little cause 

for celebration for, as Warren later wrote, 

“ [sjorne of this legislation, evoking as it did 

the atmosphere of Cold War hysteria, came 
dangerously close to passing.” 77

As the 1958 Term began, Harold Burton 

announced his retirement from the Court. His 

successor, nominated by Eisenhower the 

following day, was Potter Stewart, like Burton 

an Ohio Republican, only forty-three years 

old, and a Federal Court of Appeals judge. 

Stewart joined the Court on October 14 under 

a recess appointment.78

The 1958 congressional elections, on 

November 4, resulted in a sweeping victory 

for the Democrats—particularly in the Senate, 

where they gained sixteen seats—and reduced 

anti-Court ranks. Of the forty-one senators 

who supported the Jenner-Butler bill in the 

August 20 roll-call vote, four were defeated 

and two, including Jenner himself, retired and 

were replaced by moderate Democrats.79

The Court, however, conscious of its 

narrow escape from punitive legislation, 

quickened its retreat from the decisions of 

the 1955 and 1956 Terms. The flow of 

decisions in “Communist” cases, heavy in 

each of the preceding two Terms, slowed in 

the 1958 Term, when it issued seven signed 

decisions, and more so in the 1959 Term, with 

only two signed decisions and two via per 

curiam opinions. In the 1958 Term, the 

government prevailed in two major First 

Amendment decisions, and in the 1959 

Term it won every one of the handful of 
cases decided.80

Frankfurter was now a consistent vote for 

the government and, more clearly than before, 

the leader of a five-Justice conservative 

majority (with Stewart replacing Burton) in 

“Communist” cases. The Black-Douglas 

wing did not retreat: virtually every decision 

won by the government was by 5^4 vote.

The First Amendment decisions, Baren­

bla tt v. U nited States and U phaus v. W ym an, 

were contempt cases. The issue decided was 

one the Court had avoided deciding for years: 

whether legislative committees may, consis­

tently with the First Amendment, compel 

witnesses to disclose “Communist” associa­

tions. In Barenbla tt, a HUAC contempt-of- 

Congress case, Lloyd Barenblatt, a thiry-one- 

year-old psychology instructor at Vassar 

College, refused to answer “have you ever 

been a member” questions but declined to 

invoke the Fifth Amendment, relying instead 

on the First. Whether the First Amendment 

protected his refusal to answer, the Court held, 

in an opinion by Harlan, turned on a balancing 

test:

Where First Amendment rights are 

asserted to bar governmental inter­

rogation resolution of the issue 

always involves a balancing by the 

courts of the competing private and 

public interests at stake in the 

particular circumstances shown.

The government won. Congress, the 

Court said, has unquestioned power “ to 

legislate in the field of Communist activity,”  

a power that “ rests on the right of self- 
preservation . . ,” 81

U phaus involved the refusal of an elderly 

New Hampshire adult-camp director, Willard 

Uphaus, a pacifist, to provide the names of 

guests to the state’s attorney general, Louis C. 

Wyman, whom the state legislature autho­

rized “ to determine whether subversive 

persons ... are presently located within this 

state.” The Court measured Uphaus’s First 

Amendment claim by a balancing test, won by 

the State. New Hampshire’s investigation, the
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Co u rt s aid, was “undertaken in the interest of 
self-preservation . . ,” 82

The only significant decision against the 

government during the two Terms was YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
G reene v. M cE lroy, which addressed but 

did not decide the constitutional issue whether 

the government could revoke a security 

clearance essential to an individual’s job on 

the basis of undisclosed information supplied 

by informants it would not name. The Court 

held (as in the passport cases) that the 

secretary lacked authorization to do so. Bills 

to overturn G reene were quickly introduced in 
both houses of Congress.83

Although the anti-Court forces in the 

Congress were thinned in the 1958 elections, 

they remained formidable, and lawyer groups 

again provided strong support for anti-Court 

legislation. A resolution of the Conference of 

Chief Justices (composed of chief justices of 

state supreme courts), adopted by a 36-8 

margin, warned the Court to exercise “ judicial 

self-restraint” and to recognize “ the differ­

ence” between that which “ the Constitution 

may prescribe or permit”  and “ that which ... a 

majority of the Supreme Court . .. may deem 
desirable or undesirable . . ,” 84

The ABA ’s House of Delegates, in 

February 1959, approved (with only slight 

changes in language) the recommendations of 

its committee on Communist tactics, strategy, 

and objectives. “Many cases,”  the committee 

reported, “have been decided in such a 

manner as to encourage an increase in 

Communist activity in the United States”— 

it listed no fewer than twenty-four “principal”  

cases. The committee urged the adoption of 

bills to overrule N elson and C ole, to overturn 

Yates's interpretation of “organize” and ban 

abstract advocacy of forcible overthrow; and 

to authorize the Secretary of State to withhold 

passports “based upon confidential informa­

tion . . .”  The ABA ’s action, Anthony Lewis 

wrote, “added up to a charge that the court has 
been soft on communism.” 85

Anti-Court legislation was again success­

ful in the House. In March 1959, a Yates-

“organize” bill passed without debate. In 

June, Smith’s H.R. 3 was again passed. 

Passport legislation was passed in September 

(although liberals succeeded in gaining 

important procedural rights for persons 

refused passports). And Walter’s bill to 

provide the authorization found lacking in 

G reene passed in February I960.86

All  of the House-passed bills, however, 

died in the Senate. Most never made it out of 

committee, and none had reached the Senate 

floor for a vote when Congress adjourned.

The 1960 Term saw a final outpouring of 

decisions in “Communist” cases—fifteen 

signed decisions. The government prevailed 

in nine (a tenth had a mixed result), every one 

over the dissenting votes of Black, Douglas, 

Warren, and Brennan. The decisions included 

Scales v. U nited States, which upheld the 

constitutionality of the Smith Act’s “mem­

bership” clause, and C om m unist Party v. 

SAC B, which sustained the registration pro­

visions of the Internal Security Act of 1950. 

Decisions in two contempt-of-Congress cases 

confirmed that after Barenbla tt the First 

Amendment posed no obstacle to committees 

seeking to compel disclosure of “Communist”  

affiliations. And in two bar-admission cases, 

the Court ruled in effect that states may deny 

admission to any applicant who refuses to 

disclose his political associations. Of the five 

cases decided against the government, only 

one—a largely unnoticed companion case to 
Scales—had any continuing significance.87

Committee-contempt cases flooded the 

Court and gave rise to five signed decisions. In 

one, Frank Wilkinson, a forty-three-year-old 

political activist for a group advocating 

HUAC’s abolition, was subpoenaed by 

HUAC and refused to answer an “are you a 

member” question. The Court dismissed his 

First Amendment claim as having been 
“ thoroughly canvassed by us in Barenbla tt."^

One of the bar-admission decisions 

reviewed California’s second rejection of 

Raphael Konigsberg, who again refused to 

say whether he had once been a CPUSA
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m e m be r. This tim e , the State e xclu de d him o n 

the gro u nd that “his refusals to answer had 

obstructed a full investigation into his 

qualifications.’ ’ The Court rejected his First 

Amendment challenge, applying a balancing 
test again won by the government.89YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Scales arose under the Smith Act’s 

“membership”  clause, which made it a felony 

if a person knowingly “becomes or is a 

member” of a “ society ... of persons who 

teach, advocate, or encourage” violent over­

throw of the government. When Yates's proof 

requirements caused the government to 

abandon Smith Act conspiracy prosecutions, 

membership-clause cases assumed enhanced 

importance. But the cases presented issues the 

Court was in no hurry to decide. Scales 

reached the Court during the 1955 Term, was 

argued, put over for reargument, and then 

remanded for a new trial on Jencks grounds. 

When the case returned during the 1958 Term, 

the Court, after again hearing argument, 

ordered reargument in the 1959 Term and 

then at the start of the 1960 Term. By the time 

of his second trial, Junius Irving Scales, 

previously the CPUSA’s chief for the Caro- 

linas, had quit the Party.90

The Court, in an opinion by Harlan, 

affirmed Scales’s conviction, rejecting his 

First Amendment challenge to the statute. 

Much of Court’s lengthy opinion, as in Yates, 

was directed to the sufficiency of the evidence. 

It reaffirmed that Yates required proof that 

“ there was ‘advocacy of action’”  by the Party. 

But this time it found the prosecution’s 

evidence “sufficed to make a case for the 
jury on the issue of illegal Party advocacy.” 91

In the companion case to Scales, howev­

er, a membership-clause prosecution of John 

Francis Noto, a CPUS A official in Buffalo, 

the Court, without dissent, found the evidence 

insufficient. It held that the “kind of evidence”  

found in Scales “ to support the jury’s verdict 

of present illegal Party advocacy is lacking 

here to any adequately substantial degree.” 92

After Scales and N oto, the Justice 

Department reviewed its pending member­

ship-clause prosecutions and in succeeding 

months abandoned every one. “ Yates had 

made conspiracy prosecutions impossible,”  

Michal Belknap wrote, “ and now the mem­
bership clause too was a spent bullet.” 93

C PU SA v. SAC B also had “ a long

history,” beginning in 1950. In the 1955

Term, the Court set aside the SACB’s

registration order and remanded the case

because of perjuries by government 
94witnesses.

Registration under the Internal Security 

Act entailed submitting a form signed by a 

CPUSA officer and containing the names and 

addresses of its officers and members. Filing 

triggered a laundry list of sanctions against 

both the Party and its members. Members, 

among other things, were barred from 

employment by the federal government, any 

defense facility, or any labor union, and 

prohibited from obtaining or using a passport. 

Alien members were barred from becoming 

naturalized citizens.95

The Court, in a 112-page opinion by 

Frankfurter, upheld the SACB’s order. It held 

that the Act’s registration scheme neither 

violated the First Amendment nor constituted 

a bill of attainder, and it dismissed as 

“premature at this time” the Party’s claim 

that, since the registration form must be 

signed by one of its officers, “ the very act of 

filing ” would compel the officer to incrimi­

nate himself. The Court also refused to decide 

constitutional issues raised by the Act’s post­

registration sanctions, finding it “ wholly 

speculative now to foreshadow whether, or 

under what conditions, a member of the Party 

may in the future apply for a passport, or seek 

government or defense-facility or labor-union 

employment, or being an alien, become a 

party to a naturalization . . . proceeding.” 96

The CPUSA, however, refused to regis­

ter. The government prosecuted it for failing 

to register and, in 1962, obtained a conviction 

and fine. But a court of appeals reversed, 

holding the government was obligated to 

prove that a signer for the registration form
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was available . At a s e co nd tr ial in 1965, two 

paid FBI informants testified they had offered 

to register the Party, and the government 

obtained a new conviction. But in March 1967 

the court of appeals again reversed, this time 

on Fifth Amendment grounds. In the interim, 

in 1965, the Court had ruled unanimously that 

two Party members, ordered to register by the 

SACB, could invoke the Fifth Amendment 

because the “ risks of incrimination” in 

registering as a Party member “ are obvious.”  

In April 1967, the government abandoned its 

more than sixteen-year effort to compel the 

CPUSA to register. “ [N]ot a single individual 

or group,” the YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAT im es reported, “ever regis­

tered with the Attorney General, as required 
by the act.” 97

In June 1961, however, when C PU SA v. 

SAC B was decided, these subsequent defeats 

were not readily foreseeable. The McCarthy 

era had waned but not yet ended. In the 

Eighty-Seventh Congress, which began in 

January 1961, Smith’s anti-preemption bill,  

still numbered H.R. 3, was approved by the 

House Judiciary Committee but failed to pass 

either house. A F«fes-“organizc” bill passed 
the House but died in the Senate.98

The 1961 Term saw two Justices leave 

the Court, both unexpectedly for health 

reasons. Whittaker retired on March 29, 

1962, after a nervous breakdown. Only a 

week later, Frankfurter, seventy-nine years 

old, collapsed at his desk from a stroke and, 

following a three-month hospital stay and a 

period of convalescence at home, reluctantly 

retired— in August after the Term had 
ended.99

The number of decisions in “Commu­

nist” cases dropped sharply—only three 

signed decisions. The decisions were in 

routine cases—a false Taft-Hartley affidavit 

prosecution, a challenge to Florida’s loyalty 

oath for public employees, and a group of 

contempt-of-Congress cases collected in a 

single decision. The first two were decided by 

a nine-Justice Court prior to Whittaker’s and 

Frankfurter’s illnesses. The government won

the false-affidavit case by the usual 5 4 vote; 

in the loyalty-oath case, the words of the oath 

were so obviously unclear in application that 

the Justices voted unanimously to invalidate 

it. The third decision, issued late in the Term 

by a seven-justice Court, reversed six 

contempt-of-Congress convictions, by a 5-2 

vote, on a narrow procedural ground.100

The most significant “Communist” case 

considered during the Term was not decided 

because the Justices, divided 4—4 following 

Whittaker’s retirement, ordered reargument. 

The case, G ibson v. F lorida Legisla tive 

Investigation C om m ittee, marked a conver­

gence of what had been separate lines of 

decision in NAACP and “Communist”  
cases.101

After Brow n, the Justices had “allied 

themselves with the NAACP,” Michal Bel­

knap wrote, “shielding it from attack by 

southern authorities.” In a string of cases 

(N AAC P v. A labam a, Bates v. L ittle Rock, 

Shelton v. Tucker), the Court, invoking a First 

Amendment “ freedom of association,” pro­

tected the names of NAACP members from 

disclosure to southern jurisdictions. These 

decisions stood in stark contrast to its 

decisions in “Communist” cases. In the case 

of Willard Uphaus, imprisoned for refusing to 

disclose the names of guests at his adult 

summer camp, Douglas, joined by Warren 

and Black, had pleaded in vain that “ [a]ll  

groups—white or colored” should receive 

“ the same protection against harassment as 
the N.A.A.C.P. enjoys.” 102

In G ibson, a Miami NAACP official, 

Theodore R. Gibson, was convicted of 

contempt after refusing a Florida committee’s 

demand for an NAACP membership list to 

facilitate the identification of persons who 

were also CPUSA members. The case 

required the Court to decide whether its 

practice of shielding NAACP membership 

lists from disclosure to southern states was 

trumped by a state’s claim that it needed the 

list to hunt Communists. At conference, in 

December 1961, the five-justice majority
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vo te d to s u s tain Gibs o n’s co nvictio n, and in 

March Harlan circu late d a draft o p inio n o f the 

Co u rt. Bu t with Whittake r’s de p artu re , a 

ne ce s s ary fifth vo te was lo s t, and Harlan’s 

o p inio n was no t is s u e d.103

The departure of the two Justices was the 

Term’s central event. Whittaker performed no 

work after February 1 and on March 6 was 

admitted to Walter Reed Hospital, physically 

and mentally exhausted. On March 29, his 

retirement was announced by President 

Kennedy who, the following day, appointed 

a successor, Byron R. White, the deputy 

attorney general. White joined the Court on 

April 16 but did not participate in any of the 

Term’s “Communist” decisions. In subse­

quent years, like Whittaker, he regularly sided 

with the government in “Communist”  
cases.104

Frankfurter’s stroke occurred as he 

worked in his Chambers on April 5th. He 

was taken by ambulance to George Wash­

ington University Hospital. Weeks later, a 

second stroke “ left him with his speech 

slightly impaired and with difficulty in the 

use of an arm and leg.” On August 28, he 

advised the President he would retire. His 

successor, announced the next day, was Arthur 

J. Goldberg, JFK’s Secretary of Labor.105

As a Justice, Goldberg voted with the 

Black-Douglas wing in “Communist” cases, 

irrevocably tipping the Court’s balance and 

bringing its McCarthy era to an end. When YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
G ibson was reargued in the 1962 Term, 

Goldberg wrote the Court’s opinion reversing 
the conviction.106

In subsequent years, as the flow of 

“Communist” cases slowed to a trickle, a 

new majority ruled repeatedly against the 

government—and not only, as in prior years, 

on narrow rationales. In the 1963 Term, the 

Court held unconstitutional on due process 

grounds the Internal Security Act section that 

made it a felony for CPUS A  members to apply 

for a passport. In the 1965 Term, it held that 

CPUS A members may invoke the Fifth 

Amendment and refuse to comply with

SACB registration orders. And in the 1967 

Term, it held unconstitutional on First 

Amendment grounds the Internal Security 

Act provision that made it a crime for a 

CPUSA member to be employed at a defense 

facility. The provision was overbroad, the 

Court said, because it applied to “passive or 

inactive members”  and those “unaware of’ or 

who “may disagree with”  the Party’s unlawful 

aims.107

“ [I]f  anti-Communist extremism was the 

Dracula prowling the mid-century darkness of 

American politics,” Richard M. Fried wrote, 

“ it was the Supreme Court that drove the fatal 

stake through its heart.” Fried did not 
exaggerate much.108

Largely as a result of the Court’s actions, 

the two most repressive laws in the govern­

ment’s arsenal—the Smith Act and the 

Internal Security Act’s registration scheme— 

were ultimately rendered useless. The consti­

tutionality of the Smith Act was of course 

upheld in D ennis and Scales’, but after Yates 

and N oto, the government could not prove a 

violation. Similarly, C om m unist Party’ v. 

SAC B upheld the Internal Security Act’s 

registration scheme; but the Court was able 

to consume a full decade before issuing that 

decision and then deferred ruling on key self­

incrimination issues. When no one registered, 

the government, by then in a changed political 

climate, was unable to do anything about it.

There was more. N elson blocked prose­

cutions under state sedition statutes that held a 

serious potential for abuse. C ole held that 

summary dismissals of federal employees on 

loyalty grounds were authorized only for 

those holding sensitive positions. K ent led to 

the issuance of passports to hundreds of 

Americans previously barred from traveling 

abroad.

Still, the Court’s retreat from the deci­

sions of the 1955 and 1956 Terms was real. 

W atkins' assurance that legislative investiga­

tions were “subject to the command” of the 

First Amendment came to naught. Slochow er
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be cam e a nullity: any public employee could 

be fired merely for pleading the Fifth 

Amendment so long as the proper words 

were used. After YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAK onigsberg II, any bar 

applicant could be denied admission if  he 

refused to disclose political associations.

Frankfurter, more than any other Justice, 

determined the Court’s direction and led its 

retreat. He “ always was fearful that the Court 

would injure itself,” Arthur Goldberg said, 

and “ [tjhis was his principal concern, 

always.” Black, leader of the Court’s other 

bloc, was untroubled by such considerations 

and cast his votes oblivious to the political 

consequences. Douglas issued the stay of 

execution in Rosenberg knowing he would 

receive a torrent of personal abuse. Warren, 

Brow n's author, who also voted and wrote 

often in favor of accused Communists, 

received more abuse than any other Justice. 

By the late 1950s, America’s landscapes 

“blossomed with ‘ Impeach Earl Warren’ 
billboards . . .” '°9

Alexander Hamilton foresaw it all.

Editor’s N ote: The author is a San 

Francisco attorney. This article is derived 

from his recent book T h e S u p r e m e C o u r t  

a n d  M c C a r th y -E r a  R e p r e s s io n : O n e H u n ­

d r e d  D e c is io n s (Urbana: University of Illi ­

nois Press, 2012).
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T h e V in so n  C o u rt an d  th e Id o l o f IHGFEDCBA 
R estra in tzyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Fe w judicial characteristics gamer greater 

praise than that of judicial self-restraint. Yet 

the most restrained Court of the twentieth 

century, that of Chief Justice Fred M. Vinson, 

is largely considered a failure. Using the 

Vinson Court as a historical case study, this 

article questions the merit of this judicial ideal.

I.

Judicial restraint is generally contrasted 

with judicial activism. Indeed, it has become 

commonplace to criticize the latter while 

extolling the former.1 Such criticism has come 

from scholars, politicians, and judges alike.2 

Perhaps more notably, the vitriol has come 
from both the Left and the Right.3 Despite its 

frequent usage, judicial activism has no clear 

definition. Some believe it a vacuous phrase, 

used merely to dismiss decisions one seeks to 
paint as politically partisan.4 Since judicial 

decisions are rarely, if ever, transparently 

political, however, proving such partisanship 

is far from straightforward.

Regardless of what makes an activist 

judge, the parameters of  judicial restraint have 

usually been easier to draw. If  activist judges 

interpret the law as they please, restrained 

judges are seen as impartially deferring toZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Z A C H A R Y  B A R O N  S H E M T O B

other authorities whenever possible. James 

Bradley Thayer, perhaps judicial self-re­

straint’s most influential advocate, argued 

that the best judges should avoid nullifying 

executive and legislative acts unless they are YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
clearly unconstitutional.5 Richard Posner 

succinctly summarizes judicial self-restraint 

as a judge’s reluctance to “ declare legislative 

or executive action” 6 void, and such deference 

“at its zenith when action is challenged as 

unconstitutional.” 7

Indeed, while “ judicial activism” was 

originally invoked as a form of judicial 
abuse,8 praise for a restrained judiciary has 

existed since our nation’s very founding. 

Alexander Hamilton warned against judges 

enshrining their own values into law by 

overturning legislative or executive prerog­

atives.9 Chief Justice John Marshall was 

cautious not to nullify  legislative enactments, 

openly decrying the appearance of judicial 

partisanship.10 Indeed, up until the D red Scott 

decision, today largely recognized as “ the 
worst imaginable case ofjudicial activism,” 11 

the Court only once overruled a federal statute 

and declared state statutes void a mere handful 
of times.12
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With the turn-of-the-century and the 

Industrial Revolution, the idea of an unre­

strained (and thereby more activist) Court 
began to grow increasingly prominent.13 

Interestingly, although today judicial activ­

ism is widely associated with the Left, this 

label was first used to denounce conserva­

tive jurists during the Progressive Era. 

These conservatives—today perhaps better 

conceived as classical liberals—sought to 

support property claims and the newly 

rising industrial elite, and nullified state 

and legislative statutes through implicit, 

immutable property rights and a nebulous 
“ freedom of contract.” 14 In YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBABaldw in v. 

M issouri (1930), Oliver Wendell Holmes, 

Jr., an advocate of restraint, complained that 

his activist brethren’s political support for 

industry, and its refusal to respect legisla­

tive or executive prerogatives, had “hardly 

any limit but the sky.” Louis D. Brandeis 

agreed, chastising the Court for acting as a 

sort of “super legislature”  in N ew State Ice v.

L iebm ann (1932), a decision preventing 

state legislatures from demanding busi­

nesses have licenses in order to sell ice.

The Court’s activism reached its peak 

during President Franklin D. Roosevelt’s first 

term. The President had been elected on a 

platform of economic reform, and shortly after 

taking office attempted to pass a package of 
sweeping financial measures.15 When the 

Justices struck a number of these, Roosevelt 

threatened to retaliate by packing the Court 

with his own Democratic appointees. Al ­

though the President’s plan fizzled, the Court 

majority became markedly less willing to 

overturn executive and congressional stat­
utes. 16 When a number of the more conserva­

tive Justices died or retried shortly thereafter, 

Roosevelt crafted a Court almost entirely loyal 

to his progressive economic agenda.

The resulting Court, led by Chief Justice 

Harlan F. Stone, soon became splintered 

between the judicial ideologies of Felix 

Frankfurter and Hugo L. Black.17 While

T h e  au th o r  a rg u es  th a t  th e  V in so n  C o u rt (p ic tu red  in  1953 ) w as  p erh ap s  th e  m o st res tra in ed  o f  th e  tw en tie th  cen tu ry  inIHGFEDCBA 

te rm s  o f  ju d ic ia l ac tiv ism . It h ad  th e  lo w es t n u llifica tio n  ra te  o f fed era l, s ta te , an d  lo ca l s ta tu tes , th e  th ird  lo w es t ra te  

o f o vertu rn in g p reced en t, an d  w as  th e m o st id eo lo g ica lly m o d era te .
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Frankfu rte r fo llo we d Ho lm e s’ and Brande is’ 

calls fo r re s traint in bo th s o cial and e co no m ic 

m atte rs , Black u rge d his Bre thre n to m o re 

active ly e nfo rce individu al r ights . Fo llo wing 

Ro o s e ve lt’s de ath, Pre s ide nt Harry S. Tru m an 

s o u ght to bo th co ntro l the Co u rt’s factio ns and 

p ro m o te Frankfu rte r’s m o re re s traine d ap­

proach. Truman’s first opportunity to do so 

arose within three months of his ascension, 

with the death of Justice Owen J. Roberts. A  

year later, Chief Justice Stone died. This was 

followed shortly after by two more vacancies, 

allowing Truman to effectively shape the 

early Cold War Court.

II.

Truman’s Court, led by Chief Justice 

Fred M. Vinson, achieved the President’ s 

goal regarding a restrained judiciary. Ac­

cording to political scientists Stefanie 

Lindquist and Frank Cross,judicial restraint 
can be measured in four ways.18 First, as 

mentioned previously, is judges’ willing ­

ness to defer to other federal and state 

actors. The more judges refuse to override 

legislative and/or executive provisions, the 

less likely they will  be to disrupt the status 

quo. Second is an adherence to precedent: 

Obeying precedent shows the court “ is not 

following the whims of political winds or 

the judge’s own predilections,”  but respects 

pre-established prerogatives. Third is “ in­

stitutional aggrandizement,” or judges’ 

refusal to grant certiorari. The more cases 

a court accepts, the likelier it is to substitute 

its own principles for the legislature or 

executive’s. Finally, although the most 

difficult to decipher, is the (in)frequency 

of result-oriented judging: “When decisions 

appear to be based almost exclusively on the 

justices’ own policy preferences, it suggests 

a more activist orientation,”  allowing judges 

to override legislatures and shape legal 

provisions however they see fit.

First, the Vinson Court, along with the 

Stone Court, struck proportionality fewer 

federal statutes than any of their predecessors 

or successors, at only three percent:1

Approximate Percentage of Total Federal 

Statutes Nullified

The White Court (1910-1921) 11%

The Taft Court (1921-1930) 18%

The Hughes Court (1930-1941) 13%

The Stone Court (1941-1946) 3%

The Vinson Court (1946-1953) 3%

The Warren Court (1953-1969) 30%

The Burger Court (1969-1986) 15%

The Rehnquist Court (1986-2005) 34%

Second, the Stone and Vinson Courts had 

the lowest nullification rate regarding state 
and local statutes, at around six percent:20

Approximate Nullification Rate of State and

Local Statutes per Term

The White Court 11 per term

The Taft Court 14 per term

The Hughes Court 8 per term

The Stone Court 6 per term

The Vinson Court 6 per term

The Warren Court 13 per term

The Burger Court 18 per term

The Rehnquist Court 8 per term

Third, the Vinson Court was far less

willing to overturn precedent than those

Courts before and since, although did not 
rank the lowest of the twentieth century:21

Approximate Percentage of Total Precedents

Overturned

The White Court 2.5%

The Taft Court 3%

The Hughes Court 10.4%

The Stone Court 7.5%

The Vinson Court 6.5%

The Warren Court 22.4%

The Burger Court 25.9%

The Rehnquist Court 8%
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Fo u rth, the Vinson Court denied certio­

rari more frequently than any Court before it, 

although successive Court’s (perhaps moti­

vated by the Vinson Courts example) have 
been even stingier:22

Certiorari Grant Rates

The Vinson Court .82

The Warren Court .75

The Burger Court .65

The Rehnquist Court .69 (the first

seven terms)

Finally is the question of the Court’ s 

ideological direction. As detailed by Lind­

quist and Cross, Courts regarded as pre­

dominantly liberal or conservative are 

considered more activist, rendering deci­

sions according to judges’ personal policy 

preferences. Since more restrained Courts 

will  not follow a single ideological direc­

tion, they will more likely display a 

moderate judicial record. Of the Courts 

surveyed, the Vinson Court was indeed 

nearest to the conventional center:23

Ideological Direction of Each Court by its 

Approximate Percentage of Liberal

Decisions

The White Court 65%

The Taft Court 76%

The Hughes Court 76%

The Stone Court 82%

The Vinson Court 58%

The Warren Court 66%

The Burger Court 38%

The Rehnquist Court N/A24

As revealed by the five leading indica­

tors, the Vinson Court was undoubtedly one 

of the most restrained (if not the most 

restrained) Supreme Courts of the twentieth 

century. It had the lowest nullification rate of

federal, state, and local statutes, the third 

lowest rate of overturning precedent, and was 

the most ideologically moderate. And al­

though certiorari grant rates were lower on 

succeeding Courts, this was likely a result of 

institutional factors beyond the Vinson 

Court’s control.23

Of course, these numbers do not paint the 

entire picture. Perhaps more interesting is how 

the Court’s behavior reflected its underlying 

adherence to restraint, and why many of its 

members specifically felt obligated to act in 

this manner.IHGFEDCBA
III.

Effectively, the Vinson Court can be 

broken into two phases. The “ first” Vinson 

Court lasted from 1946 until 1949, encom­

passing the three years before all four Truman 

nominees joined the Court. The Truman 

Justices then dominated Court proceedings 

from 1949 until 1953.

The Court’s earliest Terms reflected a 

deep division between the more activist, or 

“ libertarian four,” consisting of Justices 

Black, Rutledge, Murphy, and Douglas, and 

the restrained temperament of Justices Frank­

furter, Jackson, Vinson, Burton, and Reed.26 

From 1946 to 1949, both sides traded 

occasional victories. Most notable was the 

record-breaking level of dissent and polariza­

tion. Disagreement rates reached their highest 

point since the 1790s, with two pairs of 

Justices (Jackson and Rutledge, and Frank­

furter and Douglas) having the highest 

disagreement rates in Court history. Addi­

tionally, an unprecedented fifteen pairs of 

Justices disagreed in more than forty percent 

of cases.

Following the 1948 deaths of Murphy 

and Rutledge, the appointments of Tom C. 

Clark and Sherman Minton strengthened the 

restrained camp. This reduced the libertarians 

to two members, Black and Douglas, who 

were then consistently overruled. This era 

saw even greater discord than the previous 

one. The rate of dissent was the second 

highest in Court history, with Black and
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Do u glas s e tting re co rds fo r the nu m be r o f 

dis agre e m e nts with the ir m o re re s traine d 

Bre thre n’s jurisprudence.

This restrained ideology was largely the 

result of the Court’s Truman appointments. 

While the jurisprudence of Justices Frank­

furter and Jackson was important in steering 

the Court’s restrained direction, these two 

figures ultimately played a secondary role to 

Truman’s Justices: Burton, Vinson, Clark, 

and Minton. Understanding their judicial 

philosophies (or lack thereof) is thus key to 

any analysis of the Truman Court.

Truman’s first appointment, Harold H. 

Burton, was a long-time Senator who had 

originally served with the President on a 

committee to investigate a national defense 
procurement program.27 In his book on the 

Vinson Court, Melvin Urofsky states that 

Burton “had a pragmatic mind,”  attuned to the 

case before him rather than seeking to stake 
out any larger judicial philosophy.28 Frances

Rudko summarizes Justice Burton’s judicial 
mindset as that of a “ lawyer’s judge.” 29 

Burton generally decided slowly and method­

ically, rather than focusing on the larger 

principles or desired outcome of each case. 

This involved identifying the legal problem, 

carefully weighing the issues on both sides, 

and usually deferring to executive or legisla­

tive interests. Burton thus avoided constitu­

tional matters whenever possible, treating 

each case individually, “objectively,” and 

“dispassionately.”

Truman’s second nominee, Chief Justice 

Vinson, had been an ardent New Dealer and 

briefly served as President Truman’s Secre­

tary of the Treasury. As Chief Justice, Vinson 

attempted (and generally failed) to unite a 

fractured Court around narrow decisions. A  

former clerk recalled that the Chief Justice 

was, like Burton, a “pragmatist,”  leaving the 

“abstract philosophizing” for Justices Black 

and Frankfurter.31’ Perhaps most important to

C h ie f Ju s tice V in so n h as b een ch arac te rized as a p rag m atis t w h o em p h as ized p ro ced u re o ver ab s trac t th in k in g .IHGFEDCBA 

V in so n a lso la rg e ly favo red execu tive an d leg is la tive in te res ts . R o b erta V in so n an d h er h u sb an d , C h ie f Ju s tice  

V in so n , p o sed  fo r a  p h o to g rap h  w h ile  v is itin g  K ey  W es t, F lo rid a in 1951 as  m em b ers  o f P res id en t H arry  S . T ru m an ’s  

vaca tio n p arty .
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Vinson was procedure. The Chief Justice 

often denied standing to plaintiffs, insisting 
that they follow a rigorous review structure.31 

When cases did reach the Court, Vinson 

largely favored executive and legislative 

interests: “ [H]e nearly always favored the 

power of government . . . over that of the 

individual.” 32 His son, Frederick Vinson, Jr. 

summarized his father’s legacy as neither 

doctrinaire nor blatantly “cause oriented,”  but 

akin to Burton, always focused on the case at 
hand.3'’

Justice Tom C. Clark, Truman’s third 

nominee, is generally considered his best.34 

Although a firm believer injudicial restraint, 

Clark was somewhat more flexible than the 

other Truman appointments. Like these 

Justices, Clark did not skew traditionally 

Left or Right. More important to Clark was 

precedent. The Justice believed that only by 

following previous decisions could the Court 

best avoid invalidating “appropriate action”  
by federal or state governments.35 Indeed, 

Clark followed precedent even with decisions 

with which he personally disagreed. In YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
M iranda v. Arizona (1966), for example, 

Clark originally dissented from the majority 

opinion. Nevertheless, after M iranda became 

established law, the Justice voted to uphold it 

in every case before him.

Truman’s final appointment was that of 

Justice Sherman Minton. A liberal senator and 

former ally of Justice Black, many expected 

Minton to show some sympathy for protecting 

individual rights in the face of government 
encroachment.36 In fact, Minton proved to be 

the most restrained Truman appointee: “more 

than any of the other Truman appointees,”  

Minton deferred to the executive and legislature, 

seeming to have no “deep seated” judicial 
philosophy.37 A former clerk notes that Minton 

was “extremely conscious of and insistent upon 

adhering to ... statutory limitations,”  regardless 
of the resulting “ justice or injustice.” 38 Even 

Minton’s (otherwise sympathetic) biographers 

fault the Justice’s almost reflexive preferencing 

of state to individual interests.39

Numerous reasons underlie the Truman 

bloc’s restrained temperament. First, and 

perhaps most importantly, each Justice was 

a product of the Cold War, believing non- 

essential liberties had to be subordinated to 

the perceived Soviet threat. Anxiety over 

communism’s spread unleashed a broad Red 

Scare throughout 1940s and ’50s America, 

reaching its apex when the Court took shape. 

Fearing Soviet infiltrators, state and federal 

governments established various so-called 

loyalty and security programs, to which the 

Court expressed little concern. To the majori­

ty, a restrained judiciary was thus far 

preferable to one that seemingly held nebu­

lous freedoms over citizens’ security.

Of course, the Cold War alone cannot 

solely be blamed for the Vinson Court’s 

adherence to restraint. Many of the Court’s 

Justices had gained prominence during the 

1930s, and had therefore borne close witness 

to Roosevelt’s attacks on judicial activism. 

They were thus careful to “mind their 

knitting”  or risk another attempt at executive 

usurpation. Truman chose his men with this 

veiy concern in mind, himself a firm believer 
in judicial restraint.40

Another reason for the Vinson Court’s 

behavior undoubtedly lies with the Chief 

Justice himself. Vinson did not have the 

strength of personality to commandeer the 

Court towards any overarching goal, instead 

finding himself caught between the middling 

Truman bloc (of which he was a part) and the 

continual clashes of Frankfurter and Black. 

Vinson, perhaps substantively outmatched, 

thus concentrated on process above all else, 

focusing on legal technicalities over decisive 

decision-making.

This narrow focus is reflected throughout 

the Court’s most important decisions, which, 

against stinging dissents by its more activist 

members, limited free speech, endorsed the 

deportation and exclusion of aliens, and 

generally favored government interests in 

criminal procedure and labor law. The Vinson 

Court’s record on civil rights is more mixed.
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n o t ch am p io n in g  th e  p ro tec tio n  o f in d iv id u a l rig h ts in  th e  face  o f g o vern m en t en cro ach m en t. In  fac t, Ju s tice M in to n  
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While the Co u rt re fu s e d to abo lis h s e gre ga­

tion entirely, it opened the door (however 

slightly) to YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBABrow n v. Board of Education 

(1954).

Chief among the so-called Cold War 

cases was Am erican C om m unications Asso­

cia tes v. D ouds (1950), challenging the Taft- 

Hartley Act’s denial of membership to the 

National Labor Relations Board for union 

members who refused to swear they were 

not communists. In his majority opinion, 

Chief Justice Vinson recognized this provi­

sion of the Act abridged free speech, but 

upheld it through an expansive reading of the 

Commerce Clause. Using this case as prece­

dent, the Court further backed measures 

banning subversives from running for office 

in G erende v. Board of Supervisors (1951), 

and upheld a 1952 act deporting longtime

resident aliens for ex-membership in the 

Communist Party in H arisiades v. Shaugh­

nessy (1952).

More controversial was the majority 

decision in D ennis v. U nited States (1951). 

In this case, leaders of the Communist Party 

were indicted for planning to overthrow 

the U.S. government. Since the federal 

government could only prove the defendants 

had taught and advocated revolution, they 

charged them with conspiring to promote 

subversive actions rather than ever actively 

engaging in them. Vinson’s plurality opinion 

recognized the importance of free speech, but 

stressed the overriding danger of communist 

infiltration. This involved rewriting Holmes’ 

and Brandeis’ prevailing “ clear and present 

danger test”  to accommodate not only actual 

but potential danger.
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The Vinson Court is also notable for one 

national security case it did not take, that of 

Julius and Ethel Rosenberg. Sentenced to 

death for espionage, the couple’s plight came 

before the Court and was declined a striking 
six times.41 Were Frank Murphy and Wiley 

Rutledge still serving, certiorari would have 
likely been granted.42 As it was, the Vinson 

Court wanted “nothing to do with such a 
potentially explosive issue.” 43

The Vinson Court was equally restrained 

regarding labor rights. In 1946, the federal 

government took control of the nation’s 

bituminous coal mines in order to end an 

ongoing labor strike in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAU nited States v. U nited 

M ine W orkers of Am erica (1947). After a 

breakdown in negotiations between the 

government and unions, District Judge Alan 

T. Goldsborough invoked the Norris-LaGuar- 

dia Act to issue a temporary restraining 

order.44 He further found the union leaders 

in civil  and criminal contempt and fined them 

a substantial S3.5 million. The union coun­

tered that the Norris-LaGuardia act had no 

bearing on private labor disputes, accusing 

Judge Goldsborough of overstepping his 

jurisdiction. The Supreme Court, after weeks 

of debate, issued a highly fragmented opinion. 

The majority sided with Goldsborough, 

upholding his right to issue an injunction 

and his finding of contempt. They faulted 

Goldsborough’ s high sum, however, reducing 

this to an arbitrary $700,000.46

More influential, though only temporari­

ly, were some of the Court’s cases concerning 

the Fourth Amendment. In H arris v. U nited 

States (1947), FBI agents conducted a four- 

hour search of a suspected check-forger’s 

bedroom without a warrant. When they found 

numerous illegal selective surface classifica­

tion cards, they used this as evidence to secure 

a conviction. Chief Justice Vinson acknowl­

edged the search was disturbing, but upheld 

the conviction on a nebulous “ totality of the 

circumstances rationale.”  Frankfurter, usually 

an ally of Vinson’s, wrote a passionate 

dissent. In what would become the case’s

most celebrated line, Frankfurter declared the 

Fourth Amendment “not an outworn bit of 

Eighteenth Century romantic rationalism,”  

but “an indispensible need for a democratic 

society.”

The Court again split in W olf v. C olorado 

(1949). Dr. Julius Wolf had been twice 

convicted of conspiring to perform abortions 

based on appointment books seized during a 

warrantless search of his office. Frankfurter’s 

majority opinion held that the Fourth Amend­

ment was only partially applicable to the 

states, and rejected the exclusionary rule. 

According to Frankfurter, if state action 

violated “ the conception of human rights 

enshrined in the history and the basic 

constitutional documents of English-speaking 

peoples,”  this qualified as a violation of due 

process. Since the exclusionary rule was a 

relatively recent innovation, however, Frank­

furter found it constitutionally unnecessary 

for states to abide by it. Justice Douglas 

dissented, instead recognizing a “ right to 

privacy” implicit within the Fourth Amend­

ment itself.

With the rise of the civil rights 

movement, the Court was forced to further 

interpret the extent of the Due Process 

Clause. Among the more controversial 

cases was Adam son v. C aliforn ia (1947), 

which became an opening salvo in Black 

and Frankfurter’s struggle over full incor­

poration. Frankfurter’s majority won this 

round, refusing to incorporate the Fifth 

Amendment. According to the Justice, those 

amendments should only be imposed on 

the states whose violation “shocked the 

conscience.”

The Vinson Court’s “equal protection”  

rulings were less restrained, albeit similarly 

narrow. As Melvin Urofsky summarizes, the 

Vinson Court left P lessy “alive and well,”  
although somewhat restricted its scope.46 In 

Bob-Lo Excursion C o. v. M ichigan (1950), for 

example, the Court sided with a plaintiff  who 

had been refused access to an amusement park 

ride solely based on his skin color.
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The Co u rt fu r the r re s tr icte d the separate- 

but-equal doctrine in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAH enderson v. U nited 

States (1950). In this case, Elmer Henderson 

was prevented from sitting at an empty seat at 

a whites-only table. While Justice Burton was 

careful not to challenge segregation itself, he 

sided with the plaintiff, making it more 

difficult for expensive interstate carriers to 

maintain separate cars. The Court’s cautious 

civil rights activism came through more 

clearly in Sw eatt v. Painter (1950), where 

the Court mandated the University of Texas 

Law School admit a black student, the first 

time an all-white institution had been ordered 

to do so. Nevertheless, the Court pointedly 

refused to expand this ruling to other 

educational institutions.

Despite the Court’s narrow activism 

regarding civil rights, perhaps its greatest 

restraint lies in its continual delay to hear 

public school segregation laws. In the middle 

of 1952, the Court did announce it would hear 

challenges to school segregation in Delaware, 

Virginia, South Carolina, Kansas, and the 
District of Columbia.47 The resulting confer­

ences led to no agreement, however, and 

Vinson lacked neither the gravitas nor much 

inclination to push things further. Frankfurter 

also purposely delayed hearing the issue, 

convinced that Vinson and the other Truman 

nominees would rule against the plaintiffs. 

Indeed, when Vinson died a year later 

(and Brow n finally landed on the Court’s 

docket), Frankfurter cruelly declared the 

Chief Justice’s demise “ the first solid piece 

of evidence I ’ve seen to prove the existence of 
God.” 48

IV.

Michal Belknap, who wrote a compre­

hensive treatment of this Court’s history, 

rulings, and legacy, begins his book, T h e 

V in s o n  C o u r t :  J u s t ic e s , R u l in g s , a n d  L e g ­

a c y , by acknowledging the Vinson Court was, 

at best, “mediocre.”  William Wiecek, another 

of the Court’ s biographers, has offered 
similarly faint praise.49 Most other scholars 

have graded the Court far more harshly. In

July of 1970, sixty-five legal historians 

evaluated the ninety-six Justices that served 
between 1780 and 1969.50 A third of the 

Vinson Court was listed as “ failures.”  Bernard 

Schwartz identifies two Vinson Justices, Fred 

Vinson and Sherman Minton, as among the 

ten worst to have ever served on the Supreme 

Court.51 Edward Prichard calls the Vinson 

Court President Truman’s “most disastrous 
legacy.” 52 And, according to Fred Rodell, 

“ fifty  years hence”  few of the Vinson Court’s 

members “will  be any better remembered—or 

deserves to be better remembered—than the 

nameless Justices who sat with Chief Justice 
Marshall.” 53 Scholars have proposed numer­

ous reasons for the Vinson Court’s failings. 

Perhaps the most basic source of criticism 
has been its dry and repetitive opinions.54 

Although Black, Douglas, Jackson, and (to a 

lesser extent) Frankfurter are considered 

among the Court’s finest wordsmiths, the 

Truman bloc wrote mechanically and with 

little rhetorical flourish.

A  second, and considerably more serious, 

criticism is the Vinson Court’s failure to lay 

down any lasting legal principles or prece­

dent. As described earlier, none of Truman’s 

nominees had an articulated philosophy of 

law. They placed predictability and depend­

ability above all else. Unlike Black or 

Frankfurter, who often used individual cases 

to reflect on the larger legal system, Truman’ s 

nominees focused solely on the issue before 

them and sought to literally apply the rules as 
best they could.55 Judge Richard Posner 

remarks that “ the test of greatness for the 

substance of judicial decision” rests on its 

“contribution to the development of legal 
rules and principles.” 56 For the most part, the 

Vinson Court issued few grand statements or 

clear directions for the future. This is not to 

say that no precedent was laid during this 

period. In Justice Black’s 1947 opinion in 

Everson v. Board o f Education (1947), for 

example, the Court essentially incorporated 

the Establishment Clause. Nevertheless, this 

exception proves the rule, as Justice Black,
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co ns ide re d by m any to be the e ra’s gre ate s t 

Ju s tice ,57 was more often in the Vinson 

Court’s minority.

Indeed, one need only look at the cases 

Black dissented from to get some idea of the 

Vinson Court’s meager legacy. While schol­

ars have largely criticized Vinson’s YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAD ennis 

plurality, for example, Black’s dissent is 
considered one of his greatest?8 Here Black, 

the leader of the so-called libertarian four, 

chastised the plurality for substituting fear 

for reality, making apparent their alteration 

of the “clear and present danger”  test. Black’s 

conclusion was particularly powerful, being 

a hope that “ in calmer times, when pressures, 

passions, and fears subside” the First 

Amendment would be restored to its hal­

lowed place. Indeed, Black’s plea won out 

shortly thereafter: D ennis was never invoked 

as precedent, and hastily buried only a 
few years after its holding?9 The Court’s 

major Fourth Amendment decision, H arris, 

was also reviewed and reversed in short 

succession.

Perhaps even more damning are W olf v. 

C olorado and Adam son v. C aliforn ia ', in­

deed, both cases would perhaps become most 

famous for being reversed. In M app v. O hio 

(1961), Justice Clark, wrote for a majority 

explicitly overruling W olf. Justice Douglas, 

a M app dissenter, even got in the final 

word, declaring W olf without “ reason or 

principle.” Adam son was reversed more 

gradually, as the Court slowly moved towards 

greater imposition of the Bill  of Rights on the 

states.

The Vinson Court’s greatest failing in 

this regard, however, surely revolves around 

Brow n v. Board of Education. As detailed, the 

Vinson Court was substantially more activist 

regarding civil rights than in most other 

matters. Nevertheless, public school segrega­

tion, the period’s most controversial and far- 

reaching domestic matter, was a bridge it 

dared not cross. By kicking this can down the 

road, Vinson and his brethren not only 

prolonged the nation’s suffering, but also

lent no institutional authority to the Court 

itself. This institutional impotence was further 

reflected by the Court’s dissent rates, among 

the highest in history.

The Vinson Court’s ideological divisions 

could even be found among those who 

favored judicial restraint. Justice Frankfurter, 

for example, tempered his preference for 

restraint with a constant awareness of real- 

world consequences. When it came to civil  

rights, Frankfurter was among the Court’s 

most far-reaching and progressive Justices. 

On the matter of due process, Frankfurter was 

even more activist than Black, recognizing a 

vaguely substantive component in cases like 

M alinski v. N ew York (1945) and Francis v. 

Resw eber (1947). The Truman Justices (save 

for perhaps Clark) refused such complexities, 

almost reflexively supporting state interests. 

The Vinson Court thus came dangerously 

close to being a rubber stamp for the other two 

branches, undermining the Court’s indepen­

dent authority. Indeed, in reading its majority 

opinions, one is often left wondering the need 

for a high court at all.

The Vinson Court’s reflexive deference, 

however, is not solely responsible for its 

failings. Equally to blame is the schizoid 

nature of judicial restraint itself. Whereas 

decisions that actively curbed economic 

interests have generated widespread praise, 

those that stymied social progress, as the 

Vinson Court so often did, have generally 

faced greater criticism. Compare the twentieth 

century’s most reviled decision, Lochner v. 

N ew York (1905), with that of its greatest 

decision, Brow n v. Board of Education. 

Lochner, striking down a New York law 

limiting bakers’ working hours, came to 

embody the Fuller Court’s misguided war 

on progressive reform. The early Roosevelt 
Court was tarred for similar reasons.60 While 

Lochner stands as the century’s worst deci­

sion for the Court’s failure to restrain itself, 

the greatness of Brow n lies in the Court’s 

social activism. (The activist Law rence v. 

Texas, which nullified the nation’s last
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re m aining s o do m y laws , has face d s im ilar 
p rais e .61)

Indeed, Bernard Schwartz’s list of the 

Court’s ten greatest decisions almost perfectly 
reflects this dichotomy.62 Schwartz identifies 

four of the greatest decisions as having 

expanded state control over economic inter­

ests and two as having expanded civil  

liberties. According to Schwartz, not one of 

the Court’ s strongest rulings aided commer­

cial interests or curbed social rights. In 

Schwartz’ s list of the Court’s worst decisions, 

five of these curbed social rights and five 

supported business interests. Frank Cross and 

James F. Spriggs have made similar find­
ings.63 Even the ever-controversial YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBARoe v. 

W ade has generally enjoyed a majority of 

public support.64

Why economic and social decisions 

generate such dichotomous reactions lies 

well beyond the scope of this paper. Regard­

less of its cause, this phenomenon helps 

further explain the Vinson Court’s poor 

legacy. By the time of Vinson’s ascension 

to the Chief Justiceship, many of the most 

important economic issues had been decided 

and resolved in the executive and legislature’s 

favor. The Cold War, on the other hand, 

brought a host of social issues for the Court to 

address. If  seated during the New Deal, the 

Vinson Court may have become known for its 

championing of individual over economic 

interests. Instead, enmeshed in the Cold War 

and having learned the lessons (perhaps all too 

well) of judicial overreach from the 1930s, 

the Court’ s legacy proved one of social 

repression.

Ironically, Felix Frankfurter, restraint’s 

most eloquent spokesman, perhaps best 

identified the problems with such an inflexible 

attitude. According to Frankfurter, in a world 

where “ facts are changing, law cannot be 

static. So-called immutable principles must 

accommodate themselves to facts of life, for 
facts are stubborn and will  not yield.” 65 The 

Vinson Court, in bowing to state policy rather 

than balancing the interests before it, never

heeded this advice. In doing so, Truman’s 

Justices left little practical difference between 

judicial restraint and abdication.
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Su p re m e Co u rt Ju s tice s , afte r the ir 

re tire m e nt fro m the Co u rt, e ngage in a var ie ty 

o f activitie s and at tim e s co m m e nt o n cu rre nt 

is s u e s . Ju s tice Sandra Day O’Co nno r, fo r 

e xam p le , o fte n s p e aks abo u t judicial indepen­

dence. Such statements attract attention. What 

does not attract attention, so that little is 

known about the subject, is that retired 

Justices continue to decide cases—but in the 

lower federal courts. This article is an 

examination of their participation in the U.S. 

Courts of Appeals.

To avoid possible tie votes from vacan­

cies resulting from illness, death, or recusal, 

many state high courts bring back their retired 

justices for particular cases. There is no such 

practice in the United States Supreme Court, 

although Sen. Patrick Leahy (D-VT) recently 

proposed it.1 Supreme Court Justices who 

retire cannot again sit on the Supreme Court, 

even if one or more of “ the brethren” is 

unavailable. However, a 1937 statute allows 

retired Justices to sit on lower courts,2 and 

several have done so, especially in the Courts 

of Appeals.

Some have only had minimal lower-court 

participation, but others have sat for an 

extended period of time and written more 

than a few opinions. Justices Stanley F. Reed 

and Harold H. Burton are examples of Justices 

who sat in only one circuit. More recently, 

David H. Souter sat in the First Circuit, where 

he had served briefly prior to his Supreme 

Court nomination. Others have sat in several 

circuits. Justice Tom Clark sat in every 

geographic circuit (and the Court of Customs 
and Patent Appeals [CCPA]),3 and Sandra 

Day O’Connor has sat in all but the D.C. 

Circuit. Both Potter Stewart and Byron R. 

White sat in several but not all circuits, while 

Lewis F. Powell, Jr. sat only in the Eleventh 

Circuit in addition to the Fourth Circuit in 

which he lived.

A  retired Justice would not be likely to sit 

regularly in the lower courts if  retirement had 

been for reasons of ill  health, but those retiring 

for other reasons often wish to remain active 

by deciding cases. Most obvious in this regard 

is Tom Clark, who retired to allow President 

Lyndon B. Johnson to appoint his son,
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Ram s e y , as Atto rne y Ge ne ral s o he wo u ld no t 

have to re cu s e him s e lf frequently in cases 

involving the federal government. Justice 

O’Connor retired because of her husband’s 

dementia but, after his institutionalization, 

had the opportunity for both speech-making 

and Court of Appeals participation.

This article will examine only those 

Justices who sat in the Courts of Appeals a 

nontrivial number of times. Among matters 

examined are the number of cases in which 

retired Justices participated; the number of the 

opinions they wrote, including separate 

opinions; the subject matters of the cases in 

which they participated and their routine or 

significant nature; and the judges with whom 

they sat. Its primary purpose is to update the 

one systematic study of the subject by Minor 

Myers III 4 to include Justices Sandra Day 

O’Connor and David H. Souter, to modify the 

number of participations reported for earlier 

retired Justices, and to explore additional 

questions. Because of the importance of their 

possible effect on the dynamics of the courts 

in which retired Justices sit, the results of a 

short survey of Court of Appeals judges who 

sat with them will  be reported.

Also noted is whether a retired Justice’s 

positions in the Courts of Appeals are 

consistent with those taken earlier on the 

Supreme Court, as it would be useful to know 

whether the retired Justice continued any 

position or “agenda” evidenced by previous 

rulings. Related is the use retired Justices make 

of Supreme Court decisions, both from before 

and after their tenure there and particularly 

from cases in which they participated and 

in which they wrote opinions, although a 

Justice’s Court of Appeals opinions are likely 

to be constrained not only by more recent 

Supreme Court opinions but also by circuit 

precedent.

T h e M yers S tu d y

Myers reported that nine Justices (Willis  

Van Devanter, Stanley F. Reed, Harold H. 

Burton, Tom Clark, Potter Stewart, Lewis F. 

Powell, Jr., William Brennan, Jr., Thurgood

Marshall, and Byron White) who had taken 

senior status had sat in the lower courts. With 

Justices O’Connor and Souter, that number is 

now eleven. (Justice Stevens has not sat in the 

lower courts.) Only ten Justices sat on the 

Courts of Appeals, as Van Devanter, the first 

to utilize the 1937 statute, sat only on the 

district court. The lower-court service of 

Justices Marshall and Brennan was negligi­

ble, so Myers examined the other six, who 

varied in the extent of their Court of Appeals 

service (length of time, number of cases, and 

number of courts). Myers also reported on a 

topic not discussed in this article; the fate of 

their decisions, few of which went to the 

Supreme Court with very few of those being 

granted review.

U p d atin g M yers ’ N u m b ers

Myers’ reporting of the number of retired

Justices’ cases was “based on secondary 

sources and searches of cases and newspaper 

accounts on online databases,”  and he found 

that “not all cases are reported and search­
able.” 5 For some Justices, he reported only

W illis V an D evan te r w as th e firs t to u tilize th e 1937IHGFEDCBA 

s ta tu te th a t a llo w ed re tired Ju s tices to s it o n lo w er 

co u rts . H e  accep ted  ju d ic ia l ass ig n m en ts in  th e d is tric t 

co u rts in N ew  Y o rk .
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o p inio ns and no t all cas e s in which the Ju s tice 

p articip ate d. Fo r the p re s e nt s tu dy , We s tlaw 

s e arche s we re co ndu cte d fo r e ach re tire d 

Ju s tice in My e rs’ s tu dy , as we ll as fo r Ju s tice s 
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teen opinions in the D.C. Circuit is confirmed, 

but five dissents must be added, along with the 

seventy-two other cases in which he partici­

pated there. To Justice Burton’s eight D.C. 

Circuit opinions (also confirmed), three 

dissents must be added; there are fifty-one 

(not forty-four) additional cases in which he 

participated, a total of sixty-two. To Justice 

Stewart’s nine Court of Appeals opinions and 

one dissent, the thirty cases in which he 

participated should be added. In addition to 

eighteen opinions and one dissent Myers 

reported (confirmed), Justice White concurred 

in a judgment without opinion and had an 

additional fifty-nine participations. For Jus­

tice Lewis Powell, Jr., instead of thirty-three 

opinions and one dissent, there are thirty-six 

opinions for the court and three separate 

opinions, with Powell participating in 238 

other cases.

Justice Clark is the most difficult retired 

Justice for whom to obtain an accurate count 

because of the large number of cases in which 

he took part, with the further complication that 

some of these cases were pending at the time 

of his death. Among those is YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAEstelle v. 

G am ble, on an Eighth Amendment claim of 

inadequate medical attention in prison, issued 

as a Fifth Circuit per curiam but authored by 

Justice Clark, which the Supreme Court 

reversed in part and remanded in part.6 Myers 

reported seventy majority Clark opinions and 

one dissent and participation in roughly 380 

cases, but the numbers are far higher. Westlaw 

searches reveal 124 majority Court of Appeals 

opinions, eight of which were for the Federal 

Circuit’s predecessor, the Court of Customs 

and Patent Appeals (CCPA) and three 

dissents, and total participation in 574 cases 

(twenty-seven in the CCPA).7 His total Court

of Appeals cases include 381 in which he took 

part but did not write the opinion or for which 

the author could not be determined because 

they were per curiam opinions (185) or 

“unpublished” memorandum dispositions 
(eight).8 However, Craig A. Smith, using 

Justice Clark’s papers at the University of 

Texas, identified him as the author of seventy- 

four Court of Appeals per curiams, producing 

a new figure of 198 published majority 

opinions.

From 2007 through September 2012, 

retired Justice O’Connor authored twenty-six 

opinions for the courts on which she sat plus 

one dissent, and she participated in another 

118 cases in which dispositions were filed. 

From early 2010 through August 2012, 

Justice Souter had written forty-eight First 

Circuit opinions and participated in 113 

others.

T h e  C ircu its

We now look at the Court of Appeals 

judges with whom the retired Justices have 

sat. The counts combine the Justice’s own 

Court of Appeals opinions with those in 

which other judges wrote for the panel, per 

curiam dispositions, and “unpublished”  mem­

orandums, which in a number of circuits do 

not carry the author’s name. After looking at 

the circuits, we turn to a Justice-by-Justice 
account.

It is not unusual for a circuit to have been 

visited by more than one retired Justice—so 

many judges have sat with a retired Justice at 

least once—yet with limited exceptions 

retired Justices seldom have sat with any 

individual judge for very many cases. After 

having sat with one retired Justice, a Court of 

Appeals judge would not likely find sitting 

with another to be strange apart from differ­

ences in individual personalities and styles. 

Just as members of a multi-member appellate 

court become accustomed to each other’ s 

ways and thinking, a “stranger” who sits 

more than rarely with a court may be able to 

develop mutual understanding with its judges, 

although a rare or occasional sitting with
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any individu al judge leaves little such 

opportunity.

A retired Justice’s Court of Appeals 

sitting might be only one day (Justice 

O’Connor in the Second Circuit), or it might 

be for several days, or a full judge week. 

Justice Souter’s First Circuit sittings have 

been for three court weeks of three days each 

in a year, an average of eight to nine days total. 

His load has been less than that of an active 

duty First Circuit judge; while he sits 

regularly, the load is less than that of the 

circuit’ s senior judges. Like them, he hears six 

cases a day but writes in only one of those 

cases rather than the usual two.

The only circuit in which only one retired 

Justice sat is the “old Fifth,”  visited by Justice 

Clark. Both Justices White and O’Connor sat 

in the new Fifth Circuit but only with two 

judges each (four judges total). Only one of 

the Eleventh Circuit’s judges (R. Lanier 

Anderson) sat with both Justices O’Connor 

(six cases) and Powell (two). Two Justices 

(Clark and O’Connor) sat in the Second and 

Eighth Circuits, but no judges sat with both. In 

two circuits, three retired Justices sat, but the 

time spread meant no judge sat with more than 

one Justice: the Third, with Justices Clark, 

Stewart, and O’Connor, and the Eighth, with 

Clark, who accounted for most sittings, White 

(only a few cases), and O’Connor, who sat 

with eighteen different judges. In the Tenth 

Circuit, visited by Justices Clark, White, and 

O’Connor, only Judge Deanell Reese Tacha 

sat with two (White and O’Connor), while 

eighteen other judges sat with one or another 

of them. Clark, Stewart, and O’Connor also 

sat with eighteen judges in the Seventh 

Circuit, but only two of its judges sat with 

two Justices: Wilbur Pell (Clark for forty-six 

cases and Stewart for three) and Robert 

Sprecher (thirty-three with Clark and two 

with Stewart). The pictures for the First, 

Fourth, Ninth, and D.C. Circuits are some­

what more complex. The First and Ninth 

Circuits are the only ones in which four 

Justices have sat. Clark, White, Stewart, and

O’Connor sat in the Ninth Circuit; O’Connor 

sat in the most cases, but still in less than two 

dozen, and no Justice sat with any one judge 

in more than twelve cases and with no other 

judge in more than five. Only two Ninth 

Circuit judges (Pamela Rymer and Sidney 

Thomas) sat with two Justices—both with 

White and O’Connor. The four Justices to 

have sat in the First Circuit are the ubiquitous 

Justices Clark and O’Connor plus Justices 

Stewart and Souter; collectively, they sat with 

twelve different First Circuit judges, a large 

number considering that the court has only six 

judgeships; all but its most newly appointed 

judge have sat in thirty or more cases with a 

Justice. Four of its judges have sat with both 

O’Connor and Souter, while Judges Frank 

Coffin and Levin Campbell earlier sat with 

both Justices Clark and Stewart.

The Fourth Circuit has had the presence 

of three Justices, who in total sat with thirty- 

one judges—Clark, Powell (by far the most 

cases), and O’Connor. Ten judges sat with 

both Powell and another Justice—five with 

both Clark and Powell and five others with 

Powell and O’Connor. The latter includes 

Judge J. Harvie Wilkinson III, a former 

Powell clerk and the son of a Powell lawyer 
colleague,9 who sat in three cases with Justice 

O’Connor and in seventy-seven with Powell.

The D.C. Circuit, where no retired Justice 

has sat since Justice Clark, is the court with the 

largest number of judges who sat with more 

than one Justice, resulting perhaps from 

Justices Reed and Burton having sat only 

there. Two of the court’s judges participated 

in cases with the three retired Justices who sat 

there—Judge David Bazelon in forty cases, 

twenty-three of which were with Justice Reed, 

and Judge J. Skelly Wright, in only eight total. 

Judges Henry Edgerton, John Danaher, 

Wilbur K. Miller, Walter Bastian, E. Barrett 

Prettyman, Spottswood Washington, Charles 

Fahy, and (later Chief Justice) Warren Burger 

sat with both Justices Reed and Burton, while 

Judge Harold Leventhal sat with Justices 

Reed and Clark.
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nor and Souter. Justice Reed sat with eleven 

D.C. Circuit judges and in at least ten cases 

with all but two— in roughly two dozen 

cases each with Judges Edgerton, Bazelon, 

Robinson, and Danaher; seventeen or eigh­

teen cases each with Judges Burger, Miller, 

Prettyman, and Fahy; and eleven with Judge 

Bastian. Justice Reed dissented from three 

Bazelon opinions and one by Prettyman and 

from a Bazelon-Prettyman per curiam opinion.

Justice Burton sat with all but one of the 

same D.C. Circuit judges as had Reed, sitting 

the most (seventeen to nineteen cases) with 

Judges Fahy, Danaher, Miller, and Bastian, 

and somewhat fewer times with Judges 

Edgerton and Prettyman (eleven each), 

Bazelon, and Burger. Of Burton’s three 

dissents (one full, one partial), two were 

from Danaher and one was from Bastian.

With his lesser participation spread over 

four circuits, Justice Byron White did not sit 

often with very many judges. In the Fifth 

Circuit, he sat with only Judges Rhesa 

Hawkins Barksdale and Robert Parker (seven 

reported cases); in the Eighth, with only three 

judges—James Loken (ten cases) and Richard 

Arnold and Theodore McMillian (five each). 

He sat in a dozen or baker’s dozen each with 

four Ninth Circuit judges—Sidney Thomas, 

William Canby, Pamela Rymer, and John 

Noonan—plus four with Margaret McKeown. 

White’s largest number of cases was in his 

home area, the Tenth Circuit, where he sat 

with nine different judges, in ten cases with 

only Judge David Ebel, and with no others in 

more than six (Paul Kelly and Stephanie 

Seymour) and five each with the others.

Justice Stewart also sat with individual 

judges in only a few cases because of quite 

limited service in three of the five circuits in 

which he sat. In the Sixth Circuit, for example,

he sat with only four judges—with Judges 

Gilbert Merritt and Pierce Lively in four cases 

and in only one case with two others; in only 

one three-case Ninth Circuit panel; and in the 

Third Circuit with two judges, Collins Seitz 

and Arlin  Adams (eight cases). He participat­

ed the most in the First Circuit, where he sat in 

twelve cases with Judges Levin Campbell and 

Hugh Bownes but in only five each with 

Judges Frank Coffin and (later Justice) 

Stephen Breyer.

In the Seventh Circuit, Justice Stewart sat 

with no judge in more than five cases, but his 

sitting there is of note because of his dissent 

in a case that went to the Supreme Court, 

an antitrust opinion by Judge Richard Posner 

on denial of membership in a professional 

association, YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAres jud icata (because of a prior 

dismissed state court case), and contempt for 

violation of discovery orders.10 After Judge 

Posner wrote a narrower opinion for a badly 

fractured en banc court, the Supreme Court 

did not uphold Stewart’s position.11

In the Eleventh Circuit, Justice Powell sat 

with only five judges— in nine cases with 

Judge Phyllis Kravitch and ten with Gerald 

Bard Tjoflat. Powell’s extensive Fourth 

Circuit sitting led to his serving on cases 

with nineteen different judges as well as in 

nineteen cases with non-Fourth Circuit judg­

es, particularly district judges sitting by 

designation. The number of cases in which 

he sat with individual judges ranged from four 

(Clement Haynsworth) to a dozen or fewer 

cases with five more judges, to the previously 

noted seventy-seven with Judge Wilkinson, 

and he sat with another seven—Karen 

Williams, J. Michael Luttig, Emory Widener, 

John Butzner, James Phillips, Paul Niemeyer, 

and Clyde Hamilton— in twenty to thirty 

cases each; he sat in over thirty cases with 

Judges Francis Mumaghan, Donald Russell, 

William Wilkins, and Kenneth Hall. He 

dissented only once, in a case with Judges 

Wilkinson and Luttig, and concurred sepa­

rately twice—once in part and in the judgment 

with Judges Hall and Luttig and in another,
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with Ju dge s Wide ne r and William s , in the 

judgment.

Despite not having the longest period of 

retirement to sit in the Courts of Appeals, 

Justice Clark clearly had the most extensive 

participation, which varied by circuit from 

minimal (Third and Ninth) to quite consider­

able (Second, Seventh, and Eighth), with 

moderate participation in the others. While he 

wrote fewer than a half-dozen opinions (even 

including per curiams) in the First, Sixth, and 

Ninth Circuits, he wrote a dozen or more in 

the Third (four signed opinions, seven per 

curiams), Fourth (nine signed, five per 

curiams), Tenth (eight each signed and 

per curiams), and D.C. (ten opinions, five 

per curiams) Circuits. His written output was 

considerably higher in the Second Circuit, 

where he wrote twenty signed opinions and 

fourteen per curiams, and in the Seventh and 

Eighth Circuits, in each of which he produced 

over forty opinions (over twenty-five signed 

opinions in each, along with fifteen or more 
per curiams).12

In the Third Circuit, in addition to sitting 

with two non-Third Circuit judges (from the 

Second Circuit and a district judge) in one 

case, Justice Clark sat in only five cases each 

with Judges John Gibbons and James Hunter. 

His death came only several months after he 
sat in the Ninth Circuit,13 in one case each 

with four judges and with one judge in only 

two. He heard more cases in the First Circuit 

but with only three judges, then its comple­

ment of judgeships, almost twenty each with 

Frank Coffin and Levin Campbell and eleven 

with Edward McEntee. Clark sat in the Fourth 

Circuit with nine judges but with no judge in 

more than twelve cases (Judge Haynsworth), 

in seven cases each with four judges, and 

with two others in four each. He sat with only 

four of its judges in the “old Fifth,”  in eight 

cases with two (Irving Goldberg and Robert 

Ainsworth), and in ten with Walter Gewin and 

Paul Roney. He sat in no more than six cases 

with any of the seven Sixth Circuit judges 

with whom he sat.

In the Tenth Circuit, where he sat with 

eight judges plus six cases with a non-Tenth 

Circuit judge, he sat in thirty cases with Judge 
Delmas Hill, 14 in only sixteen cases with 

Robert McWilliams, and in roughly a dozen 

each with Judges David Lewis and Oliver 

Seth. He sat with eight D.C. Circuit judges, 

most often with George McKinnon (fifteen 

cases) and Roger Robb (twelve), and less 

David Bazelon (eight), Spottswood Robinson 

(seven), and J. Skelly Wright (five). Clark 

dissented from a Bazelon opinion Robinson 

joined.

There was a wide distribution in the 

number of times Clark sat with the greater 

number of Second, Seventh, and Eighth 

Circuit judges. He sat with thirteen active 

and senior Second Circuit judges, in addition 

to twenty-one cases with non-Second Circuit 

judges (in one case, with two). He sat least 

(only five cases) with Judge Ellsworth Van 

Graafeiland and most with Irving Kaufman 

(thirty-two cases), and his one dissent was 

from a Kaufman opinion. He sat in twenty 

cases each with William Mulligan and Walter 

Mansfield; eighteen with Lumbard; eleven to 

thirteen cases each with four (William 

Timbers, Sterry Waterman, Henry Friendly, 

and J. Joseph Smith); eight cases with 

Leonard Moore; and seven each with Robert 

Anderson, Paul Hays, and Wilfred Feinberg.

Justice Clark also sat with thirteen judges 

in the Seventh Circuit as well as with non- 

Seventh Circuit judges in twenty-six cases; in 

two cases, the panel was the unusual 

combination of Clark and two district judges. 

Clark’s contact with five of the judges was 

only eight or fewer cases, but he sat with 

Judge Thomas Fairchild in thirty cases, in 

thirty-three with Judge Robert Sprecher, and 

in forty-six with Judge Wilbur Pell; he 

dissented in a case with Judges Pell and 

Sprecher. Other judges with whom he sat in 

more than a dozen cases were Philip Tone 

(fifteen), Latham Castle (sixteen), (later 

Justice) John Paul Stevens (twenty), and 

Luther Swygert (twenty-two). In the Eighth
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Circu it, in additio n to s itting with non-Eighth 

Circuit judges in ten cases, Justice Clark sat 

with ten circuit judges and in more than 

twenty cases each with eight of them— in 

slightly over twenty each with Donald Ross 

and (later Director of the FBI and the CIA) 

William Webster, twenty-seven with Marion 

Matthes, thirty-eight with Gerald Heaney, and 

forty-seven with Floyd Gibson, but in fifty-  

nine, the most, with Judge Myron Bright.

In the CCPA, which used five-judge 

panels rather than the three-judge panels of 

the Circuit Courts of Appeals, Justice Clark 

sat with seven CCPA judges and in eleven 

cases with non-CCPA judges. He sat in over 

twenty cases with Judges Lindsay Almond 

(twenty-four), Donald Lane (twenty-seven), 

and Phillip Baldwin (thirty-one), and the most 

with Giles Rich (thirty-eight), but in less than 

ten each with Judges Eugene Worley, Arthur 

Smith, and (later Chief Judge) Howard 

Markey.

Justice O’Connor’s Court of Appeals 

activity through 2012 was broad but also 

somewhat thin, with not many cases in any 

circuit, so she has not sat often with any judge. 

Indeed, there are only a few judges with 

whom she has sat in at least ten cases—Third 

Circuit Judges Anthony Scirica and Maijorie 

Rendell (seventeen cases) and Ninth Circuit 

Judge Sidney Thomas. She sat in nine cases 

each with two other Third Circuit judges, 

Theodore McKee and Dolores Sloviter. In the 

Second, Fifth, Tenth, and Eleventh Circuits, 

she sat with only two judges each and in no 

more than eight cases with any of them. She 

sat with only four judges in six cases each in 

the First and Sixth Circuits but less in the 

Seventh Circuit. In the Eighth Circuit, she sat 

with five judges, but again for no more than 

six cases each, with three judges. She did sit 

with a few more Ninth Circuit judges— 

eight—but in only three or four cases with all 

but one of those, and with eighteen judges in 

the Fourth Circuit but in six cases with Judges 

Clyde Hamilton and Dennis Shedd and ten 

with William Traxler.

Sitting in only one circuit, Justice 

Souter’s contact with the court’s members, 

including senior judges, is spread far more 

equally than for some other retired Justices. 

Through September 2012, his sittings with his 

First Circuit colleagues ranged from the most, 

eighty-three cases with (former Chief) Judge 

Michael Boudin to only twelve with newly 

appointed O. Rogeriee Thompson; the others 

clustered in the thirties—Judges Jeffrey Ho­

ward, Kennit Lipez, and Juan Torruella—to 

between forty-seven and fifty-two—Judges 

Bruce Selya, (now Chief) Judge Sandra Lynch, 

and Norman Stahl.

O ’C o n n o r  an d  S o u te r,  W ritin g  an d  Jo in in g

Myers’ study concluded before Justices 

O’Connor and Souter began to sit on the 

Courts of Appeals, so we now look at 

opinions they wrote and some they joined.YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
O  'C onnor

Among the subjects on which Justice 

O’Connor wrote Court of Appeals opinions 

are some business matters; review of agency 

actions; the First Amendment, including 

church-and-state; elections and voting; and 

multiple aspects of criminal procedure. She 

also joined opinions on agency review, 

including immigration appeals and economic 

regulation; matters of local government, 

including zoning and their employees; and 

discrimination and disenfranchisement. The 

largest number, on aspects of criminal justice, 

reflected the Courts of Appeals’ many crimi­

nal appeals and habeas corpus cases. At least 

for people accustomed to seeing the Supreme 

Court address the most salient of legal 

matters, most of her published opinions are 

not exciting, either on their facts or as to 

their issues; many opinions are heavily fact- 

specific rather than addressing broad doctrine. 

An example is her opinion in an Eleventh 

Circuit appeal from a conviction for conspir­

acy to defraud, health care fraud, and false 

claims, in which she ruled certain evidence 

admissible but found an error in excluding a 

videotape on hearsay grounds, although the 
error was harmless.15 With few exceptions,
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he r cas e s re s u lte d in moderate-to-conservative 

outcomes, much as would be expected from 

her Supreme Court service.

Quite a number of cases—both her 

opinions and other participations—dealt 

with routine matters unlikely to be found in 

the Supreme Court but that are typical in 

Courts of Appeals’ regular dockets, such as 

convictions for drug offenses or for felon- 

with-gun, many containing search issues and 

also implicating sentencing; revocation of 

supervised release; deliberate indifference to 

prisoner needs; denial of asylum for aliens; 

bank and wire fraud; denials of Social 

Security disability benefits; racial or gender 

discrimination; and insurance coverage.

A typical “unpublished” O’Connor dis­

position came in a case that might at first have 

looked like a violation of rights but that she 

said was a run-of-the-mill property dispute, 

where she found no violation of due process in

an agency asserting its own due process rights 

and no free speech violation in a state- 

threatened lawsuit as to disputed ownership 
of lakefront property.16 Perhaps less typical 

was a case involving sexual abuse of a minor, 

in which a USAID officer in Kiev, looking 

out for children of colleagues, committed 

improper acts, but the law in the case was 

straightforward and O’Connor found no 

clearly erroneous findings and ruled that, 

even if  a government agent had committed an 

ethical violation, dismissal of the indictment 
was not the proper remedy.17 Also legally 

straightforward was an appeal from convic­

tions for a $56 million Ponzi scheme, which 

had the twist of defendants uncooperative in 

court, with the appeals court finding no error 

in the district court’s appointment of full-time 

counsel for them.18

There were some somewhat less typical 

situations in nonprecedential rulings O’Connor
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joined. One was a university student organiza­

tion’s challenge to allegedly discriminatory 

application of an unwritten outdoor-zone 

reservation policy that required fees and 

insurance.19 When a dog rescue organization 

sued over Pennsylvania’s statute for licensing 

out-of-state dog dealers, resulting from seizure 

of dogs at a transfer point, the Third Circuit 

panel held that the law did not violate the 

(infrequently raised) dormant Commerce 

Clause, with other claims not before the court 

because of lack of ripeness or standing.20

A somewhat complex business-related 

case was among the insurance coverage 

matters that came before Justice O’Connor, 

and she engaged in a rare dissent when 

insurance representatives sought to obtain a 

no-coverage declaratory judgment when theft 

of copper tubing damaged air conditioners. 

The panel majority said that breaking into 

external fixtures was not entering the building 

and found the A/C damage within the theft 

exception to vandalism coverage and outside 

the burglary exception. O’Connor reached a 

different conclusion, saying that the A/Cs 

were part of the building and damage was 

construed properly as caused by burglars, 

particularly as, under Texas law, the policy 

was to be construed in favor of the insured.21 

In an attempted consumer class-action suit 

against a telemarketing company over credit 

card charges, Justice O’Connor stated for the 

Seventh Circuit that the action was barred by 

the voluntary payment doctrine, as earlier 

credit card payments had been made without 

complaint.” 22

She also joined several rulings unfavor­

able to class actions, for example, the shunting 

aside of two class-action antitrust cases 

alleging conspiracies to fix the price of title 

insurance in Delaware and New Jersey, 

which turned on the “ filed rate” doctrine, 

applicable because the title insurance compa­
nies had properly filed rates.23 She continued 

not to favor class actions in two discrimina­

tion cases brought in that form. In one, 

Hispanic employees sued an Arizona com­

munity college district for a hostile work 

environment created by not responding to a 

professor’s racially charged e-mails to the 

college community, but the appeals court said 

the professor’s statements were pure speech, 
not unlawful harassment.24 The other case 

raised the type of question the Supreme Court 

later resolved against class actions in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAW al- 
M art v. D ukes,25 with the Third Circuit 

reversing certification of a nationwide class 

of UPS employees for a pattem-and-practice 

case of disability discrimination.26

Justice O’Connor did, however, join 

a consumer-friendly opinion upholding a 

$250,000 jury verdict in a suit against a 

debt collection law firm and a finding of 

malice;27 a Fifth Circuit panel that ruled in a 

private securities fraud case that an improper 

burden had been placed on investor-plain­

tiffs;28 and a Second Circuit securities class- 

action case in which the panel said that it was 

sufficiently alleged that misstatements in 

audited financial statements were those of 

the corporation’s outside accountant but that 

the accountant’s duty to correct misstatements 

in corporate filings did not produce a 

misleading report within the class period, 

and the accountant’s duty to review quarterly 

statements did not make those statements the 

accountant’s statements or create a statement 

subject to Sec. 10(b).29

On agency actions and procedures, when 

a veteran claimed violation of the Vietnam Era 

Veterans Readjustment Assistance Act, Jus­

tice O’Connor noted the “strong presumption 
that agency action is reviewable by courts” 30 

but said that decisions to enforce were left to 

the agency, quoting her former Supreme 

Court colleague (then-Judge) Anthony Ken­

nedy on courts not expressing opinions on 

anemic enforcement policy. She also joined a 

panel ruling against a public interest orga­

nization’s challenge to OSHA’s standard for 

exposure to hexavalent chromium because 

there was substantial evidence to support the 

agency finding of technical infeasibility of the 

proposed standard for the welding industry.31



R E T IR E D  JU S T IC E S  S E R V IN G  O N C O U R T S O F A P P E A L S ZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA1 5 5zyxwvutsrqponmlkjihgfedcbaZYXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

At le as t o u ts ide o f the cr im inal justice 

system, Justice O’Connor seldom faced 

constitutional issues in the Courts of Appeals, 

although she did write in two church-state 

cases (discussed later). In one of Puerto Rico’ s 

many political controversies, when a dis­

charged government employee there alleged 

party affiliation as the basis for discrimina­

tion, O’Connor said for a First Circuit panel 

that political affiliation was not a protected 
category.32 Of considerable potential signifi­

cance were claims of disfranchisement on 

which she ruled. However, no far-reaching 

result was reached in a challenge to a Missouri 

statute denying the right to vote to residents 

under court-ordered guardianship, as the court 

said that no equal protection violation had 

been shown because Missouri’s law did not 

categorically disenfranchise those under full  
guardianship.33 When Arizona felons with 

multiple drug and other offenses sued over 

having been disenfranchised, O’Connor held 

that states could disenfranchise whether the 

crimes were felonies at the common law and 

that there was no violation of equal protection 

from automatic restoration of rights to one-time 

felons on payment of fines and restitution.34

Also from Arizona was a highly signifi­

cant voting rights case in which O’Connor 

provided the deciding vote in the appellate 

panel. A voter-adopted proposition required 

documentary evidence of citizenship to 

register to vote and identification in order to 

vote. Judge Sandra Ikuta, who wrote, and 

Justice O’Connor held that the National Voter 

Registration Act had superseded the state’s 

documental proof of citizenship rule and that 

requiring proof of identification to vote did 

not violate the Voting Rights Act and was not 

a poll tax, although people would have to 

expend funds to obtain proper identifica­

tion.35 The Ninth Circuit then ruled en banc in 

basically the same fashion.36 The Supreme 

Court granted review to the voter registration 

question and affirmed in June 2013 but did not 

discuss the Ninth Circuit’s opinion or mention 
Justice O’Connor’s participation.37

Also of wide importance was an opinion 

O’Connor joined in a civil  rights attorney fees 

case. The issue was whether in a Voting 

Rights Act case deriving from the drawing of 

county legislative districts—not in the South 

but in Albany, New York—the district court 

could use only local billing rates (the “ forum 

rule” ) or could consider higher rates charged 

by lawyers from elsewhere when those 

lawyers were chosen by a local group. 

Through Judge John Walker, the Second 

Circuit panel said that if  plaintiffs reasonably 

retained out-of-district attorneys, the district 

judge could take that into account but then 

ruled that a reasonable plaintiff would have 

sought attorneys within the (less-expensive) 

Northern District of New York rather than the 

far more expensive Southern District.38

Justice O’Connor wrote many Court of 

Appeals opinions on recurring criminal 

justice issues, but she also wrote on matters 

of first impression, for example, finding sweat 

patches generally reliable as a basis for 

probation revocation for a user of illegal 
drugs possessing a gun.39 Also related to guns 

was her ruling upholding ATF reporting 

requirements applied to a certain proportion 

of firearms dealers and its authority to issue a 
demand letter.40 She was also a member of a 

Seventh Circuit panel that held that a 

categorical ban on a felon possessing a gun 

was valid under the Second Amendment, as 
the ban advanced a government objective.41

Justice O’Connor wrote several opinions 

on searches and prisoners; she also joined 

other judges’ opinions on those matters and 

on speedy trial, guilty plea issues, and 

sentencing appeals of the sort regularly before 

the Courts of Appeals. In a less typical Fourth 

Amendment case, she wrote for a Fourth 

Circuit panel to hold that an officer who had 

seized what an angry neighbor called a wolf 

(actually a malamute dog) had qualified 

immunity and that plaintiff  had insufficiently 

pled his claim against the county; there was no 
Afo«e//-required policy or custom42 behind 

the seizure, nor was the officer liable for
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failing to inquire into the lawfulness of 

possessing the animal.43

The Justice wrote that an officer’s failure 

to disclose certain facts in an affidavit in a 

drugs-and-guns case did not defeat probable 

cause, as the good faith exception applied and 

“ a finding of probable cause does not require 

absolute certainty.” 44 She also joined an 

Eighth Circuit ruling upholding a search 

under the good faith exception, even in the 

absence of probable cause,45 and a Ninth 

Circuit case reversing suppression of child 

pornography evidence from a warrant-based 

computer search where the dissenting judge 

argued that the extent to which pom messages 

were disguised meant the presence of unso­

licited messages on a computer did not create 

probable cause for a house search.46

Justice O’Connor’s opinions in prisoner 

cases also involved searches of a different 

type: the interception of communications. In a 

straightforward opinion for the First Circuit, 

she said that an inmate who had consented to 

phone monitoring of calls with defendant was 

not bounded by a prison phone policy, and a 

guard could provide an investigator access to 

the calls, which led to a conviction for false 
statements to a government official47 The 

other case, more complex and more like what 

one might find in the Supreme Court, involved 

lawyer-client communication and touched on 

an attomey/defendant’s rights at least as much 

as the detainee/client’s when the officer 

monitoring calls did not stop listening on 

realizing the call was from an attorney, and 

thus privileged, but instead went to the 

detainee for assistance in investigating the 

attorney, who was then convicted of obstruc­

tion of justice and money laundering. Justice 

O’Connor found no Fourth Amendment 

violation in jail monitoring of calls and 

disagreed that a state law violation meant 
the inmate had not consented.48 Using First 

Circuit precedent, she ruled that a prisoner 

talking to any nonattomey would be consent­

ing to monitoring and it did not matter that the 

prisoner was speaking to an attorney or that

the Massachusetts regulations went beyond 

the Constitution’s demands. O’Connor 

thought that the inmate had indicated his 

consent because, although he had other means 

to communicate with the attorney, he contin­

ued with the calls despite the warning of 

monitoring at the beginning of each call, but 

she did warn that “ [t]he monitoring of these 

calls, made between an attorney and a client 
who is seeking legal advice, is troubling.” 49YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA

Souter

Justice Souter’s opinions for the First 

Circuit present a picture of a judge laboring in 

quiet workmanlike fashion, like most Court of 

Appeals judges and as befits his low-key 

personality. Just as with Justice O’Connor, 

much of his output has been in criminal cases 

and others typical of routine Court of Appeals 

work. However, in March 2013, he wrote for a 

unanimous panel to issue a writ of mandamus 

to remove the district judge presiding over the 

James (“Whitey” ) Bulger case (gangster/FBI 

informant accused of murder, claiming FBI 

promise of immunity) because the judge’s 

impartiality might reasonably be questioned 

“ from the very structure of the prosecutorial 

forces” in which the judge had earlier been 
involved.50

Not many of Souter’s cases contained 

unusual facts, but he did write in a somewhat 

atypical case in which mothers sued a school 

district for failing to keep schoolchildren from 

leaving school during school time, which the 

mothers said failed to preserve family 

integrity and prevent abuse. Finding the 

mothers’ due process rights and the students’ 

rights not violated, Justice Souter said, “As 

constitutional claims, those stated here do not 

rise to a substantial level.” 51 He also took part 

in a case brought by the estate and relatives of 

someone killed in a terrorist attack, where the 

panel allowed the Palestine Liberation Orga­

nization to attack the default judgment against 

it.52 In addition, one of Justice Souter’ s 

nonprecedential dispositions came in a quin­

tessential New England case in which one 

lobsterman’s gear was found in the boat of
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ano the r, who s e lobster- and crab-taking 

license was suspended without further hearing 

after he did not appear in court. The panel 

ruled that the state did not need to provide 

notification of the consequences of this 

default, as sufficient post-deprivation pro­

ceedings—availability of appeal in the state 
courts—were available.53

Justice Souter wrote opinions in several 

cases requiring interpretation of state law 

under federal diversity-of-citizenship juris­

diction, including one on insurance coverage 

for liability for injury to privacy from 

advertising’ 4 and another against a former 

employee for violating an employment agree­
ment.55 Several other of his run-of-the-mill 

cases involved employees, such as an ERISA 

benefits case on denial of disability benefits,56 

a suit by a temporary employee over an 

injury,57 and another insurance coverage 

dispute over an insured’s injured son’s bar 
fight.58 He also joined a ruling about an 

individual’s nonreappointment to a town 

commission after criticizing a town council 

proposal, in which the court found no First 

Amendment violation even if  the discharge 
had been for speech.59 Like Justice O’Connor, 

Justice Souter faced some cases with discrim­

ination claims—under Title VII, the Ameri­

cans with Disabilities Act, and state Fair 

Employment Practices and Whistleblower 

Acts—but he did not write opinions in any 

while joining a number that held against the 

claimants. Of greater significance was a case 

challenging management of public institu­

tions. Minor children, as a class of those in 

state agency custody, sued through their 

“Next Friends,”  claiming they were underfed 

in the Rhode Island institutions in which they 

were kept and that the institutions were 

understaffed and mismanaged. The panel 

held that a federal court could appoint Next 

Friends and specified several appropriate 
individuals.60

Justice Souter wrote and joined opinions 

upholding searches and seizures. Where, after 

expiration of a period of probation, a 

probationer had been arrested and searched 

on a probation officer’s authorization, Souter 

upheld the warrantless search, as the officers 

had probable cause to believe that the 

individual was subject to arrest for violating 

his probation and also had reasonable suspi­

cion of contraband in his house.61 He also 

wrote an opinion on YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAM iranda warnings in a 

military context, ruling in defendant’s favor 

(discussed below). He joined opinions in a 

felon-with-gun case where the court held 

valid a warrantless seizure for impoundment 
of a motorcycle in plain view;62 another in 

which the panel found no legal expectation of 

privacy in the apartment of one’s former 
girlfriend;63 and one holding the warrantless 

regulatory search of a gun shop valid under 

the Gun Control Act.64

Among the criminal justice opinions 

Justice Souter joined was one upholding a 

Rhode Island state senator’s conviction on the 

basis that honest services mail fraud covered 

more than bribery and that the senator’s 

facilitation of a meeting between a health 

insurer and a hospital employing the senator 
was a misuse of legislative power.65 There 

were also several cases involving lawyers’ 

actions or inactions, such as whether a
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p ro s e cu to r had im p ro p e r ly vo u che d fo r a 

witne s s66 and whether defendant’ s counsel 

was deficient, the latter in a case, with cult 

overtones, of first-degree murder of defend­
ant’s infant son.67 Dealing with another state 

murder conviction, Justice Souter wrote an 

opinion on the procedures by which habeas 

cases were to come to federal court, saying 

that Massachusetts’s “gatekeeper rule,” in 

which one Supreme Judicial Court justice 

decides which post-conviction issues are to 

be heard, was an adequate and independent 
state ground precluding federal habeas.68 In 

one of the federal appeals courts’ many 

Sentencing Guidelines cases, he wrote a 

nonprecedential ruling to affirm the sentence 
of a bank robber as a career offender69 and 

joined a ruling that a state conviction was a 

predicate for Armed Career Criminals Act 
sentencing.70

Justice Souter was faced with several 

claims of deliberate indifference to the needs 

of the incarcerated, including one on the post­

release suicide of a detainee71 and another on 

a Sec. 1983 claim against a sheriff when an 

injury was claimed to have resulted from 

inadequately maintained correctional facili­
ties.72 He also joined an opinion rejecting an 

inmate’ s suit, claiming a taking based on a 

corrections director’s ceasing to pay interest 
on inmate trust accounts.73 And he took part 

in the continuing controversy over officials’ 

duties toward inmates with gender identity 

disorders who seek medical or surgical 

treatment when he served on a panel that 

affirmed a district court preliminary injunc­

tion in favor of the detainee with such a 

disorder who had sought hormone therapy 

and female garb.74

R etired  Ju s tices ’ U se  o f  S u p rem e  C o u rt IHGFEDCBA 
R u lin g s

Retired Justices sitting on the Courts of 

Appeals make some use of the Supreme Court 

rulings in which they participated and in 

which they wrote for the Court, as well as 

rulings from both before and after their 

Supreme Court tenure. Here we make a

preliminary examination of such uses by 

Justices O’Connor and Souter.YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBA
Justice O ’C onnor

In a case where an insurer had sued the 

owner of a vessel and the manufacturer over 

damage in international transit to a shipment 

of steel coils, involving application of the 

Carriage of Goods on the High Seas Act 

(COGSA), Justice O’Connor said that the 

ship’s manager was not covered under 

COGSA and a finding of negligence was 

not clearly erroneous. In doing so, she drew 

on an earlier case, Robert C . H erd &  C o. v. 

K raw ill  M achine C orp.,75 to say the Justices 

had “considered and rejected an argument 

similar”  to one made in the current case, and 

she rejected efforts to distinguish that case, 

noting that “ [t]he Supreme Court unanimous­

ly .. . found that COGSA’s plain terms 

applied only to owners, not to agents 
thereof.” 76 She then drew on a case in which 

she had spoken for a unanimous Court, 
N orfo lk Southern Railw ay C o. v. K irby,77 to 

state that “shipping parties are free to extend 

COGSA’s coverage by adding provisions to 

bills of lading extending the COGSA regime 

to any and all agents or independent con­

tractors who participate in the shipment of 
goods under a particular contract.” 78 In ruling 

on whether a Puerto Rico conviction was a 

“domestic conviction” that could serve as a 

sentencing predicate, she distinguished a case 

where she had been in the majority, Sm all v. 

U nited States™ as dealing with foreign 

convictions, not those from Puerto Rico.80

When Justice O’Connor wrote for the 

Fourth Circuit to affirm a denial of suppres­

sion of evidence taken from trash in a drug- 

and-gun case and say that probable cause was 

not defeated by the officer’ s failure to describe 

certain facts in the affidavit, she cited I llino is  
v. G ates,81 in which she had been in the 

majority, for the proposition that “ a finding of 

probable cause does not require absolute 
certainty.” 82 Of particular note is her refer­

ence, in a case on alleged discrimination based 

on political party affiliation, to a Supreme
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Co u rt 5-4 decision that she found “persua­

sive”  although she had been in dissent there;83 

this speaks both to whether Justices adhere to 

precedent even when they disputed it when 

announced and to their role as followers of 

precedent when sitting in the lower courts.

Of special interest are Justice O’Connor’s 

lower court rulings on church and state 

because of the important role she played on 

the subject while on the Supreme Court. 

Sustaining a city council rule that opening 

prayers at council sessions must be nonde- 

nominational, O’Connor, writing for the 

Fourth Circuit panel to sustain the ban, 

brought into play two cases in which she 
had participated. One was YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBALee v. W eism an,*4 

in which O’Connor had agreed with Justice 

Blackmun’s separate concurrence, but that 

she now distinguished as not being about 

nonsectarian prayer but about whether one 

could compel attendance at a high school 

event. The other was M arsh v. C ham bers*5 

where she had been in the majority and from 

which she quoted to say that the Supreme Court 

“has treated legislative prayer differently from 

prayer at school events” : “The Council’s 

decision to provide only nonsectarian prayers 

places it squarely within the range of conduct 
permitted by M arsh."*6 And in upholding a 

prisoner’s religion-based complaint against a 

ban on beards, she joined an opinion that drew 

the standard to apply from another case in 
which she had been in the majority.87

When another judge writes for a panel, a 

retired Justice’s presence might prompt 

inclusion of discussion of particular Supreme 

Court cases. An instance of an opinion by 

another judge drawing on an O’Connor 

Supreme Court opinion was, perhaps not 

surprisingly, a church-state case. A group 

supporting church-state separation and in­

mates sought to prevent Christian pre-release 

rehabilitation services, and they prevailed in 

large measure in their effort when the Eighth 
Circuit held on the basis of  Aguilar v. Felton**  

that the provider was a state actor and the 
funding endorsed religion.89 When a panel on

which she was a member ruled in a non- 

precedential disposition that, in a sex discrim­

ination case, there was no employer liability  

without adverse employment action and that 

reasonable care had been taken to avoid 

sexual harassment, the panel used the test 
from Burlington Industr ies v. L llerth^ ’ in 

which O’Connor had been in the majority; the 

opinion used a post-O’Connor ruling on 
retaliation.91 In a nonprecedential ruling she 

joined, the district court had used H eck v. 

H um phrey?2 in which O’Connor had joined a 

concurrence in the judgment, to turn aside 

federal civil rights claims, and also noted the 

test found in her opinion in Reeves v. 

Sanderson P lum bing Products92

Souter

In a suit against a state parole board to 

rectify claimed due process and equal protec­

tion violations, Justice Souter, dealing with a 

Supreme Court case preceding his tenure, 

wrote that there was no positive entitlement to 

parole if  statutory requirements were met and 

that it was acceptable to grant discretion to the 

state board. He treated seriously the peti­
tioner’s claim that N orth C aro lina v. Pearce94 

applied because his earlier effort to obtain a 

new trial led to his being penalized through 

denial of parole, but Souter thought the 

analogy failed.95

In a case on a pretrial detainee’s claim of 

indifference to medical needs, Souter utilized 

Supreme Court opinions in which he had 

participated. Saying that exhaustion of ad­

ministrative remedies was not jurisdictional, 

he drew on W oodford v. N go, which held that 

the exhaustion requirement of the Prison 

Litigation Reform Act meant proper exhaus­
tion,96 and Jones v. Bock, which unanimously 

held that a prisoner’s failure to exhaust was an 
affirmative defense.97 While the latter had 

been decided unanimously, Souter had joined 

Stevens’ dissent in W oodford, a further 

indication of accepting as precedent a ruling 
to which a Justice had initially  objected.98 He 

also joined an opinion on the resentencing of a 

federal inmate in which the author drew on
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o ne o f his o p inio ns . Ho lding that a de fau lte d 

claim o f e rro r co u ld no t be re s u rre cte d, the 
p ane l s aid that YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAShepard v. U nited States?9 

whe re So u te r had s p o ke n fo r a 5-3 Court on 

proving the predicate for a sentence, was not 
an intervening change in the law.100

Supreme Court rulings are key in two of 

Justice Souter’s Court of Appeals opinions. In 

one, he wrote an opinion holding that a 

serviceman had been in custody for M iranda 

purposes because of “ the inherently coercive 

force of military organization,”  which the U.S. 

Court of Military  Appeals and Congress itself 
had recognized even before M iranda)0 ' 

Making a strong statement in support of 

M iranda 's rationale, he spoke of “ the psy­

chological insight that prompted adoption”  of 

the warnings M iranda required, M iranda 's 

point being “ to preserve the suspect’s Fifth 

Amendment privilege against compelled self­

incrimination, be it by confession or admis­

sion, during ‘custodial interrogation,’ whether 

the questioning occurs in traditionally formal 

custody or while a suspect is ‘otherwise 

deprived of his freedom of action in any

significant way.’” 102 He also drew for support 

on three other cases, in two of which he had 

been in the majority. One was D ickerson v. 
U nited States,103 from which he noted that 

“ [significant deprivation occurs in circum­

stances carrying a ‘badge of intimidation,’ ... 

‘ inherent compulsions,” ’ or ones with an 

elevated risk “ that the Fifth Amendment 

privilege will not be appreciated.” And 

he pointed to the earlier Thom pson v. 

K eohane'04 to say that one test was whether 

the person questioned would have felt free to 

cease and leave, with another test, drawn from 
the earlier Berkem er v. M cC arty)05 being 

whether the suspect had been coerced to 

engage in “back and forth with the police, as 

in the paradigm example of traditional 
questioning.” 1 6

Justice Souter placed heavy reliance on a 

Supreme Court ruling decided after he had left 

the Court when he reversed a district court, 

which, on revoking supervised release, had 

imposed a longer sentence to aid the defend­

ant’s rehabilitation. Indeed, in ruling that such 

sentence extension could not be done either

R etired  Ju s tices  w h o  s it  in  a  c ircu it  fo r  w h ich  th ey  se rved  as  th e  C ircu it  Ju s tice  h ave  m et  th e  c ircu it 's  ju d g es  o ver  th eIHGFEDCBA 

years  a t c ircu it ju d ic ia l co n fe ren ces . T h is  w as  th e  case , fo r  exam p le , fo r  Ju s tice P o w e ll in  th e  F o u rth C ircu it, Ju s tice  

W h ite in  th e  T en th C ircu it, an d  Ju s tice O 'C o n n o r in  th e N in th C ircu it (w h o se co u rth o u se is p ic tu red ).
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o n s e nte ncing o r re s e nte ncing, he e xte nde d 

the Co u rt’s o p inio n in YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBATapia v. U nited 
States107 and u s e d it to tru m p the ru lings o f 

all o the r Co u rts o f Ap p e als that had co ns id­
ered the issue.108 Souter said Tapia had “held 

that the caution against imprisonment for 

rehabilitation is a prohibition not only to a 

decision to commit for that purpose, but to 

order a longer, rather than shorter term of any 

commitment in order to provide adequate time 
for a prison treatment course.” 109 He said the 

Supreme Court’s unanimous “assessment of 

the significance”  of the matter of congressio­

nal authority made Tapia relevant to the 

present case, “ even though Tapia dealt with 

initial sentencing, whereas resentencing is 
involved here.” 110 He pointed to Congress’s 

obvious intent not to have rehabilitation 

considered to say that the Court “ fe[lt] bound 

to conclude that rehabilitation concerns must 

be treated as out of place at a resentencing to 

prison, just as at ordering commitment 
initially.” 111

W h at S ay  th e Ju d g es

To determine possible effects of retired 

Supreme Court Justices’ presence on Courts 

of Appeals’ decision-making, a brief survey 

was sent by e-mail to forty-seven judges who 

had sat with one or more retired Justices and 

were able to be contacted. Thirteen judges 

(27.7%) completed the survey, with several 

adding comments; four declined to respond as 

it would require revealing nonpublic confer­
ence deliberations.112 The overwhelming 

direction of the responses allows the conclu­

sion that more responses would not likely 

have produced a different distribution, al­

though near unanimity may also mask a desire 

not to indicate possible effects.

The judges were asked whether sitting 

with a retired Supreme Court Justice was any 

different from sitting with fellow Court of 

Appeals judges, and those who had sat with 

more than one retired Justice were asked 

about any differences between the two. 

Judges were then asked whether the retired 

Justice’s presence had any effect on distribu­

tion of cases to the three-judge panel or w ith in 

it and on the assignment of opinions, followed 

by whether there was discussion about how to 

make it more or less likely that the Supreme 

Court would grant certiorari in the cases under 

consideration.

A number of  judges commented on their 

positive feelings about having retired Justices 

sit with them. Comments included “ It was a 

great pleasure and privilege to sit with Justice 

O’Connor”  and “ It is a privilege for any Court 

of Appeals judge to sit with a retired Supreme 

Court Justice.”  A  judge who sat with Justices 

O’Connor and Souter wrote, “They are both 

very fine as Court of Appeals judges and a real 

pleasure to sit with.”  The positive view was 

well stated by the judge who said that sitting 

with a Supreme Court justice “was simply a 

nice perk of being an appellate judge.”

All but two judges said there was no 

difference between sitting with a retired 

Justice and sitting with one’s Court of 

Appeals colleagues, but one judge observed 

that “ the outcome was not different, but the 

feel was different.”  When a Justice sat, there 

was “greater respect and higher regard,”  

although “without affecting other judges’ 

views more than from any other judge.”  

One judge placed this is in context by saying, 

“ Sitting with any judge is always a bit 

different” and is no different with a retired 

Justice, and the Justices were hardly the only 

“visitors” who sat with a Court of Appeals. 

However, differences could be seen among 

retired Justices. Justice O’Connor was said to 

be a “presence”  and “acted more like a judge 

of the court,” including being more active 

from the Bench in questioning than Justice 

Powell, who brought “ formality and dignity”  

and “ sat back [and] acted like a guest.”  Further 

underlining differences among the Justices 

was the acerbic observation, made as to the 

relatively humorless Justice Byron White, “ I 

imagine that other Justices were more 
stimulating than the one who sat with me.” 113

“ If  exceptional deference is paid” to a 

retired Justice’s presence, one judge added,
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“ that occurs chiefly in the social occasions 

that are held in the justices’ honor outside of 

court,” where the retired Justice might tell 

stories, as Justice Powell did about his 
confirmation to the Court,114 and Justice 

O’Connor, “more open and direct,” made 

comments on issues like cameras in the 

courtroom. One judge observed that, when a 

retired Justice was present, “our panel 

attracted a few more gawkers than usual,”  

and it is mentioned with high regard that 

Justice O’Connor met with high school 

classes that attended court on days she was 

sitting. When she visited one circuit, it was 

said to be “more like having a movie star 

come,” with “arranged tours and exercise 

classes for the women.”

As each circuit has been visited by more 

than one Justice, when a retired Justice comes 

to sit, another will likely have sat with the 

court earlier, although some time may elapse 

between these occurrences. While the retired 

Justices may be unknown to most judges with 

whom they are to sit, some Justices might be 

friends—perhaps over many years—with at 

least someone on the court, and a judge might 

even have clerked for the now-visiting retired 

Justice, or an acquaintanceship may have 

developed outside the courts, seen when one 

judge referred to Justice O’Connor as his “ fly ­

fishing buddy.”  A  judge who had lived in the 

same Harvard residential house as Justice 

Souter indeed suggested that, in part because 

they shared the same education and had lived 

in close proximity, he probably knew the 

Justice’s thinking better than he knew that of 

his own Court of Appeals colleagues. If  a 

retired Justice sat in a circuit in which he or 

she had been the circuit justice—Justice 

Powell in the Fourth Circuit, Justice White 

in the Tenth Circuit, and Justice O’Connor in 

the Ninth—the Justice would have met the 

circuit’s judges repeatedly over the years at 

circuit judicial conferences.

Of particular importance is whether the 

presence of the retired Justices affects panel 

decision-making. The near-unanimous re­

sponse was that court dynamics were not 

affected, with one judge observing that the 

retired Justices’ “ transition seems to me to be 

perfectly seamless”  as they “seek to integrate 

themselves in the workings of the circuit court 

in the most useful way”  and come to argument 

prepared. (The retired Justice has a clerk, who, 

with the Justice’s judicial assistant, is in the 

Justice’s Chambers at the Supreme Court.) 

Justice O’Connor was said to have been “ fully  

prepared and asked plenty of questions at oral 

argument,”  and a judge who had sat with both 

Justices White and O’Connor observed that 

“ [n]o doubt because of their broad experience 

before appointment to the Supreme Court, 

neither . . . had any difficulty  adjusting to the 

Court of Appeals environment.”

Nor did retired Justices’ presence affect 

specifics of the decisional process. Distribu­

tion of cases to a panel, “controlled by the 

Clerk of Court”  and “ is mechanical,”  was not 

affected. The retired Justices did not use their 

status to preside over panels. Likewise, most 

judges thought that distribution of cases 

within the panel and opinion-assignment 

were not affected, probably because the 

circuit is following its standard operating 

procedures, SOPs, and the Justice adheres to 

them. The Justices are said to have declined to 

state preferences for particular cases when 

asked, but had the visiting Justice expressed 

an interest in a particular case, “Most who ask 

.. . would accede to the judge’s request.”  And 

the Justice was said to show “ a willingness to 

take on important, but unglamorous cases.”  In 

short, as one judge put it, “We go about our 

business in precisely the same way we would 

on any case.”

Apparently, however, there are instances 

of specific assignments to the retired Justice. 

One judge reported that the judges in his 

circuit gave Justice Tom Clark “ the difficult  

civil rights cases so a liberal view would not 

be overturned en banc,” and that judge has 

elsewhere observed that “we always gave him 

the tough civil  rights cases to write . . . those 

that were on the cutting edge of the law and
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whe re we ne e de d a libe ral o p inio n by a judge 

who was not likely to be overturned by the 

court sitting en banc.”  An example was a case 

in which Justice Clark agreed that “ it was 

important to strike down what appeared to be 

racially discriminatory practices in the hiring 

of school teachers in this particular school 

district.” 115 The strategy of avoiding en banc 

may have succeeded in that instance, but the 

Supreme Court, without mentioning Justice 
Clark’s name, overturned his decision."6

One judge’s comment suggests that a 

retired Justice’s presence does not create a 

problem sometimes thought to result from the 

presence of other visiting judges—the impor­

tation of law from other circuits. Instead, “ the 

retired justices appear, if  anything, especially 

solicitous of the precedent of the circuit on 

which they sit.”  Yet a retired Justice’s mindset 

might differ from circuit norms, with Justice 

Powell said to have brought “a presumption of 

regularity”  and “ a very strong bias,”  stronger 

than on the court on which he was sitting, “of 

affirming the district court unless there was 

error clearly shown,” but that led a judge of 

that court to think “perhaps we don’ t give the 

district court enough deference.”

No judge said there was discussion with 

the retired Justice about writing opinions in 

such a way as to affect the Supreme Court’s 

consideration of certiorari, but one observed 

that this was “ [n]ot discussed but relevant in 

our thoughts.” Another judge’s comments 

suggest that a retired Justice’s expertise did 

have effects. The Courts of Appeals “don’ t do 

that much constitutional law, except perhaps 

for search and seizure,” said the judge, and 

[constitutional law is harder to grasp than 

say, admiralty, which you can learn from a 

book.” (When Judge Stephen Breyer was 

elevated to the Supreme Court, he is said to 

have remarked that the biggest change was the 

extent of constitutional issues.) Thus, “ if  we 

had a discussion on a constitutional issue,”  

that the retired Justice would have “marinat­

ed” in constitutional law for ten to fifteen 

years meant that what the Justice had to say

would be heard because “you turn to those 

who know most about a subject.”

C o n c lu d in g  T h o u g h ts

The federal Courts of Appeals are part of 

a YXWVUTSRQPONMLKJIHGFEDCBAnationa l judicial system but are also regional 

bodies, and we have come to understand that 

circuits vary in their jurisprudence, proce­

dures (such as use of informal en bancs), and 

practices (e.g., the proportion of cases result­

ing in nonprecedential dispositions). The glue 

that helps hold the various circuits together 

includes the Supreme Court’s review of their 

rulings, especially as inter-circuit conflict is a 

prime desideratum for the Court’s granting 

review. That retired Justices participate in 

deciding Court of Appeals cases may be 

another source of the thread tying those courts 

together, as well as extending the Justices’ 

role beyond their Supreme Court service. 

They bring with them a national perspective 

honed in their Supreme Court service, 

particularly important for the constitutional 

issues, and that perspective may at least nudge 

the Courts of Appeals judges toward a 

national “center.”

There are, however, constraints on this 

possible effect. One is that Supreme Court 

Justices sitting in the circuits appreciate the 

norm that they are expected to follow the law 

of the circuit rather than attempt to import 

their own jurisprudence. Another is that, with 

relatively few exceptions, retired Justices do 

not sit in any one circuit or with any individual 

judge in substantial numbers of cases, thus 

limiting the exposure from their presence. A  

Justice who sits solely or predominantly in 

one circuit, like Justices Souter and Powell, 

can have an effect there, but the effect would 

be greater if  the Justice sat in at least a handful 

of circuits (e.g., Justice White). If  there were 

more like Justice Tom Clark, with the breadth 

and depth of his participation across the 

circuits, which Justice Sandra Day O’Connor 

may emulate if  she continues her court of 

appeals sittings, the effect would be greater 

still. However, we cannot expect a Justice to 

retire in order to sit in the lower courts.
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Cover: The Supreme Court Justices were photographed in February 1953 calling on President Eisenhower at the White 

House. Pictured from left to right: (front row) Chief Justice Vinson, President Eisenhower, Justice Black, Justice 

Frankfi.nter; (back row) Justices Minton, Clark, Jackson, and Burton. Library of Congress. 

Errata: The Editors received this comment from the Honorable Thomas N. O'Neill, Jr. regarding Alexander Wohl's 

statement in his article in Vol. 38, No. 2, that Clark "developed into a more competent judge than any of the other 

Truman appointees": 
I had the privilege of clerking for Justice Harold H. Burton, a Truman appointee, during the 1954 term of the Court. 

There are two events concerning Justice Burton that I wish to draw to your attention. 
During the 1954 term the law clerks conducted a poll, by and among themselves, the question being "if you were on 

trial for your life which Justice of this Court would you like as your judge." I believe that, some years ago, Barrett 

Prettyman published an account of this poll. I was the last law clerk polled although I did not know that when asked 

for my vote. When asked for my vote I recalled that Justice Frankfurter had been active in the movement to save the 

lives of Sacco and Vanzetti; therefore, I voted for Justice Frankfurter. The response I received was "that is curious 

because all of the law clerks on the Court but you have unanimously voted to select Justice Burton as the judge in the 
death case." 

Secondly, there is the letter that the Court sent to Justice Burton when he retired in 1958. The signatories to that letter 

included such luminaries as Chief Justice Warren, Justice Black, Justice Frankfurter and Justice Brennan. The letter 

said in part: "in the history of the Court no Justice, without exception, has come closer than you to the goal that we all 
strive for, equal justice under law." 
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